Table of Contents

Title Page Copyright Page

One Two

Three

<u>Four</u>

<u>Five</u>

Six Seven Eight

Nine

<u>Ten</u> **Eleven**

<u>Twelve</u>

Thirteen

Fourteen

<u>Fifteen</u>

Sixteen
Seventeen
Eighteen

Nineteen

Twenty
Twenty-one

Twenty-two
Twenty-three
Twenty-four

TO SERVE AND SUBMIT

"You have been broached,†Lexander declared thoughtfully. "Why such girlish modesty? Your first lesson, Marja, is that blushes can be appealing on occasion, but a steady diet of them is tiresome. Who did this to you?â€

I was hardly able to speak. My hands clenched against the padded top of the bench. "Boys of the village.â€

"Oh, none were special to you?â€

It was difficult to think, but one man sprang to mind. "There was a trader who came to Jarnby. He said he helped the chieftain launch a great *knarr*, and the big man tossed him a copper. He gave it to me.†I didn't add that I had given the copper to the *olfs* because they were jealous of their gifts.

"And you fell in love with him,†Lexander finished.

I shook my head as he pulled away. "No.â€

Lexander's brows rose. "That is the first you've said that interests me.â€

His sharp tone couldn't be mistaken, but why did he chastise me? Surely I didn't know my place, but it wasn't my fault. Yet I couldn't seem to form my lips around a protest. I submitted to Lexander, not because he had earned or deserved it, but because something inside of me surrendered to him. It was my first taste of life in his hands. . . .

To Serve and Submit



Susan Wright



ROC

Published by New American Library, a division of Penguin Group (USA) Inc., 375 Hudson Street, New York, New York 10014, USA

Penguin Group (Canada), 90 Eglinton Avenue East, Suite 700, Toronto, Ontario M4P 2Y3, Canada (a division of Pearson Penguin Canada Inc.)

Penguin Books Ltd., 80 Strand, London WC2R 0RL, England
Penguin Ireland, 25 St. Stephen's Green, Dublin 2,
Ireland (a division of Penguin Books Ltd.)

Penguin Group (Australia), 250 Camberwell Road, Camberwell, Victoria 3124, Australia (a division of Pearson Australia Group Pty. Ltd.) Penguin Books India Pvt. Ltd., 11 Community Centre, Panchsheel Park,

New Delhi - 110 017, India
Penguin Group (NZ), cnr Airborne and Rosedale Roads, Albany,
Auckland 1310, New Zealand (a division of Pearson New Zealand Ltd.)

Penguin Books (South Africa) (Pty.) Ltd., 24 Sturdee Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg 2196, South Africa

Penguin Books Ltd., Registered Offices: 80 Strand, London WC2R 0RL, England

Published by Roc, an imprint of New American Library, a division of Penguin Group (USA) Inc. Previously published in a Roc trade paperback edition.

First Roc Mass Market Printing, February 2007 Copyright © Susan Wright, 2006 eISBN: 978-1-429-55271-4

Excerpt from A Pound of Flesh copyright © Susan Wright, 2007 All rights reserved



REGISTERED TRADEMARK-MARCA REGISTRADA

Without limiting the rights under copyright reserved above, no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in or introduced into a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form, or by any means (electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise), without the prior written permission of both the copyright owner and the above publisher of this book.

PUBLISHER'S NOTE

This is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places, and incidents either are the product of the author's imagination or are used fictitiously, and any resemblance to actual persons, living or dead, business establishments, events, or locales is entirely coincidental.

The publisher does not have any control over and does not assume any responsibility for author or third-party Web sites or their content.

The scanning, uploading, and distribution of this book via the Internet or via any other means without the permission of the publisher is illegal and punishable by law. Please purchase only authorized electronic editions, and do not participate in or encourage electronic piracy of copyrighted materials. Your support of the author's rights is appreciated.

http://us.penguingroup.com

One

Do not suppose that I should be discounted because I was born a wild child of the fens. Even before I knew my true nature, I served my gods well. I lived with moss in my hair and mud between my fingers, ever at home in the land that resides in water. I suppose the lesson of yielding, of one thing giving way to the next, flowing ever back and forth, was in my blood. My da's Noromenn family had lived in the village Jarnby between the fens and the Klaro Strait for four generations, while my mother's Beothuk ancestors had roamed Nauga Sea for longer than memory serves.

At birth, my mam heard my name called in the wind and knew that I had been touched by the Otherworld. Indeed, my kin said Marja was a fanciful name, more fit for a sprite than a girl. As soon as I began to walk, my da declared that I had the *vanderlust*, while my mam taught me how to hear the will of the land embodied by the *olfs*.

So I danced and sang for the *olfs* until the ones who favored me showed me where the bog iron nestled. I was one of many who searched for iron, but I had a true knack because I understood the spirits that dwelled in the land. There were places that could swallow a grown man without a trace, but I knew where the water had been banished. Yet there were many times, I must confess, when I returned with my sling-carry empty because I had been beguiled by the *olfs* into wasting away my day. Then my da would growl fiercely at me, for the smiths needed the iron to make their goods.

It was Lexander of Vidaris who showed me my true path. I was little more than a girl when Lexander appeared. His arrival was heralded by the beat of oars against the river and the low chanting that kept the rowers in time. I daresay I didn't hear the boat until it was nigh because of the heavy mist that shrouded the evening. But as I emerged from the fens with my sling-carry over my shoulder, I met my brother as he was driving the sheep back to our home pasturage. He skipped in front of our ragged herd, pointing his staff toward the river. "Marja, look!â€

There, a vision emerged from the low-lying fog. The square, red-striped sail hung empty of wind as the swooping oars propelled the longship forward. The river was glassy flat, marred only by the ripples spreading from the boat. The towering prow was carved into a bird of prey with a fierce hooked beak and eyes that seemed to penetrate me even from afar.

Lexander stood with one hand resting on the sweepback wing of the mighty bird as if taming it with a touch. He called out a word and the oars broke their rhythm, splashing as the longship turned toward the shore. I had never seen a seagoing boat so far upriver before.

"Could it be a Hun?†my brother blurted out.

"Hush,†I murmured. Olfs appeared around me, curious as always. I opened myself to them, and suddenly felt as if I were being swept away. I was lifted up like the wind, above my brother and the green bank of the river. It was so unexpectedâ€"and at odds with the nearly silent longship gliding toward usâ€"that I abruptly broke my communion with the land.

The boat ran aground on the sloped bank near us with a solid scraping sound, belying the fantastical vision I had seen.

The sheep milled around us, clipping the rich grass along the river, while the *olfs* danced on the bank, showing off their chubby bodies and merry eyes in their excitement. My brother claimed he could see only the rainbow sparks that they emitted, but the *olfs* often revealed themselves to me, from their round red cheeks and curly hair to their tiny bare toes. When I was a small child I had often confused my kin by calling to the "babies†floating in the air, until I learned not to speak of the *olfs* to those who couldn't see them.

Now even the *olfs* couldn't distract me from the sight of Lexander. I didn't know his name, but I could feel his power. In truth, Lexander looked like a Hun chieftain, with the fierce, hawklike face of those from the land of the rising sun. My da often sang the saga of a battle with the brutal Hun who lived in the Auldland. They were said to have hair as black as midnight, but Lexander's head and face were as smooth as my palm. His fine wool cloak was bordered with blue and gold tabards, marking him as a wealthy man.

Lexander jumped down from the boat, landing lightly despite the height of the deck. "To be sure, I can hardly see them beneath the mud,†he declared in amusement. He strode through the sheep to gaze down at us, two skinny marsh rats. All I saw were Lexander's tawny eyes, strangely bright with flickering depths.

My brother's mouth hung open, and his face and legs were streaked with dirt. His gray homespun tunic was fringed at the hem and hiked up by a rope around his waist. I surely looked no different.

"You, the tall one, be you a girl or a boy?†Lexander asked me.

I felt my first strange thrill of yielding to command. "l'm a woman grown,†I said, though I had only just matured.

"Do you live in the village?†he asked.

"Our da works the smithy,†my brother replied proudly. With a final, lingering gaze, Lexander returned to his longship. A few of his crew pushed them from shore as the others manned the oars. The graceful boat turned and headed back to our village on the bay.

It could have been a minor thing, a chance encounter far up the river. Traders and travelers often made their way to Jarnby to acquire iron tools and gear. Yet everything around me stilled. The incessant humming of the guardian spirits and the *olfs* grew hushed, a warning of distance to come between me and my beloved watery world. The oars of the boat beat in a compelling rhythm, beckoning me forward. But my brother shattered my trance by calling after the straying sheep.

When my da returned home that evening, he said that a great man from Fjardemano, a prosperous island in the commonwealth of Viinland, had come to bargain for me. Lexander of Vidaris was known throughout Nauga Sea for producing finely trained slaves in the art of personal service and pleasure. It was said that his slaves lived in the courts of rulers in the Auldland and beyond, growing powerful themselves through their talents.

Lexander had pledged to my da that he would return next year, after the ice broke, to tender his final offer for me. He had agreed to give me fine clothes and costly ornaments, and sworn that I would be well cared for. In exchange, he would give our family two strong cows.

My poor mam, long separated from her own Skraeling people because of her love for my da, knew many stories of the ancient Norogods as well as those of the Otherworld. But this tale clearly troubled her. Nothing was ever exactly as it seemed, and Lexander of Vidaris was not a man to be easily deciphered. I knew what she had taught usâ€"that the *inua*, life force, of the dead lived on in new borns who were named for their ancestors. That certain signs in the sky and water could reveal when the guardian spirits were angered about taboos that had been broken. And that Arnaaluk, the sea-mother, provides food from her generous depths, protecting her people. My da's stories were all about the Norogods, recounting deeds of daring and jealous sparring. The brash exploits of these gods seemed much like my fair uncles and aunts who sported and fought in our cold village.

My eldest brother, who worked in the smithy, said that Lexander had described me as "the girl with the faraway look.†My mam, her body worn with childbearing and endless hard days, pulled me to her side at the loom as if loath to let me go. In truth I felt more eagerness than fear to hear about Vidaris, a wealthy estate that basked in the sun off the southern waters of the Nauga Sea. Though it was only a day's sail away, to me it sounded as

mysterious and far away as the Auldworld itself. But by evening's end, my da grew ill-tempered at the thought of a man owning me. He swore that I would not be sold as a thrall and that I would marry as my older sister had. He decreed there would be no more talk of the stranger.

Yet everything was disturbed after Lexander came to us, and word of his offer spread quickly through our iron-making village and outlying homesteads. I looked at everyone with new eyes, changed by my vivid impression of Lexander. He was different from the people I knew. His jaw was perfectly smooth like the Skraelings, but their faces were flattened and round while he had the prominent nose and cheekbones of my da's people. He was neither fair nor dark, his skin, like his eyes, shimmered gold as if lit within by the sun.

I wondered if he was a half-breed like me and my siblings. We were different, too. We spoke Skraeling among ourselves, and our hair was bronzed on top and dark beneath, like the peat I dug in to find the iron nuggets. From my da, I got my long limbs, while my mam gave me her almond eyes with the ability to see what others couldn't. She would sit sometimes and chew her thumb in the deepest twilight, staring as my younger sister bobbed the spindle up and down, teasing out a long cord of wool. Sometimes she told me of her visionsâ€"that my older sister would marry and go south to live, and that my baby brother would fall into feverish fits that would dull his mind.

I didn't share with my mam the dream that took hold of me after Lexander came. I remembered his few words to me and the tone of command in his voice, feeling light-headed as if it were happening anew. I can hardly say why the restlessness moved me when so many others were content to live and die on the same patch of ground. Too often I was lured into climbing to the highlands overlooking the fens, and I never felt so alive as when I could endlessly trace the layers of folding hillocks spreading before me. Whenever I stumbled into a dell that I had never seen before, it nearly made me burst with pleasure. My fingers would sink into the earthy muck as I became one with the water, trickling and dripping through the hollow. I wallowed in the joy of discovery, communing with the spirits and olfs that inhabited each place.

In this way, Lexander laid a trap for me. My da would never have sold me on first sight, and even if he had, my wild nature would have resisted the training. But thinking on it for a full turn of seasons, working it over in my mind, I made myself ready for him. As Lexander told me later, the waiting period served to weed out those who couldn't accept the duties of a pleasure slave. He often returned to promising prospects only to discover the young man or woman had found a mate and refused servitude. The ones who were adrift, alone, or eager for something newâ€"like I wasâ€"fell into his hands like ripe cloudberries.



The winter was cold and wet, as it always was. Long after Lexander was no longer talked about in Jarnby, after the snows and darkness sealed the strait with ice, I still thought of him. The day the *olfs* whispered that our harbor would soon be free of towering bergs and would become a glassy smooth sea again, I wondered with a sinking heart if Lexander had forgotten me.

One morning soon after, I left the village and was heading out to forage for iron. My brother caught up to me on the edge of the fens with news that a ship had been sighted. The sail sported red and white stripes, like Lexander's longship.

By the time we returned, the boat was close to Jarnby. The mast dipped as the waves rocked it, while the oars lifted and fell with the rowing of the crew. The villagers gathered, leaving their work as word rapidly spread that Lexander had returned. My mam appeared in the doorway of our longhouse holding the youngest in her arms.

When the boat reached the shore, Lexander jumped out and strode through the spring mud, soiling his knee-high leather boots. Our village suddenly seemed smaller under his gaze. He smiled, his eyes unerringly seeking me out. "l've come for Marja.â€

My name sounded exotic with the rolling caress that he gave it. I should have been frightened of this stranger, but I felt only the exhilaration of being chosen. He had returned for me!

My da arrived from the smithy, his great belly swathed in a dirty apron, as Lexander's men lowered two cows on slings from the ship. To my practiced eye, the brown and white cattle were in milk and well fleshed, unlike our poor bony animals. It would double our herd. My da seemed fair taken with them, licking his lips at the sight.

"What assurance do you give me of her safety?†my da bargained, and in those words I heard the end of my life on the fens. I looked at the younger children who needed the milk. It would mean more food for all in this lean time until the sea hunts. There were too many babes born in our home, and it was unlikely I would marry. My love for wandering the fens had marked me long before Lexander came.

Lexander promised reports on my progress and offered to bring me back next spring for a visit. The bargain was concluded when my brothers were called to take the cows. I was a slave. Foreboding began to grow inside of me. It had been a stirring fancy, but now I would have to leave in truth. Perhaps my kin were right and my desire to roam was leading me too far astray. It might be best for me to stay on the fens, where I belonged . . .

I glanced at my da, but the decision had been made. I had made it myself when day after day I went into the fens like an errant child rather than staying at home like my younger sister to do a woman's work beside my mam. It was made in the fibers that formed me, in the blood of my da's grandda who had set sail across the endless waves of the ocean to come to this fertile land. How could I be content to stay? And what reason did they have to keep me?

Lexander saw my uncertainty. "l must know now, Marja. Will you serve and submit to me?â€

I felt no urge to deny him. "Yes,†I whispered.

"Then come with me.†His tone was more kindly than not.

The dogs began barking, breaking the hush, and my brothers called out to one another as they pastured the cows. My da's elder sister hurried up to say, "l will put her things together.†I thought of my childish treasures secreted in a leather bag under the moss of our sleeping ledge, but Lexander put an end to that.

"She needs nothing that I cannot give her,†Lexander said firmly.

My mam passed the babe away, and I went to stand before her on the paving stones at the entrance to our home. Her hands gathered the damp folds of my cloak, as if to feel me there in front of her. She looked into my eyes and saw my need to fly. She had felt it herself long ago when she left her own people and followed my da from Helluland to live in Jarnby. She accepted what her vision showed her, as always.

"l will see you as I spin,†she assured me, "and I will know if you do well.†With a narrow look at Lexander, she added, "Think on me if you wish to depart, and your father will come to redeem you.â€

"l will think of you always,†l promised, though l knew my own lack. Often l forgot my family when l went into the fens.

Lexander smiled coldly at my mam, perhaps reading me better than she did. "You shall see; she will prosper in Vidaris.â€

With that, my mam reluctantly released me. Lexander silently held out a gloved hand to me. I couldn't help but contrast my world with

Lexander'sâ€"his healthy well-muscled oarsmen, and magnificent longship piled with boxes and barrels of goods. Painted rattles of iron rings hung from the mast, making a merry jangle to ward off evil spirits. Perhaps because my mind was savage and unformed, I followed the shiny lure, willingly going with him.

Lexander led me down to the waterfront as his crew readied the longship to launch. He lifted me up in one strong arm and deposited me on the deck. It felt as if I were standing on the curved, grassy roof of our longhouse. The green pastures spread along the river, with the darker hillocks of the fens beyond.

"May the blessings of Arnaaluk be on my daughter!†my mother cried out.

The crew lifted the sail and tightened the ropes as it filled with wind. The longship pulled away from shore, and my kin called farewell. I raised my hand until I caught a last glimpse of my brother, closest to me in age, standing next to our sister on the shore. Our longhouse was a low green mound among the others, with only the wooden doorway and a line of smoke to indicate it was my home. The nearby longhouses were all alike, with brown tracks and low palisades for the animals between them. Too soon, Jarnby melded into the fens, while the highlands were a formidable ridge beyond.

We sailed into the Klaro Strait, its waters tinted a deep, icy blue. Fog hung thickly in the folds of the land, revealing an inlet or a strand of black spruce in the clefts. I held on to the smooth wooden side of the boat, swaying with the up and down of the waves. Listening to the creaking of the ropes that held the sail taut, I could hear the sea spirits speaking to me. Unlike *olfs*, spirits were disembodied and could reveal themselves only through visions. The sea spirits evoked endless depths and the creatures that flowed through their waters, dangerous predators and beasts that looked strangely like clouds or rocks

A light but steady rain fell as we sailed south into the Nauga Sea, leaving Markland behind. Lexander tried to give me skyr, thick, milky whey, which he said would sit easy on my stomach. But I couldn't eat. He did insist that I drink some watered mead. I crumpled my day-meal of fried porridge my mam had given me into the sea to appease the spirits for my passage. I usually would give a sacrifice to the olfs on the fens, eating some myself as well.

It wasn't long before the rocking motion began to make me feel ill. The oarsmen passed comments about my condition among themselves, wagering on my ability to hold my stomach. I did, though I didn't know how long I would have to endure.

But none of that mattered. The sail belied full, lifting me from the moorings of my life. In spite of my illness, I went to the bow to look ever ahead. Lexander smiled indulgently, reclining on a padded bench in the stern. It was as if my body underwent a paroxysm of grief, clenching and convulsing at leaving behind the land and olfs that I loved, while my spirit soared in front of the great vessel urging me ever onward.

Â

without a dirt floor before.

The journey across the sea seemed endless as the sun crossed the sky between the banks of clouds. I was groggy with nausea and fatigue when a shout went up. A light had been sighted. As we neared the island of Fjardemano, a great bonfire pierced the fog shrouding the banks, leading Lexander home. By then the day began to die, and we were in the gloaming.

The shore was backed by a red sandstone bluff, with the fluted sides starkly bare of plants. The sand of the narrow beach was the same distinctive red. At the top, a woven palisade stretched among the trees, blocking my view beyond. The fence was very tall, made of saplings that were bent around sturdy posts. I wondered uneasily who Lexander could possibly fear. A palisade such as this could defend against a Skraeling attack, not that there had been any in recent memory. The chieftains, under the direction of the overlord of Viinland, had made peace or pushed back any Skraelings who were inclined to raid. My mam had told me stories of those dark times when many of the Beothuk had been killed, mistaken for the vicious Skraeling tribes who lived farther inland.

The longship was moored with a flurry of shouts as the oarsmen tied down the sail. I stumbled as I stepped onto the wooden dock, feeling as if the world were still moving around me. Lexander noticed my lack of balance and casually supported my arm, the first time he touched me since we had left Jarnby. I hardly noticed the useful dock, which allowed us to walk from the boat to the beach without wetting our feet.

Lexander and I climbed a tall flight of wooden steps to reach the top of the bluff. The evergreens in Fjardemano were dense cones of bright emerald, unlike the spruce of my homeland, which spread dark scraggly arms against the sky. As we climbed higher, I could see the shoreline receding into the distance, with the bluff rising to form the dramatic line of vermilion cliffs. A mass of green conifers crowded the top.

When we passed through a wide gate in the palisade, the sky was still bright enough for me to see a number of structures amid the clearings. Lexander took me up the gravel path to the largest structure, much longer than my old home. Sheer walls rose as if a god had chiseled them from the ground. The roof didn't have grass growing on it, and the pitch seemed impossibly steep.

It was so unlike the low, turf-covered duns of Jarnby that I gaped in surprise. I couldn't accept what lay before me. I thought that my own confusion was interfering in my ability to sense the spirits of the place. It would have been easier if some *olfs* had appeared to lend me their aid, but there were none.

We skirted the huge structure; then the gravel path began to curve back down. For a moment I was high enough to see the woven palisade encircling a series of low hills, scattered with wooden buildings and a few familiar sod longhouses. Leafy trees were swaying over small ponds in the clefts. Spreading far beyond the palisade were plowed fields, as red as the cliffs, while in the distance lay the shadowy forest.

Since I could not commune with the land directly, I had to ask, "What is this?â€

Lexander gestured broadly. "This is Vidaris, your new home, Marja. Five dozen slaves and freemen live here, working the fields and running the haushold.â€

It was nothing like Jarnby, which blended into the green banks of the river. Yet despite its differences, Vidaris smelled the sameâ€"burning wood, cooked meat, human waste, and too many animals crowded together. There were more cattle than sheep, another indicator of wealth. As the dusk deepened, I was heartened to see that children ran about in the distance. Their playful shouts were almost drowned out by the mournful braying of hounds.

The gravel path led back down to the stream. Lexander guided me up the steps into a small building next to it. The room was long and narrow. A light burned on the near wall, a tiny flame fed by the whale oil within a bubbled glass sphere. A glow also came from coals slowly burning out in the hearth in the opposite wall. Under my feet were rectangular slabs laid a finger's width apart. They were exactly the same size, slightly longer and wider than my hand, and laid together to form a flat, hard floor. My eyes followed the straight, crisscrossing grooves endlessly like a spell. I had never seen a room

"Master!†a young man called out as he ran up the steps. He was as clean and as white as a new-bloomed flower, with long curling brown hair. His tunic was belted with gold cord like the lacings that held his elegant, fitted shoes. I could feel how much warmer it was here in Viinland, but his scanty attire startled me. His face was without a beard, making him appear younger than he was.

Lexander briefly caressed the young man's hair. "See to my things, Bjorn. The men left my boxes by the *haushold*.†His tone indicated he expected to be obeyed without question. The young man spared only a brief glance at me as he left.

"ls he really a slave?†I asked when he was gone.

"Yes. Bjorn is one of my treasures. You should look to him as your guide for how to behave. He is ever ready to please.â€

I stared after the beautiful slave as he ran back up the gravel path to the large structure. If my mother could see Bjorn, she would think him a godling, he was so fine. It seemed as if I had been granted a rare gift the day Lexander had chosen to sail up our river. But I knew there had to be a price for all that I would gain. It must be that way, as air gave way to water, as did water to earth, and earth to wind in an endless cycle.

Lexander stepped close to me, and I looked up to his face. I was used to being taller than most peopleâ€"a longlimbed, lanky girl. My softer, rounder cousins were always favored over me.

He removed his gloves with practiced motions. "l should sluice you down proper before the bath.†He examined me, his full lips twisting in distaste. "Well, nothing left but to do it. Off with your clothes, girl. Put them over there by the door. The house servants may be able to use them as rags.â€

I squirmed at the thought of disrobing in front of him. "Here?â€

"'Tis time to rid yourself of false modesty, Marja. I own you now, and you will do as you're told. Or you'll do it with tears in your eyes.â€

My da had switched my brothers on occasion when they ran off without doing their duties. The switch left red slashes across the backs of their legs and stung like a hundred bees, they claimed. But da had never done it to me. My mam told him it was beyond my power that the *olfs* called me so.

But Lexander did not look at me with indulgence, and he surely owned me as much as my da ever did. I slowly untied my cloak, hesitating until Lexander impatiently urged me to be quick. He went to pour a bucket of water as I dropped the scrap of wool that served as my cloak. Uneasily, I glanced behind me, but Bjorn was not in sight. I slipped my arms out of the loose sleeves of my tunic and pulled it over my head. Both were wet through from the generous spray of the sea. I tossed the soggy bundle down near the door, left in only my skin.

"Stand still,†Lexander ordered as he dashed water from a bucket against my face and chest. I cringed, but the water was as warm as if it had lain in the sun. Lexander walked around and threw the rest on my rear. It poured off me onto the floor, running through the cracks and out a clever hole in the wall. I could hear the stream splashing on the other side.

"Get into the smaller bath.†Lexander sat on the bench and pulled off his own splattered knee-high boots.

Muscles aching from the rocking motion of the longship, I slid into the square pool, grateful for the water that covered me. It was warm and so clear I could see the mosaic tiles embedded in the sides and bottom, each a slightly different shade of blue. The pattern formed a sinuous wave in the floor and sides. It was cleaner and larger than the pools in the fens that I normally bathed in, and it was much warmer than the sea. Yet it felt empty. I couldn't understand why there were no sprites delighting in the water. Sprites might be tiny invisible creatures, but they were able to touch this world much like offs could

Lexander stood up, and with a mocking glint in his eyes, undid the cord of his pants and slid them off, leaving only his long belted shirt. I drew back. "You don't mean toâ€"â€

"l would take you if I wanted to,†Lexander interrupted. He went to gather a basket and brought it to the pool. "But as you are now, you hold no interest for me.â€

Stung, I crossed my arms over my chest as he stepped into the pool. The water reached just above his knees, well below the hem of his shirt.

"Let's get on with it.†Lexander sighed as he picked up his first implement.

The brush was made of musk-ox bristles, cut to uniform length. It scraped my flesh unmercifully. The skin verily peeled from my body and burned from the foam he rubbed into the bristles. He scrubbed me down in broad swaths, muttering to himself about "years of filth.†Then he forced me under the water to rinse. If I had known what he had in mind for me, I would surely have chosen a simple rutting.

As I righted myself in the pool, Bjorn returned to the baths. His face was a cool white oval in the dimness. His features were truly distinguished, particularly his aquiline nose. Lexander called, "Bjorn, come help me with this rat's nest of hair. I only hope that there's something salvageable within.â€

Bjorn obeyed instantly, his hands joining Lexander's on my head. I crouched in the tub, shivering despite the warmth of the water. Darts of pain shot through my skull as they tugged and pulled at the small braids that held the waving mass away from my face. Throughout they exclaimed at the things they foundâ€"bits of cord and string, dried stems from flowers woven into the braids, and tufts of white and black wool. They amassed a motley pile next to the bath, and the more they stared down at me in disfavor, the smaller I felt.

Lastly they brushed, each taking a side, snagging the snarls and making the pain flash through my tender scalp. But I closed my lips tight, refusing to let them know how they hurt me. It was like the invisible hands that plucked at me in the fens, pinching and tweaking the very lashes from my eyes. I had learned that you don't show weakness or evil spirits will take more than they need, just to delight in your torment. So I sat as straight as I could, bracing myself.

When they were done, Lexander lathered my hair, soothing the fierce burning of my scalp with creamy lotion. Bjorn made me lean over and poured buckets of water on my head, rinsing again and again until they judged my head free of vermin and grime. Bjorn took the brackish pile pulled from my hair with an expression of frank disgust, his fine nose turned away. He tossed it far beyond the stable yard and carefully washed his hands when he returned.

Lexander concentrated on pinning my hair to the top of my head with two bone combs. "Tell Sigrid to bring my meal to table. She will serve me tonight.â€

A flicker of resentment passed over Bjorn's face, and I learned later that he competed with Sigrid as a favorite of Lexander's. He inclined his head gracefully. "As you wish, Master.†He withdrew with a measured gait that was the height of grace.

Lexander turned and caught my wide-eyed stare. "As I said, Bjorn is perfectly trained. You will learn soon enough. You, too, will draw all eyes when you stroll through a room, and be able to please a patron with the slightest touch.â€

I held my breath, remembering the days on the fens that I had dreamed away, thinking of what it would mean to be a pleasure slave. All I knew of pleasure was the artless rutting I had enjoyed with some boys in Jarnby. But the way Bjorn moved held a deeper promise of what I could become.

I thought we were finished, but Lexander emptied the dirty water in the bath through a plug in the bottom. I realized that was why no sprites could settle in the tub. Then Lexander filled the bath again by tilting an enormous vat that swung out from the fire, pouring in a stream of freshly warmed water.

The second brush he used was softer, but the burning foam was more copious. He moved the brush in firm swirls across my neck, down my back, and under my arms. Every finger was scrubbed from my knuckles to nails. As he moved downward, briskly rubbing between my legs, I felt a sudden rush of heat. Bracing myself against him for a heady moment, I longed for a more sensual touch. The feeling persisted even as he continued to treat me like a root he had pulled from the ground, to be scraped clean before being pounded for mash. Then he clipped the nails on my feet and hands and let my hair

down to trim it evenly above my waist. Several ragged handfuls were thrown aside, and I was glad Bjorn had been sent away so he wouldn't see me shorn like a sheep.

The cleansing left me shiny pink and throbbing. My nipples stood erect, having received far too much attention. Even my toes felt distinct, aching like new-grown buds. He smeared salve on the chilblains on my hands and feet, soothing the sores that always burned raw in the winter.

Then Lexander examined me, bending me over the bench and bringing the small, round lamp close. His fingers prodded my crotch, pulling at the nether lips and questing inside me. At first he was gentle; then I gasped as he slid his finger in fully deep.

"You've been broached,†Lexander declared thoughtfully. "Why such girlish modesty? Your first lesson, Marja, is that blushes can be appealing on occasion, but a steady diet of them is tiresome.†I tensed, feeling his finger still deep inside me. It wiggled in emphasis. "Who did this to you?â€

I was hardly able to speak in such a position. My hands clenched against the padded top of the bench. "Boys of the village.â€

"Oh? Were none special to you?â€

It was difficult to think, but one memory sprang to mind. "There was a trader who came to Jarnby. He was from Tillfallvik. He said he helped the chieftain launch a great *knaar*, and the big man tossed him a copper. He gave it to me.†I didn't add that I had given the copper to the *olfs* because they were jealous of their gifts.

"And you fell in love with him,†Lexander finished.

I shook my head as he pulled away. "No.â€

Lexander's brows rose. "That is the first you've said that interests me.â€

His sharp tone couldn't be mistaken, but why did he chastise me? Surely I didn't know my place, but that wasn't my fault. Yet I couldn't seem to form my lips around a protest. I submitted to Lexander, not because he had earned it or deserved it, but because something inside of me surrendered to him. It was my first taste of life in his hands.

Two

I woke the next morning in a narrow room with a remarkable peaked ceiling. It was filled with a dozen slaves, each sleeping on a moss-filled mat, which were laid end to end along the walls. My fuzzy wool blanket was made of a much finer thread and weave than I was accustomed to. After sleeping my whole life on an earthen ledge in a pile among my sisters, it was luxury indeed.

The haushold was a remarkable structure. I learned later that the rectangular blocks were bricks made from clay deposits molded by hand along with the red earth of Vidaris. The slaves slept in one of four halls that formed a huge rectangle with a courtyard in the center. The fire hall was the longest, with the dining table at one end. The kitchen hall had rows of storerooms and a scullery. I noticed several round baking ovens in the kitchen yard when Lexander had brought me up from the baths. He informed me that the fourth hall had chambers for guests, himself, and his consort, Helanas. It was the first I had heard mention of Helanas, though it was to be expected that a man such as Lexander had a wife. He warned me their hall was not to be entered unless we were given express permission.

I shyly imitated the other slaves as they straightened their bedding, then dressed in my new woolen tunic and sandals. My legs felt strangely bare with such a short skirt, but it was warm enough to be comfortable. The shoes would take more getting used to, and I scuffed clumsily over the brick floor.

As they filed into the fire hall, I followed a frightened young man my own age. He had cried in the night, and his face was still streaked by traces of tears as we sat down at the long dining table. Niels had arrived at Vidaris a few days before me, all the way from Hop on the southern mainland of Viinland. I was envious of his experiences, but he seemed childish despite his advantages.

Several of our fellow slaves served us generous bowls of hot oat porridge. I sat on a bench next to two Skraeling girls, watching them sadly fumble with a flat wooden utensil. When I tried to use my fingers to eat my porridge, my hand was sharply rapped.

I dropped the bowl and turned in shock to find Lexander's consort, Helanas, glaring down at me. A red silk veil was wrapped over her head and around her neck, trailing down to her waist, where it was belted with her pleated dress. With her tawny skin and full lips, Helanas resembled Lexander. But her dark eyes were cruel.

My knuckles throbbed, as Helanas ordered, "You will use your spoon or your food will be removed!†She caressed the heavy leather flap at the end of the rod.

Bjorn smirked from across the table, his patrician nose crinkling with distaste. From the other slaves' expressions, I could tell they, too, thought I was a barbarian. Only the two Skraeling girls next to me stared into their porridge tremulously. It showed me how alone I was.

If I was lost in my new role, the tension among the elder slaves made things worse. After the meal, when I tried to step outside to see the clouds, I discovered that they were ordered to make sure we didn't run away. I wanted only to get in touch with the spirits of Vidaris, but it seemed they thought I would try to go home. The slaves barred me from the outer doors, claiming we would all be punished if any of us left.

Rosarin, a girl with striking golden hair, took pity on me and led me into the section of the courtyard used by the pleasure slaves. The enclosed yard had benches and gravel pathways, but the greenery was more restrained than the abundant garden I could see through an open archway. That part of the courtyard was a veritable paradise in spring with exotic broad-leafed bushes and miniature trees in bloom. Braziers released scented smoke, warming the air

I felt an otherworldly summons from within, but when I went to the archway, Bjorn blocked my way. "The inner courtyard is not for us.â€

"lt calls to me,†I tried to explain. But Bjorn shook his head firmly. It was the first time I had felt the presence of spirits in Vidaris, and my longing to commune with otherworldly creatures pressed on me like a sore. But Sigrid, the oldest slave, joined Bjorn to guard the archway. The spirits cast a craving inside of me to enter until I was almost determined to defy them.

Helanas arrived and my infant rebellion shriveled under her glare. Then my training began in earnest. Helanas ordered, "Gesig!†and the slaves all knelt in surrender. I tried to emulate the others, going down on my knees on a woven grass mat with my hands held behind my back.

Helanas circled, correcting our poses with harsh smacks of her crop. She adjusted me with skilled hands, prodding my lower back and pulling the hair on the very top of my head until I sat straight and tall, resting my buttocks on my heels, with my eyes downcast. After a few minutes of sustaining the pose, my body began to feel strained in places I had never felt before. But the older slaves held perfectly still and at ease.

Helanas ordered us to release, then slowly proceeded through a series of poses starting with the kneeling ones. Many of them made me blush at the way I presented myself, nether parts raised and offered for viewing or access. Thankfully Niels and the two Skraeling sisters were as awkward as I during the drill, so Helanas concentrated her attention between the four of us. I was sweating and shaking by the third pose.

Helanas frightened me in a way I hadn't felt with Lexander. He had watched my every reaction, adjusting his response to my own. He had sent Bjorn away from the baths just when I was feeling most pitiful, so he could concentrate on me. Helanas, on the other hand, randomly swiped her crop at us as if bored and impatient, growing more harsh as the session continued. I doubted she even knew my name because she only addressed me as "girl.â€

The older slaves were limber and stretched into graceful curves. They led each other on a drill of more advanced poses while the four novices watched. I doubted I would ever be able to balance and extend in a like manner.

After the long session, I was relieved when Helanas sent us off. The house servants assigned tasks to each of us. Some were also slaves, but they ordered us to do everything from refilling the braziers and water vats to brushing the brick floors and walls. A matronly freewoman named Hallgerd was in charge, and she used a long wooden spoon to smack heads and buttocks whenever we moved too slowly. Hallgerd was imposing, with wide copper broaches pinning a white apron to her pleated dress. There was a helping of her mistress's ferocity in Hallgerd, so I did exactly as she ordered and received no undue attention.

At one point I stumbled across Lexander training the older slaves in the hall where we slept. It was the first time I had seen him that day. The slaves were all naked, and Sigrid was kneeling in front of our master. Lexander's tunic was raised, and he firmly held the back of Sigrid's head. Her hands were helplessly clasped at the small of her back.

I hastily retreated, but Lexander's head turned. He took in my shock, then gazed down with approval at Sigrid, his hips pumping languorously.

I returned to my duties with a new understanding of how the poses would eventually be put to use. It unnerved me to imagine myself kneeling in front of Lexander like Sigrid had done. But part of me wished I could.

Late that afternoon, the pleasure slaves returned to the baths for our grooming. Lexander was waiting for us. I was grateful that he had a full dozen slaves to deal with so that I didn't receive another prolonged scrubbing. But he seemed to delight in cleansing the tender parts of my body, as if to prove that he owned every part of me. The older slaves bathed each other, and by the firelight I could see they stared with envy whenever Lexander

touched me.

From the talk I had overheard among the servants, our master and mistress came from faraway Stanbulin, the gateway to the Orient. My brother had nearly been right when he had called Lexander a Hun. Helanas was as fine as Lexander, formed near as perfectly as a woman could beâ€"tall, curvaceous, with powerful limbs and refined features. Her only flaw was her muddy-blond hair, which was very thin and lay close to her skull. The rest of her body was perfectly smooth, like Lexander's. They rubbed lotion onto us to remove most of our hair as well.

Each of the slaves had their own special beauty, though we were all tall and slender, with lean limbs and lithe bodies. Rosarin appeared to be as haughty as Bjorn, but she was kind to me, trimming the front of my wavy hair so it flowed neatly like her own thick tresses. The two Skraeling sisters were like twin shadows, with dusky skin and the narrow black eyes typical of the icy north. The male that caught my attention was not the dramatic redheaded Sverker, but Ansgar, who had a calm reserve that was pleasant compared to the constant orders of Bjorn and Sigrid. Those two relished taking control whenever Lexander was busy elsewhere. I could tell the other slaves didn't like it, but in spite of myself I couldn't help but obey, refilling the baths and stoking the fire as ordered, all the while admiring their elegance.

Under their tutelage, a new Marja appeared. My hair, which Lexander had despaired of, was commented on most favorably. The bronzed layer on top shifted and glistened gold at the slightest movement, accenting the waves that grew tighter near my face. My almond eyes were green with brown flecks, much like ordinary moss, but they were framed by startlingly dark brows and long lashes. The misty light of the fens had given my skin a fairer glow than Rosarin's, even though she was blond. How could I not admire this new Marja who appeared in the silver mirrors of Vidaris?

* * *

As the days wore on, the stringent physical and mental discipline of training was difficult, but I was warm and well fed for the first time in my life. I missed my mam, but sometimes as I went about my duties, I felt as if she were near. Then I knew she was thinking about me, and I willed myself to reach her across the distance. Our *inua* was too weak to truly commune, but the spirits of the land, air, and water lent us their aid so our minds could touch.

She must have felt my anxiety born of confinement in the *haushold*. I went outside only during our daily trip to the baths. And that wasn't enough to make me stop missing the wind and the rising scents of the warming season on this beautiful island. I did everything I was told with one eye on the sky, watching for the sudden rain squalls that poured into the courtyard. The fields outside were green ing with new growth, and the trees budded with flowers that Ansgar said would give way to fruit, ripened by the full-bodied sun. I longed to go into the woods or kneel to sing to the tiny sprouts that appeared in the grass alongside the gravel path. But I never escaped the watching eyes of my fellow slaves.

I was like one of the brightly colored birds in the inner courtyard, kept in a fanciful cage and singing with frantic hope that I would be released. I soon realized that was why the spirits of the garden kept calling me, to right the wrong that Helanas had done by caging those pretty creatures for her amusement. Early one morning before the dawn mist lifted, I woke before the others and managed to sneak into the courtyard. I lifted the tiny latch and felt a burst of gratitude from the red bird as it flashed out. Carefully I re-latched the cage, fearing there would be terrible repercussions. Yet I also freed the other two birds, blue with orange throats, before sounds from the kitchen hall forced me to flee. As I returned to our hall, I sensed the spirits within the courtyard were finally appeased.

Later that day, an off revealed itself to me. I was fetching a cask of pressed-seed oil in the storeroom for Hallgerd when I heard faint, bell-like laughter. It was up high, near the thick slanted beams of the ceiling, so I knew it couldnâ∈™t be one of the other slaves. It was like the sound I heard on the fens whenever the offs beckoned me. This time it circled the room, seemingly delighted with my eager interest. Then a whisper dropped into my ear. "Cheerful wayfarer, cheerful giver, cheerful worker doth gain all!â€

It disappeared in a puff of scent that was so rich and earthy that I breathed in deeply. As it faded, I was alone again and knew why. The otherworldly creature was taunting me for my discontent. I had forgotten my earliest lessonâ€"a happy heart was the way to peace. I resolved to freely accept my confinement and no longer pine. When the missing birds were never mentioned within hearing of the slaves, I knew the *olf* had somehow deflected suspicion from me.

After that, I brought the off the remnants of my bowl of milk every morning, which it licked clean sometimes as I sat nearby. As the days passed, I began to see through the shimmer in the air the shape of the little creature of the land. It was neither male nor female, as all offs were, and its smile showed small pointed teeth. Many times I found the floors of the hall were cleaned in the night. Then I would sit in the storeroom and sing songs to entertain the off. It cheered me to know there were otherworldly creatures here that I simply couldn't see, but once I had proven myself to them, perhaps they would acknowledge me.

Â

Then one night, only eight slaves were sent to bed. The four eldest, including Bjorn, remained in the baths with Lexander and Helanas. It was not uncommon for us to be trained in small groups, so no mention was made of it as redheaded Sverker led us back to our hall. I laid my head down near Niels' feet, as always. But as the others fell into soft snores, I heard the soft laughter again. It was the first time the *olf* had reached for me outside the storeroom.

I could not resist the lure. The olf laughed again, making a mockery of my obedience as if knowing at heart that I was as mischievous as it was.

I was dressed only in my sleep shift, and my bare feet didn't make a sound. By now I had scrubbed every brick and knew exactly where to step. Naturally, the laughter led me through the fire hall into the kitchen. As I stepped into the kitchen yard, the gravel path beckoned to me.

I knew Bjorn could return to our hall and raise the alarm that I was gone. It was not to be taken lightlyâ€"I had seen Helanas punish a slave several days earlier. She had hung Sverker's wrists from a rope and forced him to balance on a narrow rod. He'd stubbornly held out as we were ordered to watch. Niels had broken down long before Sverker, crying for him. But eventually Sverker began to beg forgiveness and pleaded for his torment to end. Helanas watched with her arms crossed and a smile on her face until he sobbed with pain. I wanted to turn away but was dis turbingly captivated by the sight. That night, I had thrashed on my bedding unable to sleep, feeling frustrated and feverish, as if I were battling an evil spirit.

As I stepped foot outside the kitchen yard, the *olf* 's laughter disappeared over the curve of the hill, following the path to the palisade above the beach. The muffled rush of the ocean and the rich scent of the flowering trees lured me forward. Even with the specter of Helanas hanging over my head, I couldn't retreat.

When I reached the gate, I could see the source of smoke beyond. A bonfire was burning on the beach with a roaring rush of sea wind.

I scurried along the top of the crescent bluff, keeping within the shadow of the palisade. That's when I saw people standing near the bonfire. One looked up, and I ducked down among the hillocks of grass, realizing it was Lexander. I froze, expecting him to come seize me.

But Lexander was speaking to the four eldest slaves, his voice carrying up to me. "... and now you understand what your fate will be. You have completed your training; I bid you farewell.â€

As he finished speaking, a marvelous sight appeared on the water. A giant bird was skimming across the ocean with its wings slanting up toward the moon. I forgot my shivering as it swiftly approached the beach. It was as if a god himself had taken the form of a fantastic eagle and flown down from the heavens.

As the bird drew near, into the light cast by the bonfire, I realized the two wings were the triangular sails of a mighty ship larger than any l'd ever seen before. The moonlight made the white sails glow. I had never seen a ship with two masts before, or with cross posts that slanted down toward the bow and thrust high into the sky in the stern. The hull of the ship was flattened, unlike the sweeping curve of the boats I knew, and there was a high platform in the rear.

The four elder slaves were illuminated by the fire, their expressions rapt. Earlier in the baths Bjorn had been as jealous as always, but now he had eyes only for the mysterious ship. It drew up, dwarfing the dock, silent except for the splashing of the water against the hull. I wanted to touch the side, to see if it were truly made of smoked glass, as it appeared to be.

Silhouettes of men working on the ship moved against the white sails. I didn't hear a sound, but a rope ladder was let down to touch the dock.

Lexander gestured to the ship. "Go now and give glory unto Vidaris.â€

Bjorn didn't even spare a glance for Lexander as he jostled to be the first to reach the dock. He climbed quickly and disappeared over the side. Sigrid was more hesitant, but she and the other two slaves went up as well.

Lexander followed them, climbing as if he had done so a thousand times. For a moment I thought he was departing with the slaves. I almost rose to follow, but Lexander soon dropped back down onto the dock. As he approached the fire, a rare satisfaction lit his face and his full lips softened into a smile.

The sails shifted, and the ship slowly began to turn away from the dock. There were no oarsmen, so its silent motion seemed magical, as if the hand of a god reached down to guide the craft. A rush of excitement filled me as it sailed away. I desperately longed to go with it. If this was my destiny, then I could endure anything Helanas did to me. Oh, what joy to be carried away by a great bird! To see magnificent places far away from these isles. It was a reward I could scarce hope for as I followed the white sails with my fervent eyes.

But I should have been watching Lexander, because by the time the ship disappeared into the darkness he was standing at the gate.

"You will come with me, Marja,†Lexander ordered.



Trembling, I knelt before Lexander in the large fire hall. My sleep shift was muddy at the hem, and my palms were smeared with grass. I expected Lexander to summon Helanas, but he lounged on the padded bench looking down at me. I was spoiling the pristine floor. I was sure I would have to pay for the mess I was making as well as for my transgression in leaving the haushold.

Indeed, fury etched his deep voice. "What did you hear, Marja?â€

I almost denied everything. But I couldn't lie to him. "You told the other slaves to bring glory unto Vidaris, Master.â€

His eyes narrowed. "What else?â€

"l saw them go inside the magical ship and it sailed away.†The awe in my voice couldn't be hidden.

Lexander sat forward, elbows on his knees, to glare into my face. I wanted to pull back, but that would displease him. "You will tell me everything you heard!â€

"There was nothing else, I swear it.†My dirty palms ground together. "I am sorry I have angered you. The *olf* woke me and I was compelled to follow it . . .â€

"l see.†Lexander quirked one brow. "An olf did it.â€

"The olf called to me, so I went.â€

For some reason, that seemed to amuse him. "l'd say it was a wicked imp to put you there at that time. So you saw the ship arrive. What am to do with you now?â€

I answered, "Whatever you desire, Master,†as I had been taught by Helanas.

"True, you are obedient enough for a new slave, unusually so. This is the first time you've left the *haushold,* isn't it?â€

I nodded, thinking of the long hard days l'd spent inside.

"And you a girl of the fens. I wonder that you haven't sneaked out before this. l've seen how you've suffered.†He smiled almost wistfully. "And l've seen how hard you have tried to be content in Vidaris.â€

I felt a rush of warmth in my face. He had seen the quivering tension in my heart. I longed to be free while I also yearned to be quiescent under his touch. I squirmed on the hard floor, loosing my pose for an instant.

Lexander considered me while I resumed kneeling in the pose of obedienceâ€"Iydnadâ€"straight from shoulders to knees, toes pointed and touching, gazing downward. After days of practice, I could hold the pose for quite some time. It was familiar now and did serve to calm me. But fear fluttered deep inside. Helanas' punishment pole seemed paltry compared to what Lexander could inflict. What if he sent me away? What would my life be then?

Lexander held my gaze. "Will you promise not to speak of what you saw, Marja? Not a word?â€

"Of a surety! I will never speak of it.â€

"You won't brag to the others? Would you not be tempted to tell your friends of what you saw this night?â€

"Nobody talks to me,†I blurted out, "except sometimes Niels. And he's so good he wouldn't want to hear it.â€

Lexander reclined back on the bench. "Perhaps it is best to keep yourself alone among the slaves. Helanas breeds competition, and to survive this intact you must learn to please her.â€

I nodded, grateful for his advice.

"lf you ever speak of this night, Marja, you will be punished severely. For now, you may return to bed. Tomorrow, you will pay the penance of my choosing. Then you will be forgiven.â€

My mouth opened, struck by his possessive tone. It made me want to please him, to be forgiven now. I couldn't bear his displeasure when I could

atone. I almost begged for it.

"Go,†he ordered.

I slowly stood up and left the hall. For a long time after I slid back onto my pallet, I could not sleep. It was not an evil spirit I fought this time, but a longing I was unsure I could ever fulfill.



The next morning, Bjorn, Sigrid, and the two older slaves were gone. It wasn't unusual for slaves to spend the night with Lexander or Helanas, even a group of four together. But when they didn't join us at the day-meal, Sverker said knowingly, "Their training was complete. They've been sent to serve.â€

"Does it always happen without warning?†Niels asked in a quavering voice. If Helanas had been present, we wouldn't have spoken.

"Yes, this is the second time l've seen it happen,†Sverker replied. "The first was after harvest.â€

"Will new slaves be joining us?†I asked.

"lt depends on where they are found and when Lexander returns to fetch them.†He nodded to the Skraeling sisters, who had their arms around each other, though as usual they didn't say anything. "Those two came at the end of winter.â€

"Where did the others go?†Niels had to ask.

Ansgar lifted his hands. "We aren't told and are forbidden to ask. All I know is that we are destined to serve emperors and kings.â€

"Each to our own best ability,†Rosarin murmured in agreement.

I closed my mouth tightly against any desire to confide what I had seen. It was not for me to tell them their fate.

That day, the kitchens were busy preparing traveling food for Lexander and his crew. He was leaving on another one of his periodic searches for new slaves. I wondered if he would forget about my penance. I hoped so, for it meant he had forgotten my transgression.

But that afternoon, Rosarin summoned me to bring my bucket and brush to clean the floor of the fire hall. With a flinch of distaste, I recalled the muddy streaks left by my feet on the bricks.

When I arrived, Lexander was seated at a grand marble table near the hearth. Nearby were a handful of benches. One low table had a grid painted on it, with carved ivory and hardwood figures standing in the colored squares. Niels had explained that they represented Thorr and the other Norogods, and were used to play *hneftaf*. Bjorn had been Lexander's favorite opponent, and I wondered if Niels would take his place now.

On both sides of the closed door leading to the courtyard, the windows were shuttered against the chill spring air. Slanted beams of light with tiny sparkling motes shone through the chinks. I knew that the olfs and spirits could see images caught in such beams. Perhaps they were on the fens right now watching me in this place. What did they think of my choice to leave them? I wondered if they missed me or if they could feel my presence even far away.

Lexander's table was lit by the fire and a shining glass lamp hanging from a pole. I approached and bobbed down in deference as Helanas had taught me, my back straight and head held high with eyes downcast. I noticed the double doors to outside were unbarred today, with the iron-bound crossbar leaning against the wall.

"You will clean the floor, Marja,†Lexander ordered without glancing up. He held a quill and was writing on yellow parchment before him. I didn't recognize the runes he made.

I went to the spot where I had knelt the night before. The cushions on the bench were still impressed with marks where his body had reclined. I quickly washed the red mud from the bricks, letting the water flow into the cracks before polishing them with the long cloth tucked at my waist. There were a few footprints leading up the steps and into the main hall, so I washed those as well.

When I finished, I tried to escape quietly, but Lexander raised his head. "You will put the bucket away and come here.â€

The penance! I tucked the bucket and cloth out of sight beside the steps, a trick of neatness I had learned from the other slaves. Then I returned and began to kneel.

"You will take the pedestal.†Lexander gestured to the closest window. In front was a low, round pedestal, barely two hands high.

I stepped up and turned around. Pedestals were scattered about in the halls and gardens, looking very much like the bases of the marble columns in the courtyard. Helanas often ordered us to pose on the pedestals when we had nothing to do.

"You will remove your tunic.†Lexander stared at me briefly, as if I should have remembered, before resuming his writing.

I unbuckled the enameled bronze clasp on my red leather belt and let it fall behind the pedestal. In the warmth of the *haushold* it wasn't needful to wear anything more than my short tunic. It was white with long, tapered sleeves. The wool was woven with a narrow gold tabard around the edges at my neck, wrists, and the hem at my thighs. As I had seen the other slaves do, I pulled the scarlet silk tie from my hair, letting it fall unbound. I wore only the bronze twisted neck ring at the base of my throat and the wide metal bracelet I had chosen that morning from the cask of jewelry shared by the slaves. I had seen how the ornaments made the other slaves appear more naked.

For a moment I stood there awkwardly, until I remembered one of Helanas' posesâ€"bojakna. I bent one knee to the front and held my arms curving downward to graze my thighs in front and back. It was one of the more demure poses and called for a slightly tilted head, gazing off and down to one side. The narrow sunbeams passed around me and hit the floor, casting an elongated shadow of my form. Any olf or spirit who cared to look would surely see me now.

The scratch of the *stilo* was all that I heard. I settled into the pose thinking it was a pleasant penance. The fire kept me from shivering, yet my nipples tightened at being displayed before my master. More than ever before, I felt what it meant to belong to Lexander.

Then came a knock on the outer doors, which pushed open at Lexanderâ \in TMs summons. I startled in surprise and briefly lost my pose. Lexander said, $\hat{a} \in \mathcal{C}Marja!\hat{a} \in$

Through the doors strode two men shrouded in sea cloaks. At first I thought they were freemen from Vidaris, but as they unwrapped they both hailed Lexander as equals. My master went forward to greet them. Sverker and Ansgar arrived at the bell to fetch their boxes. I could tell by the rich cut of their clothes that they must be magnates, leaders of a village or a tract of homesteads.

I resumed my pose, and they turned to gaze at me as if I were a living statue. "A new one?†one of the men asked with a laugh. More sly comments were passed, but Lexander actually smiled and encouraged their speculation.

I trembled and blushed till my skin fair burned with it. Every low laugh, every knowing remark only half heard, made it near impossible for me to hold the pose. And Lexander knew it. He had devised this penance because my weakness was modesty. As I struggled to obey him, he didn't even deign to glance my way.

A small bag of coins passed from Lexander to the elder man with white hair and a deeply lined face. The younger magnate made a crude comment that I couldn't understand, but I nevertheless knew it was about me.

Lexander laughed out loud, and I almost broke my pose at the unfamiliar sound. "Your favorite, Rosarin, is still here, if you want her. This one may be too shy for your tastes.â€

I was suddenly afraid that I would be sold for my disobedience. The younger magnate approached me, thick in chest with bowed-out legs that seemed too short for his stout body. His beard was black, as was the hair straggling over his skull and on his chest.

Lexander called after him, "Feel free to touch her. She has lovely skin. Would that all of them were so fine.â€

"Fair little one, aren't you?†the magnate asked as he leered at me. I felt his rough hands on my breasts and grabbing my waist. His fingers pinched my nipple as if he delighted in seeing me tremble and start under his hands. I tried to hold still, as I tried not to flinch under the crop when Helanas trained us every morning.

His hands slid down to my legs, and his fingers pressed into the soft hair at my groin. My legs were tightly locked together. Even so, my muscles eased under his touch. But he was impatient and his hands slid around my buttocks to assail me from the rear. I knew in that moment—I wanted to please him. My lustful tension had been building since coming to Vidaris, and for a moment I could imagine taking my pleasure with this crude magnate. Anything to slake my desire, to let me shudder in release . . .

Then the older man impatiently called him away. "Do your sporting in your own chamber, svin!â€

The young magnate lingered to give me a sharp smack on my buttocks. I let out a yelp. He left a fierce burning brand of his hand that I knew would leave a red mark for the rest of the day. He guffawed as he returned to Lexander, loudly complimenting him on his stock.

I could hardly see as they followed Sverker into the courtyard to the guest chamber. They would be staying at the *haushold*. I wondered if the greasy magnate would touch me again, and a rush of emotions overwhelmed meâ€"shame, excitement, outrage, weakness, desire . . .

Lexander barred the outer door, then crossed the hall to the inner courtyard. My anxiety eased at his casual words, "Well done, Marja. You pleased him.â€

I longed to break my pose to rub my smarting buttock, but didn't dare. "l tried to please you,†l admitted hoarsely.

Lexander paused, hearing more in my words than I had intended to say. He came closer, examining me. I swayed in the pose. His palm gently smoothed my hip, watching me gasp at the sensation that ripped through me.

"ls it true?†Lexander murmured to himself. His hand quested between my legs, and at his gentle pressure, my thighs eased open. He felt the moisture that flowed from me. With a brush of his finger, I gasped again.

"You're a true submissive,†Lexander whispered. There was a yearning note I had not heard before. "You'II do anything for me if only I play your body and emotions.â€

I breathed a sigh of acceptance, finally leaning into him. I had never felt such a response before. But then I had always had sex as a bird doesâ€"a quick tumble on the grass that left both of us chattering and flying off on our own. I had never felt a touch like Lexander's.

"l can use you as you deserve,†he whispered into my hair. With urgent hands he pulled me from the pedestal and pushed me over the marble table. His boots spread my feet apart, and quickly he took me. It was not too soon to suit me. I remembered Helanas' drills as I lifted my hips for him. I wanted his passion. I wanted him to lose control and clutch me closer . . . as I writhed in ecstasy beneath himâ€"

"Well, well.†Helanas drawled from across the hall, "Toving with the new girl, are you, Lexander?â€

Lexander didn't pause in his thrusting. If anything, he moved more slowly and deliberately, looking at Helanas the entire time. I felt a blush of humiliation pierce my heart, but as Lexander discovered, I also felt a corresponding rise in excitement.

"You want it,†he muttered loud enough for Helanas to hear. "Admit it.â€

"Yes!†I gasped.

He finally strained and spent himself inside of me to Helanas' slow applause. "Nicely done! Aren't you glad I was here so you had an audience? It would have been so much more boring alone.â€

Lexander seemed unconcerned by her teasing, but I couldn't bear to raise my eyes. I was limp across the table, but when he released me, I rushed to my tunic and pulled it on. My hands fumbled at the belt before it hooked. Then I knelt with my head bent, back on my heels in abject surrenderâ€"gesigâ€"awaiting an order to go.

Helanas was laughing meanly. "My stars . . . what a pretty picture. I see you're going to dote on this one.â€

"You could never truly appreciate her, Helanas. Stick to what you know—sulky peasants you can break. l'll make her sing at a touch.â€

"l will do what I wish with her!†His taunt seemed to inflame Helanas. She stamped her boot against the floor in irritation. "l won't allow you to spoil every slave that enters Vidaris. This one will be disciplined until she is nothing but dirt beneath my feet.â€

Helanas swept away while I held myself in the pose by force of will. With my juices still smearing my legs, throbbing with desire for more, I knew it was true. I wanted what Lexander did to me.

Lexander left without looking at me. It was a long time before I gathered myself together to fetch the bucket and continue with my duties.

Three

Barely a moon had passed when Vidaris was invited to the annual midsummer celebration by the chieftain of Markland. We were finishing the morning's drill in the slave hall, sheltering from a squall, when Helanas made the announcement. We were now a group of eight, but I believe we were all more comfortable with fewer numbers. I had made my first tentative overtures to Ansgar and Rosarin, but was hesitant to truly befriend them after Lexander's advice to remain aloof.

"We will depart for Markland in two days.†Helanas looked down her nose. "We will be taking four pleasure slaves to spread the fame of Vidaris. Sverker, Ansgar, Rosarin, and . . . Marja.†Her mouth twitched in reluctance. I caught it only because I was watching her through my lashes, never expecting she would name me.

Niels' eyes went round with awe, while the two sisters moved together slightly. Kinirniq looked relieved. The scrawny male Skraeling didn't take to the training as the rest of us did. There were whispered stories, only half told, of how Kinirniq had tried to run away from Vidaris twice last summer. The second time, Helanas hadn't merely punished him; she had broken his spirit. It was evident in his plodding steps and his perpetually downcast eyes. It was one of the cruelest things I had seen in Vidaris, a place where not much kindness was to be found.

Helanas strolled over and slapped my face hard. I bowed my head, realizing I had been gaping at her openmouthed. I held the proper pose for surrender until Helanas swept from the hall, the heels of her boots thumping in irritation. I was learning to tell my mistress's mood by her feet, restless when agitated and whisper-quiet when she was content.

"A feast at midsummer is a great display of extravagance,†Niels hissed enviously behind me. He would have known how to act in the company of a chieftain. "Fortune smiles on you.â€

"Mayhap,†Sverker retorted direly. "We will be at everyone's whim.â€

Serious Rosarin agreed. "We must excel. Woe to those who cast a shadow on the name of Vidaris.â€

I quailed at her pronouncement of geasa. A god or guardian spirit could take offense if a geasa was broken, and could lash out at us. I feared drawing the attention of Issitoq, the punisher of taboo breakers. People sickened and even died for crossing a taboo. I would have to watch carefully to see the signs that would show me safe passage. I, who was so secure on the fens, felt as if I were standing on shifting ground.

Yet I didn't envy my peersâ€"Niels and the Skraeling sistersâ€"because they would be safe in Vidaris. I danced with delight at the prospect of leaving as I helped the servants prepare. Our finest garments were folded and packed, along with plenty of blankets, linens, and tableware for our use. The hold of the longship was stacked with the chests and casks of good Viinland wine, pressed from grapes grown and aged on the estate. There was also a copper-bound coffer that contained costly ornaments to decorate ourselves.

I couldn't restrain my glee until Helanas sharply rapped my head in rebuke. "She will be unmanageable!†she snapped at Lexander. "Better to take only three slaves.â€

"You don't know our Marja,†he retorted. "She will do all we ask and more.â€

His praise made me swell with pride. Yet whenever I was near Helanas, I turned away my face to hide my true feelings. My exuberance seemed only to amuse Lexander, and several times I grinned outright at him. I had noticed that the other slaves were too afraid of Helanas to even smile. Once, Lexander responded by clasping a beautiful new broach onto my travel cloak. I admired the green enameled vines, certain that I would not fail my master and violate the geasa.



The morning I climbed into the longship after Ansgar, I gave a few twirls in praise of the sea spirits, hoping to gain their favor for this voyage. Lexander and Helanas reclined on padded benches under a yellow canopy in the prow. I stayed with Rosarin, Ansgar, and Sverker near the hold in the center, warm and comfortable in my suede tunic and leggings.

Soon the red-striped sail filled with the wind and the ship sailed forth. I stood and swayed with the motion of the longship, allowing the rhythmic cadence to penetrate my flesh. It wasn't long until the sea spirits were whispering to me, only this time I was able to respond through the chaotic tumbling of the water as it swelled and rolled. The spirits heard me with much joy, and I knew I wouldn't sicken on this journey. I could add only a simple note to the vast cacophony of water life, but the sea spirits seemed pleased by my efforts.

We sailed along the red cliffs toward the rising sun. Fjardemano was aptly named for its curved, quarter-moon shape. Each inlet and series of fields that appeared in the valleys was like a rare wine that went straight to my head. I laughed out loud at the straight plow lines marching in precision over the crests and the muddy cart roads running past farms and linking wealthy estates like Vidaris. Orchards gave way to fields, and everywhere flowers of all colors and shapes sprang up in the long grass. I have never known such a profusion of blooms growing wild.

lignored the stares of the other slaves, who had grown accustomed to my quiet, subservient ways. How could Lexplain my delight in what to them was a simple voyage? To me, every twitter of a bird l'd never heard before or the shape of a new flower seemed like a god's blessing to savor.

Eventually we turned away from Fjardemano and headed north into Nauga Sea. The wind picked up, skimming us across the small swells. The oarsmen seemed in fine spirits, reveling in the good seas. As they sang their songs, I communed with the sea and the sky, riding the waves while I flowed with the clouds overhead. It filled me up after the barrenness of Vidaris, like rain falling on parched, cracked ground.

The trip to the southern coast of Markland was not as long as my first sea voyage, but the sun was in the west before land appeared ahead. Sparse woods fringed the hillsides. Here there were no fruit trees or endless manicured fields. Instead, there were grassy hills with sheep grazing in the folds and familiar sod longhouses with windblown roofs.

I felt the singing welcome of olfs as I returned to my homeland and reached out with my senses to respond in kind. The boat turned and sailed into a narrow channel between the hills, some forming islands off the shore, until I could not tell where we had entered the bay. The grand bank protected the harbor and chieftain's settlement of Tillfallvik. Boats thickly dotted the calm waters, fishing and transporting people or goods from one side to the other. Dozens of the larger ocean-going knaar with deep hulls were anchored with their square sails bound tightly to the masts. Slender longships like our own sailed in with guests who had been invited by Chieftain Ejegod to celebrate the longest day of the year.

The shoreline undulated as we sailed by, the hills plunging into the calm waters forming small coves and inlets within the bay. My breath quickened at the number of homesteads and pastures. Then we rounded a promontory and there was Tillfallvik. Buildings crowded the steep sides of the hills, spreading along the shore and disappearing into the crumpled land.

"Takes little to impress you,†Sverker muttered as I gawked. "Go to Viinland or Kjalarnes if you really want to see a city. Sigrid came from this pathetic backwater, and she never excelled like Bjorn.†He sneered at me. "But you're from a paltry mud hole north of here, aren't you?â€

"Hold your tongue,†Ansgar said under his breath. "Do you want to be noticed by our mistress?â€

Sverker uneasily glanced toward Helanas and Lexander. He couldn't do much more than taunt me, a habit he had picked up from Bjorn. Hifted my chin, remembering that Lexander thought me good enough to please the chieftain's guests. I would trust my master rather than Sverker.

We docked at one of the many timber piers jutting into the bay. Shipbuilding was underway. Workers were cleaving the great logs of the woods and bending the planks around the keels. Tillfallvik was known for its fine boats, and I was sure that some of my da's nails were being used in those hulls, perhaps made from ore that I had unearthed in the fens. I had always imagined floating away on one of the longships that visited our village and had dreamed of coming here to the premier town of our misty land.

Our oarsmen carried our belongings, and each slave had to hoist a bag or coffer onto our backs as we followed Lexander and Helanas. An open marketplace of frame and sod booths sprawled on a flat shelf of land beyond the docks. The sound was deafening as the merchants shouted, trying to get our attention, calling Lexander "magnate†in recognition of his powerful bearing. Unpleasant odors assaulted my noseâ€"overly ripened fruit, soured meat, the tang of unwashed bodies, and hot seal tar. In small pockets where we were enclosed by walls on every side, the worst smells were masked by spicy incense burning in pots. But I loved the dizzying whirl of color and movementâ€"something strange and different everywhere I looked.

From the market we trudged up the hills, through narrow passageways between the buildings. Some were sod covered while others were capped by high-peaked roofs made of overlapping planks. There were animals everywhere: pigs in pens beside the doors, cattle shifting restlessly, and chickens roosting in the eaves. Soot from the hearth fires rained down, blackening my cloak and the dirt road, which had a ditch running down the center, full of unspeakable things. I even saw a dead rat with staring white eyes that had been half gnawed by its kin.

We eventually reached the chieftain's estate. It covered a broad hillside far back from the waterfront. At the gate, there was a sweeping view of the surrounding hills and most of the bay, including the grand bank beyond. But the terrain was so rugged that I could see only the mast tops of the boats moored at the docks.

Lexander and Helanas gave commands to the porters, and I rushed to catch up. I could have easily gotten lost, unable to tell one structure from another.

I could sense the power of the spirits of the estate, protecting everything within. The enormous fire hall sat on the crest of the hill, bristling with the horned skulls of cattle Ejegod and his ancestors had sacrificed to gain the gods' protection. The *olfs* and spirits were clearly happy here, and I wondered if they were linked to those I used to play with on the fens. They gave me a glimpse of Jarnby, the smoke coming from the forge and my brother slogging through the mud with the sheep; then it was gone.

We were lodged in a sod longhouse. It was dark inside, dug deep into the ground. Yet it was paved by quarried stones and was wide enough to form a row of rooms along a narrow hall. We were given our own space with a sleeping ledge. Sverker told us it was a measure of the chieftain's respect for Vidaris that we were lodged with members of his own retinue.

With Helanas lolling on the bedding we had brought, Lexander ordered us to kneel in a row. "You will submit to everyone who requests it,†he ordered. "If you disobey, you will besmirch the glory of Vidaris.â€

I murmured acknowledgment, not daring to look at the others. It was the *geasa*, spoken by my master himself. It was a sober reminder that I must be ever vigilant in this place. I only hoped I was not given conflicting orders by the guests. I did not trust my own ability to see through the tangle to choose the right path.

Then it was back to our normal routine with Lexander overseeing our grooming while Helanas was tended to by Sverker. She favored the slender redhead despite his sulky behavior, which I could not fathom. She punished me at the slightest mistake or imagined offense. Perhaps it was because Sverker was graceful and refined, suiting our mistress's taste, while I picked up streaks of dirt and mussed my clothing during my dancing. I do know she never praised my constant obedience.

Helanas had no cause to blame me as we prepared for the night's festivities. I didn't murmur as my hair was gathered tightly to the top of my head and tiny braids were formed into loops, interlaced with gold beads and tinkling bells. Then I was stripped and suspended naked from a pole by one leg. Lexander bound me so that my other leg curved back to my secured wrists. It was an advanced inverted pose, but I breathed deeply as I had been taught and relaxed as the intricate knotting supported my weight.

I swung from side to side as the pole was lifted. The bells dangling from my head rang out as I was carried from the room by Sverker and Ansgar. Their naked bodies were bound around and around with tiny, gold-linked chains. Everything was upside down, and my face was suffused with blood. Then I caught sight of Rosarin, bound in a standing pose with silk rope. Her arms were woven together over her head and her body was crisscrossed by knotted rope down to her ankles. Her legs were trussed together to her knees, barely allowing her to walk. Yet she moved as gracefully as always, her back perfectly straight.

I was carried into the shock of the evening air, across the estate and up to the fire hall for the pleasure of the chieftain's guests. Olfs played among the tables, stealing sips of wine and teasing the dogs, though I alone seemed to see them. My head spun, and I wasn't sure if it was a daze induced by the pose or my agony at being immodestly displayed. Hands reached out to touch me as I was carried by, but the welcome dark kept me from seeing their faces.

I think it was then that I truly understood my place. I had been a freewoman until my da sold me, but as a slave I had little more worth than those cows my family now owned. I was fondled and pinched, sometimes painfully, because my master willed it so. Yet even as these strangers probed me, I hummed with desire. It mattered not how long I might hang for them. When I felt Lexander's hands checking the knots, tweaking my body to stimulate me even more, I almost passed out from the waves of pure pleasure.

Through it all, a booming deep voice laughed and brayed, dominating the hall. Birgir Barfoot had led a hundred warriors and displaced families from Danelaw to our land. He was being feasted that night by the gathered *jarls* of Markland and Viinland. I saw only the guest of honor's huge, hairy feet, bare of any covering, as it was said the warlord went into battle. I heard Bigir's approving bellow as I swung near him, and I knew that he had surely seen me.



An elaborate midsummer celebration was held the following night. Huge bonfires flamed throughout Tillfallvik, sending their smoke into the heavens on the longest day of the year to honor the Norogods. I danced in abandon around the fire, pleased to honor my da's gods, until hunger drove everyone inside. The guests crowded around the tables filled with a sumptuous feast.

Helanas dispatched the other slaves to serve various chieftains whom they wished to woo, but Lexander kept me by his side, perhaps because of my inexperience. I was responsible for the fine serving utensils brought from Vidarisâ€"bowls, platters, horn cups, and flat spoons. Many of my fellow

Noromenn used only their knives and fingers to eat, much like my family. Lexander and Helanas were more fastidious.

They both were wearing fine linen and rich golden jewels, making me proud to belong to Vidaris. I particularly admired the ropes of embossed gold coins that hung on my master's bared chest. I wore ivory ornaments: strings of carved beads, chunky bracelets depicting wild beasts, and a carved diadem that held my hair away from my face, letting it fall down my back in rich waves. My gold tunic was my best, and it was belted by a silk cord with cunning tassels.

We were entertained by great saga tellers, who wove pictures in the air with words of daring deeds both past and present. The *olfs* delighted in the rousing tales and likely came from far away every summer to enjoy this fete. My favorite of the night was a story l'd never heard about the fire god Loji. My da had told me how Loji had married a giantess and fathered three children, one of whom ruled over a dreaded part of the Otherworld where evildoers suffered. But this story told of Loji's intimate dealings with a giant stallion, which resulted in him giving birth to the most wonderful of all horsesâ€"an eight-legged steed ridden by the king of the gods. I listened in wonder with my mouth open until Helanas snapped that I gaped like an idiot.

Servants circled with an astonishing number of dishesâ€"live oysters, mounds of shiny fish eggs, slimy squid, baked mussels, and even an enormous smoked redfish that draped over one long table. Niels would have adored the lavishness of the roasted fowls stuffed with their own eggs and decorated with real feathers. I loved the honey-soaked cakes that were passed on large platters, and took as many as Helanas allowed me.

At the great table, elevated on a dais, Chieftain Ejegod sat next to his wife, Silveta. The chieftain was much older than his bride, his third, according to gossip, but said to be beloved nonetheless. The ruling couple received a constant stream of gifts brought by the guests, and the chieftain loudly bestowed his own gifts on loval Markland magnates.

Earlier in the evening, Silveta had represented the goddess Freya in the midsummer fertility ritual. She had deftly used her knife to sacrifice the white birds and snowy sheep that were then burned on the square altar in the *vi*. This fire had been used to light bonfires throughout Tillfallvik. The ritual was mostly obscured within the standing poles defining the sacred space, but I had been impressed by Silveta's righteous dignity. Now at the feast, her elegant hands moved deliberately when they weren't demurely folded in her lap. Her beauty was half hidden behind a filmy sky-blue veil.

Sitting at the table on the other side of the chieftain was Birgir Barfoot, a big man rivaling Lexander's height. He wore a thick silver chain around his neck, with a medallion in the shape of a knotted cross bigger than my fist. His florid red cheeks and white-blond hair were striking but not attractive to my eyes. I had already become accustomed to the clean, sleek lines of my master's face. I must confess that I hoped Birgir would not notice me. His meaty fist pounded the table in front of him, and I feared it would split asunder. The frail woman who was seated as his dining companion wilted with trembling.

So passed my first midsummer celebration among the elite jarls. Late that night, I was captured by some guests and taken back to their room. There

were two men and one young woman from Kjalarnes, far to the south. Their drawling accents were entrancing, and their languid gestures unlike any I had seen before. The men wished to see two women kiss and make love. I had recently begun my training in female arousal with Rosarin and the two Skraeling sisters, so I had some familiarity with the arts of pleasing a woman. They were much kinder to me than Helanas, so I relaxed as I kissed and licked the soft *freya* all over her body. It had not been my intention to become a lover of women, but I found I responded to her. The men began having sex with us before I had finished all I wanted to do, but lying next to her as we received them was enough to drive me into raptures.

When they finally fell asleep, I escaped back to our room. Lexander used me to warm his pallet, but he barely touched me. With the blood still coursing through my body, I knew I could not lie quiescent. He was annoyed by my modesty, so I decided to entertain him by abandoning all inhibition and pleasuring myself. I began to stroke and rub my groin, building slowly, my hips lifting and muscles tensing, as my breath came faster.

Lexander didn't order me to stop, so I knew he was intrigued. Gradually I let go of all restraint, writhing against him, gasping out loud. That's

when he reached for me, his *tarse* eager and ready. I didn't care if everyone heard our passion, but his hand went over my mouth to keep me from disturbing Ejegod's bondsmen on either side of the wall.

Helanas scoffed at us, but then she allowed Sverker to enter her as well. Their muffled, rhythmic cries spurred me to a higher peak. It was far more satisfying than the hours I had spent with the Kjalarnes guests because I was with Lexander. Afterwards, falling asleep in his arms was the fulfillment of a dream I had longed for since I had arrived in Vidaris. With the tickling of the *olfs* at the edges of my mind, I wondered if they had helped spur Lexander into joining with me.



During the day, Lexander instructed us not to be seen about the estateâ€"even a priceless gift can be tarnished by too ready access. We slaves were to mingle with the guests only after sunset. So we were forced to confine ourselves in our room. The other slaves didn't mind, but for me it was a torment I couldn't endure. For once, I was too restless to obey, knowing there were so many new things out there to see.

So I took to climbing up the grooved wainscoting until I could slip beneath the canopy tied over our room. I sat on the crossbeams that supported the pitched ceiling. From the network of beams, I watched the guests passing below in the hallway. I could hear if Lexander or Helanas entered the longhouse and was able to climb back down before they saw me. Even Sverker kept my secret. We had nothing as slaves except for what little we gave each other.

Sitting in the rafters, I mostly saw Ejegod's cousins and bondsmen. The highest-ranking guests, including one of the overlord's sons sent to represent Hop, were housed in new buildings made of stacked logs, while the dozens of Markland magnates with their retinues were staying in common longhouses, some of which looked older than those of my village. My da's uncle was the magnate of Jarnby, a position I had once thought quite lofty, but our village was so poor that he had visited Tillfallvik only twice in all his years.

The conversations I overheard among Ejegod's retinue mainly concerned the new immigrants who had come for the *landnam*, land-taking. The chieftains and magnates who ruled the western islands and vast tracts of forest were all descended from land-takers. Their ancestors had packed children, home goods, and livestock into their enormous *knaar* and ventured across the ocean. Yet Ejegod's men spoke with disdain of these new fighting men in their heavy chain mail and helms. Some had brought along their women and children, rejected from settlements in Danelaw. Most were relegated to a rough-hewn encampment across the bay from Tillfallvik. Yet they had arrived in their own fleet instead of the merchant ferries, so they could in truth take the land of their choosing at any time. With so many warriors, they could surely protect their own settlements like true *vikingr*.

On the third day, it was nearly sunset as I crawled along the rafters of our longhouse. That's when I heard the call of an *olf*. l'd rarely heard such a plaintive cry, barely at the edge of hearing. I felt a tug, and a single hair was pulled from my head. In exchange for the gift, it left a whispered word floating behind my head.

"Come!â€

It had been years since I heard an order so clear from the gods' favorite creatures, not since I had been led to a ring of trees in the deep fens as a child. I had found gifts there for me, a few glass beads and a bronze disc. I had given what little I possessedâ€"a broken buckle and a bit of a mirror l'd found on the shore. I never went inside the ring of trees, fearing I would be drawn unwittingly into the Otherworld, but sometimes presents were left there to tempt me. I would do much for the *olfs*, but I would not leave my own world at their behest. It was the one *geasa* my mam laid on me when she first

explained the sight.

But now, I couldn $\hat{a} \in \mathbb{T}$ resist following the tinkling call. I crawled down the center beams to the other end of the longhouse where I had never ventured. There was a storage platform there, so I was less exposed. With a final trill, the *olf* $\hat{a} \in \mathbb{T}$ s voice disappeared, to be replaced by ordinary voices.

Quietly at first, but guickly growing louder, a woman demanded, "Who do you think you are? Unhand me, you lout!â€

Edging through the shadows in the vaulted ceiling, I tried to stay hidden as I looked down into the hallway. There was no mistaking the giant Birgir wrestling with the woman. She wore an embroidered green dress without a cloak. He locked his arm around her and clamped his hand over her mouth before she could scream. "You belong to me, Silveta! I will show you.â€

With that, he dragged her across the hallway. Her feet kicked the air in desperation. In a flash I saw the heavy wooden door and knew that Birgir intended to take the chieftain's wife inside. The leer on his face and the way his tongue licked her cheek made his intentions clear.

I acted quickly, shoving a cask from the storage platform, sending it shattering against the hard floor. The vat held a dark red wine, which splashed over both of them.

It startled Birgir, who loosed Silveta enough for her to let out a piercing scream. The outer door banged open as people came running to investigate. Birgir whirled to look up, but I ducked behind the other casks and barrels on the platform. Silveta sagged to the ground, crying out for help. Birgir cursed as he pushed past the house slaves.

Silveta explained that the cask of wine had fallen. She sent the two women to get water and rags to clean up.

I started to withdraw along the beam as quietly as I could, but Silveta called out softly, "You, up there, who saved me! Who are you?â€

I remembered Lexander's order to obey, so I climbed down the ladder of the storage platform to face her. "l am Marja of Vidaris.â€

"Oh, one of those pleasure slaves.†Silveta slumped back against the wall. I dared to look at her, marveling at the ropes of tiny amber and glass beads around her neck and entwined in her hair. Her skin was like rose petals and fresh cream. It was frightening to see such a great freya brought so low.

Then Silveta looked up at me again. "You're supposed to obey above all else, aren't you?â€

"Yes, freya.â€

"Then don't speak of what you saw here, Marja.â€

That was what Lexander had ordered after I had seen the winged ship. "Surely it will be so. I give you my pledge!â€

The two slaves returned and began clucking over the spreading red stain across the stones. I went to help Silveta to her feet. She was looking more composed, but her sea-foam veil had pulled loose, revealing most of her coiled honey-blond hair. Her wrists still had red marks on them. Because Birgir had been between her and the cask, her skirt had only a few dark splashes, like blood.

"Help me,†Silveta murmured, and I supported her weight on my arm as I assisted her through the wooden door. Inside, the ceiling was enclosed by wood panels, offering complete privacy. I took note of several elaborately carved chests and two bronze coffers with enameled plaques and concluded this was Silveta's sleeping closet.

Silveta slumped onto the platform that held the bed linen, putting her hands over her face. "What shall I do? If I feign illness and refuse to take the night-meal, then he's sure to come for me. I should have left once the ritual was done!†Her icy blue eyes focused shrewdly on me. "You swear you'II not speak of this? I don't need everyone to know that the chieftain's honored guest intends to rape me.â€

Her scornful words shocked me. Silveta was too refined to say such base things, but I had seen it with my own eyes. Birgir acted like a bull in rut, oblivious to anything but the cow beneath him. "But your husband must defend youl†I exclaimed in dismay.

"Ah, yes, that's what most would say,†Silveta replied.

I waited, but she merely shook her head in agony. "Can you not ask for your own guard? 'Tis only to be expected.â€

"No, any bondsman would tell my husband about Birgir. And then Ejegod's life as well as my honor would be forfeit. That is why you *cannot* speak of this.â€

I nodded, mesmerized by her frantic eyes. But I didn't understand.

"Ejegod would lose face,†Silveta explained in despair. "He would have to fight Birgir, but he could not best him in a duel. Even if my husband were only injured, that would spark a feud between our *bondi* and Birgir's warband that we cannot hope to win.â€

I was stunned. Our chieftain protected Markland and stood as final judge for disputes between the local magnates. I felt such deep respect for my own great-uncleâ€"he maintained the peace and was responsible for the rituals that kept Jarnby safe. I had imagined our chieftain's powers were near to those of a god. And now, to hear that Ejegod was so weak . . .

"Surely there must be a guardian spirit you can call on?†I protested.

Silveta waved off my suggestion. "l will get no help from the Otherworld in this matter.â€

I thought she was too quick to deny the power that had summoned me to her aid. But if the *olfs* had not revealed themselves to her, then it was not my place to tell her. I wished that I knew more about the path the *olfs* had set me on so I could better advise the chieftain's wife.

"l have held him off for a week,†Silveta continued, "but it seems that Birgir Barfoot would do anything to gain his purpose. I never expected to be attacked outside my very room. He has watched Ejegod drink himself senseless every night and has timed it well indeed. He will not wait another day to take what he wants.†She glanced at her closed door. "l don't doubt it would be easy for him to come through those boards in spite of the iron bolt.â€

"l almost believe he would,†l agreed.

Silveta raised her head, brushing the loosened strands of hair from her face. "lf I had my own loyal *bondi*, then I would be protected without involving Ejegod . . . someone who would fight unto death against Birgir for my honor alone. I must escape tonight. l'II tell the chieftain l've received a missive urging me to return to Hop. I can ask my father for men who can protect me without betraying my secret to the chieftain.â€

I nodded, understanding the complex ties of kinship. If the men came from her father and swore themselves to Silveta, then they would adhere to her orders alone.

But the hope fled from her face. "What if Birgir follows me? There is little time until the night-meal when he will find that I am gone. He could send his warriors to catch me. His ships are very fast. After today, I could believe he would be so bold.â€

She was so despairing that I offered, â€cel can ask my master for help.â€

Silveta turned to me as if she was considering it. She slowly stood up and reached for my shoulders, examining me closely. Her perfume smelled like an armful of flowers warmed by the sun. So close to her, I could see the delicate stitches of vines and leaf embroidery on the long panels of her dress. She came close to rivaling Helanas in her form, yet Silveta was nearly as young as I.

"Praise be the gods,†Silveta breathed. "You can take my place here tonight. If Birgir attempts nothing, you can go back to your people in the morning. But if Birgir does come, surely in the darkness there is little to tell between us. Your hair is as long and nearly as bright as mine.â€

Shocked, I blurted out, "You want me to deceive Birgir?â€

"Yes, you must!†Her expression was resolute. "This is my only hope to escape. I would rather kill myself than spawn his get.â€

I had heard enough to know the old chieftain's lack of issue was a delicate matter. His children did not long survive, and his wives had died in childbirth. Ejegod's loyal subjects were pinning their hopes for an heir on young, healthy Silveta. We pleasure slaves never conceived; Helanas had given me a mug of foul-tasting tea that would keep me from quickening for the next turn of seasons.

"You must help me,†Silveta insisted.

I thought of the *geasa* and agreed. "Yes, I must obey you. But my master is surely missing me by now. May I go tell him what you've asked of me?â€

"No, you'll stay here. It's better that nobody knows.†Her air of command was complete. I think she despised me a little for my obedience, but that was no matter as long as she got what she needed. "l'll leave immediately. l'll ask my husband to not speak of my departure. He can do that much for me. Lock the door and don't let anyone in here, no matter what they say. Will you do it?â€

I had to fulfill my duty, no matter how difficult it would be. If I disobeyed, I would suffer untold consequences. Vidaris itself could be destroyed by my actions.

I whispered, "Yes, my freya.â€



Perhaps Silveta peered into the future as my mam often did, because it happened exactly as she predicted. Birgir returned to Silveta's door when she didn't appear at night-meal and pounded on it with his fist, demanding that she join them at the table.

I stayed against the wall, terrified of the shaggy giant, and called out, "l am unwell and cannot leave my bed!â€

Birgir raged at my denial, but I repeated myself, growing fainter all the while. Soon enough he gave up and returned to the fire hall.

I worried about Lexander and Helanas. Would they search for me? Had the other slaves confessed that I had climbed out of our room? If so, perhaps Lexander would simply assume I had been caught by a guest and was entertaining him. Rosarin had been gone until midday every day since we arrived.

I tried to call the olf to come cheer me, but the inexplicable creature merely giggled at me from a distance, refusing to enter Silveta's closet. I finally lay down in her bed, stroking the fine fur cover until I drifted off warm and drowsy.

A loud bang woke me. It was the door flung back with the clash of a key removed from the lock. I came awake knowing Birgir was inside. I didn't think it could happen, but Silveta had known it would. I clutched the fur to my chest.

"l have the key, my sweetmeat!†Birgir exclaimed, slurring drunkenly. But he was sober enough to bolt the door behind him. "l'll swear you sent it to me through that pretty maid. She would lie for me, indeed. Then all of Tillfallvik will know you for the doxy you are. But l'll protect you from your husband. I will, my lovely! Even if I must kill him, eh?â€

In the utter blackness, Birgir stumbled into the chest at the foot of the bed, I whimpered, "Please, no . . .â€

"So you're there,†Birgir chuckled. "Waiting for me in your nest. You knew I would come for you. l've seen how you watched me and longed for a virile man. No girl such as you should be clutched to the breast of a dried-up old cod!â€

His hand clutched my ankle in a tight grip, hurting me. I kicked, but I couldn't get away. Remembering how the servants had come running to help Silveta, I opened my mouth to scream.

I was cut off midshriek by his hand. "They'II not help you tonight, my lovely! You're all mine, and come morning, l'II deal with the chieftain and we'II prepare for a wedding. The magnates of Markland may squawk, but l'II gain the *jarls* of Viinland on my side with one of their own as my wife.â€

I choked in outrage. I resisted as much as I could because every touch caused pain. But there was nothing I could do to dislodge his massive bulk. Birgir pressed down so heavily on me that soon he removed his hand, content that I could hardly breathe as he spread my legs and pummeled into me. This was not pleasure, and there was nothing that could make it so. Even his silver pendant bit cruelly into my chest.

I desperately clung to only one comforting thoughtâ€"I had kept my chieftain's wife from going through such hell. Silveta and I had outwitted him, though he knew it not.

Four

I lay awake, trying to ease myself from under Birgir's arm and leg, but the warrior slept light and clenched me more tightly to him every time I shifted. All night, I called for the *olfs* to help me. But I heard nothing in return for my sacrifice. When the *olfs* had called me to save Silveta from Birgir, they little knew it could end in my rape.

By morning, I was muzzy-headed from fatigue, thinking only of the door that lay between me and release, when Birgir finally grunted and awoke. As always, I could feel the dawn breaking even though we were in darkness. As Birgir sat up, I tried to roll out of bed away from him.

He grabbed my arm and held me in place. "Not yet, my pretty. I want to see your face this time. 'Twill make it all the more rousing.â€

His threat and the way he pushed me to the bed made it all flash before me again: his sour breath in my face, his nasty tongue probing my mouth, sweat dripping onto my chest. I felt scoured by his rough, hairy body. There was a deep ache in my groin that shot sharper pains into my gut every time I moved. He had torn into me last night, not caring how I cried in protest. Only my submissive nature had saved me so that the damage was not worse.

Birgir expertly struck a spark against the floor and lit the taper. He turned to me, the light casting shadows against the paneled walls of the closet.

Terrified, I stared up at him. He smirked through his blond wooly beard. He had planned his betrayal wellâ€" with the maid's testimony that Silveta had intended for Birgir to come to her closet, the chieftain's wife would appear to be complicit in this deed. Ejegod would be forced to fight Birgir for his honor. Birgir was gloating as if his victory over the chieftain was assured, and he was envisioning the power and influence he would gain by taking Silveta as his wife.

It took a few moments before he truly saw me.

I braced myself for a roar at his indrawn breath. Birgir's hands closed hard on my bare arms. "*Who* are you?†he breathed through gritted teeth.

"Marja,†I gasped.

Birgir hauled me up, shaking me soundly. "Who put you here?â€

I knew I must speak carefully or I would violate the *geasa* laid on me. But it mattered not because his next words were, "lt was that fox bitch, Silveta, was it not? If she thinks that she will get away with her petty tricks, she will learn another lesson.â€

He dragged me out of bed, his hands clenching as if to snap my neck. Spittle flecked his beard as he snarled, "Tell me where she is hiding or I will kill you now! That would be a surprise for her, would it not? That would teach her not to leave another to take her proper place.â€

I believed him; his bloodshot eyes were wild with anger. He might kill me even if I told him. But Silveta had not ordered me to keep her destination a secret. Soon enough she would return with her new bondsmen and all would know she had gone to Hop. It was far too late for Birgir to follow her there, where she would be protected by her father's kin. Clearly the *geasa* required I tell him the truth, even if he took his anger out on me. "*Freya* Silveta has gone to her father's house in Viinland.â€

"No!†Birgir growled as he shook me hard. I saw stars and thought I was facing death. My last thought was not of Vidaris, but of the fens of my youth. I wished I had died there instead, to become one with the watery land. Perhaps Lexander would take my body back to my family and my brother would insist on laying me near the *olf* ring I had discovered. The *olfs* I loved so well would carry me to the Otherworld . . .

But instead of the darkness I expected, Birgir threw me aside to the floor. The hard stones scraped my knees and palms. I lay naked in the chill air, fearing to move in front of him. He paced around the closet, muttering and grunting with anger as he covered his well-muscled legs and chest beneath layers of wool and buckled on an everyday breastplate made of reindeer hide. There was no other sound outside the walls, which meant the exalted guests were still sleeping off the merriment of the night before. A massive bearskin with a winter ruff served as his cloak, but he left that aside to glare down at me.

My legs curled in and my arms protected my bare chest, knowing how vulnerable I was lying by his stiffened leather boots. "Who else aided Silveta in this?†he demanded.

"lt was me alone,†I whispered.

He grabbed my hair and lifted me from the floor. I screeched, but his big hand clasped over my mouth. "Not a sound or you will die before it leaves your throat. Now, answer meâ€"who are you?â€

"l'm a pleasure slave,†I gasped, twisting as I dangled. I grabbed hold of his wrist with both hands to lessen the pressure.

"Who owns you?â€

"Vidaris,†I managed to say.

"A Viinland estate, no doubt.†Birgir shook me. I bit my lip to keep from screaming. "Did they help Silveta escape?â€

"No one knows l'm here! I escaped our room while my master was gone.â€

"Somehow I doubt that, little pawn. Silveta has laid her plans deep.†Yet he released me and I dropped back to the floor. For a moment, I had a giddy feeling that I might survive.

Then there was a snap of leather as he folded his wide belt in one meaty hand. "l think you lie to me, girl.†The belt landed on my hip with a searing blow.

I choked on my scream, jamming my fist into my mouth. I could never get used to being struck, even though Helanas made a habit of it with me, administering sharp, sudden blows during training drills or whenever she happened across me.

But this was even worse because it didn't stop. Birgir seemed infected by an evil spirit. He hit me again and again as I curled into a ball to protect my face and stomach. I writhed with the effort of biting my tongue on my cries. But I remembered the *geasa* and I was silent, as he ordered, even though it was far worse than anything Helanas had done to me.

"Tell me the truth,†Birgir ordered. "Who helped you do this?â€

"lt was me,†I cried, "me alone!â€

Birgir lashed out with the belt, striking my legs and sensitive feet. A strangled moan burst from my throat. "Lay still!†he ordered.

It seemed impossible, but I did it. I let him shove me around with his feet, positioning me where as he wanted. I thought only of Lexander as he pronounced his geasa. I couldn't fail.

Pushed to my limit, I somehow found the will to surrender to his blows. The moments when I wasn't struck almost felt good. I relaxed, accepting the sharp pain, which made me float above everything. I could hear him grunting with the effort as he moved around me. The belt as it landed reverberated deep into my ears and down into my bones.

When I was a limp, sweating rag, stinging in every part of my body and throbbing where he had bruised me, Birgir was still not through. He dragged me up by my hair and unbolted the door.

I could hardly feel the stones beneath my feet. There was the slickness of blood on my skin, but most of my attention was on my hair where he pulled unmercifully. The shock of cold as he took me outside served to jolt me into awareness. There were servants moving around the estate, preparing for the day-meal, transporting water, and tending to the animals. My head was twisted up to one side as I stumbled along next to him.

We entered the fire hall, where some of the guests were beginning to gather, fatigued from their long night's festivities. Birgir threw me down in front of the chieftain's dais. The table and chairs were empty.

Birgir put his hands on his hips and bellowed to the rafters, "l summon Ejegod Oddason for reckoning!â€

I was left to lie on the dirty stone floor, the straw and worse sticking to my bare skin. It reeked of sour ale and rotting food. A few of the mangy curs that roamed the estate sniffed at my blood and growled, nipping at each other until Birgir kicked them away.

People were arriving, their feet shuffling and voices rising in speculation at the sight of me. It crushed me to be so exposed. I couldn't hide myself or my pain. For a moment I thought that I might die of it.

When Chieftain Ejegod arrived, loudly berating the men who had pulled him from his warm bed, Birgir dragged me up. "On your knees, girl!†he hissed.

The chieftain settled into his chair of bound walrus tusks, cushioned by snowy lynx fur. His eyes were bleary and down-turned, with deep lines beside his fretful mouth. Silveta's husband was an old drunkard, with the swelling belly of one who loses himself in strong wine. His noticeably stiffened fingers shook until he clasped them on his belt. I understood Silveta's reluctance to trust to her husband to protect her. He was nothing like the great chieftain I had always imagined.

Yet Ejegod did radiate power, and his word was law. I had been called for judgment before him. He mumbled the traditional invocation of his sovereignty, then formally requested Birgir's sworn fealty.

When Birgir Barfoot knelt before him, agreeing to obey Ejegod as his liege lord, the murmuring of the guests rose sharply. It was the first time Birgir had surrendered authority to his host.

Then Birgir stood and began his case against me. In my confused state, I thought he would accuse me of impersonating Silveta. I was resolved to conceal the reason for her departure.

But to my dismay, Birgir declared, "l awoke this dawning in the clutches of an evil spell! This slave was weaving a golden fog around me, attempting to unman me after a night's dalliance. I felt this sorceress draw the breath from my mouth and heard the urging of demons for her to do their bidding. But no mortal, not even in the service of the Otherworld, could best me! I called on the mighty power of Kristna, the one true god, and was given strength to seize my tormentor by the hair.†He shook my head hard to emphasize his point, and I had to stifle a scream. "Then I cleaved the fog with my sword, releasing myself from her bondage.â€

He finally let me go, and I fell forward. There were too many eyes on me, as more guests crowded in to see the sport.

The chieftain leaned over to stare down at me. "Did you cast a spell on this man, slave? Speak up for all to hear! For I will know the truth of what you say.â€

"N-no . . . ,†I stammered uselessly.

"What say you? Or I will pass judgment on ye now.â€

"No, Chieftain,†I managed. "Never would I do that. I am but a pleasure slave.â€

"Someone here lies.†Ejegod pointed down at me. "My sworn man tells me you talk with otherworldly creatures. He speaks the truth, I think. Answer me!â€

I hesitated, but I must not violate the *geasa*. "Yes, the *olf*s do speak to me.â€

Ejegod's rummy eyes narrowed. "Here, on my own land?â€

I remembered the \emph{olf} who had beckoned me to $\hat{a} \in \cancel{come!} \hat{a} \in The$ creature had led me to save Silveta, of that I was sure. $\hat{a} \in \cancel{come!} \hat{a} \in The$ creature had led me to save Silveta, of that I was sure.

Ejegod sat back, satisfied. I glanced up at Birgir, who growled and kicked me. I cringed again, knowing even in my muddled state that I couldn't speak the truth. Silveta had sworn me to secrecy under the *geasa*. She would not allow me to pit Birgir against her husband. I understood whyâ€"I could spark a feud that could rage for generations. Birgir was from the Auldland, where wars were constantly fought. I could not let him do that here. I could not tell Ejegod that I had saved his own wife from Birgir.

The chieftain waved one hand at Birgir. â€cel grant your claim against this slave. She will be exiled from Markland, from sea to strait, forever.â€

I sagged to the floor, shattered to hear that I could never return home. But the straw rustled and a familiar scent wafted over me. Helanas strode forward, her voice ingratiating as she made her appeal. "Chieftain Ejegod, surely you must see this girl is daft! She is not a sorceress. She has no power. She is simply one who chatters to flowers and trees, as heedless as a child—â€

"Silence!†Ejegod thundered. "Vidaris has offended my hospitality. Your house is henceforth cast out from this land. Leave here at once.â€

Helanas was outraged. "Vidaris has served you well, Chieftain! Is this how we're to be repaid?â€

Ejegod gestured curtly to his *bondi*. "Escort them from my estate.â€

I felt Lexander's hands on my shoulders. In that moment, I knew I was safe. I would not die while he could protect me. I looked up into his face and whispered, "l obeyed . . .â€

"l know,†he murmured. "Can you stand?â€

"Yes.†I managed to get to my feet, but my knees weakened beneath me. I would give anything to Lexander, but my body had been pushed too far.

He wrapped his cloak around me and lifted me, cradling me against his chest. Turning to Ejegod, Lexander responded with deference, "Vidaris will comply with your commands as always, Chieftain.â€

When Helanas seemed ready to protest, Lexander quelled her with a look. Heaned my head on his shoulder, closing my eyes so I wouldn't have to see the haughty gazes of the guests as Lexander marched through the hall and out the door. The rumble in his chest was soothing as he quietly told the other slaves to gather our belongings.

Even covered by Lexander's cloak, I was shivering. The town was a blur of harsh noises and smoke, but I fell asleep in his comforting arms.

When we reached the harbor, the fresh sea air stirred me, reminding me of Jarnby. For a moment, I felt as if I were a young girl again, held by my da with hands that were always blackened by the forge. I wondered if my mam could see me now in her spinning, and what she thought of me.

I peeked from the shelter of the cloak at the bustle of activity on the shorefront. Arnaaluk, the giving god of the sea, had bequeathed two giant gray whales to the townsfolk of Tillfallvik and Ejegod's guests. They lay on the sand beside small boats and nets that had been used to drive the pod in to shore. The proud hunters were slicing the flesh and packing it into barrels as women boiled the fat, rendering it into oil. Bags of grain were being offloaded from the longships moored around us, while fresh butchered whale meat and jars of oil were packed into the holds. I didn't need to see our own empty hold to know why Helanas was seething mad at me.

Lexander stepped easily from the dock into the longship while still carrying me. But Helanas blocked his way. "Throw the worthless creature overboard to drown! That is sure to appease Ejegod.â€

"You are shortsighted, as always,†Lexander countered, quietly enough for only the two of us to hear. "Ejegod does not care about this slave. He merely used her to seal his bond with Birgir. l'm sure Birgir would not have bargained away so much over our little Marja unless he had very good reason to.â€

"Perhaps.†Helanas frowned at me. "l will get it out of her, if that is so.â€

"Don't interfere,†Lexander warned. "You've shown you're unfit to play this game, Helanas.â€

She gave a scornful laugh. "Don't forget it was I who made sure Vidaris benefited from that old man's marriage to a mere child! The slaves we've gotten from Hop in return for convincing Ejegod are our best stock.â€

"You will go too far one day, Helanas. The chieftain has ears throughout Tillfallvik.â€

"Stanbulin will be displeased about this,†she warned.

"Get out of my way,†Lexander ordered.

I shuddered at his cold indifference, as if nothing his consort said mattered to him. When I had first come to Vidaris, I thought that Helanas was the perfect mate for Lexander. But now I could see how viciously they clashed.

Lexander laid me on one of the benches as the oarsmen unfurled the yellow canopy to grant us shade. Helanas remained in the bow, giving shrill orders as the other slaves settled our gear into a corner of the hold. The paltry pile of crates taunted me, and I remembered Hallgerd had gloated about the goods our master received in Tillfallvik in return for Vidaris' gifts, including the entertainment provided by the pleasure slaves.

The longship cast off from the dock and the oarsmen sliced into the waves. The rocking settled me, allowing the sea spirits to weave tendrils of comfort through my body. In the sea's embrace, I knew the otherworldly creatures were satisfied by my service, though they had not lingered to tell me so. I little wondered why the *olfs* had fled in the face of Birgir's rageâ€"the creatures were repulsed by violent emotions. And I was glad that I had not denied knowledge of them to the chieftain. Never would I disavow them as long as I lived!

"l didn't bespell Birgir, I swear,†I murmured as Lexander settled me in.

He sat down on the bench beside me, his face close to mine. "You must tell me everything that happened. Leave nothing out! It could mean everything for Vidaris.†His eyes crinkled at the corners and his expression softened. "No matter what you've done, you've already been punished enough, my brave girl.â€

I laid my head on the velvet pillow, yielding to him. "l climbed the wall into the rafters so I could see the people passing through the longhouse.†He nodded, unsurprised. That meant one of the other slaves had already told him. I wondered if it had been Sverker. Just the thought of how he would torment me over my public shaming made me briefly close my eyes.

"Go on,†Lexander urged, his hand cupping my shoulder to comfort me.

"Then I heard the *olf* calling me.†I told him what had happened, leaving out no detail; how I had saved Silveta from Birgir, staying in her bed while she fled to get help from her father's house. "The *olfs* placed me there to help her.â€

Lexander nodded throughout. "Indeed, I understand. Did Birgir bed you?â€

"Yes, last night, after using the key to enter Silveta's closet. Birgir was enraged when he discovered this morning that I was not Silveta.â€

倜She knew she could trust no one here.†Lexander thoughtfully watched the oarsmen stroke us away from Tillfallvik before turning back to me. "I believe you obeyed my orders, Marja. And for your service to Silveta, you've gained Vidaris a valuable ally.â€

His expression was full of pride and affection for me. I knew then that I had succeeded in following the *geasa*. The torment of fear and doubt, more oppressive than any physical pain, ebbed away.

Lexander smiled to see my relief. "You surely saved Ejegod from facing a duel, one he would have lost. It seems to me you have done a fine deed for your first time in society.â€

My eyes shifted uneasily to Helanas. "But what about . . .â€

"That is none of your concern. I can deal with our superiors.†His clipped words were chastisement enough.

I nodded as a drowsy feeling stole over me from the gentle motion of the waves. Now that I was safe and warm, I wanted nothing more than to fall asleep and escape the pain.

After a moment, Lexander asked, "Did you cry?â€

It took me a moment to remember. "No, I did not.â€

"Did you beg for mercy?â€

I shook my head. "Birgir ordered me not to speak, so I was silent. He told me not to move, so I was still.â€

Lexander smoothed my hair from my forehead. "An ignorant bully. He didn't even know what he had in his hands. A waste of all the good that is in you.â€

It felt divine to be touched so sweetly. I closed my eyes and let myself slip away. The last thing I heard was Lexander murmuring, "Never fear, my



Five

When I returned to Vidaris, the olf in the storeroom was gone. I knew that I had been used by the olfs for their own grander purpose. Yet as inscrutable as their ways were, I must confess, I thought only of what my master had promised.

My skin was a mass of bruises and welts, with cuts where the hard edge of the belt had dug into me. I was allowed to remain in my snug pallet for a few days before rejoining my fellow slaves in training. Helanas was just as cruel to me as ever, perhaps more so. The other slaves picked up on her disdain and avoided me. But there was no punishment for my actions that had resulted in the banishment of Vidaris from Markland.

After I had recovered enough to resume my duties, I was fetching water from the cistern in the kitchen yard when I overhead Hallgerd tell the cook, "And here's another visit canceled! If it goes on this way, they'II not be invited to any of the great estates this summer. You know what that will mean—we'II be eating only what Vidaris can grow.â€

"No more coco?†the young scullery maid cried.

"No, so you won't be licking the pot, as you like!†There was the sound of a spoon smacking against her buttocks. "And none of those nice orange melons or cinnamon or that good date wine, neither.â€

My foot was on the stoop, but I couldn't move. The full water buckets balanced at my sides from the shoulder pole as birds flitted overhead in the sunlight. Usually my heart would have been filled with the beauty of the day, but their words made it all clear. I had seen the resentment from the other slaves and servants. They blamed me for the dis honor to Vidaris, but I didn't realize that hardship would come because of me. I felt a burning shame spread throughout my body.

I stepped inside the kitchen. Hallgerd harrumphed and closed her mouth. They knew from my blush that I had overheard.

"I did only as I was ordered,†I declared, facing them all. "Would you have me defy our master and bring ruin on us all?â€

Hallgerd put her hands on her hips. "That's not the tale I heard, missy. You've disgraced us with your otherworldly ways! Don't deny it to me, for I have ears to hear you speaking to the tricky beasties that live in the walls.â€

Out of respect to the *olfs*, I would not defend my love of them to anyone. "lf you would have disobeyed our master, say it now. I did only as I was ordered and *he* is satisfied with me.â€

Hallgerd raised her hands in disbelief, and even the scullery maid frowned, angry no doubt about the sweets she would miss. None of them believed me, and why should they when Birgir's claim went unchallenged?

So I said nothing more. I walked through the gauntlet, knowing that I didn't deserve their condemnation. Yet as soon as I entered the scullery to pour the water in the cistern, they began complaining of me again. I let the splashing cover their words, grateful that my duty allowed me to ignore them. My forehead rested on my hand as I poured, knowing this was only the beginning.



I waited for a moon for Lexander to fulfill his promise, but my master rarely touched me. At first I thought that he was giving me time to heal. He administered the oils and unguents that soothed my skin after every bath. There was a new look in his eyes as he gazed at me, appraising and curious, as if I was not at all what he had expected me to be. It made me feel warm inside, and I eagerly wished he would pursue his budding interest in me.

But many days passed after I was perfectly recovered, and still nothing happened. Lexander usually took Rosarin or Ansgar to his bed at night, and occasionally the sisters joined him. Helanas favored Sverker and Niels because they were refined, and dispirited Kinirniq. I was the only one who slept on my pallet alone every night.

Everyone took that as a subtle but effective sign of their disapproval, especially as the season warmed and not once was our longship launched to carry Vidaris to another estate. Even mild-mannered Niels grumbled about not being able to return to Hop for the annual Landfall celebration. Things got so bad that none of the others sat next to me at meals or spoke to me when we were at leisure.

I was even lonelier without the friendly off who had lived in the storeroom. In spite of the danger the offs had put me in, I continued to leave the remnants of my bowl of milk there in vain, hoping to lure back the little creature. I was afraid that I had displeased the offs in Tillfallvik somehow. Perhaps I could have done better.

Then one morning as usual, Hallgerd ordered me to gather the washbasins. I was accustomed to doing the menial work because no one cared if my skin was chapped from the water or my palms were raw from scrubbing.

I tried to be very quiet as I went into Helanas' chamber, prepared for anything. The brick walls were covered in fine tapestries woven with patterns of birds and flowers unlike any l'd ever seen before. The bed was draped in gauzy white silk that shrouded the linens and embroidered pillows. It was empty, the cover twisted and trailing off. Kinirniq had spent the night with our mistress and was curled in one corner on the cold floor. I knew what that felt like. The young man rejected sympathy from the other slaves, but I had felt compelled to help him from time to time. One evening when Helanas was starving him to get some kind of emotion from him, I had given him my meal. Kinirniq had shoved the meat into his mouth with shaking fingers as I watched. It was only after he was done that I realized Lexander was watching us from the doorway. He seemed pained, a deep line between his eyes, and I thought I had angered him. But he left without a word to either of us, and I knew as if an olf had told me that he was pleased.

Now I could do nothing for Kinirniq while he was in our mistress's chamber. I went straight to the porcelain bowl that held the water Helanas had used to wash herself. It was the custom of my master and mistress to wash both morning and night, and I had seen how it greatly enhanced their beauty.

As I lifted the blue bowl, Helanas emerged from behind a folding screen. Instantly I bobbed down deeply, knees bent and back straight, holding the *vordna* pose of deference. With my gaze resting on her feet, I could see when she turned away from me. That was my signal to continue with my duties. As I started toward the door, she smacked my head from behind. Perhaps she was testing me to see if I would spill the water. But there was also frustration in her blow, as if she knew she could not tame me despite my obedience. The restless fire that burned inside of me could never be quenched.

With my head bowed, I waited, still holding the bowl. Naturally I didn't speakâ€"that would be grounds for real punishment.

"Get out of here at once!†Helanas snapped. I bobbed deeper, then was on my way before she could change her mind.

After dumping the water into the runoff trench in the kitchen yard, I returned the blue bowl to the scullery to be washed and replaced in her room. Then I went to Lexander's chamber. I preferred his room even though there were no brightly colored tapestries. The brick walls were hung with weapons insteadâ€"swords and knives with jewels in the hilts and intricate handles. One had a massive curved blade.

Lexander's bed was very wide and low, covered by luxurious brown fur. I had once reached up to stroke it while washing the floors, and I longed to sink into it next to him. I wanted him to hold me as he had on the longshipâ€"tenderly, as if he truly cared about me.

Lexander was seated in the window, a remarkable construct with small diamond panes of glass embedded in lead. Through it I could see the corn and oats waving in the fields, with the stream passing along the bottom of the hill. A window was a vast improvement over a smoke hole, which let in the weather along with light. Yet the other slaves said Lexander's room was much colder in the winter than Helanas' because of the glass.

I bobbed down in the pose of deference, but when Lexander ignored me for the scroll in his hands, I went to the table. His basin was pure white, showing the cloudy water he had used to wash in. I bent down to pick it up with both hands, and I couldn' thelp myselfâ€"I sniffed deeply because it smelled so like my master. I remembered his arms around me as he spent himself inside me. My eyes closed in pleasure.

"Marja,†Lexander said.

Guilty, I straightened up. "Yes, Master?â€

"Pick up the basin.â€

My hands slid under the curved base. I turned to leave, but he added, "You will stand in the center of the room and hold your arms straight out.â€

I wasn't at my most graceful as I tried to determine the exact center of his chamber.

He seemed amused. "Your only fault, Marja, is that you are sometimes too literal in your desire to obey.â€

I immediately faced the window where he was seated and lifted my arms out so the bowl was level with my shoulders. My stomach tensed and I felt the strain in my arms and back.

"Good, keep holding it up like that.†Lexander looked back down at his scroll as I tried to adjust my grip on the basin. It was made of fine porcelain and would shatter into a hundred pieces if I dropped it. I was always very careful when I carried the basins because one stumble and they would be destroyed.

Lexander didn't look at me as my arms gradually began to shake and every part of my body clenched, holding up the basin. But I had always been strong, and since coming to Vidaris, I had worked my body in many new ways.

I wanted desperately to please Lexander, to have him praise me again and touch me with desire. My breath came sharp and fast as I called on everything inside of myself to withstand the burning across my shoulders. It felt like a vise was squeezing my chest, like I was drowning.

Still I held the basin, repeating my mantra in my mind. "Obey, obey, obey . . .â€

My vision blurred as sweat began to flow down my forehead and spine. I forced strength into my arms to hold the basin; I couldn't fail!

Finally Lexander came to stand in front of me, and that made me even more determined. Tears streamed from my eyes, and my head felt as if it were going to burst. I couldn't even count my heartbeats, they were going so fast. My hands slipped on the basin, and for a moment I thought I was going to drop it.

As it slid away from me, I collapsed beneath it, catching the basin and somehow bringing it safely down to my lap. Water sloshed over the edge and onto the stones.

I sprawled out, letting the basin carefully down to the floor. I never imagined something so ordinary could cause such torment.

Lexander reached down and touched my cheek, showing me the wetness on his fingertips. "See, Marja. It's not so difficult to make you cry. If one only knows how.â€

I struggled to sit up, my arms shaking. I had failed, but he wasn't annoyed with me. With a flush of excitement, I leaned toward him. Our eyes connected, and I knew he wanted me.

He hesitated for only a moment. Then he lifted me and put me onto the bed. Tugging off my tunic, he pressed me down into the fur. I wanted him to lie with me, but he drew the edge of the fur over me, wrapping me entirely in the softness. His hands pressed the fur against my body, stroking me through the supple hide. I could feel every finger as he rubbed me from my face to my toes. The fur felt cool on my bare, sweaty skin.

Then he kissed the tears on my face, kissing my closed eyes as I relaxed under him. His lips caressed my neck, then my arms, which still trembled from trying so hard to please him. He held me in the fur, not letting me touch him. I felt like I was being buried in silk when he finally took me.

He pressed his face in my hair as we rocked, murmuring my name over and over again. I squirmed and fought the enveloping folds, wanting to touch him, to hold him as he held me. But I was forced to take it as he wanted, unresisting and compliant, until he shuddered inside of me.

When he finally pulled away, I was still wrapped tight within the fur. I felt safer than l'd ever felt before.

With a final stroke of my hair, Lexander stood up. His voice was rough, but he was composed once again as he ordered, "From this day forth, you will not speak, Marja. Not to anyone, not even to answer a question. Not until I give you permission. Do you understand?â€

I looked up at him, astonished at his request.

"Say it,†he commanded. "It will be the last words you speak for many a day.â€

My fingers dug into the dampened fur. "Yes, Master,†I whispered.



The other slaves tormented me for my silence. Even gentle Rosarin thought I was trying to gain their sympathy and attract attention with my ploys. I was slapped and scolded, but still I didn't speak. If anything, my silence only increased their dislike for me.

Lexander paid little attention to me, so I had nothing to ease my ordeal except for the memory of the winged ship that had taken the other slaves away. Now that I couldn't speak, I was free to think of that glorious vision without fearing I would inadvertently reveal what I had seen. Anytime I wanted to, I could recall its gleaming shape receding into the darkness and feel the anticipation of knowing that the greatest adventure lay before me. My only bitter regret was that I would have to leave Lexander. I knew that my desire to submit would be sorely tested when I was torn from him. Sometimes just the thought of our inevitable parting almost rendered me in half, even though his command of silence hurt me so.

But sitting in the courtyard one day, my arms around my legs and the brilliant sun on my face, I realized that Lexander had given me a gift, a way to escape the confining walls of the *haushold* and everyone in it. Unable to reach out, I dove into myself and found a deep well of stillness that allowed me to accept even the most excruciating lessons. As much as I longed to venture into the world, I began to slip into trances. During our training, I held the poses and breathed until I was one with each form. Even while cleaning, my usual humming was stilled. My thoughts that had once flowed into the sky to flit

among the clouds and treetops now shrank down to each brick, as I lovingly examined its fine surface cracks, listening to every scratch of the brush, every drop of water, every distant footfall.

Though I had been outwardly submissive before, in silence I learned to sink to the very depths of my inner nature. There I found a place inside of myself that could never be tarnished or breached. This restless fire that fueled me would not die, but would return to the Otherworld with great glory when my earthly life was ended.

Time was suspended, and I lost my grip on the day-today. Everything eased into one single flow of obedience. The only thing that stirred within me was a constant yearning for my master's touch. I flamed into life whenever Lexander was in the room. Even as I obeyed Helanas and endured her punishments, I watched Lexander. Sometimes when she hit me the crease appeared between his brows, as if he would like to intervene. But he never did, and I soon believed it was a half-imagined fancy.

My thirst was quenched only when the slaves were taught the art of pleasure, learning how to stimulate every part of the body. I came to know my fellow slaves in a way I had never imagined. Rosarin had a languid yet deep response that shook the room when she peaked. The softness of her flesh and the sweet scent of her skin were enticing. Now I knew why so many men loved to bed Rosarin. The two Skraeling girls were taught as a team to titillate us, and they took that to mean they would not be separated, which cheered them. They dove into their training with a lustiness I had not seen before, and I was never unhappy when I was ordered to stimulate them or receive their attentions for myself.

To my surprise, Sverker was my favorite partner. I truly admired Ansgar more for his kind nature, but he was too tentative a lover to suit me. Kinirniq was so dispirited that he seldom could respond, though Helanas seemed to revel in forcing us to try to revive him. But there was too much darkness woven into the fiber of Kinirniq. Sverker, on the other hand, burned hot and fast with an engrossing frenzy that was magnificent. He preferred me to the others, perhaps because he could be selfish with his desires, with plenty of encouragement from Helanas. They knew that I loved to be overwhelmed during sex, but that didn't stop his enjoyment. Sometimes Sverker caught me when I was going about my duties, and without a word, took me there and then. Sometimes he pressed my head to his groin so I could lick and suck him to satisfaction. Slaves were not supposed to touch each other outside of our training sessions, but I kept his secret. It bonded us together despite my silence, a precious closeness in the midst of my silent isolation.

I shared passion with my fellow slaves whenever I could, and in those moments I truly lived. With Lexander, I could only watch as he took his satisfaction from the other slaves, for their enlightenment or his own enjoyment. He never chose me to serve him. I longed to be the one who pleased him with every indrawn breath or groan. Helanas didn't choose me to touch her either, but that was from disdain, while Lexander had more exalted motives. I couldn't understand why, but I knew I must bow to his plan.

So I was astonished when one day Niels, Rosarin, and Ansgar brought in to decorate the hall boughs that were covered in red, orange, and yellow leaves bigger than my hands. It didn't seem possible that the summer had slipped away so seamlessly, almost without my notice, when I had always been attuned to the seasons, watching them come and go like a jealous lover.

I touched the waxy leaves, feeling like a young child again in my wonderment. Had I been silent for so long?

The others didn't notice, and it seemed as if they had stopped seeing me. I moved through Vidaris doing as I was told, always compliant, always ready to please, never a thought for my own desires . . . except for Lexander. I glanced over at my master, who was seated at his desk. He was writing a letter on a thin piece of birch bark, scratching it with a bone *stilo*.

When the slaves finally left, I carried the stool to the next oil lamp hanging on the wall. My pitcher had just enough oil to fill the rest of the lamps in the fire hall. My attention was on Lexander as usual. Yet there was intensity in my gaze, a tension in my body that had not been there before. Why, I wondered, had he done this to me?

I neatly filled the reservoir of the lamp, standing on my toes to see through the glass. It made an oily mess if it overflowed, so I was very careful. As I settled the wick and climbed back down to move to the next lamp, Lexander didn't look up. But he must have sensed something, because he abruptly ordered, "You will take off your tunic, Marja. Then finish your work.â€

It was as if he knew I had awakened. With a shiver, I slid my tunic over my head and dropped it at my bare feet. He watched me climb the stool and stretch to fill the lamp.

Lexander put down the *stilo* and began to pleasure himself, leaning back in his chair. I felt a growing anticipation. He was indulging himself in me, finally, I almost gasped as I stepped down from the stool, my thighs rubbing against each other.

Again and again, I went through the ritual, bending and lifting the stool, moving it to the next lamp, climbing, straining to reach, the careful slow pour, then climbing back down again. I grew moist knowing what would happen next. He was obviously waiting so he could finish with me. I wanted to show him how much I had learned this summer, how much I desired him.

I slowly placed the empty pitcher on the stool under the last filled lamp. I was ready for him.

Lexander stood up, straightening his loose pants. As he came closer, I thought that he would take me. But his expression was remote, as if he was already thinking of the next thing he needed to do. I was stunned, left dangling over a precipice.

"You may have one word, Marja.â€

I didn't even have to think. "Why?â€

Lexander smiled. His hand slid up my thigh, trailing to my waist and curving around my breast. I drew in my breath, every fiber of my being alive to his touch. Then his finger barely brushed my stomach, dropping down between my legs.

"For this,†he murmured.

I shuddered in the grip of a shattering release that caught me unawares. He was so close, watching the waves of climax overtake me, that I could feel his breath on my face.

Then he was gone, and I was left alone again, sagging down next to the stool. He had tuned me to his slightest touch. Perhaps it was the long silence or simply my nature, but Lexander had revealed the sensual power I possessed.



With my new awareness, I helped prepare Vidaris for winter. The storerooms were packed with bales of sun-dried fish, barrels of salted mutton, and smelly bladders of sea-mammal oil and sheep tallow. The stacks of firewood under the kitchen sheds grew to momentous size, while the silos were filled with grain and hay to feed the livestock through winter. When Skraeling traders came, Lexander bartered sacks of grain for whole hides of walrus, casks of ivory tusks, and sealskin sacks filled with fetid tar for waterproofing the roof of the *haushold* and the barns.

As the cold settled on the land, our exile by Ejegod had long repercussions. No new slaves arrived in Vidaris. Lexander was forbidden from returning to

Markland, and the people of Viinland didn't want to be associated with Vidaris while we were denounced by a regional chieftain.

The only break in our routine was when we woke one morning to find Helanas had sent Kinimiq away with a passing Kebec trader, as a gift to the inland nobility in an effort to curry their favor. It reminded us of the consequences of failure. Kebec was a rustic place, more Skraeling than not, and it wasn't the grand fate the slaves dreamed of. They talked sometimes of the lives they would lead as companions to emperors and queens in exotic climes. Yet none of them seemed overeager to venture into the unknown. I sometimes wondered whether they would be more ardent if I could tell them of the marvelous winged ship, or if it would simply frighten them.

When I was finally released by Lexander to begin speaking again, it hardly sent a ripple through the *haushold*. In truth, it was the happiest winter of my life, especially since Lexander began to regularly call me to his bed. I was able to savor his strong body and feel him delight in me during the night. Under cover of darkness, he stroked me and murmured words of tenderness that I had never heard from him. I knew that when he entered me, moving together with me like the sea I had come to understand, we were both fulfilled. He reveled in my shameless response, pitched to great heights because of the silent seasons. I was glad my modesty had been burned out so that I could serve him in the way he liked best. When we awoke, I enjoyed his suffused expression in the light slanting through the window. The mornings that he did not make love to me were a disappointment, but were rare for all that.

Because of Lexander's attentions, Helanas treated me more harshly. When one of the Skraeling sisters spilled a full bucket of water, Helanas descended on the poor girl in wrath. She was the weaker of the two and I feared her spirit would break as Kinirniq's had, so I claimed it was my fault, though both Helanas and Lexander knew that it wasn't.

Helanas eagerly dragged me to the fire hall, where there was a ring mounted high in the wall. It was intended for lifting up barrels and crates to the storage platform. But it was also Helanas' favorite form of punishment. She tightened the ropes around my wrists and hauled me up into the air. My feet couldn't get purchase against the bricks, so I dangled. It grew harder to breathe and my arms felt as if they were being pulled from my shoulders. Helanas poked at me, laughing as I cried out from the pain of twisting away.

She toyed with me for a long time, and when she finally let me down, none of the other slaves returned to help me. So I lay there on the floor trying to summon the strength to crawl back to the slave hall.

But Lexander found me. Kneeling beside me, he asked, "Did you want to be hurt, Marja?â€

"No.†I winced as I tried to sit up. "But better me than the Skraeling girl. I can accept it.â€

His eyes were shining in the darkness as he put his arms around me, lifting me up. He carried me through the courtyard to his chamber, murmuring, "l saw your selflessness first in Tillfallvik, when you helped Silveta at the cost of your own flesh. I knew then you were special, that you give everything of yourself.â€

It nearly made me swoon with pleasure to hear his praise.

Yet as close as we grew, I didn't feel that he cared for me more than the other slaves until one cold winter morning. We had slept late, and it was peaceful on the estate, with everyone avoiding the lightly falling snow. I couldn't even hear the sounds of dogs barking or the freemen feeding the cattle in the snug barn. I lay in bed watching the fat white flakes float down past the window, thinking it was magical to be able to see the snow from our snug nest.

Lexander slid out from under the warm furs and padded softly across the room. I could tell he thought I was asleep. He went to the window and sat on the cushioned seat, gazing out at the snow-covered hills. Though he was naked, he didn't seem to notice the chill air.

I watched him in the pearly light for a long time, wondering what he was thinking, staring out on his estate. He had everything a man could desire, yet he seemed dissatisfied. His hand kept clenching into a fist, as if he longed to fight, but he could not bring himself to do it.

Finally I got up and went to him, putting my arms around him from behind. When we were alone he encouraged me to be assertive. The other slaves were conditioned by Helanas to be always timid and meek. She tried to break me as well. But after I learned that Lexander enjoyed my boldness, I expressed my affection for him whenever I could.

Standing behind him, I caressed his neck and shoulders, feeling his muscles beneath his skin. It seemed I could never get enough of him. As I leaned forward, I saw the mirror on the table. It was angled in such a way that it caught his reflection. His expression, normally so reserved, shifted before my eyes. As I kissed him lightly, letting my lips tell him of my love, his face seemed to crumple as a tear slipped down his cheek. The hardened mask he always wore fell away and his *inua* shone through. I saw his deep misery and confusion, and it pierced my heart. But before I could speak, his tension eased and his eyes shone brighter. My simple touch was soothing him, as if he felt an immense relief just from being in my arms.

He grasped my hand, and without turning, kissed it. Tears rose in my eyes. He needed me. I had never imagined such a thing before. This great man with everything in the world lacked the one thing I alone could give himâ€"true and pure devotion from a fervent heart.

When he finally turned, his face was back to normal. But now I could see his pain, and it made me ache inside to know my love was in torment.

He took me in his arms and kissed me deep, as if clinging to a rope in a stormy sea. We made love, and it was something beyond passion. It was soft yet urgent, wordless. I knew it was the first time we had come together as equals rather than master and slave.

We had many such mornings, treasures I stashed away to examine in the privacy of my own thoughts. I never told the other slaves.

* * *

With the simplicity of youth, I didn't question my prosperous life until early spring when I returned home to my village for a visit. Lexander had promised my da that I would see my family when the ice broke, and as soon as Nauga Sea was open, Lexander was true to his word. I thought it was an innocent indulgence, a fulfillment of his agreement with my da. Then I remembered that Vidaris used slaves as bait, letting us testify to the luxury of the estate and the sophistication of our lives. Our stories undoubtedly spread to inspire other young people to leave their homes in his care. Whatever his reason, Lexander announced that his word to my da held prior claim over Ejegod's proclamation of exile.

As we sailed across the Nauga Sea, I communed with the sea spirits the entire way, telling them everything that had happened to me in Vidaris. When I finally saw the familiar purple line of the highlands beyond Jarnby, my heart leaped in joy. The fens were a shade of green that I remembered best, as were the hummocks of the longhouses.

I saw my mam from far way, as she stood on the shore waving her shawl. She was usually so reserved and serene that I wept when I saw the tears streaming from the outer corners of her eyes.

I was one of the first to leap from the boat, forgetting even Lexander in my haste to reach my mam. Her arms enfolded me, but I was surprised to find I had grown while I was away, and now towered over her. But she smelled the same: of sinew and peat smoke and moss.

"l'm home, Mam,†I murmured brokenly.

"l never knew,†she whispered, her arms tight around me. "My own mam must have felt this way when I left her. I never knew it was this difficult

or I would not have done it . . .â€

My tears near blinded me as Lexander called to my da, and my master was openly smiling and proud of me. He tossed my bag over the side and lifted down a basket full of gifts for my family. "l'll return five days hence. How is the passage through the strait?â€

"Open to Helluland,†my da replied. "An early warming, praise be the gods.â€

Lexander gestured down to his feet. "You notice I do not set foot on your land. But you would do well to not speak of our visit here.â€

My da growled, startling me. "You'II not find us blathering to those sons of death! We know how to protect our own.†With that he clasped a hand on my shoulder, telling me, "You've turned fair as a flower, my girl. I never thought it of ye.â€

"ls there trouble?†I asked, finally looking around at my siblings, cousins, and aunts. They were a dirty, draggle haired lot, and I realized with a start that this was how Bjorn had viewed me when I first arrived at Vidaris. It was a wonder that Lexander had picked me out from amongst them.

"Aye, there's enough heartache to spare,†my da agreed. But my mam ended the discussion by pulling me away from the longship, glancing back uneasily at Lexander. I waved to my master, but he was already ordering his oarsmen to launch the ship.

In reality, I was unnerved by my return. I was back in my familiar home, every face and every sod-house worn like a groove in my mind. But they watched me with an eagerness I couldn't understand. My kin kept touching me, stroking my cheeks and hands, which glowed with a vitality missing from their own wan, tired faces. I was used to thinking of home as a place where I belonged, but now that had changed.

I hardly recognized my brother with his gawky limbs and fuzz on his chin, teetering on the edge of manhood. He stayed far away, while my younger sister walked close beside me, stroking the embroidery on the edge of my cloak. I was glad Lexander had packed gifts for everyone. What I now regarded as an ordinary suede tunic and leggings, along with my spring cloak, were considered splendid by my kin. I knew that the other pretty clothes in my bag would never be worn here. Tonight I would sleep among my sisters on the mossy mound covering the ledge.

My da set the basket on the chopping block, and I dug into it. There were jars of exotic foodâ€"date preserves and spices from the southern lands, along with grains to make thick, nourishing porridges. Their excitement grew for we were in the lean season, and I remembered well the feeling of ribs hard beneath my skin. My mam and aunts opened and sniffed everything, while I distributed silk ribbons, hand mirrors, and clasps among my siblings and cousins.

"Where is Deidre?†I asked, holding up a green ribbon that would match her eyes. "This one is for her.â€

The silence and downcast gazes told me there was a tragedy. The men looked ready to kill, their hands going to the axes on their belts. Even my brother seemed fierce and older than his years when he put his hand to his knife.

"What has happened?†I asked softly. Deidre had been one of my playmates when I was younger.

My mam hushed me and helped me take the last of the gifts from the basket to hand out. I knew better than to dwell on sadness while my family was creating a celebration to welcome me home.

Â

The next day, before I went into the fens, I asked my brother about Deidre.

"She was killed,†my brother said shortly. "Killed by the men who follow that berserker Birgir Barfoot.â€

"Birgir? He was here?†I asked, horrified.

"Aye, you must have heard of him. His warriors came, but they scorned our land. Some settled on the long lake south of here. They've taken women to be their wives, Skraeling and Noromenn both, but Deidre was killed because she fought them. Right there on the shore. We found her body, but the *knaar* was already out to sea. You should have seen our uncle. He was furious and claimed he would go to seek justice, but the word is they claim land with the blessing of our *chieftain*.â€

My brother spat at the word, and I could not blame him. My own opinion of Ejegod was less than good, and I wondered not for the first time how Silveta had avoided Birgir's bed through a full turn of seasons. Perhaps she had triumphed with her own bondi, fetched at the cost of Vidaris' good name. But it was not my place to speak of what had happened in Tillfallvik. I was grateful that my own name had not been linked to the tale of the exile of Vidaris.

"Deidre was promised to Gorm,†my brother ventured. "I saw him watching when you arrived.â€

I hadn't noticed Gorm, a big blond man who was destined for the forge like my da. But I remembered him well. He was one of the boys I had innocently rutted with in the fens. I had enjoyed his simple lust and allowed him to take me anytime he followed me away from the village. But he had never spoken of it to anyone, and he left me without a word when we were done. That was how all the boys were, ashamed of dallying with a maid who was known to be half addled by the olfs.

"He might consider you for his wife,†my brother added. "Then you could stay here where you belong.â€

Startled, I protested. "l belong to Lexander. I can't marry Gorm.â€

"But you're here now,†my brother pointed out. "We could hide you when he returns. Vidaris can't protest or they would risk the wrath of Ejegod. You don't have to go away.â€

"But ... I want to go.†It seemed as if I were being sucked under by sticky mud when I tried to imagine myself as Gorm's wife.

"You made a mistake,†my brother insisted. "You belong here on the fens. I know how you are and how you must feel to lose everything you love.â€

I was so accustomed to subservience that I almost agreed. But my heart knew better. I could no sooner return to Jarnby than I could return to being a babe in my mam's arms. I shook my head wordlessly.

"Faraway eyes . . .†my brother murmured. That was how Lexander had described me the first day he met me. Then my brother went back to his work in the fields, the care of the sheep now given to our younger sibling.

I spent most of my days on the fens, as I always did. I could once again hear the *olfs*. Their voices had been silent for so long, and I had almost thought that part of my life was over. But now I heard their singing, drawing me from place to place, gleefully showing me a black pool where I could bathe or a dry hillock to nap on. I danced again in their praise, my feet hardly touching the ground. The *olfs* were the purest embodiment of the land, and their lure went deep in me.

It was during my time on the fens that I finally realized the olfs avoided Vidaris because of Helanas' viciousness, which was powerful enough to

keep all good things at bay. It was not a failure of mine that kept me from sensing the otherworldly creatures in Vidaris, but the presence of oppressive spirits smothering the land.

I also thought long on my kin in Jarnby, seeing all the more clearly now that I had gone away. There were too many children inside the narrow, cramped duns, and no privacy for contemplation or pleasure. Only hard work and more work to survive. After my mam's first burst of emotion, she retreated to silent movement at her loom, forever spinning, weaving, and sewing to keep her brood in clothes. She was never one to tell me what she thought unless she was in the grip of a seeing. It seemed she already knew my future, one far away from her, and had accepted it as I did. My poor da drank himself into a stupor at night, until his great body lay snoring on the sleeping ledge. It was something I barely remembered from before, but now I felt a great sorrow for him and my mam, forced to labor so hard.

I missed Lexander desperately as the days passed. I felt adrift despite the love that poured from the *olfs*. It was only in part because Lexander had trained me so exquisitely to respond to his every mood. He had devoted himself to me over the winter, and I missed waking up beside him and feeling him touch me. Part of me wished I had sailed with him to the northern straits, past the great bergs and icy land. Everything here in Jarnby was constrained, as familiar as an old moldering sack. At times I broke out in song or chattered on about Vidaris until my family's eyes glazed over with incomprehension, and I knew I no longer fit into their world.

So I was ready when the red-striped sail came into view. I ran to meet the longship in my haste to greet my master.

Lexander stood in the prow, exactly as I had seen him that first day. I smiled and waved to him. But when the boat reached the shore I noticed there was a woman close by him. She was Skraeling, with long dark hair and black eyes. She seemed defiantly proud, holding her head high, and was wearing sumptuous white furs.

"Marja! Come aboard quickly,†Lexander called. "We must catch the turning tide.â€

I remembered to hug my mam and my da pulled on my braids that held my hair neatly. My brother scowled with his arms crossed defiantly, but I shook my head at him. I couldn't stay. Indeed, the envy in my sister's eyes reassured me.

But when I was lifted into the boat, my throat closed. The Skraeling was beautiful. Her expression was haughty, reminding me of Bjorn although she was as dark as he was fair. I covertly tried to brush away the mud of the fens that stained my leggings. I had forgotten until this moment that I had braided some wool into my hair, and her eyes were scornful as she stroked her own glossy hair that fell below her hips.

Lexander gestured to the young woman. "Marja, this is Qamaniq, my new slave.â€

When we returned to Vidaris, everything was different. Not long after my visit home, I found myself kneeling in the fire hall watching Lexander teach the four new slaves the art of *fotternoje*. The two newest slaves, blond brothers from Fylkeran in Hop, were mesmerized. I don't think any of us had ever eroticized feet until our master taught us how. The new Skraeling male, Torngasoak licked Helanas' toes while Qamaniq bent her shapely body over Lexander.

Jealousy burned inside of me. I hated every moment that Lexander spent with Qamaniq and the other new slaves. It had ruined our increasingly complex rapport, so subtle that the others hadn't noticed, but as challenging as the daily games of *hneftaf* I played with Lexander. But now it was gone, the constant interchange of feints and parries, and my ultimate release. Now he was busy and had no time for me.

He glanced up and knew exactly what I was thinking. There was no resentment on my face, only perfect obedience. But he knew nonetheless. We were so in tune with each other that I had only to stand before him for him to know how I felt.

I chastised myself for my own jealousy of Qamaniq. Had I learned nothing of acceptance at my master's knee? I sank into myself again and again to find the peace in submission, only to have it vanish at her next coquettish laugh or when Lexander tenderly stroked her head. It was my most trying test to date and I sometimes raged at the fates that had made me fall in love with Lexander.

Qamaniq's striking figure, made for passion, and her bold, expressive face were far more beautiful than I could ever be. I had an earthy presence, while Qamaniq was a goddess incarnate. Everyone watched her, lingering on the curve of her bosom and the poised tilt of her head. I wanted to be the Skraeling beauty so I could compel the same admiration I saw in Lexander's eyes.

Suddenly Helanas pushed Torngasoak aside. "You encourage her infatuation!†She took two strides to grab me by the shoulders to shake me. "You will stop acting like a lovesick girl!â€

"Whatever you desire, Mistress,†I responded as I had been taught. I went limp under her hands because to resist would provoke her even more.

"lf you can't control yourself, l'll do it for you.†Helanas dragged me over to the wall. I huddled down, making sure I didn't glance back at Lexander. Helanas was ever ready to find me at fault. Lately, looking at Lexander had become my most serious infraction.

Helanas flung open a chest and tore the cushions and blankets from it. "Get in!â€

I climbed into the small space, lying on my side and bending my knees so I could fit. The last thing I saw was Helanas, her face twisted in an ugly, helpless expression. As the lid fell and darkness engulfed me, I realized it was jealousy. I had never seen any sign of tenderness between Helanas and Lexander, but from my new vantage point, it appeared as if she felt the same about me as I did about Qamaniq. It was very strange because I thought Helanas hated Lexander. But I couldn't doubt my own eyes.

I took a few deep breaths, my fingers seeking out the cracks where cool air poured in. There were distant murmurs as the training continued. Lexander hadn't protested my punishment. He never did. He was probably engrossed in the satisfaction Qamaniq was giving him. He wouldn't miss me when the winged ship came to take me away.

I tensed as sharp pains shot through my legs and back. I wanted nothing more than to turn and stretch hard in relief. But I was trapped, for how long was anyone's guess. I had been bound all night before, but never had I been shut inside a chest.

Breathing slowly and deeply, I relaxed every muscle, starting from my toes all the way up to my neck. It took concentration to keep from clenching back up, especially when someone banged on the lid of the chest a few times. It must have been Helanas. I ignored her as I focused on releasing every trace of resistance, falling into that deep pool inside of me that was never ruffled, never emptied. Lexander had trained me to know my body so thoroughly that eventually I was able to drift into a doze, feeling quite comfortable. It probably wasn't what Helanas expected, but that was the triumph I gained from submission.



The creak of the latch woke me. I started to rise, but was trapped by the sides of the chest. For a moment, I panicked and almost started thrashing and kicking to try to free myself. Then I remembered Helanas wanted me to lose control. I willed myself to relax to the inevitable.

The lid opened to darkness. I had been in the chest for a long time.

Hands reached into the glow of the lamp set on the floor. It was Lexander. He gently lifted me from my confinement. I could feel how strong he was, he did it with such ease. Even I could not stand after such an ordeal, confined for half a day or more. Lexander had shown me scrolls with images of the body and explained that inside us were rivers and streams that watered our flesh like the earth. Now it felt as if my limbs were clogged and sluggish, rendering them numb.

Lexander's arms went around me, holding me up. He bent over me, pressing his cheek against my hair. The feel of his body against mine made me nearly swoon with delight. "She'll tell them that I am too weak with the slaves. But I care not. I could not forget you, Marja.â€

His voice caressed my name, and I closed my eyes, savoring the moment.

"Tell me,†Lexander whispered, holding me so close, "would you have resented me if I had left you there?â€

"No!†I was shocked at the question. "Never would I resent you.â€

He pulled back to look into my face. His eyes were shadowed by the dim light. "But you do begrudge me my new slaves.â€

Slowly I shook my head. "l belong to you even when you don't touch me. Yet . . . I cannot help myself. I always long to be by your side.â€

"What if I never saw you again, Marja? Would you still be mine in your heart?â€

"In heart, body, and mind.†I felt the truth of my words in the core of my being. "Always, I will be yours.â€

"You will serve other masters. It is in your nature to give yourself to those who command it.†His head turned, and for a moment there was a struggle on his face. Could it be that he was also jealous of me? It didn't seem possible, but I had already seen it in Helanas. Lexander surely felt more for me than he wanted to reveal.

"Go to bed, Marja. You will need your strength for tomorrow.â€



Â

The others were still asleep when I awoke to the sound of olf laughter very early in the morning. The olf had braved the evil spirits that infested Vidaris to come whisper in my ear, "A journey begun is a journey ended.†The olf showed me the winged ship plying the waters off Viinland. They knew I had been expecting the ship to return to take me from Vidaris. The olfs avoided Vidaris because of the evil that dwelled here, so they were delighted I was finally leaving.

As for Lexander, perhaps he had been forewarned of the ship's arrival. Last night he had bid me good-bye in his own way, confirming our bond before I was taken away by the winged ship forever.

I couldn't bear to think of leaving Lexander, even though I yearned to quit the estate and venture to new places. I passed the chest in the fire hall, with the bedding returned and the lid closed. There was nothing to indicate that something momentous had happened in that spot. My brief talk in the dark with Lexander almost seemed like a dream.

I never questioned that the great winged ship would arrive this night to take the slaves away and that I would be going with them. In truth, now that I had returned to Jarnby and fulfilled Lexander's promise to my da, there was no reason for me to stay in Vidaris. Helanas would be glad to see the last of me. And I was as trained as I would ever be.

There were signs among the older slaves that they were also ready to depart; in their boredom at the routine, the unthinking perfection of their movements, and a restlessness I had not seen before. I waited for them to realize what lay ahead, but it wasn't until our evening bath that they began to sense something. Lexander and Helanas cleaned the four of usâ€"Rosarin, Sverker, Ansgar, and meâ€"with a thoroughness usually reserved for new arrivals. We were clipped, polished, and scrubbed inside and out.

Then the new slaves were sent to bed along with Niels and the sisters. Only Niels had seen Bjorn and the other slaves depart Vidaris and recognized as we did that our time had come. His face crumpled as he left the baths. Qamaniq slinked away, casting an envious look over her shoulder at me. With a burst of agony, I realized that my rival would have Lexander's undivided attention from now on.

When we were done, Helanas gave us brief tunics to wear. Mine hung by two silver cords from my shoulders and was open on the sides, with a small catch at the waist. The spring weather was not mild, so the steamy warmth of the bathhouse was welcome.

"Kneel,†Helanas ordered.

We formed a straight line in front of her, our knees on the wet bricks.

"Your training is complete,†Helanas told us. "You are now fit to serve.â€

"Where will we go, Mistress?†Sverker asked. He was the bravest with her, though she had beaten him for it in the past.

Helanas actually smiled this time. "We've prepared you specially to serve our own people. You'll sail to Stanbulin, many days away. From there, you'll be sent to our native island. You will find that we are a much more advanced society than you are accustomed to. You will have luxuries you've never dreamed of.â€

Anything that pleased Helanas was usually something to fear. Yet it could only be good for me to get far away from the evil she wove within Vidaris.

"Do not be afraid of the many strange things you shall see,†Lexander told us.

"lt is not meant for you to understand your betters,†Helanas put in.

"Remember your training,†Lexander finished, giving me an intent look. "lt will serve you well.â€

I nodded briefly, choking at the thought of seeing him no more. I couldn't bear it! I had always known this day would come. But I couldn't hide my distress, and Helanas was gloating over it. But the others had the same stricken, reverent expression that I had seen on Bjorn's face. They were thrilled at the promise of living among superior people like our master and mistress. But I was not so fickle. I belonged to Lexander. It suddenly didn't seem possible to live without him.

"You will follow me,†Lexander ordered. And I had to obey.



I knew what I would see when we reached the open gate. The sun had set and the last light was leaving the sky. I shivered in the chill air and was the only one who looked back at the *haushold*. Helanas had gone inside, leaving Lexander to take us down to the bay. A great bonfire blazed in the middle of the beach, illuminating the dock. Often Vidaris had a bonfire at night to lure in traders at sea. The longship's sail was tied down and it rocked gently in the waves, the empty mast swinging from side to side.

There was no one else in sight as Lexander started down the long flight of wooden steps. None of the freemen or servants could see the beach because of the palisade along the top of the bluff.

When we stood in a group near the fire, Lexander announced, "This is to be your fate, to serve my people to the best of your ability. Go and give glory unto Vidaris.â€

I looked out to sea, expecting the winged ship to appear. As if a vision descended, the giant white swan sailed toward us out of the darkness. The other slaves were overawed by the sight.

Lexander knew by their expressions that I had never broken my promise. At his slow nod of acknowledgment, I felt a flush of pride. I also wanted to cry, knowing this was my last service for him.

We were all trembling now, not from the cold but at the sight of the miraculous ship as it rapidly approached. Rosarin gasped out loud and clutched my

Lexander moved behind us as it lightly drew up to the dock. The flames of the bonfire reflected in the curved hull.

I felt Lexander's hands fall on my shoulders. His fingers held me tightly, as if he didn't want to let me go. I moaned, knowing I couldn't bear to leave him.

A rope ladder fell to touch the dock. "Go now,†Lexander ordered.

Ansgar was the first to step forward, and like a sleep-walker Sverker followed. Rosarin was right on his heels. But Lexander held me back.

He whispered in my ear, "Quick, Marja! Slip away and hide among the rocks. Wait there until I come for you.â€

He stepped past me, leaving me staggering in the soft sand. I almost thought I had imagined it, but his piercing look convinced me I had heard

correctly. As always I obeyed, backing into the shadows of the cliff, my eyes still fastened on the winged ship. None of the other slaves seemed to notice I was not with them. Lexander followed Rosarin up the ladder.

I felt the rocks under my feet and climbed over them in the darkness under the bluff. My bare knees got muddy, reminding me of the first time I had seen the winged ship and how I had served my penance. I never did learn the name of the magnate who had touched me so roughly. He had avoided Vidaris along with everyone else since Ejegod's proclamation of exile.

Then Lexander reappeared and returned to the fire. I was watching him so closely that I missed the first moment when the ship turned to depart. The sails caught the wind and it moved away swiftly.

I was gasping, whether it was in disappointment or relief, I did not know. The winged ship sped away like the wind, dwindling to a white blur.

Lexander glanced toward me, one hand motioning for me to stay. Instantly, my doubts were gone. I had not misunderstood him. Lexander started up the steps to the gate of the estate. I watched him as long as I could, then settled down to wait. It could be a long time, like last night in the chest, but I was doing as he wished and that was enough to satisfy me.

Lexander soon returned carrying a bundle under one arm. As he neared the base of the cliff, he peered into the darkness. "Marja, you can come out now.â€

I extricated myself from the rocks, scraping my feet and legs. The silk tunic was sodden and stained nearly to my waist. I crossed my arms in front of my stomach as I trembled.

"Take that off and put on these.†Lexander held out the bundle.

I opened it and knew from the scent that the clothes had belonged to Rosarin. I shrugged off the flimsy tunic and pulled on the brown suede leggings and knee-length tunic. The boots were my own, the ones I used when I helped unload goods from longships or fetched firewood. When I finished, I slung the long cloak over my shoulders. It was Ansgar's spring cloak, but it felt heavier than mine.

Then I stood facing Lexander expectantly. "No questions?†he asked. "Of course you haven't any. You are the perfect slave, ever willing, ever compliant.â€

I wasn't sure if he was pleased or not. "I am what you made me.â€

"No, you are what nature made you. And I won't have you wasted by those like Helanas who would scorn your gift. l've saved you from that fate, Marja.â€

"l won't be sent to your people?†I had to ask.

"Never, as long as I live. You are too precious to me.â€

He kissed me, his lips taking possession of me. I felt myself falling into him, held in his arms, protected and cherished. I had dreamed of thisâ€"Lexander declaring that he desired me above everything else. He had always felt it, now I was sure. He would not let me go because he felt the same as I did.

"Marja,†he finally said, still holding me tightly. "We'll be together. I cannot endure it any longer. I will not heed their insatiable demand.â€

I had seen enough to know that he was dissatisfied, but I hadn't realized his unhappiness ran so deep. It was shocking that a man so powerful could be brought so low. "l will help you,†I pledged. "l would die without you.â€

"Marja!†He shook me slightly. "l fear l've been too thorough. You must take care of yourself, as you did in Jarnby. I can't come with you now. Soon enough I will be able to excuse my departure without raising Helanas' suspicions.â€

"What am I to do?†I asked, bewildered.

"Go to Markland to stay with Silveta. She will have to help you.†He pressed a square packet of parchment into my hand. "Here are coins for your passage. Tell Silveta that my price for silence about Birgir is that she protect you until I come.â€

"But l've been exiled!†I protested. "I can't go to Tillfallvik.â€

"You must. The slaves who left may inquire about you, and the ship could return. Then Helanas would discover that you didn't depart with them.†One corner of his mouth raised. "Tillfallvik is the only place she will not think to look for you. She would never expect you, of all people, to defy Ejegod in his own estate. Will you do it if I ask you to?â€

It was the first time he had requested something rather than simply ordering me to do it. Nonetheless, I felt the same compulsion to agree. "Yes, I will do as you say.â€

"Then come. l'll show you the road to Brianda, the port in southern Fjardemano. lt's two days' walk. You can get passage from there to Tillfallvik.â€

My eyes widened. I had never been so far alone before.

"You know what to do, Marja. Go to Silveta. Don't tell anyone you are a pleasure slave. I will come for you in Tillfallvik and we shall be reunited.†He kissed me once more, clutching me tight.

The darkness spread around us as we proceeded along the shore, my hand held tightly in his. We walked in silence, everything said and everything left to do before me. When we reached the mouth of the river, a dirt path wound through the bushes, leading to a bridge. A wagon lane with two ruts disappeared into the darkness on either side.

Here Lexander hugged me close, murmuring, "l should have left long before, but I needed you to inspire me. You are all I want in this world.†I could have stayed in his arms forever. But too soon he released me. "Go now, and do me proud, Marja.â€

He headed down the lane to Vidaris. I was left alone, clutching my cloak around me.

Everything in my life had led to this moment. I knew I could do as he asked, what the other slaves could never hope to accomplish. I could strike out across this unknown land and commune with the olfs to safely pass, with my own spirit singing in pleasure because I was free to roam.

With a shiver of anticipation, I stepped into the night and was off.

Seven

Yet as I crossed the bridge and ventured down the lane, I faltered. The trees arching overhead shadowed the wan light of the half-moon. I could hardly see to put one foot in front of the other. I was used to playing in the night with the olfs, using their uncanny glow to light my way. But no olfs appeared despite my plaintive summons.

So I calmed myself, putting aside Lexander's revelation. I could hardly believe he had openly declared his love for me; I wanted to dance with abandon, giddy with release after such endless longing. But I had to reach Tillfallvik. My hand still clutched the parchment with the weight of coins inside, and I carefully stowed it in the deep pockets of Ansgar's cloak. I looked out at the ocean as if to glimpse the winged ship through the trees, carrying my slave-mates away to a life I had long envisioned . . .

When my breathing grew steady, I relaxed and reached out with my senses. The pounding of the ocean beat like the heart of the earth while the night breeze flowed over me. But the land was empty, draining my strength where I should have felt invigorated.

Instinctively I followed the lane like a lifeline out of the ravenous muck that sought to swallow me whole. I stumbled at first over rocks and fallen branches, but let nothing slacken my pace. Despite the cold air, nervous sweat beaded my skin. I rushed onward, hardly seeing with my eyes, but feeling with the fibers of my being the way to safety, becoming more surefooted the farther I went from Vidaris.

I know not how long I followed the curving lane through the woods, crossing streams and climbing hills. I heard no sounds of men, only the haunting cries of night birds, the rising and falling drone of insects, and choruses of croaking toads. I might have charged through blind to all but my goal if I hadn' reached the torrent of a river, swollen by melted snow. The water picked up the glow of the moon and revealed a wide sparkling expanse that I had to cross.

So I retreated back into the woods, seeking a pile of dead leaves in the midst of a grove of slender birch trees. Curling up in the cloak, I breathed deep of the mingled scents of Ansgar and Rosarin in the clothing. Finally I was still enough to let the night sounds wash over me.

But it was Lexander in my thoughts. He was in the haushold, perhaps looking through the diamond panes of glass and wondering how I fared. He loved me.

I slept little that night, alert to the sounds of the rising wind or the animals that crackled through the underbrush. I drowsed in a deep communion with the land, settling into the rocks and plants that the spirits enlivened. My fragmented dreams were frightening in their intensity, with Helanas emerging time and again. Sometimes I saw only her eyes, angry and malevolent. Or her hand, rising to strike me.

When I awoke, a miasma hung over the woods behind me. The evil spirits that infested Vidaris sent tendrils of hatred in my direction as if trying to draw me back in. I had escaped intact, not realizing until now the danger I had endured in their midst without succumbing to despair. Lexander had said his people were all like Helanas, a terrible thought indeed. What would happen to gentle Rosarin and brave Ansgar among them?

I shook myself, realizing that the demons were reaching ever closer. I gathered my cloak around me, heading upriver to find a ford I could cross. As I began to move about, the wisps of evil dissipated, and I could feel the land awakening under the rising sun.

A spirited olf, more bold than his fellows, appeared between my feet, tripping me again and again. Its white hair formed a halo around its head, and its dimpled legs and buttocks looked so rosy and fresh that I was heartened. Surely I was safe from the evil seeking me in this creature's company.

I laughed at the *olf*, knowing that it was only testing me to see if I would become annoyed by its antics. Then I danced a bit, echoing its hop-skip rhythm. In delight, the *olf* led me to a downed tree that I could use to cross the river. It was high up between the banks as the water rushed through a gully, pounding against the submerged boulders. I wanted to crawl across for safety's sake, but I knew the *olf* wouldn't like my trepidation. The *olf* flickered in and out of sight as it scampered across, then back, jumping high before landing lightly on the peeling bark.

Once I reached the other side, nearly a score of olfs were darting through the air and skimming around me, glowing with light that sparkled with color. I was thrilled to have them near me, and I skipped down the lane, singing every song I could remember. I felt as if I could travel forever with them bounding along beside me. They showed me caches of nuts made by busy squirrels and forgotten over the winter. I recognized the tender greens I could eat from the bushes and plants that grew at the water's edge.

In most places the lane was crowded with bushes and thick clumps of grass overgrowing the rutted wagon tracks. Birdsong filled the air, and the sun slanted cheerfully through the trees, drawing out the first buds of flowers in the meadows. The morning sun pulled the mist from the ground, and every hollow was filled with a fine white blanket of down.

I would like to think I sang and danced to honor the spirits and the gods, but Lexander was constantly in my thoughts. When I remembered him saying, "You are too precious to me,†it filled me to overflowing.

As the sun drew overhead, the lane curved over the top of a bluff, offering a view down into a small cove with a narrow valley beyond. It was another great estate, but unlike Vidaris, there was no protecting palisade to mark its borders. The ocean seemed impossibly blue, my eyes having become accustomed to the vegetation. Two longships were tethered at the dock, with people busy working on the beach and plowing the ruddy fields.

Neither of the longships had a red-striped sail, so they weren't from Vidaris. I feared I would be stopped and questioned, but no one so much as turned to look as I passed through. The *olfs* cavorting around me must have blocked me from their sight. It happened that way with people who were willfully blind to the otherworldly creatures. One young child chortled gleefully, reaching out with a tiny hand as I went by with my merry band. Dogs barked and tried to chase me, but the *olfs* addled their brains and sent them off in the wrong direction.

I applauded the olfs' antics, and more of them began showing themselves to me through the light, their merry grins and small legs upturned as they cartwheeled over the ground. Some wore flowers woven in their hair as I used to, while others decorated their chubby bodies with cords of woven grass, tied with bows like presents waiting to be opened.

When the sun began to sink, turning the clouds to deepest purple and flaming orange, the *olfs* lured me to the base of an enormous tree. I nestled down between two broad roots that rose higher than my prone body. The *olfs* slowly dispersed, attracted to the dreams of sleeping people. But I could sense a few that remained up in the top of the oak, swaying with the wind in the branches.

I finally fell into a real sleep. But I was awoken in the night by the *qiqirn*, a pack of wild dog imps that ran through the woods. They were yipping their high-pitched keen that froze their prey. I shook in fear as the *qiqirn* grew louder, whipping closer through the trees. A rabbit screamed as it was snapped up. I could only imagine what they would do to *me*.

The *olf*s in the treetops stilled to wait out the passage of the *qiqirn*. They were in no danger from the beasts' razor-sharp teeth, but I was at risk because I was alone. The *qiqirn* fed only on solitary prey.

I covered my face within my hood and pressed against the oak, willing my mind to become wooden and treelike. I thought only of the shape of the leaves, of the warmth of sunlight on my limbs, and of sweet sap rising in the trunk and flowing into the smallest branches. I felt the flow as if it were part of my own body.

As the qiqim descended in a deafening roar, the pack split to flow around the mighty oak. I am the oak, I silently willed myself. Rooted in the earth, reaching to the sky . . .

Then the *qiqim* were past, and their eerie noise began to recede. My heart was beating too fast. Lexander would never have known what happened to me if I had been caught and devoured. I was very lucky they had not found me during my first night in the woods, when the birch grove would not have protected me as the powerful oak had.

Gratefully, I snuggled closer to the tree roots, falling into a deep sleep. If I could lie safely within the oak's embrace while *qiqim* roamed the woods, then I had nothing to fear.

Indeed, l'd little thought of the dangers when Lexander had asked me to travel alone. The next morning, sensing my fear, the *olfs* led me around the places where evil lurked, avoiding the shadowy mouth of a cave and a smelly sulfurous swamp. Though I was hungry, I wasn't tempted to stop at the occasional farm we passed to ask for food. I wanted only to reach Brianda.

The olfs began to leave me by late afternoon as the estates and farms grew more numerous, with only patches of woods and fields between the clusters of houses. These were woodsy olfs, unaccustomed to people. I was sorry to see them go, but I understood and was grateful they had helped me through their land.

The third night, I crawled into a meadow where sheep had gathered. A pile of straw made a comfortable bed, and I was protected from the *qiqirn* by the sheep's warm, furry bodies.

I gazed up at the cloudless sky with brilliant stars shining on the fields, and it all seemed so peaceful that I was lulled to sleep. But in the darkest night before the dawn, I felt a chill pass over me and awoke to see an *adlet* settling on a sheep. The poor ewe bucked and tried to get out from under it, but was quickly lulled by the poison in the adlet's fangs. I heard the sucking noise as the *adlet* fed on the sheep's blood.

Shuddering, I couldn't go to help the ewe, knowing the *adlet* would turn on me instead. Once it drank its fill, it drifted up and across the fields, a blue-black shadow of shapeless form. The ewe settled down onto the grass, dazed by the loss of life force. I went over and gathered her close, giving her warmth so she could survive until morning.



The rain was falling and a heavy mist blanketed the land when I opened my eyes. I was heartened to see the ewe tottering away, weak but alive. In Jarnby, we locked our livestock into byres at night to keep the *adlets* from sucking them dry. But that was the first *adlet* I had seen in Fjardemano.

I trudged through the cold spring rain, my boots soaked in the thick mud. Two curious farm *olfs* followed me for a while, dressed in colorful rags filched from a quilting bag. But I could not summon the spirit to dance for them. I hummed and sang when I could, but was too busy concentrating on the slippery mud. It wasn't long before the last *olf* bade me good-bye and returned to its beloved home.

More people appeared on the road as the day wore on, with carts pulled by donkeys and horses ridden by freemen wearing brightly dyed cloaks. My own was well crafted and kept me dry, but my boots were sodden, squelching with every step. People talked around me, calling out to one another or giving short, angry commands to their animals. I spoke only to ask the way to Brianda whenever the road forked or crossed another path, letting nothing divert me from my task.

I was surprised out of my dreary slogging at the sight of the ocean. I had crossed Fjardemano and arrived on the leeward side of the island. As the sun struggled to pierce the low-hanging clouds that were gathering, I saw Brianda ahead of me.

A river emptied into the ocean, cutting through the slight rise. Within the river valley was the town. The buildings huddled close to one another, some sharing common walls. The busy harbor bristled with docks, and moored boats of all sizes rocked on the gentle sea. I could feel the mainland in the distance, just out of sight on the horizon.

My goal was to find a ship that could sail me to Tillfallvik. It was only midday, so I could reach Markland by night. Surely Silveta would take me in because of the service I did her last midsummer. Hopefully I wouldn't have to wait long for Lexander to arrive.

I plunged down into the town. The warren of buildings and twisting streets confused me. I seemed to never get closer to the harbor. The echo of noiseâ€"shouts, horses clopping, rattling wheels, chisels falling on stoneâ€"rang in my head, making me long for the subtle sounds of the woods.

I stopped for a drink from a round rain barrel and was entranced by the tiny sprite living there. I bent over the dark pool crooning as the tiny fishlike sprite whispered back, until a woman chased me away, brandishing her broom after me. Her hair was tangled and hung around her lined face, but for all that, the sprite had said she was not old. Her red dress looked festive, but her apron was so soiled that Hallgerd would have beaten any slave who dared to wear it.

After that, I wandered around until I came upon a hand-cart piled with meat pastries. The man selling them had hands and a face that were gray with ground-in soot. The rich aroma of spices and mutton made my mouth water. I had gone too long without food.

Pulling out the packet of coins Lexander had given me, I found several slender silvers that looked much like the ones the people were handing the man. Holding one out gingerly, I waited until no one else was around before approaching him.

"What you want, girl?†he growled, looking me up and down.

I pointed wordlessly at the large meat pastries. He took the coin and tried to bend it. Grunting, he handed over two of the pastries into my greedy hands. I bit into the top one and let the juice spill down my chin. I filled my mouth gratefully, hardly chewing before swallowing.

"Get along with ye!†the man snapped, swiping at me with a large hand.

He missed me, deliberately perhaps, as I darted away. But I didn't go far. The food absorbed all of my attention as I wolfed down the final bite of the first pastry.

Then I realized there were others watching me, mostly young boys and girls who gathered under the eaves of the nearby houses out of the rain, watching the cart as I had done. I took a bite of the second pastry, thinking some of them looked nearly as hungry as I was. The gleam in their eyes made me wonder if they would try to snatch the food from my hand.

A boy not three paces from where I stood edged closer to me. He was skinny and the rough clouts on his feet and short cloak were as gray as the stone walls around us, or I would have noticed him earlier. He was the same age as my brother.

I broke the pastry in half, holding out one end in my hand. "Take me to the longships in the harbor and you can have this.†It was the same sort of

bargain I usually struck with the *olf*s.

He darted forward, snatching the pastry from my hand. I had hardly swallowed another bite before his half was gone, he ate so fast. His eyes shifted from side to side, watching as the others gawked at him enviously.

"Come on then, girlie,†he ordered, pulling his cloak closer around his waist as he set off. I hurried after him, noticing that his knobby knees were wider than his shins.

I could hardly keep up as he turned into alleyways I hadn't noticed, and scampered up and across a roof and down a slippery ladder leaning against the wall. With the boy's help, I reached the harbor in no time. When we appeared at the docks, he gave me a wave of his hand and left, much like an olf.

The docks were full of activity despite the falling rain, with people pushing cartloads and barrels of goods into the warehouses that lined the shore. Boxes and crates were piled everywhere, either waiting to be loaded or ready to be taken away. Bags of apples were stacked together in a pile under a canvas, the smell of them bearable only because I had stuffed myself with the savory meat pastries.

I went to the first dock and began asking the men working on the longships if they were traveling to Tillfallvik. Some were kind, but many yelled at me to get out of the way. I went to the next dock, ducking to avoid a group of oarsmen who were swearing loudly at having to return to work before nightfall.

At the third dock, an older woman directed me to a group of longships with painted hulls. "Theys go to the north, deary.â€

Several of the large seagoing boats were packed for a journey, and in one oarsmen were napping under the canopy in the stern. A grizzled man lounged on the dock, leaning against the first mooring post with his legs stretched out. The drops of rain ran off the brim of his round leather hat.

"Are you going to Tillfallvik?†I asked.

He looked me up and down, smoothing the brown beard covering his face. "Mayhap. Who wants to know?â€

"My name is Marja,†I explained. "I have to go to Tillfallvik. Tonight.â€

"Ye running away?â€

Startled, I replied, "No. I have to . . . see someone there.†His brown hands were as weathered and dark as the oars as he chafed them together, looking me up and down. I realized I was dressed much better than he. "A trip like that will cost ye, girl.â€

"l have coins.†I pulled out the parchment and jingled the coins together.

The man stood up, suddenly interested. He peered into the folded parchment, his finger stirring the half-dozen coins. "This would be enough to take you there,†he said, fishing out the larger pieces and leaving me the two remaining silvers.

I tried to take the coins from him, but he shook his head. "Ye be careful, freya. There's people here who would as soon shove you off the dock for your pains. If you've got coins, I can help ye, I can. Me name's Finn, and I can make sure ye get to Markland, yes I can.â€

Uneasily I glanced around, wondering which of the men were the ones he warned me about. "Where is your boat?†I asked.

"Here she be,†Finn replied, smacking his hand against the first longship. Its bright yellow hull was peeling and scraped, but it looked strong and ready for travel. The hold was packed with a mound of goods covered by a dirty canvas to keep the rain off. There was nobody inside. "Wait here for me, girl. l'Il round up me oarsmen.â€

He held my hand as I stepped inside the great boat. The rain was falling hard, and I was glad to get under the canopy. I sat down wearily on one of the hard benches that crossed the deck. I hadn't thought to ask Finn how long he would be. Slumping down, I hardly cared now that I had accomplished my goal. When I reached Tillfallvik, it should be easy to get to Silveta.

Finn disappeared into the bustle of the docks.

It was some time before I roused myself, hearing a low giggle coming from under the dock. I was surprised to see an *olf* hiding there. It jumped out and hopped onto the mooring post, then onto a nearby crate. Unlike the innocent woodsy *olfs*, this one seemed as hardened as the sailors I had seen, with a knowing squint to its eyes. Nobody else noticed it, of course. But I watched its antics from my place in the longship. The *olf* was pleased to have an audience, and it made two sailors stumble as they approached. They muttered irritably, and I had to put my hand over my mouth to hide my smile. I knew I shouldn't encourage the *olf* 's mischief, but it was curiosity not malice that drove the creatures.

"Hey, you!†one of the men shouted, pointing at me. "Get out of there!â€

They rushed toward me and I stood up, trying to assure them. "Finn told me wait here. He's gone to look for you and the other oarsmen. l'm going to Tillfallvik with you.â€

The taller man with a close-cropped blond beard jumped into the boat with me and took hold of my arm in a tight grip. "None of your tricks, now, girlie!â€

The other checked the knots on the rope. "Nothing's been bothered, mate. Looks like she was just taking a rest out of the rain.â€

"Finn told me to wait here,†I explained again, thinking they hadn't heard me. "l'm going to Tillfallvik with you.â€

The man shook me, angry despite the other's reassurance. "We're not going to Tillfallvik. We sail for Hop this night. Now get out before I call the guards.â€

I couldn't believe my ears. "But I paid Finn! He took my coins and told me to wait for him.â€

The younger man gave a harsh laugh. "He was supposed to be watching our cargo. You paid him well for his trouble, l'm sure!â€

I was pushed to the edge of the boat, and I stepped onto the dock back into the rain.

"Be gone from here!†the blond man shouted at me.

I backed away, unwilling to risk his wrath. But I didn't go far. I waited, crouching next to several barrels where I could watch the yellow boat. More than a dozen men arrived, but none of them were Finn. As my cloak grew sodden, they readied the longship to depart. Until they cast off the mooring rope and the oars lifted, I kept expecting Finn to appear. The yellow longship slid slowly away, the oars rising and dipping together until the ship was swallowed by the mist.

My hand went to the parchment in my pocket, knowing there were only two silvers left. I had done only as Finn told me to, but it had cost me everything.

Eight

I huddled in the midst of the barrels, unable to move for fear that something worse would happen to me. I had no more coins, no way to get to Tillfallvik. And if I didn't reach Tillfallvik, I couldn't find Lexander. It was too terrible to contemplate.

I kept staring at the empty slip where the yellow longship had been, as if willing it to reappear, ready to take me to Tillfallvik.

I was a fool. I should never have trusted Finn with my coins. He was no friend of mine like the *olfs* were. Lexander had told me I would need to take care of myself, but I had let my training in obedience interfere with my true duty. I swore to myself that I would never let it happen again, that I would be unwavering in my efforts to reach Tillfallvik, but my resolution did little to help me.

I wished I could flee as fast as I could into the woods, back to Vidaris. Back to Lexander's protecting arms. I knew I could do it, despite the dangers I would face on the journey.

But everything inside of me protested at the thought of entering that miasma of evil that blanketed Vidaris. My eyes had been opened, and now I could not ignore it. I would be even more vulnerable having acknowledged its presence and power. I also had no doubt that it would tell Helanas that I was near. Then her fury would be unleashed on me. What if she called back the winged ship to take me away from Lexander forever? No, I could not return to Vidaris.

Drenched and hungry, I was at a loss for what to do.

"Ho, you there!†a deep voice rang out near me.

I raised my head, seeing only the gray murky twilight, thick with rain.

Something jabbed into my shoulder, a jolting pain that barely pierced my shock. "Move it along,†ordered a muffled-up man. "You can't sleep here.â€

"But . . .†I stammered. "l'm waiting for a boat . . .â€

"Do your waiting elsewhere.†He batted me with his long ebony stick.

Struggling to my feet, I pleaded, "l don't have anywhere to go. What should I do?â€

His stick smacked the back of my legs. "Get off the docks! Move along now.â€

I did as he ordered, just as I did when Helanas hit me with her crop. I trudged wearily to the nearest archway with the man following to be sure I left.

In the waning light, I made my way past the houses and shops. I stopped when I could, crouched down next to a wall or under some stairs, then moved on whenever someone yelled at me. Eventually it got dark, and I shivered unseen under the narrow eave of an outbuilding.

I didn't feel any otherworldly presence. All the stone walls blocked me from sensing anything beyond. I was more alone than I had ever been before. I dozed off and on, always more exhausted with no relief in sight. It was the longest night of my life.



My two silvers didn't last long in Brianda. My cloak and boots weren't stolen off my body only because I fought to keep them, flailing my arms and scratching with my fingers whenever someone tried to wrest them from me. I often awoke to find peopleâ€"men, women, and youthsâ€"digging into my pockets as I lay in an alleyway or on a stoop behind a shop. When I was back in the fens dreaming of what the world would hold, I had never imagined this would happen. I realized that Helanas was not the worst I had to fear.

Then I stumbled across a lane on the upriver side of Brianda, lined with cottages and a few imposing stone buildings. Every wall was covered in vines growing thick with leaves and flowers. Feathery ferns lined the street, which was packed with gravel and was well drained.

People lolled in windows and doors, calling out to passersby. I felt as if I had stumbled onto a training session in full swing, and with a rising excitement knew exactly what was going on behind these walls. The pleasure doxies were of all ages, from matrons and wiry elders to maidens barely out of childhood. They wore rich fabrics and scanty clothing, some Oriental in cut. Jewels highlighted their best features, hanging around their bare chests and exposed hips.

I was elated at my find. I had been trained to perform any service the mind or body could possibly desire. Whatever these cheerful pleasure tarts could give, so could I. And more. Did they know the place to massage just before climax that made a man's entire body spasm in delight? Did they know the hidden core of delight that could drive a woman mad? I did, and I could earn coins with that knowledgeâ€"enough coins to take me to Tillfallvik.

This would be my salvation. I drifted along with the stream of visitors. Many were men, but there were also women, single and in couples. They appraised each other, and even I came into scrutiny though I was hardly an attractive sight. My hair was tangled and my face and clothes were fouled. But I could fix that.

I retreated to a roof that I had found earlier with a cistern on top to catch the rain. It was capped now that the sun was out, but I shifted the lid aside to reach the water. It was not a very satisfactory washing without brushes or soap, but it was enough to make my cheeks shine and my hair wave tightly at my face. I raked my fingers through the rest, leaving it long and, with luck, looking alluringly tousled as if fresh from bed. I even washed my boots and tried to clean off my pants and stained cloak.

When I returned to the pleasure quarter, I folded my cloak back over my shoulders, showing the lining of dark green, which still looked fairly decent. I undid the lacings over my chest, exposing a deep V-shape swath of creamy skin and the cleft between my breasts.

Almost immediately I was accosted by a man. He wordlessly considered me from head to foot, as I lifted my face and moved closer to let him smell my eagerness. The others flowed around us. He was older, with a sagging belly and narrow, shrewd eyes. His white, straggling beard was stained yellow by tobacco juice.

"You, for how much?†he asked abruptly.

I hadn't considered it. "The usual.â€

He let out a short bark, "What's that? Two silvers?â€

"Yes,†I agreed, not knowing how much that was. Anything would be good.

"Where's your house?â€

"l . . . don't have a house.†Seeing him lose interest, I quickly added, "Surely you live near hereâ€"â€

"And bring the pleasure masters down on me? Not for a rouge like you.â€

Then he was gone. It wasn't long before I found out who the pleasure masters were. I was yelled at and shoved whenever I tried to negotiate with a patron. Burly men burst out of the larger houses to pummel me away with their fists. One grabbed me and tried to drag me back inside with him, but I fought him, bursting out in a frenzy of punches and kicks. I drove him off, baring my teeth like an animal, and soon enough he retreated, shaking his head in disgust. I didn't care what they thought of me as long as I kept my freedom. If I was taken by one of these pleasure masters, I would have trouble getting away.

After that, I hung around the edges of the pleasure quarter rather than risk going inside. But the shopkeepers and matrons also yelled at me, trying to shove me back in, calling me everything from "daughter of delight†to "filthy kunta.†It confused me because I had come to think highly of my services. Certainly the guests at Ejegod's estate last midsummer had honored us. But these people twisted their faces in disgust, shoving me with brooms and brandishing pokers. It was worse than when I merely tried to sleep in their neglected crevices and corners.

But I managed to attract a potential patron even as I scurried from spot to spot. He was not much older than I, an attractive young man with close-cropped, silky chestnut hair on his chin and cheeks. His square and sturdy hands made me nearly swoon in delight.

He responded to the honest interest in my eyes. Yet he glanced down the street where the other pleasurefolk were waiting, as if intending to see what dainties were being offered before choosing amongst us.

I moved closer, loath to lose this one. "l can do anything you desire, *freyr*. Just tell me what you long for, and I will give it to you.†My hands slid up his strong arms, savoring the hardness of his lean chest beneath his shirt. My hip brushed his thigh, promising much more to come. I was ready to fall to my knees and press my face against his groin to entice him into taking me.

"Yes, yes!†he agreed eagerly. "Show me to your place.â€

I jerked my head to the alley behind me. It was dank and smelled from the offal flung out the windows. "We can go there . . .â€

His eyes widened at the unappealing sight. Then he looked back down at me, seeing the desperation in my face. "Please, kind freyr—â€

"Oh, you poor girl,†he murmured, disengaging himself from me. I fell to my knees, reaching out after him as he strode into the pleasure quarter. Tears of frustration spilled from my eyes, but I didn't have time to mourn. I was chased from the street by yet another shouting shopkeeper.

When I finally found a patron who would put up with a quick suck in an alley, I should have known it would be horrid. From his brown weathered face and hands, and his salt-smelling clothes, he was clearly an oarsman from the dock. He was nearly as dirty as I, so perhaps he didn't care what I looked like or that we did it in a nook in the wall. With a few mumbled words, he set the price at one silver.

An olf appeared behind him as I breathlessly agreed. The olf bobbed back and forth, agitated. Its eyes were wide, showing too much white around its silver pupils. It wouldn't come closer, probably because the man was infected with noxious spirits. But I was starving and the sight of the coin sent all reason flying from my head. I went into the alley with the oarsman and let him do what he wanted with me. His hands were rough and when I tried to pull away from his stout tarse to breathe, he smacked my face hard several times, bringing tears to my eyes. He shoved himself into my mouth and down my throat over and over again, leaving me limp and my face wet. I had to reach to that deepest place inside of myself that could not be overwhelmed no matter what I endured. He seemed to take much longer than he needed, but finally he spent himself inside me.

With the silver I was able to get food to fill my flat belly. Then I curled up again in the street for another long, miserable night. My cheek throbbed as a reminder of the pain my patrons would bring to me.

And so it went, as I tried to live by selling my body to any who would take it. I eventually moved down near the docks where there were a few other street doxies, since only oarsmen were willing to take us. We were all hard-beaten by the wind and rain, and were filthy to varying degrees. Some men used me, then stole back what they had given me, despite my screams of anguish and frenzied pursuit. Others were kind enough to give me an extra silver when they saw how wretched I was. Sometimes the *olfs* warned me against a man, and after the bruises left on my face by my first horrible patron, I listened and fled. I was barely surviving, coughing from the chill air and constantly hungry.

Once an oarsman was kind enough to let me sleep in the room he rented for the night, hardly bigger than the narrow bed and resounding with the noise of snores and arguments in the berths around us. But it was divine to sleep warm beneath a blanket, and my boots dried for the first time since I had left Vidaris. After that, I began to bargain for a place to sleep along with a silver, realizing I was selling myself cheaper than anyone else in Brianda. Surely I was worth more than that!

After too many dismal days of this, I finally met Gudren of Sigurdssons. I was down on the docks, having become adept at finding places to hide, usually with help from the playful *olfs*. So I saw the beautiful longship sail in. The long sweeping planks of the hull were polished to a high gloss, and the carving of a mermaid on the prow and stern was of the most superior kind. There was a sudden interest on the docks at its arrival.

It moored with a flourish of the oars in unison. The blue sail was folded down on a vast crossbar. The boat was lean with a shallow draft.

Gudren was not the first to leap off, but he was the one who caught my eye. He stood back and watched, his bare hands on his hips, as the captain shouted orders to the oarsmen to secure the longship. Gudren's cloak was lined with sky-blue silk, and his thick boots were made of shiny black beaver. His flaxen hair curled at his shoulders, held back from his face by a wide leather band around his forehead.

What caught my eye was that he was clean-shaven, like my master. His generous mouth and square jaw were exposed for all to see. I had been scraped raw by the hair on men's faces, and I disliked how it hid their most pleasing features. I was captivated by Gudren. So were several *olfs*, who tumbled out of warehouses and from under the docks, gathering to cavort around the tall man. He didn't notice them, but they wanted to be near him.

When Gudren left his men unloading the goods packed into the longship, I hurried over, intercepting him at the archway to town. I was staring frankly, the admiration clear in my eyes. As he strolled by me, his lip quirked in a smile.

Encouraged, I clasped my hands to my breast and called out, "l will do anything to please you, Master. Take me into your bed and I will not leave you unsatisfied.â€

The honorific slipped out without thought because his bearing reminded me so much of Lexander.

Gudren lifted his brows in wonder, breaking his stride. Like so many of the other men, he looked me up and down as if unsure whether I was a doxy. The ones on the pleasure lane were beautiful in sheer silks and skirts that were split to show their legs. By rights I looked as if I should be mucking out a byre.

"Truly,†I murmured, not daring to touch him as I had with the others. "I can give you anything you desire.â€

"A tempting offer, my dear,†Gudren acknowledged, but his eyes slid toward the road. "But it will have to be another time.â€

He went on, leaving me standing there. His cloak flipped up, showing the blue underside, like a bright summer's sky. I don't know what came over me, but I couldn't let him disappear into the crowd. I followed him. An *olf* came along, as drawn to Gudren as I was.

Gudren strode through the shops, greeted with waves and shouted offers to sell him everything from fresh fried eels to waxed sail thread. I trailed along after him, remembering with a sharp pang how the shopkeepers in Tillfallvik had similarly hailed Lexander as befitting his high status.

As I watched him, I knew this man would be a patron worthy of my talents. I could not let him elude me. This was no time to let my submissive tendencies run free. I would have to win Gudren's attention.

Gudren disappeared into a building with a round stone tower at one corner and a snug, timbered roof over the rest. It was several stories high, with bow windows on every floor. It could have easily been the home of a magnate, even a prince. I thought it was Gudren's estate, but then I noticed the small signboard near the double doors. The *olf* followed him inside as people entered and left. I squatted at the base of the steps and no one paid any attention to me. I waited a long time while Gudren was inside, but I felt no urge to give up. I was as focused as a hawk on its prey.

When Gudren emerged, I smiled up at him, letting my eyes light up with joy. He seemed preoccupied, but when he noticed me his lip quirked again in spite of himself. He ran down the steps and up the road.

I followed him as he turned into a market street. He glanced over the goods displayed on open carts, disdaining to examine anything until he saw a pile of pelts. The white ice-bear hide interested him the most. The merchant knew it and dickered hard on the price. Gudren seemed irritated at one point, shaking his head and putting down the pelt to leave, but the merchant called him back and quickly settled. The large hide was folded and rolled to protect the fur, and the merchant tied it with two thongs. It made a bulky bundle that Gudren slung over his shoulder.

I ran forward. "May I carry that for you, freyr?†I offered, using the correct honorific this time. "No need for you to labor.â€

He had to shift the bundle to see me. "ls that you again?â€

"l am here to serve you,†I said honestly.

"l'm sure I would see the last of you if I gave you this fur,†he retorted.

I didn't understand his meaning at first. Then I vehemently denied it. "Never would I steal from you! I have suffered much from thievery.â€

He looked at me closely for the first time. "Where's your master, girl?â€

My mouth opened, ready to confess everything. But I remembered Lexander had ordered, "Don't tell anyone you are a pleasure slave.†I couldn't disobey.

"Come, come,†Gudren urged. "Surely you're a slave. I won't be dealing with a runaway, if that's what you think.â€

"I haven't run away!†I denied. "Believe me when I tell you, l've done nothing wrong. I want only to help you as I know I can so well.â€

He assessed me again with his eyes, and as I learned later, Gudren was a savvy businessman who could judge a man's character in one glance. I had not that skill, and relied on the otherworldly creatures to help guide me through the maze of people's hearts. The *olf* that hovered at Gudren's shoulder told me that this man was true.

"l'll not take it kindly if you try to run away,†Gudren warned me. "You see I have friends in Brianda, and l'll have you hunted down and punished if you try.â€

"l would never do that,†I swore, looking him straight in the eyes. I couldn't understand how such a perceptive man couldn't see the *olf* at his shoulder, giggling at me.

After that, I trailed behind Gudren carrying all the bundles he passed to me. Nobody noticed me when I was by his side and following his orders.

After he was done shopping, Gudren took me to a large inn on one end of the harbor, a place I had seen before but never imagined I would enter. He fed me a rich stew in a terra-cotta bowl and offered to let me wash in the basin in his room. I quickly cleansed myself, expecting him to return at any moment.

I purposely did not dress again, to show him my readiness. I would do anything to please him.

But when Gudren entered and we were finally alone, he merely smiled to see me in the flesh. He didn't take me as my master would have. Instead, Gudren sat on the large bed draped in red curtains, his arms crossed expectantly, more amused than not by his smile. "l can see you have something in mind.â€

For a moment, I was unsure. Then I remembered my training, which Lexander had always said would carry me through. I sank down into *gesig*, with my head bowed in surrender. Then I moved slowly through the poses Helanas had taught us. Rosarin and I had learned how to make a dance of our poses, echoing each other's bending and pointing, raising our nethersides to be viewed. It was not as pretty when I was alone, but I threw my heart into it, making each movement graceful and alluring.

In the end, I remained in a standing pose, one leg bent, my hip thrusting to one side, emphasizing the curves of my body and my arms reaching out to him. There was a long moment, then Gudren languidly applauded. He didn't take his eyes off me, but he remained where he was.

So I went over and knelt at his feet. I untied the laces of his boots and pulled them off. I knew he was looking down at my bare back, gleaming in the candlelight. Then I untied his shirt and pulled it over his head.

He reclined back on the bed, putting one hand behind his head. He still made no effort to touch me though I was leaning over him. So I let my breasts graze his chest as I moved down to his pants. They were tied front and back, standard sailing gear. My hands moved slower as I pulled the tie loose. He was breathing hard now, watching my every move.

I tugged on the heavy leather pants, and he lifted his hips so I could take them down. His body was nearly as smooth as Lexander's, with fine silky hair in the hollow of his chest and dusting his groin. Still he didn't try to touch me.

So I leaned over him, barely letting my nipples graze his skin. His eyes closed briefly as his tarse stirred, growing turgid.

Moving languidly, I skimmed his body with light fingertips from his head down his chest and stomach, then along each leg to the base of his feet. I kept stroking him, slowly and delicately, letting my nails scrape him only when he became flushed and his body began to twist. I tantalized him, setting his entire body alight with sensation.

When I finally neared his *tarse*, blowing gently as I rubbed my cheek against him, he let out a moan. As I continued brushing against him, his hands clenched in the bedclothes as his hips bucked, as if he longed to grab hold of me but didn't want me to stop. I was breathing faster now, too, caught up in his response.

When I thought we would both explode from this simple touch, he couldn't restrain himself any longer. He growled, "Mount me, now!†as his hands pulled my hips to his, my legs straddling either side.

I sank onto him and I finally let go. His hands moved me up and down. I rocked hard until I fell forward, resting on his chest as he thrust into me. My mouth was on his neck, breathing the manly scent of him, as he moaned in release.

I lay on top of him as he held me there, luxuriating in satisfaction. He stroked me absently, smoothing the moisture on my skin. Then he rolled me over so I was tucked under the blanket with him. I fell asleep contented.



I never took money from Gudren. Not that night or the two that followed as I stayed with him at the inn, following him during the day as he went about his business. He fed me well and even purchased my first long dress for me to wear when he tired of seeing my suede pants. He told me about his family, the Sigurdssons, who owned a trading fleet that operated out of Djarney. He traveled up and down the coast as far south as the citrus fields and all the way back to the kingdoms of the Auldland. I asked many questions and delighted in his adventurous tales.

The day he told me he was returning to his estate in Djarney, the northernmost island of Viinland, I cried. I couldn't help it. Tears coursed down my cheeks at the thought of being alone again, starving and chased from one filthy hole to another.

"You'II come with me,†Gudren declared. I flung my arms around him, knowing I had accomplished what I had set out to do. Gudren was a good man, I knew that now even without the *olfsâ€*™ approval. He treated me well, and though I was supposed to go to Tillfallvik, I had failed to reach it from Brianda. I could very well die here if Gudren deserted me. My only way out of Brianda was with Gudren.

So as I boarded Gudren's longship for the journey, I stared at the town that had nearly defeated me. Gudren allowed me to sit with him under the fringed canopy on a cushioned bench. His men covertly examined me, sitting so demurely in my full cotton skirt that was dyed lavender like my favorite flower in the fens.

Then once again I was on the open sea, leaving Fjardemano behind. I concentrated on the rolling waves and soon I was linked with the sea spirits, wallowing in their never-ending motion, twisting and turning. Gudren didn't expect much from me, so he let me sit there in a daze, telling the spirits of my escape from Vidaris and suffering in Brianda. In turn they showed me Lexander on the dock; I was not sure if he had just returned from a voyage or was readying to depart Vidaris.

In this way, the day passed quickly. I had mead to drink when I was thirsty, plenty to eat, and Gudren's warmth to lean against when the wind picked up.

But the sight of land ahead broke me from my trance. It was a gentle rise of tree-covered hills with a flat shoreline. The boat sailed into a deep bay with knolls on either side and a channel of water ahead. It went on for some time, and I was surprised when the channel opened up into the ocean again.

The oarsmen rowed into a perfectly calm bay within the channel, surrounded on every side by gentle hills reflecting in the waters. Trees flowed along the inclines and dotted the broad lawns. White-painted buildings perched here and there, taking advantage of the beautiful views.

We sailed around a wooded headland, and there were busy docks with *knaars* and longships moored. More boats were anchored out in the bay. Warehouses waited to receive goods, reminding me of Brianda. But there was no town, only a scattering of serviceable buildings and paddocks.

"This is the Sigurdssons estate,†Gudren proudly declared.

" 'Tis beautiful,†I said honestly. I knew there would be olfs on this land.

When we docked, Gudren lifted me from the boat though I could have leaped out on my own. "Carry that,†he ordered, thrusting the ice-bear fur into my arms. Except for his traveling case, he left everything else in the longship for his men to deal with.

He led me through the warehouses and sheds, up a road to the estate proper. Each building we passed was much larger than it looked from the water. The walls were made of clapboards laid one on top of the other, and the peaked roofs were covered in overlapping shingles.

When Gudren finally led me inside one, I discovered the floors were also wooden. Brass lamps hung from the rafters of the large open room. A good fire burned in the hearth, but there was no kitchen to speak of, merely a kettle for water and a basket of red apples on a table. A rack along one wall was hung with wool that had been dyed bright shades of green, yellow, and blue. I went to touch the soft strands in admiration. A long table was littered with objects, to which Gudren added his cloak and pigskin traveling case.

Gudren urged me to be silent as we climbed up the steps to a loft. It was completely enclosed for privacy. A busty woman turned from tying on her cap at the mirror. "ls that you, Gudren?†she exclaimed, rushing to hug him. "They didn't ring the bell! When did you return?â€

"l wanted to surprise you, my darling,†Gudren exclaimed. "Did you think I wouldn't come to see you first?â€

I smiled at the joy in their reunion. Obviously this was Gudren's wife. She beamed at him, her round cheeks and dimpled chin making her look younger than her years.

Gudren laid a passionate kiss on her lips, and I was heartened to see how aggressive he could be. When he bedded me, he was always quiescent, expecting me to please him. It little mattered to him if I took pleasure myself.

"l've some gifts for you, Alga,†Gudren assured her, holding her tight. He gestured toward me.

Alga's eyes went round. "What have you done, you beastly man?â€

"Show her,†Gudren urged me.

I remembered the ice-bear fur in my arms, and I struggled to untie it under their amused eyes. I flung it out on the ground, letting the white fur glow in the lamplight. My fingers sank into it to show how deep it was.

"Ohh . . .†Alga moaned.

Gudren helped her sit down on the plush fur. She stroked it, lying down luxuriantly. "Gorgeous!†She looked up at me slyly. "And her?â€

"For you, as well, my lovely.†Gudren kneeled down on the fur, his hands at her waist. "Do you approve?â€

She examined me from her recumbent pose. "You must approve,†she teased, "or you would never have brought her here.â€

Gudren laughed again. He ordered me, "Marja, give pleasure to my wife as you have with me.â€

I was surprised, though I shouldn't have been. I smiled shyly down at Alga. "l do as l'm told, *freya*.â€

She stretched her arms out, rolling slightly toward me. "Then I suppose you should get on with it.â€

I knelt down beside Alga and leaned over to give her a soft kiss. Lexander had taught us that the lips were the gateway to pleasure. I suspected it was

so with her. Alga responded with warmth tinged with a pleasant wonder at her husband's gift. I could tell I was not the first woman he had brought home to his bride.

I lightly pulled the satin tie that held her robe closed. It opened and her abundant breasts spilled out. I undid the one at her waist and the robe parted over her curved belly. Her waist was small and her hips widely flaring, with thighs like pillows. I was used to my slave-mates, who were tall and lean; even Helanas had no extra flesh on her strong body. But touching Alga was like sinking into a feather bed. She was so white and soft that I hardly knew where she ended and the silky bear fur began.

Gudren undressed, then came over to remove my clothes. I let him strip me while I concentrated on Alga, stroking and kissing her from her forehead down to her toes. She responded quite differently than Gudrenâ€"wiggling, gasping, and moving under every feather touch. I teased her, knowing exactly what she needed from the way she moved. It was an effortless joy to stroke her to ecstasy.

The house *olfs* joined us, whirling around in pleasure. They apparently enjoyed a lot of vicarious delight here. Gudren and Alga had no inhibitions or hesitation in being intimate with me. Gudren lay on his side, watching me touch his wife, pleased at her rapid breath and arcing back. His own passion was clear as he stroked himself.

Then Alga let out a guttural cry. "l can't stand it anymore!†With that, she grabbed Gudren and rolled on top of him. "l must have you

It was my turn to lie beside them, my arousal building as Alga rode Gudren. She took him fiercely, and I saw that was the way Gudren liked it. He kissed her breasts, his hands at her hips, stroking her generous thighs. She moved like a woman possessed, drawing him deep inside of her.

I touched myself, feeling the dampness between my legs. They climaxed together, Gudren allowing himself release only when Alga began to cry out.

When they collapsed, I lay back and smiled at them both. I had not climaxed, but that was not unusual when I bedded Gudren.

But Alga turned to me while she was still breathing hard. "Now for you.â€

"l am very happy,†I told her honestly.

"Yes, but *lâ*€™*m* not satisfied yet,†she retorted.

Alga straddled my hips much as she had done with Gudren. I was a tall, well-made girl, but Alga held me down easily. She rubbed her groin into mine, slowly bumping me. Her fingers pulled on my nipples, twisting and turning them until the rush of blood made me gasp out loud. Gudren grabbed my wrists and held them over my head, a sly grin on his face.

As Alga humped me, she panted into my face, "You'Il come when I tell you to.â€

I almost swooned right there. The tugging on my breasts, Gudren's hands holding me down, the rhythmic grinding, her breathy order . . .

But Alga was not done, so I struggled to hold back. I wanted to please her . . .

When she felt me slip and start to tense my body, peaking despite my best intentions, she bent down and whispered, "Now.â€

I needed nothing more than that. I let everything float away as I wallowed in ecstasy. Gudren kissed Alga over me, his tongue deep in her mouth. All I knew was that it felt better than anything had in a very long while.

The three of us dozed off lying on the bear fur, with Alga cradled in the middle.

Nine

I soon learned that Gudren and Alga were not a solitary couple like Lexander and Helanas. The Sigurdssons were an extensive family, with cousins, second cousins, great-aunts, babies of all sizes, and a matriarch who ruled over everyone with an iron fist. This grandmother was statuesque though she was at least six decades old. Her bright yellow hair rivaled that of her daughters and granddaughters. The clan intermarried, as I discovered when Alga laughingly referred to Gudren as *kusin*.

Every meal in the communal hall was like a fete, with laughter and noise at its highest pitch. They gathered twice a day to feast together. The family houses and servants' halls were scattered through the hills, connected by well-maintained roads. The barracks for the oarsmen were down by the commercial port, out of sight from the rest of the estate. As I explored farther afield, enjoying the freedom Alga gave me, I was surprised to find there were barely enough gardens and groves to provide fresh vegetables and fruit for the family, servants, and slaves. In truth, nearly all of their food came from trade.

I became Alga's companion, more a pet than a maid. I slept on a mat in their room, and I helped Alga dress and bathe. I was not truly a slave, but I was not paid a wage like a servant. I watched how the others treated me to learn my status, yet it remained unclear. Servants did as I asked only if I was passing on orders from Gudren or Alga, yet I was free to call them both by their first names while the others used *freyr* and *freya*.

Their kin mostly ignored me except when I was pleasuring them. I was passed among them, and sometimes when I was caught running an errand for Alga, they indulged themselves with me right there, taking advantage of bushes and lean-tos where we were partially hidden. It was exciting, their heightened sense of urgency and the chance that someone would catch us in the act.

I continued to please Alga and Gudren together and separately. Gudren was usually passive, allowing me to explore his body to discover the means to tantalize him. Sometimes Alga joined me in stroking him, quickly picking up on my trained techniques, such as *fotternoje*, the art of tantalizing the feet with both mouth and hands. He moaned as we each sucked his toes, his entire body tensing in passion.

I most enjoyed pleasuring Alga. Her soft, curvy body was extraordinary. I could sink into her milky white breasts or cushion my head on her belly, breathing her lush womanly scent. Usually she was the aggressor with me, making me climax again and again as if I were a new toy to be endlessly played with. She never said a harsh word to me, so I relaxed under her hand and trusted her.

As for my other duties, Alga quickly found I was useless when it came to helping her sew, knit, or weave, so I was mostly relegated to fetching and carrying things. No one expected me to scrub the floor or tend the garden. I had nothing to do many days but watch the *olfs* play. They were everywhere, going about their games unseen by everyone in the family except the youngest. I played with the children on the estate a great deal, I must confess, enjoying their purity of sight. I understood why the *olfs* in Brianda could sense Gudren's rich heritage. It made me realize what Vidaris could have been, a hum of activity and amusement for the *olfs*, if only Helanas had not blighted the land with her malevolence, allowing evil spirits to gather.

It was easy and pleasant living in the Sigurdssons' estate, but I was always thinking of Lexander. One morning, as Alga embroidered yellow daisies on a pretty round collar, I tried to explain to her. "l was on my way to Tillfallvik that day when Gudren found me.â€

She looked down at me, sitting on the floor brushing her favorite dog to remove its heavy winter coat. "Gudren thinks you've run away from your master.â€

There it was againâ€"I couldn't tell them I was a pleasure slave, so how could I explain about Lexander? I could hardly form my words around a lie, I felt such trust and affection for them.

Seeing me hesitate, Alga leaned closer, lowering her voice. "Don't think I blame you, Marja. I know about men. l'm sure if you of all people suffered enough to rebel, it must have been severe indeed. You can confide in me.â€

"l've always been obedient†was all I could say about that. She pursed her lips in disappointment when I didn't spill out a gory tale of my slavery. But I had an idea of how to explain. " 'Tis love that calls me to Tillfallvik. I must go there or l'll miss my beloved. He gave me the coins to sail there, but I was robbed most cruelly or I would be with him now.â€

Alga considered me anew. Her round, red-cheeked face was serious. "You are so young to know anything of love, Marja.â€

"Many girls my age marry.â€

"Yes, but love takes time. Has your father countenanced this marriage?â€

Again, I would have to be evasive. "My da gave me to him.â€

Her brows went up very high. "So you are married already?â€

"No.â€

She shook her head at that, uneasy at the gaps in my story. What father would give his daughter to a man yet let her remain unmarried? What man would leave his naà ve lover in the rough port town of Brianda, expecting her to follow him across the sea? I sat there, awkwardly silent with too much to tell. One thing I had learned was that these Sigurdssons were shrewd at obtaining what they wanted. If my desire conflicted with theirs, I knew who would win. My only real safety lay in concealment, a lesson well learned from the *olfs*.

"l will speak to Gudren about this,†Alga assured me.



That night, I was sent to service one of Alga's brothers. He was my own age, and he spent himself far too quickly. I should have prolonged his delight, but my mind was with Alga and Gudren. They were discussing my request, and in my preoccupation with that, I could not attend properly to her brother. But he was too young to know any better and was pleased with his prowess. He boasted of it a bit as he took me again the next morning.

When I returned to their house, I waited for Alga to broach the subject. In this case, a show of subservience would serve me well.

Gudren was preparing his gear to travel south on a business trip to Hop. I thought they had forgotten about my tale of love. But before he left, Gudren bade me good-bye, grasping me by the chin. "Alga tells me of this silly passion you have, Marja. But that man isn't worthy of you. If your father only knew the state you were in when I found you, he would agree. You are much better off here with us. So let's have no more talk of leaving.â€

My mouth opened in a protest. "But I belong with him.â€

"You belong with us now,†Alga insisted soothingly. "What do you expect us to do? Send you to Tillfallvik and drop you at the marketplace to

look for this brute? Surely you can see how impossible it is.â€

"Why he abandoned you in Brianda, I may never know,†Gudren added with a shake of his head. "But he does not deserve your love, Marja.â€

He turned away from me to kiss Alga farewell. He would be gone for a handful of days, and I knew he had brought me to the estate to help keep his wife from pining for him. Of all the men in the Sigurdsson family, he was the one who most often traveled to their trade destinations, perhaps because they were the only couple who didn't have children. They were kindly folks, and I had relied on that in telling them my story, only to have it turn against me in the end. They truly thought they were doing what was best for me.

But I was no longer the gullible girl who had given Finn my coins. I kept my churning feelings hidden from Alga as we went with Gudren to wave from the dock. It must have worked because she never mentioned it again during the days that followed. Sometimes I ran down the road to the docks to look longingly at the boats, wondering which ones were sailing north to Markland. The oarsmen were too busy to pay attention to me, but I could never sneak aboard one of those open ships without being detected.

One day, I even ventured into the woods around the compound, finding that they were much the same as those on Fjardemano. I longed to set off, ready to strike out on my own and walk all the way to Tillfallvik, but the Nauga Sea lay between me and my destination. It would be impossible to swim that far.

So I settled into my place in the Sigurdssons' estate. Gudren returned from his trip, and everything went on as usual. Soon it seemed that I had known nothing other than this soft way of life with plenty of pretty clothes and a respected place in their home.

Then I got a friendly hint from one of my favorite olfs. I was leaving the communal hall in the gloaming when I saw the moon hanging just over the treetops. Its pregnant shape was waxing, looking much larger than usual, tinted a rich yellow color.

As I gaped at it, wondering what the moon god sought to be so low, the *olf* appeared beside my head. This one often let me see its tiny hands as it tangled the yarn Alga dyed, leaving her scolding the cat as the *olf* laughed. This time it spoke to me. â€æ*Midsummer summons!*â€

In that instant, I remembered how I had danced around the huge bonfire in celebration of the Norogods in Tillfallvik. I could almost see Silveta in the role of Freya, slicing the snowy dove's neck and spilling crimson blood on the altar.

"Midsummer,†I murmured. I had forgotten it was nigh, and now the moon said it was only a few days away. It had been a year ago that Silveta had asked me to help her and I had been raped and beaten by Birgir.

With that vivid memory on my mind, I wasn't surprised when Gudren brought up Tillfallvik when we three were alone by their fire. "Now, Marja, you've given up this wild idea of finding your paramour, have you not? Tillfallvik is no place for you to be alone. Why, it's far more savage than Brianda!â€

"She never speaks of it,†Alga assured him.

"l am happy here with you,†I admitted honestly if not fully.

"The Sigurdssons have been invited this year to Markland's midsummer feast.†Gudren paused, gauging my reaction.

I silently blessed the *olf* for its warning, or l'm sure my eagerness would have been clear. Now I simply gazed back at him as if it mattered little to

"The chieftain is ready to expand their trade and has asked me to come negotiate terms with him,†Gudren explained to Alga. "I think you would enjoy it very much. And l'm loath to leave our Marja here alone for that many days.â€

"Let's take her with us,†Alga agreed. "She will be a great help to me.â€

They both looked at me expectantly. "l would be glad to go with you.â€

Satisfied, they began to make their plans to leave. I had to tamp down on my excitement to keep them from suspecting. Instead, I feigned interest in the dresses Alga chose for us to wear during the festivities and which gifts would be best to take to the chieftain.

But deep inside, all I could think about was Lexander. I only hoped it was not too late. I had spent nearly a moon with the Sigurdssons, and half that long in Brianda. What if my master had already gone to Tillfallvik and had given up hope of finding me?

* * *

When we finally set sail, it was a relief to allow myself to become entranced by the sea spirits. Gudren remembered I had been similarly enthralled on my way from Brianda, with glazed eyes and a faint smile on my lips, replying to no one's inquiries. He assured Alga that I was merely beguiled by the rhythm of the waves and would return to myself once we landed.

Indeed, when we passed the islands that speckled the mouth of the narrow bay of Tillfallvik, I broke away from the spirits. The town looked small and drab after all I had seen in Viinland. The buildings were low, and most were sunk underground with sod walls and dirt floors. The town covered the hills near the waterfront, and the woods on the taller hills beyond looked barren compared to the lushness of Djarney. But I never could agree with Sverker that it was a place of little importance because it was the living heart of Markland.

From the moment I set foot off the boat, Gudren clasped one hand around my arm, keeping me close by his side. Our boxes were carried by the oarsmen through the open marketplace that lined the waterfront. It nearly rivaled Brianda for the energetic bustle of its merchants. But this town was dirtier, with trash left to rot where it was flung and livestock living in rooms beside the townsfolk.

I had no urge to try to get away from Gudren and Alga. My goal was the same as theirs—Ejegod's estate. But they didn't suspect that. Once we were through the gates, which closed behind us, Gudren relaxed and finally released me. I felt a deep pang of guilt, knowing that I was not telling these good people the truth. It wasn't right, but my goal was to reach Lexander despite all obstacles, even the most loving ones.

As we walked through the estate, I was nearly bowled over by *olfs*. Gudren and Alga were busy with their porters and finding our lodgings, so I waved my hands at the *olfs*, grinning at their welcome. They were such a merry crew and had entertained me mightily during the last midsummer celebration. One of these *olfs* had used me to save Silveta, though she knew it not. I had not felt betrayed when it lured me into trouble. But I had been sorely hurt when the *olfs* hadn't appeared to comfort me while Birgir beat me, or when I had to face the chieftain. I had hoped that they approved of my service, and now by their joyous flips and flourishes, I was sure of it.

We were taken to a different longhouse than the one in which I had stayed the first time. We were quite a distance from Silveta's closet, and under Alga and Gudren's watchful eye, I realized it would not be easy for me to reach her.



I didn't see Silveta until that night, seated at the table raised on the dais. In the center was Chieftain Ejegod, somewhat shrunken in his imposing chair

made of walrus tusks and cushioned by snow-lynx fur. I did not remember his legs and arms being so slight, though his belly swelled just as grandly. He was fretful, picking at his food, his hand shaking as he downed cup after cup of wine. His bleary eyes stared out into the hall, but seemed to recognize no one.

Silveta sat erect beside him, never looking at her husband though they ate from the same trencher. Her garments were lovely, as always, but the sheer white veil couldn't hide the stiffness of her shoulders. The last time I had seen her thus, she had radiated a graceful reserve. Now she seemed ready to bolt at the slightest noise. Her fingers were clenched tightly around her mother-of-pearl knife.

The *olfs* tugged at her gold-embroidered skirt and plucked at the cord that held her purse to her belt. But they couldn't rouse her interest. I wondered at that because the *olfs* had claimed her for their own. Yet there were not as many otherworldly creatures frolicking in the hall compared to last midsummer. I saw only a few among the colorful banners decorated with bulls that hung from the rafters.

There was no one from Vidaris in the hall. Likely the exile still held, and they had received no invitation this year. Until that moment, I had hoped peace had been made and Lexander would be seated here waiting for me. Even if Helanas was by his side, I would have been overjoyed. But I had no such luck.

I sat with Gudren and Alga, unafraid that I would be recognized as the slave accused of sorcery by Birgir last midsummer. Who would associate that wanton, naked girl with me in my long plaid skirt and demure braid? The only one I feared would see through my guise was—Birgir.

Birgir strode into the hall as if he owned the place, his long ax hanging at his waist. Men called out to him from every table, and the dogs came running at his whistle. Everyone watched Birgir as if the chieftain himself were arriving. It made me cringe in shame to see him claim the chair of honor next to Ejegod as if it were his right. His wool shirt was finer than I remembered, but the large links of the silver chain and the fat, knotted cross were the same. He was paler, having lost the windblown redness he had gained from fighting in Danelaw with his warriors. In comparison to Gudren, Birgir was as coarse as a burly peasant while the Sigurdssons looked like the true *jarls*.

I cowered down behind Alga, letting her plush body hide me. How could I go up there to speak to Silveta when Birgir was near?

So I endured the feast, listening to the talk that swirled around us. Gudren was ever eager for the news because it could give him an edge in his trade negotiations. From what was said at the table that night and discussed later in their bed, Birgir Barfoot was now the power behind the chieftain. His warriors had settled all over Markland, giving him a foothold in every thriving settlement. There were even rumbles that Birgir would make a better chieftain, stronger and more able than Ejegod. Gudren acknowledged that Birgir had conducted their trade discussions while Ejegod simply sat nearby. He thought it a smart tactic at the time, but now he doubted whether the chieftain truly held the reins of Markland.

I thought of Silveta's guarded eyes and wondered if she had managed to keep Birgir from her bed all these seasons. It seemed impossible, yet the balance of power was unchanged. A bondsman stood behind her, watching everything with suspicious eyes, so likely that was the source of her safety.

I tried to catch Silveta's attention, but she hardly glanced down the hall. She was an island of stillness in the midst of the merriment. When Silveta left early, while the wine was still being poured, I gave up hope of reaching her that first night.



The next evening, Silveta played her role as Freya in the ritual sacrifice to the Norogod of fertility. She still seemed unusually withdrawn. I saw her speak to no one, though one of her bondsmen always stayed close. It was reassuring to see the two strong men who cleaved to her. I was more convinced that all was not well with her, but at least she appeared to be protected from Birgir.

I was growing frantic, afraid that the celebration would end and Gudren would take me back to the Sigurdssons' estate. I couldn't leave now that I was so close! Yet Silveta seemed as far away as when I was in Djarney, with the sea separating us.

After the blood was spilled, Silveta stood at the altar and watched expressionlessly as torches were lit from the fire to start bonfires all over Tillfallvik. Her green robes flowed around her, pooling at her feet, a symbol of her fertility though there were numerous comments this night about her lack of child.

I danced among the others around the bonfire, desperately trying to reach out to Silveta, trying to penetrate her head-blindness. The *olfs* skipped beside me, agitated at my frustration.

Silveta gathered up her skirts to leave the hilltop, undoubtedly to retreat to the fire hall, where she would sit in silence throughout the meal. I knew we would be seated at the opposite end, while the Markland magnates and Viinland jarls were closer to the dais.

Panic shot through me. If I didn't reach her now, I would lose my chance.

Two of the *olfs* darted away as if propelled by my anguish. They both leaped between Silveta's feet, causing her to stumble. Her bondsman was there to make sure she didn't fall, as I left the crowd and started toward her, hoping to catch her attention. One *olf* clung to her skirt until she turned to pull it free.

As she straightened up, she noticed me. Her blue eyes widened in shock. I was almost relieved to see her face lose its stony reserve. Now she no longer looked like a polished marble statue.

Instantly she was by my side, watching for Birgir all the while. "You! What are you doing here?â€

"Help me, Silveta, as I helped you,†I begged. "Lexander told me to come to you. l'm to wait for him here.â€

"Do you know the danger you court?†she insisted.

"Yes, but it is of no matter! Gudren wouldn't let me go, and I can't speak of Lexander to them—â€

At that moment, Alga arrived breathlessly by my side. "My apologies, freya! Our girl is simple and unschooled in etiquette. Come, Marja . . .â€

Her fingers dug into my arm, but I frantically beseeched Silveta with a look. It took far too long, as Silveta judged the situation. She did not want to speak of the service I had performed for her, and there was Birgir himself to consider. Alga had dragged me a few steps away when Silveta finally declared, â€ceNo, stop. Marja must stay with me.â€

Alga was astonished. "But . . . she belongs to us.â€

"That's not true,†Silveta said more firmly as I silently encouraged her. "She belongs here, not with you.â€

Alga still didn't let me go, but she looked over her shoulder for Gudren. "You must talk to my husband, freya.â€

"Go find him, if you must. But Marja stays with me.â€

Reluctantly, Alga finally released me. She must have realized that I was not going far under Silveta's protection.

As soon as Alga was gone, Silveta asked, "Why aren't you in Vidaris? Do you know what Birgir would do to you—to me!—if he found you here?â€

"Lexander sent me. I told Gudren and Alga that I needed to come to Tillfallvik to meet my lover, but they wouldn't let me. Am I too late? Has Lexander come for me?â€

"He sent a message, asking about you. I told him that you had best avoid Tillfallvik if you valued your life.â€

I gasped. "Send word to him, please, freya! He must know I am here.â€

"Come, this is no place to talk.†Silveta kept a sharp eye out for Birgir as she took me to her longhouse, the one I remembered so well. One of her bondsmen was left behind to escort Gudren and Alga to her.

I began to tremble when I went through the door of her closet and saw the bed where Birgir had attacked me.

Silveta saw how it upset me. "l heard about the exile of Vidaris when I returned. What did he do to you?â€

"Rape,†I gasped. "Then he beat me. I could not even stand on my feet.â€

She nodded grimly, as if making up her mind. She went to a nearby casket and unlocked it with a key from around her waist. I stood awkwardly to one side, afraid to sit on the bed in her presence, but weak at the knees with fear. I kept staring at the stone floor, remembering how I had lain there as Birgir struck me with his belt. I had never thought I would have to return here.

Gudren and Alga arrived quickly, brought by Silveta's bondsman, who waited outside the door. The couple was anxious, I could tell, and Alga immediately joined me, taking my hand. I realized then how much she truly cared about me. I felt my throat tighten.

Gudren introduced himself, his elegant politeness strained. "My wife tells me you've laid claim on Marja. Can this be true, freya?â€

Silveta turned, the candlelight sparkling on the garnets entwined in her crown of braids. She was all golden and shining, like the low-hanging moon, and just as distant and powerful. "l will pay you handsomely,†she said firmly, clinking a purple silken bag in her hand. It had a twisted cord and was filigreed with embroidery. "Please name your price.â€

Gudren's forehead creased as he glanced back at Alga. They were likely thinking of their important trade agreement with Ejegod, for they debated every issue of note with an eye to the consequences it would have on their business. The Sigurdssons were merchant princes indeed, with their wealth and life of luxury, but they were still merchants at the heart of it.

Finally Gudren ventured, " 'Tis not a thing to be taken lightly, *freya*. We care for Marja, and would be loath to let her leave us.â€

"You have no right to keep her.†Impatiently, Silveta gestured to me. "Tell them, Marja. You must stay here.â€

Gudren looked at me as I swallowed hard. "You are both very kind, truly. But I must stay with the freya.â€

Alga still clasped my hand, looking into my eyes as if she couldn't believe what l'd said. But Gudren went into bargaining mode, seeing a way to finally pierce the mysteries I offered. "We are concerned that Marja is well cared for. After all, *freya*, why should you be interested in a doxy I found on the streets of Brianda?â€

Silveta drew herself up, her expression icy. "lf you care about Marja, as you claim, you will leave her with me and mention this to no one. I will have my way. If you cause problems, then Marja is the one who will suffer.â€

There was silence as they considered this. Then Alga patted my hand, releasing me. They could ill afford to anger a chieftain's wife.

Gudren named a high price for me, but Silveta refused to bargain. She passed over the gold coins without a word. I wondered if despite their genuine feelings for me, Gudren and Alga simply considered me as one of their possessions.

Then Alga kissed me, reminding me of the pleasure we'd had together. Gudren gruffly ordered, "Send word by our boats if you fall into trouble again, Marja. We will always be ready to help you.†His hug was not that of an owner. I wondered then whether he hadn't demanded a high price to test Silveta's desire for me. Regardless, they left me with fond, worried looks that I would never forget.

Ten

Silveta disguised me as her new maid, giving me a gray homespun dress and a white apron pinned at my shoulders with small bronze broaches. I kept my hair slicked down tightly and coiled against the back of my head. With the cap on top, I looked much like the other servants. For the first couple of days, I stayed locked in Silveta's sleeping closet, even during meals, eating whatever she could bring back to me.

Several days after the midsummer festival, when all of the guests had returned home, Silveta entered, looking disturbed. "The courier has returned.†She had secretly sent a messenger to Vidaris. "Lexander is no longer there.â€

"No . . .†I breathed, sitting back on my heels. Everything I had feared was true. I had delayed too long in reaching Tillfallvik.

"Helanas questioned my courier. She doesn't know where Lexander is. The courier didn't leave my letter because I instructed him to put it only in Lexander's hands.â€

Despite the anguish I felt, I was glad Silveta was handling everything. If the courier had given Helanas the letter, she would have discovered that I was in Tillfallvik. I had no doubt that my mistress would come to get me.

"Where could he be?†I asked plaintively.

"He might be here in town. But I can't risk telling Ejegod's men to look for him because of the exile. He will have to come to me. The problem is,†she said, considering me on my blanket on the floor, "what am I going to do with you?â€

I was gaining more understanding of the threat Birgir posed. The crafty warrior had bided his time, influencing Ejegod in many ways until the chieftain had come to rely on him. It was a masterful move that allowed him to use his influence on behalf of certain supplicants, becoming a welcome presence within the chieftain's retinue.

Every day I pressed my ear to the chinks in the boards, listening as the estate folk passed in the hallway. They were all Ejegod's bondi with their women and children. Silveta told me that her husband's most loyal bondsmen had aged along with him, and a handful had retired this winter to their well-earned estates, leaving their lusty sons to serve. These young men were Ejegod's bondi, but they cleaved more naturally to Birgir, who was a seasoned warrior and natural leader. Birgir had kept a dozen of his best fighters and they were housed in a newer longhouse, while the others had left to claim land. These men were treated with the same respect as Ejegod's bondi.

"Birgir is too strong,†Silveta said, wringing her hands. "l watched him this midsummer, sealing alliances with as many of the magnates as he could. Even making deals with Viinland *jarls*.â€

Our chieftain was frail; anyone could see it. "l don't understand why your husband allows Birgir to gain such power over him.â€

"Ah, that is the shame in this! Birgir plays with Ejegod, acting the loyal son.†She grimaced at her own failure to give Ejegod a child. "To an old man whose line ends with him, it is a strong lure. Birgir credits Ejegod with saving his people by giving them land for their names, and claims he considers the chieftain his true forebearer. Birgir swears that he will burn sacrifices to Ejegod's family forever in praise of his spirit.â€

Considering the chieftain's befuddled state, I wondered if Birgir had done more than simply talk. Perhaps he, like Helanas, had drawn evil spirits here to help diminish the old man's vigor. In truth, the *olfs* avoided both Birgir and Ejegod, even on the occasions when they danced on the high table itself. I did not sense anything specific, yet I could not forget that I had not felt the miasma at Vidaris until I escaped. As I had discovered, evil was much harder to detect than good, insinuating itself into people in devious ways. But the presence of evil spirits would explain why there were decidedly fewer otherworldly creatures in the estate than there used to be.

"l cannot let you continue to skulk about in here,†Silveta decided. "The servants are already talking, wondering if your illness is serious. If they inquire too closely, they may realize you're the Vidaris slave.â€

"What should I do?†I cried.

"Do you never think for yourself?†she countered irritably. "No wonder the Sigurdssons wouldn't let you go, the way you were clinging to them. As you are now, Marja, you're a risk to me.â€

Chastised, I remembered Finn and how he had stolen from me because I had been too gullible. I had assumed that when I finally reached Silveta my task would be accomplished. But I would have to continue to fight for myself, even if I was not sure in which direction my path led. "Lexander told me to stay with you.â€

Silveta shook her head, closing her eyes briefly. I knew better than to speak. I had seen that look on Helanas' face too many times.

"Well, we must take the risk,†Silveta decided. "You don't look like a pleasure slave now. Don't start showing your legs or letting your hair go wild. You'll have to act as my maid in truth. l've not had one since the last wench stole my key to give to Birgir.â€

"l remember,†I said quietly.

Silveta considered me, recalling the service I had done for her. Then, having no other option, she began to explain what being her maid entailed.



from Vidaris.

The masquerade began as I hid in plain sight. I soon realized that most people simply believed what was set before them, with few questions asked. I claimed I was from Kebek, with Ansgar's tales of his home still fresh in my ears. My almond eyes, my most distinctive feature, were not uncommon in Kebek, where Noromenn were known to wed Skraeling.

Silveta declared to anyone who inquired that she had purchased my bond from the Sigurdssons. But serving Silveta was nothing like my life with Alga and Gudren. Silveta expected me to sew and help the bondsmen's wives keep her costly garments in good repair. Most were gifts from faithful magnates, elaborately embroidered by their womenfolk for the chieftain's wife. I also fetched her wash water and dressed her hair, familiar chores

First thing each morning, I accompanied Silveta to the kitchens, where she doled out the food supplies, unlocking the tiny room that contained precious Auldland spices and the cellar for the wine and mead. She also directed the senior servants in the cleaning and laundry. She was truly the chatelaine of Ejegod's estate with more serious responsibilities than Alga, who had plenty of time for leisure and play while her indomitable grandmother gave the orders.

It appeared Silveta was safe from Birgir as long as her bondsmen were present to vouch for her virtue. Birgir could not simply force himself on

herâ€"common law decreed that any man who violated a jarl would be drawn and quartered. His bid for the chieftaincy would not survive such a crime. So Birgir needed to make it appear that Silveta had encouraged his advances, and she did everything she could to counter this claim by publicly snubbing him and his bondi.

The first time I ran into Birgir, I was caught unawares. I had Silveta's bedclothes over my arms as I took them to the washtubs. There was a friendly off jaunting along beside me, as usual. I couldn't understand why it suddenly leaped in front of me, holding its frail arms wide as if to stop me.

Birgir was walking toward me with one of his bondsmen, speaking too loudly as usual. "lf he wants the fishing rights, he must come here to win them. I will not give them for naught.â€

I missed a step, but it was too late to turn aside. I didn't want to draw more attention to myself. So I continued on, my head bent and my eyes on the path, silently imploring the *olf* to help me.

But Birgir saw me. He blocked me with one thick arm, bared in the summer warmth. "You're the new maid for our *freya*, are you not?â€

I bobbed a curtsy, pitching my voice higher than usual. "Yes, freyr.â€

I couldn't look up, but I felt the olf move between us, floating right in front of me to stop Birgir from recognizing me.

To his companion, Birgir boasted, "So the haughty lady provides me with another pretty face. 'Tis generous of her, I must say.â€

Still hiding behind the olf, I scurried around them.

"Don't be so quick, sweet *fitte*!†Birgir called after me. "Every maiden should have some pleasure, and l'm the man to give it to you.†The two men brayed with laughter, entertained by my fright. Little did they know that I had already felt the full extent of Birgir's lust.

I blessed the *olf* over and over, promising all of my milk the next morning for its service. Surely Birgir would have seen who I was, staring directly at my face as he did, if not for the intervention of the *olf*.

After that, the otherworldly creatures kept me informed of Birgir's whereabouts. When he walked the paths, I stayed inside. If he came near the kitchens, I slipped outside. For meals, I ate with the other servants at one of the distant tables, keeping my back to the dais at all times.

Mostly I stayed near Silveta, because she always had a bondsman with her. It was seen as a mark of honor to have her father's bondi in her retinue, reminding everyone of her status in Viinland. From Perus, the more loquacious of the two bondsmen, I discovered that Silveta's father was a chieftain, controlling a series of rich valleys along the coast of Hop. Perus had known Silveta since she was a child, and they had a way of speaking shortly, conveying much to each other but little to others. Perus was a man in his prime, a widower who ignored every woman on the estate. But I heard the malicious comments of Birgir's men, made to besmirch Silveta's good name. On seeing them in private, as I did at times, I knew that Perus showed no softer feelings toward her. He was intent only on surviving his post. Both of Silveta's bondsmen were cold, distant warriors who never asked questions of me, merely accepting my presence and reserving judgment about my trustworthiness.

One morning, I accompanied Silveta and Perus to the loft in the fire hall where Ejegod spent most of his time. It was both his bed and receiving chamber. I had never been inside, but I caught a glimpse of him in a great chair, wrapped in furs despite the warmth.

I waited with Perus on the landing, high above servants who were cleaning the tables after the meal. A handful of men lolled on the benches near the open doors. Since it was full summer, the fire in the enormous hearth had been allowed to go out.

Perus went down to relieve himself. I felt exposed on my perch above the others. With the double doors propped open, the interior of the hall was far more illuminated than usual. I could see the *olfs* jumping along the rafters that crisscrossed between the walls, swinging from the banners. The corners of the hall were filthy, piled with soggy rushes and debris. They had been fouled by the large number of guests at midsummer. This morning, Silveta had ordered the servants to gather the rakes so the mess could be mucked out.

Suddenly the olfs ceased their spirited hopping, pausing to stare at the doors. A few of them faded away in front of my eyes.

Birgir's voice boomed outside.

I ran quickly down the stairs and slipped into the shadows below. I barely made it in time.

Birgir entered, calling that a pod of whales had been sighted in the bay. The place boiled over as men rushed in all directions, some up the stairs to tell Ejegod and others past me to the kitchens for supplies. I pressed against the wall within the striped shadows cast by the steps.

Birgir set off for the docks, followed by most of the men. I breathed a sigh of relief, knowing he would be gone for some time.

Then the last man returned from the storerooms, carrying a sack of wine over his shoulder. Niall was one of Birgir's most loyal bondsmen. It was said Niall was bedding a wash girl, and he came right into the servant's longhouse and took her in front of everyone.

Niall stopped at the sight of me. "Ah, the shy maid who scurries about staring at the ground! Are you lying in wait for me, dearling?â€

I bowed my head, hiding my face, as I was wont to do now. "Silveta is . . .†I faltered, gesturing upward.

Niall lowered his voice as he stepped closer. "lf your freya doesn't need your services at the moment, I can think of one who does.â€

I thought he meant Birgir, and my breath caught. "No.â€

"Yet your eyes plead so lovely,†Niall declared, stepping under the stairs with me. "I think you mean otherwise.â€

I tried to look away. But he was too close. I could see only his broad chest and stained leather belt. The wine sack sloshed as he set it down.

"l think you agree.†One finger lifted my chin, and his arm went around my back to hold me against him. It was fairly masterful without being hurtful. I went very still. He brought his mouth down on mine, tasting me, feeling my lips. His black beard and mustache were clipped short, and his lips were full and firm. My body responded in spite of myself. Niall was everything that Gudren was notâ€"dominating and passionate. He became wildly aroused merely by kissing me.

His hand dropped to my breast. I gasped into his mouth, and that inflamed him more. His palm cupped my breast, squeezingâ€"

"What are you doing with my maid!†Silveta demanded.

Niall pulled away slowly, as my hands scrabbled on him, trying to push him faster. His black eyes were amused as he licked his lips at me. "Delicious! Just as we thought.â€

Silveta stood there with her arms crossed. Behind her was Perus, sneering slightly. Any hope I had of gaining his trust vanished.

Niall resettled his wine sack on his shoulder. "Very tempting, my dear, but l've got a whale to slaughter. I shall redeem your pledge later.â€

With a laugh, he went past Silveta and gave a mocking salute to Perus. I blushed at the contempt in Silveta's eyes. When Niall was far enough away, she hissed, "How stupid must you be? Now Birgir will never rest till he has taken what Niall has tasted.â€

"l was hiding and he caught me.â€

"You didn't even try to stop him.†Her voice lowered so Perus wouldn't hear. "I know what you *are*. But can't you have some dignity while you're in my hands? Have you no self-control?â€

"My apologies, freya.†I didn't know what else to say.

Silveta sighed heavily. "l think you must go stay in town. Perhaps Torgils would take you in. But I fear he would recognize you as the Vidaris slave, and he would doubtless tell the chieftain.â€

"You're sending me away?†I was torn between wanting to stay so Lexander could find me, and eagerness to get away from Birgir and his men.

"Yes, until … you are claimed.†She wouldn't risk naming my master. "You're a danger to me here.â€

Chastised, though I didn't know what I could have done differently, I followed Silveta as she organized the servants in cleaning the fire hall. Some stayed behind to rake the floor and pile the mess in a cart that pulled up to the doors. I went with Silveta and the others to gather bundles of new rushes and wildflowers. They laughed and sang as if it were a holiday from their normal chores, and the *olfs* danced along with us. But I couldn't be merry. With Lexander gone, and Silveta casting me away in disgust, I would soon be alone again.

* * *

That night, Silveta slept in Ejegod's chamber, as she did from time to time. The couple still tried to conceive an heir, but I could tell by the way Silveta girded herself that it was not a pleasant duty. Ejegod got drunk as usual during the night-meal.

I stayed in Silveta's closet. Only she had the key to the new lock, which had been installed since last midsummer. She entrusted no one with it, not even her bondsmen, for fear someone would take it from them. She escorted me there with Perus, and neither bothered to speak to me.

But by late morning, no one had returned for me. Silveta must have simply gone from Ejegod's chamber to the morning meal, then to work. All of the olfs had left for the fire hall as soon as the meal was served, anxious to pilfer bits from the plates of unwary diners.

Earlier I had heard deep, rumbling voices in the hallway, but it had been quiet for some time. I would be lucky to get the browned remnants of porridge from the bottom of the pot if I went to the kitchen now. So I unlocked the door. The sound of the metal scraping seemed very loud. I pulled it open a crack to peer down the longhouse.

A hand smacked the door, pushing it against me. Birgir's face appeared, framed by yellow-white hair. "So you finally emerge, pretty little maid! l've heard you're eager for some rutting.â€

I tried to close the door, but it was no use. Birgir pushed me back as if I were a babe. Then he slammed the door shut behind him.

It was like a terrible nightmare. I put my hands to my face, desperately hoping to keep him from realizing who I was.

Birgir grabbed me and pulled me against his sweating body. His touch was cruel, making me cry out. His teeth scraped against my mouth, drawing blood, as his fingers dug into me. Before I knew it, my apron had been pulled off and the buttons ripped on my kirtle, exposing my breasts. He bit my neck, then the white flesh of my breasts.

I screamed. "Stop it! No!â€

His hand went over my mouth, cutting off my breath. I struggled for air. He was looking into my eyes, enjoying the panic he saw there.

That's when he recognized me. He grabbed my chin, taking in my face. "lt can't be! You're the slave that Silveta used to trick me. Why did I not see it . . . You are a sorceress, aren't you?â€

I tried frantically to breathe. Birgir would use me against Silveta. He could question her loyalty to Ejegod because she defied his edict of exile.

But Birgir was not thinking of that now. His groin ground into my hip as his arm tightened around me. His other hand grasped my hair and pulled my head back until my neck was exposed. He bit down on my throat again, like he was going to rip it out. The pain lanced through me.

"l never got to take you the way you deserve, pleasure slave.†He loosened his pants with guick jerks. Then he shoved me flat on the ground.

His bulk pressing down on me brought it all back in a horrible rush . . . his sweaty, hairy stink . . . the sharp jab of his pendant . . . the sour stench of his mouth. With his weight on me, I couldn't make much more than helpless squeaks as he pummeled into me. Like the first time, I was not ready. But my submissive nature kept me from panicking and blacking out as some might do under such an assault. Indeed, he noticed how I shifted under him to give my hips a better angle so my flesh wouldn't tear.

"You slut,†he growled. "Trained to be a filthy doxy . . .â€

Birgir could not sustain his pleasure. Like the first time, he had barely begun before it was over. Mercifully brief. Yet the beating that followed last time had been protracted. He rolled off me, finally allowing me to breathe.

Then I heard his belt buckle clank on the floor. I couldn't let him strike me. Not again! I was no longer under the *geasa* that demanded absolute obedience to Ejegod's guests.

I rolled to my feet, surprising him. His hands were on his pants, pulling them up.

Before Birgir could turn to me, I grabbed the jewel cask from one of the carved chests. I swung it against the back of his head with all my might. He shifted to defend himself, but I was too quick. The cask cracked against his head, sending him reeling.

As Birgir fell, I darted through the door.

Eleven

My attempt at escape ended abruptly when I reached the door of the longhouse. Niall and another bondsman were lolling there lazily, waiting for Birgir. Niall caught me with one hand. "Hold hard, there, missy. What are you running from?â€

They marched me back down the hallway, Niall's hand biting into my shoulder. Then they saw Birgir, sitting muzzy-headed from my blow. The cask was overturned on the floor.

Niall slipped one arm tightly around my neck. "Should I kill her?â€

"No!†Birgir grimaced at the blood on his fingers. "She's that pleasure slave—the one who cast a spell last summer to unman me.â€

"Silveta's maid?†Niall asked, craning his head to look down at me. "No, this is too rich!â€

The other bondsman helped Birgir get to his feet. The big man stood none too steady, and his gaze was unfocused. "l had my fill of her again, though I must say the price for this thin shank is too high.â€

One of the servants paused in the open doorway, gaping at the sight of us. "You there,†Niall called out. "You serve as witness. This girl lured Birgir into Silveta's closet, then tried to kill him.â€

The woman stared at me openmouthed. I couldn't deny it because Niall choked me into compliance.

They marched me into the fire hall, my hands clenching at Niall's arm. My kirtle swung open, revealing my breasts for all to see. This time it was much worse when I was dragged into the hall. These were not strangers. Their faces were familiar even as they gawked at me.

Birgir kept rubbing his head and groaning, as if my blow had been a lucky one. He left it to the others to summon Ejegod for reckoning. In the uproar, the olfs scattered away, avoiding the rising anger.

The chieftain emerged from his chamber, bent and moving stiffly. He paused at the rail, as if reluctant to come down when he saw Birgir surrounded by his men. Silveta appeared on the landing behind him, hardly distinguishable in the dim light except for her crimson gown and the bright sheen of her hair.

The men in the hall began to shout for Ejegod to appear for reckoning. I knew it was over. There was nothing more Silveta could do to help me.

But I was not Birgir's target. He stepped in front of Ejegod, refusing to let the old man mount the dais. "Your wife's maid attacked me! Is this how you return my loyalty, Ejegod? You conspire to slay me?â€

A growl arose from Birgir's bondsmen. Even Ejegod's men stared as if taken aback.

Silveta's lips were compressed in agony. She stayed on the landing, watching over the heads of the men who were gathering. Perus stood grimly behind her.

I managed a breath as Niall's arm eased. "Birgir raped me!†I gasped out. All eyes went to my hanging kirtle, ripped asunder.

Birgir pointed at me, seizing the moment. "Has she be-spelled you all? This woman was exiled for conspiring with demons. Do you not recall midsummer last, when reckoning was pronounced on this very floor? You yourself, Ejegod, cast her out after she attacked me.â€

To varying degrees, most of them did recognize me. Ejegod's eyes widened as he peered closer. "No, this cannot be,†the chieftain murmured.

Niall tightened his arm again, keeping me from defending myself. But he refrained from choking me into unconsciousness.

Silveta cried out, "l know nothing of this!â€

"She attacked me at your behest,†Birgir countered, pointing up at her. "You and your husband have conspired with this sorceress to slay me. If I had not been stronger than her dark arts, she would have succeeded.â€

"That is false,†Silveta denied. "I bought her bond from a Djarney merchant. I have proof of it. You have mistaken her.â€

"Do not deny your hatred,†Birgir declared. "All have seen how you scorn me. You wanted me dead, freya. And your maid did your will for you.â€

"l wanted you to leave Tillfallvik,†Silveta said desperately. "That is all.â€

Birgir touched his head gingerly, still trying to shake off the effects of my blow. He confronted the old chieftain. "You cannot claim ignorance in this matter, Chieftain. Your own wife's maid is a sorceress, declared so by you yourself. I call you out, Ejegod of Markland, to face me, man to man, to settle this now.â€

Silveta's chest rose and fell as her lovely face contorted. "You've always craved my husband's status, Birgir Barfoot! You contrive at this ugly reason to fight.â€

Birgir bared his teeth at Ejegod, ignoring Silveta. "l have sworn to you and been your loyal man. No one here can claim otherwise. Now that you've made a cowardly attempt on my life, I must defend myself.â€

Ejegod looked very old, standing before them uncertainly. But the faces around us were hard. Birgir brought a legitimate claim to duel. Anyone who heard his tale would accept that Ejegod must defend his honor.

Silveta turned away in anguish, while Ejegod drew himself up. I could see what manner of a man he used to be in the sure way he pulled his knife and ax from his belt, hefting them in his hands.

"No man accuses me of using a woman to best him,†the chieftain swore stoutly. "l defend my honor as I am called to do.â€

Everyone drew back. Niall still held me tightly, but I had no desire to protest now. I was sickened at how Birgir had used me to manipulate Ejegod into a fight.

Birgir pulled out his huge ax, half again as long as Ejegod's. The chieftain's weapon looked merely ceremonial, while the edge of Birgir's blade was stained dark from the blood he had drawn in battles in Danelaw.

Birgir faced Ejegod, taking the measure of the old chieftain. Ejegod's expression was strained, as if he felt betrayed by a man he had thought was a friend, nay, more than thatâ€"the son for which he had always longed. He had indeed been mesmerized into trusting Birgir.

Ejegod took the first swipe with his ax, slicing the air in front of Birgir's stomach. I wondered wildly if perhaps the chieftain could beat the warrior,

but Birgir blocked the swing with his own ax. Birgir snapped up his knife, going for Ejegod's arm, but the old man dodged away just in time.

The two men separated and circled each other, their feet scuffing through the rushes. Ejegod's men shouted out encouragement to their chieftain while Birgir's men seemed driven to fair drown out the calls with their own. Niall's taunts near shattered my ears.

Then Birgir leaped high at Ejegod. The old man's legs were too slow and he was forced to fall back into the crowd. He was supported for a moment by his own men, who helped him regain his feet.

I glanced up at Silveta, whose hand was over her mouth. She had little love for her husband, but I knew the horror she faced if he fell.

The clash of metal echoed into the rafters as the men met again. Ejegod's parries and attacks held a semblance of expertise. I could almost see him as a young man warding off challenges to his rule over Markland. Yet now his limbs were stiffened with age and his eyes were bleary from overindulgence.

The watching men shifted as the fight did, keeping their distance from the battle. They parted around a table as the men came closer. Ejegod parried Birgir's ax, then pinned it against the edge of the table. His arm drew back to swipe his knife across the warrior's neck.

It looked as if the chieftain would succeed. But Birgir sneered into the old man's face. With a hard thrust, he drove his own knife into Ejegod's belly. Ejegod's hand opened and his own knife clattered to the floor.

Grunting with the effort, Birgir slashed his knife downward, gutting Ejegod. As the old man staggered under the impact, Birgir spun, unloosing his ax and bringing it around to bite into Ejegod's exposed side.

A spray of blood burst out and a cry went up. Ejegod sprawled on the fresh rushes, red flowing out from his wounds in a great gush.

Silveta ran forward to her husband along with his bondi. But it was too late. Blood stained his mouth, frothing with every pained breath. He couldn't speak, though he tried.

Birgir knelt down on one knee, his forehead on the hilt of his ax, praying aloud to the Kristna god to forgive Ejegod's sins and grant him peace in heaven. I couldn't bear to listen, but Niall murmured the words into my ear along with Birgir.



The fire hall was hushed and tense as Ejegod's body was born away by his *bondi*. Silveta went with them to prepare the chieftain for his journey to the Otherworld. Niall refused to let me leave his side. He looped a leather thong over my wrist and kept me tethered to him like a horse. Silveta would have to abandon me in order to save her own life.

Casks and fine tapestries were carried down from the loft and out of the fire hall. Ejegod's bondsmen kept uneasily away from the thick clutch of Birgir's warriors and busied themselves with the preparations for the funeral. Birgir and his men stayed by the empty hearth, speaking in low voices. But their somber mood crackled with excitement.

I was in the midst of Birgir's men and heard their muttered words of preparation. They expected retaliation from Ejegod's bondi, but for now the servants and estate folk accepted the duel as warranted. I could do nothing but crouch down beside Niall, dismally awaiting my fate. The sun moved slowly that day as I wondered if my death would be the next to come.



I didn't see Silveta until late that evening, shortly before sunset, on the point of land at the mouth of the bay. Amber beads were woven through her yellow crown of braids, dangling down like a crystal mourning veil. Her gown was deep red, the color of Ejegod's spilled blood. Her face was pale and drawn. She let everyone see the terrible anger that burned in her eyes at what Birgir had done.

An enormous crowd had gathered, everyone in Tillfallvik, The children were subdued, as their parents looked fearfully at the warriors led by Birgir, The chieftain was laid out in the middle of a longship with a black sail. All around his pallet were casks of mead, food, weapons, shields, tapestries, furs, and other goods that Ejegod would need on his journey to the Otherworld.

The pitched wood piles inside the boat were set afire by Ejegod's bondsmen, and the boat was pushed away from shore. Silveta stood at the water's edge, her face glowing with the reflection of the flames. Soon, when the sail caught fire, it grew brighter than the orange sun sinking below the water. The wind carried the burning boat past the small islands at the mouth of the bay, out to sea.

We stood in silence long after it grew dark, watching the flames dart up, until Ejegod was gone.

Silveta turned, her eyes hollow. I was glad to see Perus beside her, supporting her arm. I couldn't go to her because of the tether around my wrist, but Perus picked me out among Birgir's men. I wanted to explain to him that I had not betrayed Silveta and Ejegod, but his contempt was clear.

When we returned to the fire hall for the traditional feast to celebrate Ejegod's life, it was even worse. Ejegod's chair, with its snow-lynx cushions, was left empty in the center of the table. Silveta sat stone-faced next to it, not touching her food, while Birgir glared from the other side.

The burly man had complained to his men throughout the day of an aching head. He was in a foul mood despite his victory. I sat on the floor, next to Niall at the end of the table. Silveta studiously ignored me, but Birgir shot me a sour glance every once in a while, letting me know he was not through with me yet. I cringed when I remembered the beating he'd given me. Now he intended even worse. Some of his men had openly speculated that he would allow all of them to use me. He cared not if I survived.

Yet, even so, I was concerned about Silveta. Surely Birgir would not hesitate to take her now.

Indeed, as the cups were filled one last time at the end of the meal, Birgir stood up. "lt pained me to challenge my old friend, Ejegod Oddason, on this day. I regret that he saw fit to succor a sorceress in his household, one who has attacked me repeatedly.â€

Silveta's knuckles were white on her cup, and she spilled the mead as she set it down. But she didn't speak.

"By right of conquest,†Birgir thundered, "l hereby claim the chieftaincy of Markland. Ejegod's goods and chattel are forfeited to me.â€ Birgir smiled down at Silveta. "Including his wife.â€

Silveta leaped to her feet. "Never! I would rather die than let you put your hands on me.â€

"Be grateful Het you live after your treachery,†Birgir hissed.

"This estate is mine by right of my marriage contract with Ejegod!†Silveta retorted.

Ejegod's bondi were starting to shout as well, having expected no doubt to compete for Silveta's hand and estate themselves. The man who

held both would be the favored candidate for chieftain. Several men called, "You claim too much!†and "The magnates choose their chieftain!â€

A cousin of Ejegod's, a tall man who was not smart, but who had by way of his kinship the better claim to become chieftain, came forward to defv

A cousin of Ejegod's, a tall man who was not smart, but who had by way of his kinship the better claim to become chieftain, came forward to defy Birgir. But Birgir pushed over the table and abruptly ran the cousin through with his knife without even responding to his challenge. Birgir's men suddenly leaped onto the dais from the floor, swinging their mighty war axes at Ejegod's older bondi.

Servants screamed and scattered as pockets of fierce fighting broke out. Birgir grabbed Silveta, who screamed in shock and outrage. Perus tried to block him, but was cut down by an ax to the back of his head.

I cried out, but Niall dragged me to the rear of the dais, watching the fighting with his ax hefted in his hand. Tethered to me, he couldn't attack Ejegod's bondi. Birgir's warriors clearly had the advantage in both weapons and ferocity. Those they didn't cut down were forced from the fire hall.

Birgir slung Silveta over his shoulder amid her screams. He carried her up the stairs and into Ejegod's solar. The door slammed shut behind them. Abruptly, Silveta's screams broke off.

I ran to the end of my tether, but Niall jerked me to a stop. "There's nothing you can do for her, my sweeting. She has gone to the fate that Kristna decreed the day we arrived in this fine land.â€

Perus lay crumpled half under a table. His eyes were wide open, but there was no life in them. Too many other loyal men lay dead or dying. Silveta was being raped by Birgir. I was alone and would soon be at the mercy of a dozen bloodthirsty men.

"Please,†I begged Niall, "take me away. I will do whatever you wish, please you in a thousand ways, only don't give me to these men this night.†He laughed, but I added, "You'll barely get your fill of me with all of them to have their turn. Surely tomorrow is soon enough for that. Spare

night.a∈ He laughed, but I added, a∈œ Youa∈ '™ll barely get your fill of me with all of them to have their turn. Surely tomorrow is soon enough for that. Spare me this one night, and you will be pleased as youâ∈™ve never been before . . .â∈

A greedy light came into his eyes. With Birgir gone and satisfying his own base needs, who was to say what Niall deserved? â∈œCome,â∈ he

ordered, taking me by the arm.

We circled the downed men, escaping under the loft into the kitchens. Frightened servants and cooks screamed and ran when they saw Niall, his ax held ready. He slipped into the cheese room, where pans of milk were covered by cloths and the cheese rounds were stacked on shelves. The narrow

held ready. He slipped into the cheese room, where pans of milk were covered by cloths and the cheese rounds were stacked on shelves. The narrow room was cool and smelled of curdled milk. I knew the *olfs* must come here often to filch crumbled bits of cheese. But there were none to be seen now. They must have fled when the fight began.

Niall dragged the heavy table against the door to block it. With his tether still binding my wrist, he declared, "You had better be true to your word, or l'II let my friends have a turn when l'm done.â€

I went down on my knees, thrilled that I had managed to avert certain disaster, even if I had only delayed the inevitable. I swiftly untied Niall's

trousers. Silveta would likely say I was shameless for servicing Niall, but I knew no other way. I licked and sucked his thick *tarse* with abandon. His bemused moans said he had never felt a woman's lips on him before. I remembered all I had done to rouse Gudren, and the sensations that Lexander taught me that he liked best. I pleased Niall as I knew how, drawing it out, not letting him spill too quickly, urging him higher and higher into ecstasy. He had a fortitude that was admirable, giving me plenty to work with.

Eventually, I dragged him down to the ground and straddled him as Gudren liked. Only now I could make it last, having watched Alga perform her magic. My hips rocked slightly as his panting grew faster, while my nails dug into his chest and arms, peeling his clothing away. The sharp scratching blunted his need to spend, allowing him to plateau and rise again.

Even Helanas would have been proud of me. I pleased Niall knowing my life depended on it. After he spewed into me with cries of delight, I barely let him drift away before rousing him again. As he thrashed wildly beneath me, I knew I had succeeded.

Within a few dozen heartbeats, Niall was snoring with me held tightly under his arm. I waited, forcing my tension to ease, knowing that a warrior such as

Niall would be quick to rise from sleep. He had to be lured into deep dreams by the *olf*s before I could make my move. It felt like eternity, but an *olf* finally arrived to help me and began expertly spinning out Niall's nocturnal fancies.

I concentrated on the tether. I couldn't risk taking his knife to cut it, so I painstakingly undid the knots that held me. I eased carefully away from him,

then shifted from under his arm a tiny bit at a time to keep from waking him. Finally he snorted and rolled over, releasing me.

I squatted there, waiting to be sure he was sound asleep. The *olf* continued to wallow in his dream. My skirt was bunched underneath Niall, so I untied

the waist to slide out of it. Birgir had ripped off my apron earlier. My chemise was short, covering me less than my slave tunics used to. But modesty was the least of my concerns.

I listened at the door, but there were no sounds in the hallway. I couldn't move the heavy table without waking Niall, but I could climb the wall easily enough. I would have to watch out for Birgir's men visiting the privy or cavorting with a kitchen maid.

Then another olf appeared. It was nothing more than a shimmering blob that whispered in my ear, "Without Silveta, we are lost.â€

That plaintive plea was enough to stop me in my flight. The olf 's thoughts mingled with my own. There was a terrible evil infesting Birgir, and it had

grown more powerful since he had killed Ejegod. The strong pillar of the family's rule had toppled with the chieftain's death. The evil in Birgir was spreading even now, taking over the estate. Soon it would lap over Tillfallvik, then extend through Markland, destroying my homeland. Birgir would bring darkness to my people in the same way Helanas had blighted Vidaris.

The olfs had chosen Silveta as their champion. They had such freedom themselves, they could little understand the constraints on ours. They knew only that she longed to guit the solar but must have someone's help to do it. How, would be up to me.

I tugged on the shelves holding the cheese rounds to find they were bolted to the wall. Stepping from one shelf to the other, I carefully climbed up to the top. The next storeroom over held sacks of grain and bins of beans and vegetables. From the top of the wall I could see the crossbeams that held up the roof. I pulled myself up and straddled the beam, glad I wasn't wearing my entangling skirts.

roof. I pulled myself up and straddled the beam, glad I wasn't wearing my entangling skirts.

Delighted, the olfs darted ahead of me, lighting the easiest way along the rafters of the storerooms. Some were enclosed to secure their contents, with boards fastened over the top, forming storage platforms that were piled with boxes of goods.

The old building was very dirty, and soon I was covered in soot and worse. I passed over the main kitchen, but no one tended the banked fire. All the women had fled. There had been loud shouts and screams as I pleasured Niall, but I had shut my ears and tried not to think about what was happening to my fellow servants.

I shimmied carefully across the beams, pausing to listen before I swung out and around the slanted posts that supported the low-pitched ceiling.

I was afraid I would have to descend in order to enter the fire hall, but narrow triangles of wood led to the sides of the loft. I climbed up and peered into the gloom that gathered in the hall. I clung to the slanted post with my knees, trying to ignore the splinters that dug into me. I didn't dare go out onto the landing of the loft where Birgir's men might see me. Instead, I climbed higher into the peaked roof of the hall. My thighs ached from clutching the

beam so tightly.

When I topped the wall around the solar, there was devastation within. Ejegod's chamber had been ransacked, first by the chieftain's bondi qathering goods that would go with him into the Otherworld, then by Birgir examining all that was left.

Silveta lay on the wide bed clutching her torn clothing about her. Mercifully Birgir was gone, perhaps fearing that Silveta would try to kill him if he slept. She was crying hopelessly. The *olfs* watched her dejectedly.

I swung over to climb down the wall, using the tiny chinks and uneven boards to get purchase. Silveta didn't hear me until I landed on the floor of the loft. Her head went up sharply. Her cheek bore a bright red mark, and her mouth had been scratched raw. I put my hand to my own lips, feeling how Birgir had scraped the skin from me with his beard when he raped me.

" 'Tis only me, freya,†I whispered. "Do not be afraid.â€

"You traitor!†Her hands clenched in anger as she slid painfully out of bed. "You've done this to me! Helped kill my husband and my *bondi*. Brought that butcher's son down on me—â€

I interrupted her raving. "Freya, l've come to rescue you. Please don't let them hear you.â€

"Rescue me?†she demanded, albeit in a lower voice. "What can you do?â€

"I was able to get in,†I pointed out. "The olfs showed me how. And I can get back out with you.â€

She finally realized that I had indeed snuck into her cell. "How? Show me how!â€

I checked her torn underskirt. The overdress was gone completely. "You'll need to take that off or it will get caught between your legs.â€

Looking at my own lean, bare legs, Silveta grimaced. But her hands went to the waist, untying the band. That left only her chemise. Her braids were hanging loose, so I rummaged among the furs on the bed to find the pins, fastening them tight to her head along with the tangle of amber beads. I could see the shadow of fine blond hair at her groin whenever she moved.

"This way.†I showed her where I put my toes and my fingers. She shook her head in disbelief. " 'Tis not hard,†I whispered insistently.

I climbed up, and then quietly guided her as she scaled the wall. Once her toes slipped out of a crack, making her squeal. She froze, expecting the door to crash open. But the guards suspected nothing. The olfs began to prance with glee when she reached the top.

Silveta was almost too afraid to straddle the slanted beam that went down into the darkness. But I went first and stayed an arm's length below to support her as she swung out. She kept her lips pressed together firmly to keep from making another sound. The landing was just on the other side of the wall.

Taking it very slowly, as I whispered advice every step of the way, we withdrew back along the beams into the storage rooms. I climbed down into the scullery, avoiding the cheese room where the *olfs* told me Niall still lay sleeping. As soon as he awoke, he would raise the alarm.

The entire estate seemed to be asleep, including the hounds. It felt very late. I wondered how long I had held Niall in thrall, and hoped it would keep him snoring far into the morning.

Slipping out the side door of the scullery, Silveta and I started down the path. The *olfs* led us away from the main gate where Ejegod's *bondi* must have taken a stand. I kept expecting Birgir to rise up in front of us brandishing his ax, still shining red from Ejegod's blood. We waded into the deep grass of the meadow where we had gathered the rushes yesterday. Though it was dark after the moonset, I remembered what it had looked like under the sun, as the grasses bent in the breeze and clouds scudded across the deep blue sky. One day could make such a world of difference.

Then we had only the palisade to surmount to reach freedom. It was not very high, reaching barely to my chin. "This way,†I told Silveta, and we boosted ourselves over.

Twelve

Shouts went up as Silveta and I crested the top of the palisade. Silveta slipped getting down. It looked to me as if the olfs supported her, letting her sink gently to her feet. I grabbed her hand and tore through the bushes into the scattering of trees on the hillside.

Silveta gasped from the unaccustomed exertion. I was ready to flee, but she stopped as she bent over to catch her breath.

"They're coming,†I insisted, trying to see along the palisade toward the gate at the rear.

"One . . . moment,†Silveta wheezed.

"There's no time.†I reached out with my senses and wasn't surprised to find a handful of *olf*s nearby. Some had followed us from the fire hall. When they saw my need, they glowed softly so I was no longer in darkness. Silveta held her hand out blindly, as if she couldn't see a thing.

"Relax,†I urged under my breath. "Sink into yourself. Reach out . . . then you'll be able to see.â€

She gave me a look as if I had gone dotty, but I was spared her retort as she struggled along beside me. I guided her over fallen logs and through the sparse woods, practically dragging her along. I could have darted over the rough ground like a frightened deer, but she stumbled as branches scraped her legs and her bare feet twisted on the rocks.

I started describing what lay ahead so Silveta could more easily maneuver. She did better after that, but protested at my uncanny vision. "'Tis pitch-black! How can you see?â€

"The olfs show me.†I headed uphill, knowing the men would be naturally more inclined to go downward. Likely they thought we were servants escaping from the estate and wouldn't put too much effort into chasing us.

Silveta didn't complain, though her breathing was harsh and uneven. We crossed a barren ridge, then descended through the thick scrub and briers. I tore heedlesslyâ€"the thorns were nothing next to my fear of Birgir.

Near the bottom of the ravine was a stream. Silveta fell down to her knees, scooping up water to drink. I knelt nearby, also slaking my thirst. The number of *olfs* had increased. They were very happy, not realizing that we could be recaptured by Birgir's *bondi* at any time. *Olfs* were creatures of the moment, so our escape was enough to please them.

"l can't . . . believe . . . †Silveta finally stammered.

I waited, but she didn't finish. "That we got away?â€

"Everything!†She glared at me, reminding me with one look that I had set off this terrible chain of events. "Why didn't you *kill* Birgir, you idiot!â€

I let out my breath in a rush. Could I have killed Birgir? Yes, I could have beat him on the head with the cask, splitting his skull open. "l don't think I could,†I breathed. Just the thought of doing it nauseated me, yet I wondered if I should have tried. The olfs started to pull away from me as I considered it, so I pushed the repulsive image from my mind.

Silveta angrily turned away. "l must get to Tillfallvik. There are loyal men there who can help me.â€

"We can go down this ravine. It will take us to the bay.â€

"How can you be sure? It feels like we're going in circles.â€

I shook my head though she couldn't see me. "The town is that way. I can smell it.â€

"Of course you can.†Silveta grimly got to her feet. "Let's go. We haven't much time.â€

* * *

When we reached the outskirts of Tillfallvik, it was still dark, but I could feel sunrise was near. Silveta futilely tried dabbing at the blood on her scratched-up legs. She was miserable wearing nothing but her short chemise, but only the animals saw us slink through the muddy lanes.

We arrived at a snug wooden home and, with a knock on the door, we were quickly drawn into a kitchen lit by the coals in the hearth. A gnarled old man spoke with Silveta while two women sobbed on a bench. They were so overcome that they barely spared a glance at our scanty clothes.

"My son was killed in the fighting. His body is still on the estate.†The old man spat on the dirt floor in fury. "lt's said that Birgir holds you hostage and that he will marry you in the morn.â€

"l will never wed Birgir Barfoot,†Silveta swore. "He cannot become chieftain.â€

"There's plenty who agree with you.†With a sour glance at the two mourning women, the old man said, "You'll need to go to Torgils' house. They've gathered there.â€

Silveta didn't like it, but we had another dash through town as the old man took us along the narrow alleyways down to a house near the waterfront.

Torgils' longhouse was large and filled with men lounging and sleeping in various positions on the ledges along the walls. Some of those still awake were heatedly discussing their plans for the morrow. The *olfs* followed us right inside. They hovered near the sod ceiling, one drifting down to tease the baby that lay in a basket by the fire. A woman was hunched over the hearth in the center of the hall, trying to warm herself.

Silveta was greeted with glad cries, and her embarrassment was banished when the woman quickly fetched her a skirt to wear. I squatted down near the baby, watching it bat its hands through the olf. Young children always liked to do that.

"So this is the Vidaris lass,†Torgils declared. "We heard she tried to kill Birgir at your behest.â€

I was taken aback when all the folk turned to stare at me.

"Not at my behest, though I wish she had killed him,†Silveta grumbled. "Then we would not be faced with this mess. Does Birgir hold the estate?â€

"Yes, and we have the waterfront.†Torgils sat on the table made of rough-hewn planks. "Boats have been sent to summon the magnates who are loyal to Ejegod. Birgir's warriors will hear of what happened and return. The merchants have already started boarding up their storerooms, expecting looting and fighting.â€

"l can't stay here,†Silveta decided.

"lf Birgir marries you, then his claim will be hard to dispute.â€

"l seek blood vengeance against Birgir Barfoot,†Silveta declared. "l must get to my father in Hop. He can convince the overlord to help me.â€

"We need good fighting men to wrest Birgir from your estate. A dead man can't claim the chieftaincy. And what about her?†Torgils asked, gesturing to me.

Silveta considered me. "Birgir would tear her from limb to limb if she's discovered. So I suppose I must bring her. Can you get her some clothes as well?â€

Torgils' wife reluctantly went to fetch a homespun gray skirt. It was a narrow sheath of substandard weave, with a ragged hem. I put it on, thanking her but getting nothing in return. She picked up the fat baby and put him to her breast, sitting down on the little stool near the fire.

I felt as if I were a harbinger of evil. Silveta wanted nothing to do with me. Yet I trailed in the wake of her ragged retinue as we trooped down to the docks. The sky was still mercifully dark.

Torgils pointed to a longship anchored in the bay. "You can take that one. l'll send for oarsmen, though they'll be boys too young to fight. We need every man we have to keep Birgir from taking the waterfront.â€

Silveta went under a lean-to near the dock to wait. The waves slapped against the side of a rowboat moored nearby, ready to ferry us out to the longship. Two of the men gathered casks of water and supplies for our trip.

Silveta anxiously watched as the sky brightened with the coming dawn. "Surely Birgir knows I am gone by now. We must leave.â€

"Perhaps they think we're in the hills,†I suggested.

Silveta frowned but refused to speak to me. Rather than upset her further, I backed out of the lean-to and sat down against the slanted side. The grass was wet with dew, but that didn't bother me. I was exhausted, having not slept all night.

As I drowsed in the chill air, I heard a voice calling my name. "Marja . . . Marja . . . â€

At first I thought it was my da summoning me from the fens as he had done since I was a little girl. But it grew more insistent, and I opened my eyes.

"Marja!†It was my master's voice.

"Lexander,†I breathed.

It couldn't be true, but I got to my feet, looking wildly around. There were a dozen men guarding the waterfront, pacing back and forth along the docks and staring at the crests of the inland hills. A man stood in the doorway of a nearby shed, beckoning to me. He wore rough brown pants and a jacket belted with common leather and a brass buckle. His cap went down around his ears and was slightly pointed.

But I knew it was Lexander by the way he moved. I ran straight into his arms.

"Marja, where have you been?†He pulled me back into the shed, where no one could see us.

"ls it really you?†I exclaimed, even as he clasped me close to him. His sublime scent engulfed me, and every plane and curve of his body felt so right under my hands. "You came for me!â€

"l've waited for you for nearly a moon,†he said, with his face pressing into my hair. "l thought I had killed you, sending you off on your own. But you made it here, as I knew you would.â€

I didn't care about anything at that moment, not the mistakes I had made nor the terror I had felt. None of that mattered now that I was in Lexander's arms.

"I thought I knew how much I loved you,†he murmured. "But it's much stronger than I imagined. I was desperate to find you again. I couldn't leave. I couldn't stop hoping I would hold you again.â€

Since leaving Vidaris, I had wondered sometimes if I had dreamed his outpouring of devotion. Now I knew I hadn't. "You can't ever send me away again,†I pleaded.

"Never.â€

He began kissing my face as if treasuring every part of meâ€"eyes, cheeks, brow, lips . . . I forgot where we were and lost myself in the wonder of his touch.

There was a hitch in his voice as he repeated my name. "Marja.†His hands held my face like a precious gift.

Even this closeness was not enough. Impulsively I opened myself up to him, diving into the flow of the spirits to reach out to him. I had never thought to reveal myself in that way to him. But now a barrier inside of me was gone. I could feel as he feltâ€"overwhelmed by passion and relief that we had found each other. I knew without words that he had lurked about the estate and watched for my arrival on the waterfront. But I had landed unseen in the midst of the midsummer guests, concealed within Gudren's retinue. Afterwards, I had hidden myself too well while avoiding Birgir and his men.

I could feel his blood running hot, burning with the need to join with me. He lifted me to the top of a barrel of whale oil, and I helped to pull up my skirt with an eager sound of assent. Olfs appeared and twirled around us in the small space. They were in a frenzy at the way I reached out to the otherworldly currents while I shared my love with Lexander. It seemed miraculous that no one else saw their explosion of light and glistening motion inside the shed.

Lexander wrapped my legs around his hips, holding me with a firm hand under each thigh. I steadled against him, lowering myself as he penetrated me. My head arched back as I let out a cry, grasping him around the neck. The tension between us, balancing each other while we joined together, went on forever. I opened myself up until I could feel his very heart beating. The *olfs* whirled in the sparks we radiated.

He submerged himself inside of me, filling me, feeling each wave of our ecstasy together. His emotions, then mine, echoed between us. He went to his knees, taking me with him.

I collapsed, lost within him and the swirling maelstrom we had created. Our bodies had merged and I was lit on fire, blazing . . .

"Marja!†Silveta called from outside the shed. "We're leaving now.â€

I struggled to lift my head as she repeated her call. She sounded impatient, but I could also hear her fear. There were more voices outside the shed. That brought me to my senses.

" 'Tis Silveta,†I gasped. "Birgir is after us. He discovered me posing as her maid.â€

"Silveta kept you on the estate?†he demanded. "ls she mad?â€

"We were desperate,†l explained. "Birgir killed Ejegod when he discovered me.â€

Lexander untangled himself, helping me to my feet. He was seriously troubled, but I smiled with complete love into his face, giddy from our joining. I was as glowing and dewy as a new bloomed flower. I had escaped Birgir and was with Lexander now. Surely the worst was over.

Â Â

I had only to stay at Lexander's side, overcome by the fact that he was here and that he loved me so very much, as he dealt with Silveta and Torgils. Lexander agreed to take charge of the motley crew of boys sailing Silveta to Hop.

I was eager to quit Tillfallvik and was the first to board the small boat with Silveta. Her disdain for me was clear, but she admitted to Lexander, "Marja helped me escape from the estate. I would never have found my way through the hills without her.â€

His hand caressed my hair. "Yes, she is a wonder at finding her way.â€

My heart was singing, but I couldn't help but feel sorry for the *olfs*, left melancholy on the shore. They wanted Silveta to be safe, but they felt as if they were being abandoned.

The boys Torgils had rounded up for us could barely control the boat as we rowed through the bay. The water was much darker than the sky, which finally began to brighten. Thankfully the summer waves were not high, and Lexander went among the boys, helping them row. He set course with the rudder, then gave it to me to hold. Silveta stared behind us, watching for Birgir's men to break through the line of townsfolk protecting the waterfront and skillfully man a boat to come after us. But we left the bay and threaded through the small islands at the mouth.

Striking out into open water, the shore disappeared behind with no sail following us. Soon after, her face lined with weariness, Silveta retreated to the bow to lie down on a rough pallet.

Then I finally remembered the sea spirits. I relaxed, letting my fingers sense the currents in the water through the rudder. I conveyed my need through my story, starting when the Sigurdssons had brought me to Tillfallvik for the midsummer celebration. The sea spirits drank in my long and convoluted tale, giving me encouragement to remember every detail.

"The wind is rising!†Lexander called. "Pull up the sail, lads!â€

My hair blew around my face as I hung on the tiller, showing the spirits how I had run from Birgir and his men, taking Silveta with me. They, unlike the olfs, had little concern with Silveta and her battle to save our land. But they appreciated our valiant struggle.

Lexander eventually came to sit beside me, taking the tiller from my hand to steer himself. I was jolted out of my communion with the spirits. The longship was scudding along briskly, with the boys resting, curled up on their benches. Our blue-green sail, much like the sea itself, bellied out full of wind. It had taken Gudren a full day to reach Tillfallvik from Djarney. It would take twice that for us to reach Hop.

"How long have you been with Silveta?†Lexander asked me.

"Since the midsummer celebration.â€

His expression was concerned. "Why did it take so long to reach Tillfallvik, Marja?†When I looked away, his hand grasped mine. "What happened to you? I must know.â€

"The coins you gave me were stolen by an oarsman in Brianda. After that I struggled mightily.â€

"Were you hurt?†He didn't realize his grip was too tight on my hand, revealing his torment.

I thought of the sailor in the alley, the one who had hit me until I was bruised in the face. "Yes. I was lucky to reach Tillfallvik. Silveta gave me protection, though she knew it was a risk.â€

"Silveta claims Birgir struck down her husband in a duel.â€

" 'Twas a true betrayal,†l agreed. "The chieftain thought of Birgir as a son.â€

"Poor old man. Silveta intends to go straight to the overlord to claim his protection.â€

"And will you help her? As she helped me?â€

"l have some allies that may be useful, but that would alert Helanas that we were in Viinland. Silveta's family has influence with the overlord, and likely she will do well for herself without having to call on the name of Vidaris.â€

"Silveta says that Helanas is looking for you.â€

Lexander shrugged slightly. "l have until the return of the Stanbulin ship in the fall, when Helanas must report my absence to our superiors. Helanas would most likely try to force me to return to Vidaris before then. Their wrath will fall on her when they discover I have gone to ground.â€

I could feel there was so much more behind his words. "You're in danger, are you not?â€

"Yes. And now that you are with me, you are also in grave peril.†He kept one arm on the tiller, maintaining our course. "l know you will not divulge what I have to say to anyone.â€

I nodded, staring into the flickering depths of his golden eyes. "Of a surety, I shall keep silent.â€

"Marja, the ship you saw takes the slaves from their training houses to Stanbulin. From there, your slave-mates are sent to live among my people on an island that few of your world ever see.â€

"My world?†I repeated in confusion. "ls it not yours as well?â€

"No. I am different than other men, as you may have sensed. My people came here a long time ago and we have lived among you, though we are not men. I have been at Vidaris for nearly two decades. Before that, I was in Veneto for two decades and before that it was the Orient.â€

So many years! A man with that many decades should be old, older even than Ejegod, who had been ancient indeed. Yet Lexander was still in his

Suddenly I understood. Lexander was a god. It explained so much that had eluded meâ€"his strength, his fast reflexes, his uncannily smooth skin as golden as his eyes. And Helanas, with her perfect beauty and callous disregard for people, just like the tales of the Norogods my da often recounted.

My mam had taught me that disaster strikes whenever folk consort with gods. They could pull you into the Otherworld without warning. I shifted away from Lexander, remembering how I had almost lost myself when we had joined together. What if Silveta had not called out, breaking our union? Would I have been transported to the Otherworld?

The pain in his eyes at my reaction was terrible to see. But I feared him as I never had before.

"Yes, I understand your fear,†he said sadly. "My people have used you most foully. I would swear never to hurt you, but your life is at risk being with me.â€

I believed him. The gods had terrifying power. They could strike and kill with a look. Surely that was why the *olfs* had been so ecstatic during our passionâ€"they could feel the Otherworld uniting with this one.

"l don't . . .†I started to say, but could not finish. I couldn't reject my love for Lexander, but every instinct told me that it was dangerous for me to touch him.

"l understand,†Lexander murmured. "lt is much to absorb.â€

I shook my head, tears welling up in spite of myself. I had thought the obstacles between us had fallen, but now I knew my own barriers had protected me while I was in his training. I loved him and would follow him anywhere, yet I could not go to the Otherworld while I was alive. For the living, the Otherworld was a torment, a place where they watched their wasted existence play endlessly out, unable to touch others or feel anything. Only the dead or creatures such as the *olfs* or sprites who were created there could prosper in the Otherworld.

"Go, Marja,†he ordered. "l would never force myself on you or make you submit as Helanas did. I saved you from that, and I will protect you.â€

I could hardly meet his eyes, I was so afraid of giving in to my longing for him. But my mam's terrified expression flashed in my mind. She would walk through fire to fetch me home if she knew what I faced.

I went to the prow to lie down next to Silveta. She murmured anxiously but did not awaken. The relief I had sought for so long had been ripped away from me again, and I was glad to see her despite her dislike of me. We curled up together to sleep.

Thirteen

I knew that I risked everything by loving Lexander. I had seen through his eyes and felt his every sensation as when we made love. I had almost lost myself in him. Surely that was why he had warned me. He didn't want to harm me, but his very nature could be deadly to me.

For so long whenever I had been afraid, I had imagined how Lexander would protect me when we were reunited. But that was a childish fancy. I had not been safe in Vidaris, where the evil infesting Helanas was always near. And my dreams of being taken away by the winged ship had been foolish, without regard for the ruthlessness of Lexander's people. Now I couldn't go to Lexander and hold him as I longed to. I couldn't rely on him when he posed such a tempting danger himself. My conflicting desires chewed me up inside.

When I awoke, Lexander was once more the master I had known in Vidarisâ€"cool and reserved. And I returned to watching him, always watching. I understood now, why Lexander was the best of men with his superior confidence and understanding. Despite our dire circumstances, he was in absolute control. His otherworldly power gave us wings as our narrow boat skipped through the towering ocean waves. The boys did as he ordered without question. Even Silveta ate and drank at his command.

By evening, Silveta no longer returned to the stern to watch for Birgir. Instead she hung on the prow, drenched in spray, staring ever forward as if willing us to go faster. In spite of her rough skirt and the dirty shawl tied over her head, her regal bearing was not diminished.

As the sun lowered over the western horizon, Lexander sent one of the boys up the mast to look for a sail following us. The boy called down that there

were none to be seen.

Silveta let out an audible sigh of relief, but her eyes were haunted, as if she couldn't truly believe she had escaped from Birgir.

"We'II arrive at the bastion by morning,†Lexander assured her.

"lt would take another half day to reach my family,†Silveta said, as if to herself.

"You can't risk it,†Lexander replied. "You must speak with the overlord first. Birgir will not ignore the most powerful man in the region. He'll send his best men to plead his case.â€

Reluctantly, Silveta nodded agreement. Without saying a word or even looking at me, Lexander returned to the stern to hold the tiller.

I settled in for the night, wondering who Birgir would send to the overlord. It was not likely to be Niall since he had been responsible for letting me escape. I shuddered to think what Birgir would do to him. Niall had no evil spirit dwelling within him, but he was selfish and did whatever suited him best. I was thankful for that, because his flaws had saved me from a terrible fate.



In the first morning light, we reached the expansive Straumsey Bay, which was dotted with wooded islands. The sparkling water was light blue, indicating a mighty river must empty into the ocean here. The mass of trees along every shore revealed only glimpses of log houses on the waterfront. There were a great many sailing ships everywhere as fishermen worked the outgoing tide. High on the wind, I could smell ripening grain and fruit trees growing farther inland.

One island stood out from the others because it had no blanket of trees, only bare stone cliffs. But as we drew closer, I realized what I had taken for natural rock were walls that enclosed the entire island. Narrow arched windows pierced the levels, and those with their shutters thrown back revealed dozens of diamond panes of glass.

It was a fortress to withstand anyone who challenged the overlord of Viinland. There was only one place where we could dock, on the narrow hooked end of the island. As we sailed closer, I marveled at the slender towers marking the corners where lookouts sheltered.

An official-looking man in a short cape met us on the dock. Lexander pled Silveta's case, citing her *jarl* status as her right to see the overlord. The man gestured for two guards wearing broad short-swords. The guards refused to allow the boys off the boat, so they settled in to raid our meager stores while they waited.

Lexander and Silveta started out with the guards. Neither of them asked me to come, but I went along anyway. We looked quite the humble group in our peasant garb.

I had never felt more overwhelmed by a place. The bastion was entirely enclosed, a city fortress made of stone. There were colonnades of arches and covered walks, while the buildings shared common walls with a continuous line of windows rising three and four stories above our heads. Even the street was paved with flat stones fit together like puzzle pieces. Puddles pooled in the cracks, and shopkeepers were busy sweeping outside their doors.

We slipped unseen through the narrow streets. At the other end, we were taken through a massive iron gate into the bastion proper. We went down long corridors and up stairs, then through an open courtyard lined with columns and round arches. I looked around in frank astonishment at the tapestries and carved furniture in the large chambers we passed. Every surface was paneled in wood, with parquet floors forming cunning patterns. I had never seen anything near as grand as this place.

Children ran about everywhere among the servants and folk who gathered in the bastion for business or for pleasure. Guards were posted here and there, blocking doors and overlooking the enormous chambers. It felt like the Sigurdssons' household, but on a much larger scale, large enough for a dozen families to live within.

Inside one hall, folk milled near long tables as the morning meal was served. I was heartened to see that *olfs* gathered in droves for the pickings. They were cheerful and much more plentiful than on Ejegod's estate. Truly. Birgir was a blight on my homeland.

We were shown into a small antechamber where there were several benches and a window looking out on the sparkling blue sea. One of the guards stood with his back to the base of the archway, while the other retreated.

"When will we see the overlord?†Silveta asked the guard.

He made a noncommittal answer, glancing at Lexander, who settled onto a bench. Silveta twitched at her poor skirt and tried to smooth her hair. I went to help her, undoing the bedraggled braids and combing the golden strands with my fingers. I untwined the string of amber beads she had woven through her hair. They wound a dozen times around her throat. It was sad to see the vivid scratches near her mouth and the purpling bruise of her cheek where Birgir had hit her. I braided small strands of her hair away from her face, but had no time to do the rest before boots were heard through the open archway.

Silveta handed me her shawl. "Put this over your head. Even in rags you look like a doxy from the streets.â€

I put the cloth over my head, tying down my unruly locks. The guard stiffened as several men returned. Silveta slowly stood up, as did Lexander.

"Silveta, it is indeed you.†A ring of *olf*s floated around the burly man in the center, drawn like moths to a flame. He stood with his fists on his hips, as if he were more comfortable on the deck of a longship than on land. His mane of grizzled auburn hair swept back from his weathered face. Yet his garments were rich, with his cape lined in ermine and his shoes embroidered in silver thread.

"Greetings from Markland, Overlord Jedvard,†Silveta replied, dipping down in a respectful curtsy.

Jedvard took in her tattered clothing. "What is this, Silveta? What brings you to my home in this sad state?â€

"My husband was murdered most foul, Overlord, by Birgir Barfoot. Even my bondsmen were killed. l've come to ask for your help.â€

Jedvard drew back, his bright interest growing more serious. "Surely your own magnates must administer justice in your land, Silveta.â€

"The magnates support me, yet Birgir has taken my estate by force and now fights with the townsfolk of Tillfallvik. I must put down his insurrection so the magnates can gather in peace to choose their next chieftain.â€

Jedvard laced his fingers together, as if considering her plea.

"With fifty men I can end this insurrection tomorrow,†Silveta insisted. "Birgir's loyalists are scattered far and wide. Ejegod granted them estates so they would disperse. We little expected Birgir would kill Ejegod on his own hearth!â€

I held my breath at Jedvard's silence. But the young man next to him couldn't contain himself. He had been staring indignantly at the bruises on Silveta's face. "l say it's barbaric! Birgir was your father's honored guest, wasn't he? Artur just returned from your midsummer celebration and he told me there was unrest in Markland over this *vikingr*.â€

Jedvard smiled indulgently at the young man. "My son Jens will escort you to a guest chamber, freya. I must consult with my council on a matter such as this. I will summon you soon.â€

Silveta clasped his hand in gratitude. "Your generosity will be well rewarded, Overlord.â€

He turned and marched out with the rest of the men, leaving only Jens behind. Several of the *olfs* lingered with the son, obviously fascinated by him. Jens was tall but wiry, with a dusting of peach fuzz on his chin. Hiked his dewy freshness; it reminded me of my fellow slaves.

Silveta was barely two summers older than we, but she replied to Jens' innocent queries as if he were one of the children that littered the place. From their familiar tone, I could tell they had known each other for along time. Silveta had grown up not far away, and was likely accustomed to regularly visiting the bastion.

Indeed, Silveta instructed Lexander on where to go to send word of her plight to her father and call him to her side. Meanwhile Jens showed us up a spiral staircase into a round room with a low, peaked ceiling. There was a richly draped bed and the air smelled fresh like the ocean breeze that wafted through the window.

Then as casually as she ordered her own servants around, Silveta requested water to bathe and some proper clothes. Jens left, looking somewhat daunted but determined to find something that would suit Silveta's nobility.

When he was gone, I blurted out, "Why are you treating him that way?â€

Silveta turned away from the window in surprise. "What are you talking about?â€

"He's the overlord's son.â€

"Jens is a child!†She laughed.

"He could marry tomorrow, if he wished. And he certainly has his father's fond eye. You could do worse than to cultivate his goodwill.â€

Silveta blinked a few times, sitting down on the bench. "Jens was always a silly boy, getting under everyone's feet. But I suppose he's not so young anymore. I feel I have grown so old . . . a widow after a few scant years of marriage.â€

"You are too forbidding, Silveta. I know 'tis due to need. But you can be softer to him.â€

Silveta jerked her chin. "You want me to tempt that poor boy? l'm not like you, throwing myself at everyone I see. I have my dignity.â€

"You're running for your life, freya. I say bed him if you can.â€

She blushed rosy red. "Never! I would not buy freedom with my body.â€

Jens came back before I could ask why not. I traded what others valued in order to survive. Surely Silveta had done the same when she became the wife of the aged chieftain.

I was pleased to see that Silveta was much kinder to Jens when he returned, thanking him for the clothing he brought, even holding out her hand in gratitude as she had done with his father. Her obvious emotion, since it was so rare, was all the more touching. I remembered how she had begged me to take her place in bed to deceive Birgir. Even if I hadn't been under Lexander's geasa, I likely would have done as she requested.

I slipped outside to stand on the stairs, closing the door to a crack to give them privacy. Silveta narrowed her eyes after me, but I trusted in the *olfs*. They did not venture near those who were wicked, and they clearly adored Jens. He absently brushed them away from his head, like errant flies, as if sensing how close they were.

Silveta seemed torn, having become accustomed to holding all men at arm's length to protect herself, and now traumatized from being raped. However, Jens was not a full-grown man, but a youth, and her early association with him must have been comforting. She gazed at Jens as if she had never really seen him before. He was a handsome lad, with his father's auburn hair curling at his shoulders and round blue eyes.

He still held her hand. "l know my father will help you, Silveta. How could he not counter such brutality?â€

"l can only hope the overlord will see how much he has to gain by supporting me.â€

"He'II meet with his council this afternoon. I just heard word has gone out to summon those who are not in the bastion.â€

"lt's not likely my father will make it here in time,†Silveta said, biting her lip. "l have no one to speak for me.â€

"You can speak for yourself. Surely you'll be allowed. l'll come to escort you to the council, myself.â€

Her expression softened. "You've been more than kind, Jens.â€

Something clearly bothered him. Hesitantly, his fingers touched the bruise on her cheek. "ls it painful?â€

"Yes.†She hesitated, unused to revealing any weakness. "I fear I will be forced to endure more at that butcher's hand.â€

He gazed into her eyes, and she too seemed caught up in the moment. He bowed down to kiss her hand, and she drew in her breath. Jens kept his lips to her hand for a long time, and she did not try to pull away.

I felt a touch on my shoulder and started in surprise. It was Lexander. He looked through the crack to see Jens reverently kissing Silveta's hand. "Good instinct,†he murmured, "but wrong man. Jedvard is not likely to send his youngest son into battle against Birgir, however toothsome a prize Markland would be.â€

Lexander pushed open the door. Silveta pulled away from Jens, mortified at being caught in even this innocent act. She was flushed and breathing faster. Jens was grinning as if he would never stop. He assured Silveta several times that he would return for her. Then he finally left.

"l'll go with him,†Lexander told Silveta. "Perhaps I can learn more to your advantage in the negotiations. They will expect trade rights in return for their support.â€

"l'll consider what concessions you can convey to the overlord,†Silveta agreed, retreating behind her dignified mask.

I slipped out after Lexander, but he waved for me to stay behind. When I tried to return, Silveta shut the door in my face.

I had nothing to do but to sit in the wooden staircase that spiraled down several floors, waiting until I was needed again.

Â

I had plenty of time to consider my plight. I did not want to go back to Tillfallvik while Birgir was there. But surely Silveta intended to return with the overlord's men to fight for her estate.

Lexander reappeared twice to confer privately with Silveta, then left to pass on her concessions to the overlord. He didn't speak to me. Though I listened through the door to their discussions of trade rights, I couldn't tell if Lexander intended to return to Tillfallvik with Silveta. Lexander owned me, and I would do whatever he ordered. The only thing I would not do was surrender myself to him. I had too great a fear of the Otherworld to risk being subsumed.

Olfs came and went all day, no doubt curious about us. They popped into the stairwell to examine me, then disappeared into the round room where Silveta bathed and prepared herself. In the mystical way of otherworldly creatures, it seemed they knew of Silveta and her importance to the northern olfs. They mocked my somber mood, and soon convinced me that our presence in the bastion was cause for celebration.

By the time Jens returned, Silveta was her elegant self once moreâ€"perfectly coiffed and wearing a dress of yellow silk that Jens had given her. Jens was stricken into awed silence at the sight of her. I watched from my hiding place on the steps huddled in the shadows.

Jens led her reverently down to the landing on the second floor. I had explored as far as I dared during the day. I could tell they were heading to the northernmost end of the bastion, where the tallest towers were gathered. I trailed after them.

After a short walk, we met up with Lexander outside a stout door. It was constructed of heavy beams bound with iron, as if meant to hold off the wind and snow even though we were deep inside the bastion. Two guards watched us from either side as we gathered in the wide hallway. A few servants loitered about, waiting to be given orders.

Half a dozen women were seated on benches at the end of the hallway, doing needlework by the sunlight slanting through two high windows. They were dressed as finely as Silveta, and their muted conversation grew more animated as they examined us.

Jens opened the door at a nod from the guard. The narrow room beyond was so long that the flat beamed ceiling seemed low. But Lexander could not have touched it with his hand. A row of chairs ran along each wall, and at the end sat Jedvard. His massive wooden chair had an elaborate carved canopy projecting over his head. The big man rested one elbow on the polished arm.

I paused near the door, wary of all the eyes that turned to us. The dozen men who made up the overlord's council were seated in high-backed carved chairs. Then I saw an olf sitting on the top of Jedvard's chair, kicking its feet playfully over the edge. Surely that was a good sign.

Silveta went through the hall to stand directly in front of Jedvard. Lexander was one step behind at her right, acting as her *bondi* though I had not heard him give her a vow. I stayed behind them both, with my shawl tied firmly in place. I held the standing pose of submission with my head bowed and my hands clasped together, trying as hard as I could to disappear. I did not want to be a pawn in this game played by great men.

Jedvard sounded much more eager than he had earlier. "l have explained to my councilors your need, *freya*. And the terms your man has conveyed. But it is a weighty matter involving ourselves in civil war.â€

"Though I am a daughter of Viinland,†Silveta proclaimed, "my right to Ejegod's estate is confirmed in my marriage contract. There will be no civil war, only a battle against a brigand who murdered my husband. I am quite sure that years of cooperation between our nations are worth far more than the little help I am asking for.â€

Lexander nodded slightly.

An old man seated to our right spoke up. "What if Birgir Barfoot does not surrender? If I am correct, he arrived with a hundred warriors. Surely he could prove to be the victor and remain the chieftain of Markland.â€

"My people have not and never will accept Birgir as chieftain,†Silveta swore, looking straight at Jedvard. "Without their support, he has no hope of success. I can guarantee our trade agreements will be honored, and surely that is advantageous to you.â€

Jens had gone to stand beside his father's chair. His eyes were shining as he watched Silveta passionately defend her rights. But he was merely a boy in rut. I wished he had been more of a man.

The overlord considered his councilors, who had no further protests. "We accept your proposal, Silveta. Fifty of my best men will go with you to Tillfallvik and stay until your new chieftain is named. If that man is not your choice for husband, perhaps you would consider one who has direct links to the overlord?â€

Silveta bowed slightly. "l am pleased to honor the overlord in any way I can. I cannot thank you enough for assisting me in my time of need . . .â€

She trailed off as the door swung open and a guard hurried in. He went straight to the overlord's chair, asking a question in a low voice. Jens looked urgently at Silveta as if silently trying to warn her.

Jedvard straightened. "lt seems Birgir Barfoot has sent his own emissary. Send him in so he can speak to my council.â€

A chill went through me. My hands clutched at Lexander's cloak as several of Birgir's *bondi* entered the chamber. Niall was among them. His black pointed beard made him stand out among the blond warriors.

Niall spied me immediately, and his dark eyes snapped with anger. Lexander looked down at me as I tried to hide behind him. "What did you do to this man, Marja?†he murmured.

"l escaped from him,†l admitted, "after l pleased him into oblivion.â€

Niall was clearly in disfavor because one of the other men addressed the overlord. "Greetings, Overlord Jedvard! We bring a missive from Birgir, Chieftain of Markland,†he announced, holding the parchment up for all the councilors to see. "As Chieftain of Markland by right of conquest and forfeit, Birgir will swear fealty to the Overlord of the commonwealth of Viinland if Silveta, his bride-to-be, is returned to him.â€

"No!†Silveta exclaimed. "That is not true! Birgir has not been confirmed as chieftain by the magnates.â€

Niall stepped forward. "The magnates support Birgir. Already they are flocking to him. Markland needs a strong hand to rule.â€

Silveta gasped. "Birgir slew my husband, stole my estate, and raped me! 'Tis against every common law.â€

Niall sneered at her. "Your rights are forfeit because of your crimes, Silveta. You succor a sorceress, named so by Ejegod himself, who attempted twice to kill Birgir at your behest. You lie, as all women lie!â€

Jens started forward, his hand on his knife as if to attack Niall.

Jedvard stopped him with one hand. He silenced the rising questions from the councilors. "There will be no brawling in my chambers!†He gestured to his son. "Take Silveta back to the tower. My councilors must consider how to deal with this matter.â€

I was only too glad to get away from Niall. But Silveta dragged her feet, staring anxiously at Jedvard. "I beg you support my people, Overlord. A man who begins with treachery could not be loyal to you. You cannot trust Birgir as you can trust me. I have given you my allegiance my entire life.â€

Jedvard gestured to the guards to go with us, while Birgir's bondi smirked as they watched us leave. Lexander's brows furrowed as two more guards joined us.

When the door closed behind us, Jens assured Silveta, "My father must deal with Birgir's men wisely. Who knows where their sights may land next?â€

I realized that Birgir's warband could be as much a threat to Viinland as to Markland.

Silveta wrung her hands and cried, "Oh, where is my father?â€

The three of us filed up the spiral stairs and into the chamber at the top of the tower. The guards would not let Jens enter with us. He called out, "l'll return shortly! I must hear their negotiations. Never fear, Silveta.â€

Lexander stood beside the door as it closed, listening. At a scraping sound, he tried to lift the latch. "They've locked us in. A guard is outside.â€

I was shocked, "The overlord would not betrav us!â€

"l wish I were as confident as you,†he retorted.

"But . . . he couldn't be evil,†I finally said, thinking of all the *olfs* who flocked to him. "How could he harm us?â€

Silveta was pacing back and forth by the windows, "Jedvard would do whatever it took to protect the commonwealth. He would even congratulate himself on gaining the wealth of Markland for his people.â€

Lexander agreed. "Birgir offers far more than Silveta, with no risk for the overlord's bondsmen. Even if you offered to become a province of

Viinland, Silveta, fighting to win your estate back would still be the greater risk for him.â€ "l could never offer that,†she insisted. "l could not break the vow I made when I married Ejegod, to uphold Markland's independence.â€

"Birgir is willing to give that much,†Lexander reminded her.

"No, there's still my father,†Silveta declared. "He would never let Birgir get away with this.â€

"Then that is our last hope,†Lexander said.

Silveta stared at him, no doubt thinking as I didâ€"Jedvard could turn us over to Birgir's men and gain another province for Viinland. A wealthy gift, indeed, for very little effort. Then Silveta would be forced to wed Birgir and be subjected to his sadistic ways, while I would be devoured by his bondi. And the olfs . . . they would take flight from Tillfallvik as they had fled from Vidaris, while Birgir's evil spread unfettered throughout the land.

Fourteen

"**W**e must flee,†I whispered. I went to Lexander, grasping him by the arm. "Please, Master! We must get to our boat.â€

"You think I can escape from the bastion?†he retorted in disbelief. "This place is impregnable. We will stay here until Jedvard decides what to do with us.â€

I couldn't believe it, but the resignation in his eyes was unfeigned. Yet surely a god could do whatever he willed . . . perhaps I had misunderstood him after all.

Silveta collapsed on a bench, her hands clenched against her face. Yet she seemed convinced that her father would rise to her aid.

With the specter of Birgir and his men before me, I could not be so sanguine. I went to the window and opened the glass panels. The window was high in the wall, so I dragged a bench underneath to stand on. I pulled the shawl from my head so I could lean out. The wall curved away from me in both directions. The roof came down at a sharp angle above us.

My hands caressed the stones. They were round and slippery from the moisture of the sea. Most were the size of my head or larger. Mortar was packed tightly between them. I would never be able to scale this wall as I had the timber buildings on Ejegod's estate.

I pulled back inside and considered Lexander, who was listening at the door. It seemed impossible that he could suffer. Slowly, I sat down on the bench to watch him. I sank into myself, instinctively sending out a call for the olfs to come to me. I wondered why none were here.

As the long day wore on, the beam of sunlight moved up the wall. Still Lexander did nothing but listen at the door. Silveta got up to pace time and again, murmuring to herself.

When the sky shaded to twilight, an olf finally appeared. It hovered at the ceiling near the door, watching us and staying unusually still. I had hoped it would flit around happily to show me that all was well, but its wretched expression told me we had much to fear.

I went to stand directly beneath the olf, trying to calm my agitation and radiating soothing thoughts. I couldn't think about Niall or Birgir because my dread could frighten the olf off. I breathed slowly and deeply, touching the flow of spirits in this place.

The feeling in the bastion was one of alarm. We had brought the troubles of Markland into the very heart of Viinland. The council feared what Birgir would do to their land, while the folk in the bastion thought it a neat resolution to marry Silveta to Birgir. Few people took seriously her refusal to marry him. After all, her first husband had been an old man who could seed no child. A lusty warrior was seen as a much better alternative, even if he had the presumption to bed her before he wed her.

Through the *olf*, I could even sense the overlord's secret elation. He had a deeper reason for sealing an alliance with Birgirâ€"his grandfather had dreamed of gaining sovereignty over all of the western maritime lands, but Ejegod's family had ruled with far too strong a hand. Jedvard had bribed Silveta's father to marry her to Ejegod, but had not imagined it would bring him this boon. Silveta's father was still a thorn to be dealt with, but the magnificent bride price that Birgir would be forced to pay would solve her family's current financial problems.

"Jedvard intends to accept Birgir's oath,†I murmured, as it became clear in my mind. Lexander turned to look at me.

"No! My father will not allow it,†Silveta snapped, her eyes wild.

I shook off the last trace of my communion with the olfs. "Your father is here now.â€

"My father!†Silveta stood up, as if ready to run to him. "How do you know?â€

"The olfs told me.â€

Silveta let out a disbelieving laugh. "You are daft! Do you think l'll believe some mythical creatures informed you that my own father would betray me?â€

The *olf* above my head vanished. They hated to be denied.

"The *olf*s are watching over you,†I said seriously. "They've saved you time and again.â€

Silveta dismissed me with a wave, sitting back down. "They do a poor job, if this is the result.â€

Stung, I remembered how often the *olfs* had prevented harm from falling on her. "Would you have me prove their devotion to you? The *olfs* are the ones who led us through the woods when we escaped. They told me to save you.â€

She remembered how I had guided her in the dark, though she hadn't believed it was possible. I found that people often refused to see what was right before their eyes. But I could not let Silveta deny the *olf*s. They depended on her.

Lexander was listening closely. He did not see the *olfs*, but he had never questioned my understanding of them. My da's kin treated *olfs* as a mere superstition. They had laughed and thought me half addled. But Lexander had always been respectful of them though he couldn't see them himself.

"Hush!†Lexander whispered, leaning closer to the door. Voices echoed up the stairwell.

"My father!†Silveta exclaimed, leaping to her feet. "He's come for me.â€

I hoped for the best. Jens had promised faithfully to return. But faint tendrils of evil seeped into the room, and my skin grew cold.

The latch on the door lifted, and it swung open. Two guards came in first, their short-swords in their hands. They stepped to either side of the door as another man climbed the stairs, carrying a basket.

Niall looked directly at me as he entered, smiling slyly. "That kindhearted boy insisted that you get some food. No candles, of course, or you might burn the place down.â€

He thrust the basket into Lexander's hands. Then Niall came so close to me that I backed against the wall, feeling the wood paneling beneath my desperate fingers.

"Yes, you would do well to run from me,†Niall murmured, never taking his eyes off mine. His hand twitched at his side. I thought he was going to hit me.

Lexander dropped the basket to step up to Niall.

"Stay out of this,†Niall told him. "Birgir cares not that you've helped this wildcat.†He gestured over his shoulder to Silveta. "You can leave now. The guards will let you go. Return to Tillfallvik and tell them that the overlord supports Birgir's rule of Markland, in the name of the one true

god of Kristna.â€

Silveta cried out, "But my father!â€

"He cares not who you're wed to,†Niall retorted. "So go, man, be loyal to your chieftain. You have much to gain from cooperating with us.â€

Niall clearly thought Lexander was a simple man from Tillfallvik, loyal to Ejegod. Fear washed over me at the thought of my master leaving us. But he must go; Lexander could get help from his allies for us.

Silveta's voice was harsh as she spoke to Lexander. "Go, man! You did your duty to bring me here. I release you now.â€

"Yes,†I murmured. "Go.†It was our only hope of rescue.

"The girl wants it,†Niall taunted. "But then, you were exceedingly eager last night. This time you will not bespell me, sorceress.†He ordered the guards, "Take him away. His crew of boys awaits him. And lock the door after you.â€

Lexander's amber eyes narrowed. His hand went to the short knife at his waist.

"Go,†I repeated through gritted teeth. Surely I could survive what Niall did to me until Lexander returned to save us. I would do whatever I could to keep Niall from attacking Silveta. But if she could endure Birgir, Niall could hardly be worse.

Lexander pulled his knife. "Not while I stand.â€

Both the guards lifted their swords, crying out, "Halt!â€

Niall's eyes widened. "She has suborned you, too? Quick work, girl,†he drawled. "Did you bed him on the journey here in front of all of those lusty boys?â€

"You'll not taste her charms,†Lexander declared. "l'll kill you first.â€

Niall's hand went to his ax. "No man lives who makes such a boast!â€

"Stand down,†one of the guards ordered. The big one stood in the doorway. "There'II be no fighting here. Youâ€â€"he pointed at Niallâ€""you've delivered the food. Now get out. If the bondsman wants to stay with his freya, then 'tis his right.â€

Lexander held his knife ready as Niall hesitated.

Then Niall grinned, letting his hand fall from his ax. "l'll have her soon enough. We depart at dawn to speed Silveta to her loving husband. Then this slave shall be mine.â€

Niall laughed at my shock, then gave Lexander a mocking salute as he withdrew. The two guards followed him, and the latch fell with a solid clank as it was locked shut.

"Why didn't you go, Lexander?†Silveta cried. "You could have gotten help for us.â€

He resheathed his knife. "l couldn't leave you here with that man.â€

"Better that than to condemn me to Birgir's mercies!†Silveta tore at her hair and threw herself on the bed, the drapes billowing out around her

I felt much the same, but I couldn't protest when I saw how his decision tormented him. Lexander knew I understood, and he put his arms around me. I melted into him in my need for solace.

"l couldn't let him harm you,†he whispered.

If only I could have stayed that way forever. I leaned my face against his chest and heard his steady heartbeat. But instead of being flushed and warm from his confrontation with Niall, his skin was cool to the touch as always, reminding me that he was not a man.

He felt me stiffen, and released me. I almost protested, willing to give anything to be one with him again. But my mam's warnings were too true. I couldn't let myself surrender to him. I must go to the Otherworld only when I was safely dead. At this moment, it looked as if it would be at Niall's hand.

With a sigh, Lexander returned to his post by the door. I sank down on the hard wooden floor. Silveta was crying helplessly on the bed.



When Silveta finally slept from sheer exhaustion, the curtains drawn tight around her, I approached Lexander.

By the light of the crescent moon, I went to kneel before him. My pose was *lydnad*, obedience, kneeling straight from shoulders to knees with my eyes down. "l beg of you to help us, Master.â€

He sat, leaning against the door. "Marja . . . I am not as powerful as you think.â€

Iswallowed. "Do you require a sacrifice? I would give anything of myself to escape.â€

"l saw that.†His hand reached out to caress my hair.

"Then why won't you save us? Surely a god could keep us all from harm.â€

His hand dropped away from me, and he stared off into the darkness. "lt's true that some of my people, the oldest among us, are considered gods. With only a thought, they could smite Birgir where he stands. But I haven't their powers, not yet. I can control only my own flesh, not the elements around me. I could not fly from here, nor carry you with me, much as I long to.â€

"So you can suffer, too?â€

"Yes. I will fight these men who try to harm you, but you must know that even with my great strength, I can be struck down.â€

"Can't you ask your people for help?â€

His voice was soft but resolute. "l abandoned Vidaris, Marja. They would sooner kill me themselves. But I could not endure it another moment longer. I could not see you broken as a toy for their amusement.â€

I was stunned. "ls there no hope then?â€

"lt seems to me that you have powerful friends, Marja. You escaped from Birgir once before and saved Silveta. Look to yourself for your

deliverance.â€

It was too dark for me to see him well, but he was in earnest. He was my master, a godling in his own right, yet he needed my help.

I knew what I must do.

I went to the basket and rummaged through it by touch. There were ripe cranberries along with a heavy loaf of bread and two joints of a large bird. A water jug held mead. I drank deeply and gave it to Lexander to do the same. Then I set it on the hearth uncorked. The coals were long dead, merely ash. I glanced up the flue, but it was a tube too small for me to pass through. Olfs leaped into the draft of a flue to be sucked outside, enjoying the rush of air and the ride.

I sat down to concentrate, calling the *olfs* to me. I could feel them out there, milling about in the bastion. But none of them responded. After trying over and over, I knew that Silveta's denouncement was keeping them at bay. *Olfs* were very sensitive. It did not seem likely that any would be tempted to come back for the mead when they could get all they wanted elsewhere in the bastion.

The longer I sat on the floor, the more I heard the booming of the ocean waves against the base of the cliffs. The sea spirits were trying to answer my call.

I fetched the loaf of bread from the basket, hefting it in my hand. It smelled like ground barley and rye mixed with whey and honey. My belly was empty and I longed to taste it, but my sacrifice would mean more if I was hungry. I climbed onto the bench under the window and leaned out, tearing off a chunk of the bread and tossing it far into the air. The bread arced away from the wall of the bastion, tumbling down to bounce off the rocks below and into the boiling waves.

I threw out chunks of bread again and again, giving it all before they were satisfied. I could not touch the water, so my only hope lay in reaching them through sacrifice. I received scattered, faint images from the sea spirits as if I were looking through layers of silk—our longship had departed with the boys, taking a message from the overlord in support of Birgir as chieftain. There was fighting in Tillfallvik, with Ejegod's bondi still holding the waterfront, waiting for Silveta to return with reinforcements. I even saw Helanas standing at the gate of Vidaris, looking out to sea and wondering where Lexander was.

I tried to ask the sea spirits for guidance, but they were like the *olfs*. The creatures thought only of what was happening now—the future was of no consequence to them. They could not predict what Birgir would do, or what would become of us. Only gods and humans considered the coming days and manipulated events to suit their desires.

When the bread was gone, the sea spirits had nothing more to show me. I could not jump out far enough to dive into the water. The rocks would take me first to my death.

I slowly turned away and sat down on the bench under the window. Lexander was still leaning against the door, watching me. He was in the shadows, while I was bathed in the faintest glow from the sliver of moon.

Was there nowhere else to turn? From the overlord's reaction, I could tell the Norogods were supporting Birgir, though he claimed to have only Kristna at his side. I was not surprised my da's gods would choose Birgir since he had won at arms. They thrived on conflict. As for the bastion, I did not know the spirits who claimed it and would have no right to call on them.

Then my mam's face appeared before my eyes, answering my anguished cry for help. She was woken from her sleep by my need. The roaring of the ocean here echoed the waves in far-off Jarnby, linking us together. I praised the wisdom of the sea spirits for bringing us together.

She prayed to her Skraeling gods to answer my call for help. Issitoq, the punisher of taboos, replied to her, acknowledging that betrayal was at the heart of my pain.

We joined together in our call, seeking retribution for the overlord's duplicity. He had agreed to support Silveta and had spoken his pledge aloud before his own councilors. Then he had sacrificed her for his own greed. I pleaded with Issitoq to claim vengeance by saving us.

In my mind's eye, my mam sat staring into the fire in our modest longhouse, chanting under her breath so as to not awaken the others. She pulled a small knife from her belt, letting the glow of the coals glint off the blade.

I went over to Lexander. "I need your knife.â€

He handed it to me, not knowing what I intended. I returned to the bench where I could hear the sea beneath me. My lips began to move in the same chant as my mam, the Skraeling words coming to me with her thoughts. Het the plea for help roll through me as we both pressed the point of the knives into our palms.

"Marja,†Lexander protested.

I let the sharp blade slice into my skin. I dragged it to form a red line to the base of my hand. Blood welled up, running down my uplifted arm. I could see my mam's hand covered in blood. We let it drip onto the floor, chanting to give our *inua* wings to fly to Issitoq, to satiate him with our sacrifice.

Then I could hold it back no longer; the pain flashed through me, severing my connection with my mam. I gasped out loud, holding my wrist to let the blood drip free. I forced my lips to continue the Skraeling chant, over and over again. With each shining drop, I gave of myself to Issitoq. I knew that in Jarnby, my mam was doing the same.



I was still chanting dully when the moon set. I felt the chill that comes with the approaching morn but did not dare pause in my pleas to Issitoq. I, who had honored the gods always, begged to be heard.

It seemed like a dream when Lexander moved away from the entrance at the sound of the latch lifting. The door swung open. A candle lit the stairwell, revealing a guard. My lips faltered on the chant and finally stopped. The blood had congealed on my skin and left a shiny splotch on the floor.

Then Jens appeared. "Silveta! l've come to get you out of here.â€

The curtains of the bed flung back, and Silveta came flying from her nest. "Jens! Can it be true?â€

Lexander gestured to the guard. "What about him?â€

"Gris has guarded me since I was a child—he's my *bondi.*†The guard went back down a few steps to hold watch.

Jens held out both of his hands to Silveta. "Gris relieved the other guard early, but we must hurry for the real guard will arrive soon. No one must know you're gone until Birgir's men come to fetch you in the morn.â€

Silveta hugged Jens in her eagerness. "You are truly a gift from the gods, Jens!â€



Fifteen

I was jolted out of the last vestiges of my trance. Cradling my hand, I hurried through the door. Jens latched it behind us, and Gris took up a stance in front of it. Then Jens led us down the spiral stairs, checking at each archway before gesturing us to pass. On the lowest floor, he led us to another set of stairs, this one more rickety and dark than the others. At the bottom, he gestured to the corridors with low stone ceilings that branched off in several directions. Lexander had to stoop so as not to brush his head.

"Through here,†Jens whispered. "There should be no one about right now. This will take us to the docks. You must get away quickly, before it's discovered you're missing.†Then he glanced at me. "Birgir's men claim that she's a sorceress, and they'll likely think she flew you over the ocean.â€

Lexander grinned at me. In spite of the danger I suddenly wanted to laugh.

Had Issitoq induced Jens to help us? Or had Silveta truly won his heart?

But I had no time for such musings as we hurried through the dark passageway. In some sections, it tunneled through rock and changed levels, but Jens dashed along as if he knew the way. I could imagine him as a boy with his brothers, racing along these passageways to the far parts of the sprawling bastion.

Olfs popped up occasionally, but mostly they stayed at a distance. I was so drained from my long chant that I could barely acknowledge them. Most of them were preoccupied with spinning in the trailing cobwebs of dreams.

Then Jens led us into an alleyway that opened up above us. It took a moment for me to realize we were in the streets. The crash of the waves lay not far beyond these walls. The buildings were several stories high, with living quarters above shops and services for the townsfolk.

It was still dark, and Jens held his candle high for a moment. "lt's down this street all the way to the docks. If someone stops us, you go on and l'll distract them.â€

With that, we dashed down the narrow, twisting street, stumbling and slipping on the cobblestones. Once Silveta fell down on both knees, soiling the golden dress Jens had given her. He took her arm and supported her, holding the candle with his other hand.

Even at that late hour, a few people were on the streets. Several guards passed by, but they hardly glanced at us. A couple hurried down a cross lane, and I knew they were going somewhere to rut.

Then we reached the wide plaza that backed the gate to the docks. We stayed in the shadows, hiding behind the colonnade. There was a trio of guards on duty at the gate, but they were sitting aimlessly on a pile of empty crates. One was carving while another slept. There was no port official on duty. Likely they would alert their superior, who was sleeping in the gate tower, if they sighted a ship coming in.

"There's the docks. Your oarsmen are still onboard your longship,†Jens assured Silveta.

"No, they're gone.†I realized I had not told them. "The boys were sent back to Tillfallvik with a message that the overlord supports Birgir as chieftain and that Silveta will marry him when she returns.â€

"How do you know that?†Jens asked incredulously.

"Don't ask,†Silveta retorted. "But she's been right so far.â€

Jens gave us both a sharp look, then moved a few columns to one side so he could see through the gate. "There're too many crafts between us and your longship to see.â€

"How can we get another boat?†Lexander asked, impatiently. "Even a small one would do.â€

"You'll have to take mine,†Jens decided. "l use it on the flats to dig for clams.â€

Silveta put her hands on his arm. "But then your father will know you helped us escape.â€

"They may not realize it's gone,†Jens countered. "And it matters little if they do. I think it's wrong to force you to marry that brigand.â€

"What will your father do to you?†Silveta exclaimed.

"lt won't be nearly as bad as what would happen to you.â€

Silveta looked at him wordlessly. I could tell she was worried about him. But Jens was looking more manly by the moment in my eyes.

"What will you do?†Jens asked her.

"l'll raise a warband,†Silveta said tightly. "l've sworn blood vengeance on Birgir. He will not take Markland. Not while I live.â€

Jens straightened his shoulders, echoing her pose. "l'II help you, Silveta. I can't sit by and watch this happen.â€

"No!†Silveta protested. "You can't go with us.â€

Lexander added, "Your father would search for us as fiercely as Birgir. He would think we kidnapped you.â€

Jens looked deflated. "l don't want to bring you more trouble.â€

Silveta squeezed his arm. "You've saved us, Jens. l'll never forget that.â€

"We're not safe yet,†Lexander pointed out. "Let's get on with this.â€

Silveta and I prepared to act the role of doxies, snuggling in close to them. I felt a rush of pleasure as Lexander's strong arm went around me. As we passed between the guards, I realized that they were far more concerned with those entering the bastion rather than leaving. Indeed, the most attention we got was an appraising glance from the guard who was carving. Likely doxies had to pleasure the guards to get back inside.

Jens took us down the main dock. There were many oarsmen in the boats, sleeping or waiting for orders to depart. Jens turned off into one of the side jetties. His boat was pulled onto a ramp along with others of a similar size. The three of us would be crowded in it, but there was a short sail mast that could be raised. With only two oars, one man could handle the boat.

Lexander helped him slide the flat-bottomed boat into the water. Jens held the stern while Lexander and I climbed in. Silveta gave Jens a brief hug, murmuring something to him that I couldn't hear. But it made Jens straighten his shoulders and nod firmly as he pushed us away. I hoped he would not suffer too much if it was discovered he had helped us. Niall would be enraged when he found out I was gone.

Lexander dipped the oars in quietly, and we pulled away from the island. Soon, there was blackness all around except for the sheen of the waves. I dipped my wounded hand into the salt water and hissed in pain. The direct contact with the sea spirits pulsed through my body. They applauded my sacrifice and our escape and took the dried remnants of blood for themselves.

"Go south,†Silveta ordered. "l must convince my family to help me.â€

Lexander pulled hard as we bobbed on the water like a cork. The sea felt very different in such a small boat. Even in the bay, the waves rose higher than our heads. The moon had set, but regardless I knew we were not heading south.

"You can return to your family if you insist,†Lexander told her. "But I will not set foot on their land. They have colluded with Birgir.â€

She put her hands to her face and her shoulders began to shake. I knew how helpless I would feel if my da had done such a thing. He had sold me, but only with my consent.

My mam must also be suffering from the sacrifice she had made with me. Het myself flow into the sea spirits, and conveyed my satisfaction in seeing the lights on the towers of the bastion disappear into the distance. The sea spirits let my mam hear me, and her own relief flowed back. I would never know if we had worked a miracle together, but she had indeed stood beside me in my darkest hour. It was no wonder Silveta cried, knowing her family had abandoned her.

I reached out and touched Silveta's shoulder to offer comfort. When she finally managed to look up, I knew that she would survive even this.

The rowing seemed not to wind Lexander at all. "None of Viinland's chieftains or magnates will aid you now that the overlord has declared himself for Birgir. Do you have allies in Kebec?â€

"No,†Silveta admitted with a sniff. "And their envoy seemed fair taken with Birgir at midsummer. Perhaps I could buy the bonds of fighting men in one of the larger cities . . .â€

Likely she would need a large bag of coins to do that. I glanced back at Lexander. What did he intend to do?

"For now,†he said, as if reading my mind, "we need to get far away from Hop. Perhaps to the upper reaches of Viinland—Furdustrand or Djarney. You may be able to negotiate a trade there.â€

"Djarney!†I exclaimed. "We could go to the Sigurdssons. Remember, Silveta? Gudren told me to contact him if I ever needed help.â€

Lexander broke his rhythm. "You mean the merchants?†At my nod, he asked, "How do you know the Sigurdssons, Marja?â€

I turned to face him. "Gudren saved me in Brianda, after my coins were stolen. He took me to live in Djarney for nearly a moon until we came to Tillfallvik for the midsummer celebration.â€

"So that's where you were. Basking in luxury with a trade prince.â€

I could tell he was amused. "l had trouble getting away from them. They're kind people.â€

"The Sigurdssons are very attached to Marja,†Silveta agreed thoughtfully.

Lexander continued rowing. "This boat is too small to handle the ocean. We'll have to take the back way through the Straumsey Bay.†â€œWhat about narrows?†Silveta asked.

"l'm sure we'll manage. It will be safer than the ocean because it's the most unlikely direction for us to take.â€



It began to rain shortly before sunrise. But with the morning breeze, the sail of our little boat skimmed us past the woody islands in the bay. I slept deeply, depleted from my sacrifice. My hand throbbed dreadfully whenever I awoke, heating my body and making me feel dazed.

Silveta and Lexander were always talking, trying to plan how she could pay for armed men and boats. They also strategized on how best to attack the estate and its weaknesses. Mostly I heard Silveta's growing desperation and Lexander's distrust of every idea she proposed. Surely he would not risk us falling into Birgir's hands again.

We reached the innermost end of Straumsey Bay when the squalls were finally breaking off. Despite the cloud cover, I knew the sun was directly overhead. It took only a few coins for Lexander to buy the use of a cart and donkey to haul the small boat across the narrows, the neck of Furdustrand. On the other side was the Nauga Sea. When we stood on the northern shore, we were directly across the strait from Fjardemano. The island was a flat smear in the distance. Vidaris was at the northern tip.

I felt as if I had come full circle. Indeed, we soon were sailing briskly past Brianda. The busy port town filling the river valley looked so peaceful from our boat. But I knew what it was really like to be alone on those streets.

Lexander rowed without ceasing even when the wind blew hard. I was used to seeing my da work the forge, so I knew it was a remarkable display of strength. Even seasoned oarsmen rotated in rest. But despite his efforts, it was full dark before we passed through the channel that separated the peninsula of Furdustrand from the island of Djarney. In the sheltered harbor between the two lands, the familiar manicured lawns of the Sigurdssons' estate appeared.

The warehouses were closed down for the night and most of the oarsmen had gone away. Only a few loitered in ships or lay on the dock. Nobody paid attention as Lexander moored our small boat. Likely they thought we were independent traders, come to dicker with the merchants.

An olf appeared as soon I stepped onto shore. It was spinning with excitement. Apparently Silveta was big news among the olfs. It wasn't long before we were surrounded by them.

I led Lexander and Silveta through the estate to Gudren and Alga's house. I was ready to walk boldly inside, but Silveta and Lexander both urged caution. They believed it possible that Gudren could betray us to the overlord if he thought it profitable enough. I wanted to dismiss the suggestion, but then again, I had been fooled into thinking Jedvard would treat us fairly because of the olfs' approbation.

So we waited near the house, hidden behind a woodpile, to catch Gudren as he returned from the night-meal. Alga was with him, of course. I met them at the door and greeted them both quietly.

It took only a moment for them to recognize me. Gudren hugged me so tightly that my ribs creaked. Alga seemed near bursting with her smile, refusing to let go of my arm. "We heard what happened in Tillfallvik. The chieftain dead! Where have you been?â€

"ln Hop.†They were so genuinely glad to see me that I knew I could trust them. I called out Silveta and Lexander.

Gudren was instantly wary. He had not been that way with me. He gave a respectful bow to Silveta. "We heard that you were to marry Birgir, freya.

Tillfallvik is under siege, but my last boat got away with most of the goods we were due.â€

"l will never marry that beast,†Silveta insisted, as if she was tired of having to tell everyone. "Can you help me hire the warriors I need to oust him from my estate?â€

Alga shrewdly pointed out, "You won't find many men prepared to defy the overlord. It's said that Markland has petitioned to join the commonwealth of Viinland.â€

"Surely your trade agreements with Markland would suffer in that case,†Silveta countered. "Birgir gives too much to the overlord.â€

"Goodwill with the leader of Viinland is far more valuable to us,†Gudren said flatly.

"Then you can't help me find the men I need to fight?†Silveta cried.

"l am not a warlord, freya. Such men are not at my disposal. And I cannot risk the wrath of the overlord to finance such a scheme. It is too much to ask.â€

Alga nodded righteously next to him, obviously concerned for her family. "Who would back you against the overlord?â€

"Then I must go elsewhere,†Silveta said faintly. "To the Auldland, if no one here will lift a finger to support my rights.â€

Gudren nodded. "l've a knaar leaving tomorrow for Gronland with a load of spars. You are welcome to journey with them.â€

Silveta blinked a few times, as if she hadn't thought it through. "Could I find warriors in Gronland?â€

"Birgir and his men were not the only ones to be ousted by the conqueror,†Gudren reminded her. "Surely there are other warriors who fled Danelaw and have settled on the northern islands. They could be eager for new ventures.â€

There was silence for a moment as Silveta considered the possibility of finding hardened warriors who were dissatisfied with the icy islands of the north.

Lexander quietly reminded her, "lf there are no warriors there, Silveta, you may find a better life far away from this war that has started in Markland. I do not think Birgir will be so easily defeated now that the overlord has a vested interest in seeing him become chieftain.â€

Silveta shook her head impatiently. "l have declared a blood vengeance against him. I will not rest until he is destroyed.â€

Gudren and Alga saw there was little more they could say to her. Despite their best interests, they were very generous to us. They brought us into their home and gave us plenty of hot food, which Alga fetched herself. They even dismissed their servant for the evening so there would be no idle talk of our arrival.

When Alga saw my wounded hand, she bustled around me, cleaning and bandaging it. I knew it could endanger them if it was known they had helped Silveta, so I said, "l'm sorry if my coming here brings you trouble. I didn't know where else to go.â€

Alga shrugged it off and gave me a hug. "l have thought of you often and wondered how you fared. Now you must stay here where you belong! Let Silveta fight this hopeless battle. You are foolish to take such a risk with her.â€

I gave her a kiss. "l am too deeply involved, Alga. The overlord will be looking for me as well as Silveta, l've no doubt.â€

I explained how I had helped Silveta escape, and the personal stake that Niall had in retrieving me. Alga was even more concerned. I could tell she longed to keep me safe in their estate.

Then I realized that Lexander was watching us. He noticed every time Gudren or Alga touched me or spoke to me. He saw how familiar I was with their ways.

When Alga asked me to come up to their loft, I obeyed. It didn't occur to me to decline anything she or Gudren asked of me. As I followed her up the stairs, Lexander stood up.

I hesitated, glancing back down at him. I belonged to Lexander. It was ultimately his choice whether or not I was intimate with Gudren and Alga.

His mouth opened as if to speak, his brow drawn in concern. Then he gained control of himself, and his remote mask fell into place. It was familiar from my training, when he had watched me pleasure one of the other slaves. I never knew whether he got enjoyment from it or not.

Lexander turned back to the fire.

Alga was waiting at the door. She was watching Silveta to see if she would protest, believing I belonged to the chieftain's wife rather than Lexander. But Silveta didn't even notice where I was going, much less care.

When I entered the room, Gudren was waiting for us. They both hugged me close as if they had thought they would never see me again. It took my breath away.

"Stay with us,†Gudren urged, holding each of us in his massive arms. "Alga says you worry about the danger you bring us. But surely 'tis only Silveta that the overlord cares about.â€

Once again they were prepared to keep me here. The gilded cage was pleasant, but I had to confess, "Lexander is my master. I was going to meet him when I was stranded in Brianda. He told me to stay with Silveta until he returned for me.â€

They were astonished. Alga exclaimed, "Why didn't you tell us before?â€

"He ordered me not to reveal that I was a pleasure slave.â€

Gudren laughed. "lt was clear to me from the moment I met you. So this man is your master . . . I believe l've heard of him. Of a place called Vidaris.â€

"Yes, but it must not be spoken of,†I begged them. "We are both in grave peril if it is known.â€

Alga pressed her body against mine, hugging me close. "We would not say a word, my darling. And do not be afraid. We will take care of you.â€

I took pleasure from them that night, caressing and kissing them until we weren't sure where one left off and another began. It had never been so good between us, and it seemed their desire had sharpened from missing me. Gudren had not been aggressive before, but now he was enthralled. His goal was to please me, as I had pleased him so many times before.

Alga was equally passionate, but that was her charm. Her soft, insistent body was everything I had longed for in Helanasâ€"powerful yet tender, self-assured and true. She had always reminded me of Lexander, and never more so than now, when she took me as she wanted.

I realized that night how much I cared about them both. It drove my fear of Birgir and even my pain about Lexander away, until I finally slept nestled in the soft blankets in their bed.

Sixteen

The next morning when Gudren had left us, Alga announced, "Once the other two have sailed, l'II take you around to see everyone. They will be thrilled that you've returned to us.â€

I was surprised and could not speak to contradict her. But Alga was so confident of herself that she didn't notice. Instead she clucked disapprovingly at the rough rags I had been wearing. She opened an iron-bound chest and pulled out a pretty dress of light wool dyed deep green to match my eyes. The bodice would fit my waist perfectly when she tightened the laces.

"l dipped the wool for you right before we left for Tillfallvik,†she confided.

Alga then helped me bathe and dressed my hair in a crown of braids like her own. She chattered on about everything that had happened on the Sigurdssons' estate since I had left. "The blueberries will soon be ready to be picked. You'II like that, I know.â€

"But Lexanderâ€"†I tried to say.

Alga made a face and waved her hand as if that were unimportant. "He is busy helping Silveta. l'm sure Gudren will be able to work something out with him so you can stay. He would pay anything your master demands.â€

I wondered if her prediction were true, especially when Lexander didn't so much as look at me when I came down. I was disappointed because he had never seen me dressed so well, but he seemed preoccupied by other matters. Perhaps Silveta was his main concern now.

Gudren called Lexander to their loft before the morning meal. Silveta was eager to get to the docks and on our way. But I was in a panic wondering what Lexander would do. He had promised to never send me away from him again, but the gods were unpredictable.

Alga finally came down in tears. "He refuses to sell you to us!â€

My heart leaped. I was so relieved that Lexander would not let me go. Alga saw it, and she was hurt. "He is cold and beastly,†she declared. "Gudren swore he would not let him sail on our ships because of it.â€

"You have already been more than generous,†I assured her.

Alga pouted. "Why don't you want to stay? Don't you care about us?â€

"You know I do.†I put my arms around her. "You have both been magnificent. But l'm not meant to live in one place, Alga. I was born to flit around like a bird. Can't you feel that in me?â€

Mollified somewhat, she had to nod. "You're like Gudren in that way. We could work something out, Marja. You could travel with Gudren if you need that. I would miss you both, but I would prefer that than to lose you altogether.â€

I was touched by how much she truly cared about me. "l enjoy being here with you, Alga. I adore you both. But I must go. Silveta needs my help. And I love my master.â€

Alga sighed, finally accepting the truth. "You tried to tell me before and I wouldn't listen. I know better now. l'll talk to Gudren.†She gave me one last, long hug, wetting my cheek with her tears. "l can't even ask you to promise to return because you belong to that awful man!â€

I had to smile at that. "l will try to come see you, Alga. I promise you that.â€

When I joined Lexander and Silveta outside, I didn't tell them that Gudren wanted to deny us the use of his ship. I would leave that to Alga. Lexander didn't say a word about the Sigurdssons' offer to buy me. He waited with an absent gaze over the water, leaning against a fence. When Gudren emerged, I followed them down to the docks as if nothing had happened.

Gudren made a great display of his affection as he bade me good-bye. I could tell he did not want to let me go. The shipmaster noticed, as did the oarsmen waiting on the oceangoing *knaar*. It truly pained Gudren to let me sail away from him. He had lost me once to Silveta and had obviously decided to keep me this time. But Alga had the final word, as she always did.

My parting with these good people was eased by the prospect of our journey. Though we were running for our lives, I felt safe enough on the Sigurdssons' estate to begin to enjoy the adventure of it all. I could tell Silveta did not feel the same way, so I didn't speak out loud about my delight in setting off.

I had never been on a *knaar* before. The ship had a large open space in the center that was filled with towering stacks of wooden logs stripped of their bark. There were also supplies for the twenty men for the journey. I didn't realize how long it would take us to travel to Gronland until much later.

I stood in the stern waving to Gudren as the *knaar* pulled away from the dock. I cared very much for them, but I knew in my heart that I would not be happy there for long. Their estate was too confining, their lives too monotonous for one such as me. It made me sad that I could not give them what they wantedâ€"just as I could not give Lexander what he wanted.

My desire to roam had conflicted with my submissive ways before, but never so sharply. The turmoil of my own emotions prevented me from losing myself in the sea spirits, so I had only my own thoughts to dwell in. If Lexander had wanted to stay in Vidaris forever, keeping me with him, could I have been content? Nay, I was certain my longing for what lay beyond would have tormented me more and more as time went by. Likely that would have created a crack inside of me, allowing Helanas' evil to penetrate.

I was also defying my submissive desires by refusing Lexander my intimacy. But I was certain I was right in resisting his lure. I wanted to touch him, to give him my love and affection without restraint, but I was afraid to lose myself in him. I couldn't leave him, yet I feared that I would weaken the longer we were together. That was the otherworldly way, to tempt us with our hearts' desires into giving up our lives.

The great knaar sailed across the Nauga Sea to Markland. By the time we reached its easternmost tip, the buttes of my homeland were enshrouded in shadows as the sun slowly sank behind the trees. I finally removed the bandage Alga had put on my hand and dipped my wounded palm into a bucket of seawater.

The sea spirits showed me fierce fighting, not only in Tillfallvik, but in some of the settlements where Birgir's men had seized the best lands and violated the womenfolk. Birgir's warriors were abandoning their homesteads and retreating to Tillfallvik, where the decisive battle would be fought. Magnates in every settlement were also preparing to depart for Tillfallvik, where they intended to choose the next chieftain of Markland.

Birgir's specter darkened all our prospects. I should have been exultant to have escaped. Yet I was plagued by an unreasoning fear that Birgir might still catch us, that his own *knaars* would unerringly hunt us down.

As we were passing an outcropping of rock that curved into the ocean like a fleshy paw trying to bat our ship, an olf suddenly appeared onboard. Its

face as round as the moon with merry eyes, it was comforting to see. The *olf* floated over my head, assuring me that it was the means by which the Markland *olfs* would keep vigil with us on our journey. I could not hide from it what had happened with the overlord and Lexander's dire prediction that Birgir would be harder to beat with the powerful Jedvard on his side. But the *olf* cared only that we were sailing now to get help.

Silveta couldn't hear the spirits, but she seemed to understand the turmoil that was happening in her land. She sat in utter silence, staring at the shore until Markland disappeared into the dank mist behind us. Alga had given her a man-sized cloak to cover her festive silk dress on the voyage. She huddled in it like a child, sheltered somewhat from the fierce ocean spray in the stern.

As darkness fell, Silveta and I crept under the canvas that stretched over the center of the ship, protecting the logs. The cargo was much valued in the northern islands where trees were scarce. We lay down on the bumpy surface to try to sleep with the rocking of the ship. I was not sure whether I truly slept or merely swam in the thrall of the sea spirits.

The next morning, I awoke to find Lexander speaking quietly with the shipmaster. When I climbed over the benches to get closer to him, he absently ordered, "Stay in the stern, Marja, where you'II be safe.â€

I glanced at the oarsmen who were watching us closely. I did not think they would harm us, but mayhap Lexander was more concerned about me getting in their way. So I retreated to the stern to sit beside Silveta, watching as the oarsmen went about their duties. Lexander treated both of us the sameâ€"with distant courtesy. I felt as if our moment of connection inside the bastion had not happened at all. He knew the risk I faced in loving him and was truly trying to help me avoid him. The shipmaster never spoke to us at all, dealing only with Lexander.

As we sailed north along the coast of Helluland, stunted spruce and evergreens lined the shore, looking much the same as my homeland. Soon enough we reached what the Skraelings called flat-stone land. The endless rocks started at the shore and continued into the distance, stopping only where great mounds of ice began. It was so different that I was astonished, but it was generally regarded by the Noromenn as having no good qualities.

For days thereafter, we saw nothing but water, ice, and naked rock. The ice came in all shades and consistenciesâ€"crumbling brown at the edge of vast fields, and deep, clear blue ice at the heart of floes. The water grew frigid, but I could not touch it even when I leaned far out. It made Silveta too nervous when I tried, so I refrained. But the oarsmen drew up buckets of water to dash on their heads, letting out loud, satisfied cries at the shock of it.

The sunlight lasted longer every day, yet it was weakened and diffused the farther north we went. It reflected off the water, the ice, and the tiny crystals that hung in the air or blew with the force of sand that scraped my face. Fat brown seals and walruses covered the rocky islands, and the noise of their barking filled our ears as we sailed by. Seabirds flew overhead, craning their necks to see if we carried a whale carcass or piles of long silvery cod.

I loved it all. It was so different from the green land that I knew. I could feel there were Skraeling out there, though we saw few of their small, round boats. I even enjoyed the constant diet of salty, dried fish and hard biscuits that had to be soaked to soften them for chewing. Silveta refused to eat the oily bars of fat that the oarsmen ate by the handful, but I found the strong taste satisfying.

Then we left land behind and were surrounded by only the ocean and icebergs. The bergs grew bigger, like floating mountains, with bases that went far down out of sight. When the waves grew still, the surface of the water turned into a mirror, reflecting the tops of the bergs. The ice shone white in the sun and sky blue in the shadows. I marveled at the shapes, some like spires or large slabs with holes piercing through, showing the sky beyond. They crested in frozen waves, with swoops and divots along their irregular knifelike edges. I could stare at a shifting ice field forever, it seemed.

Occasionally a fountain of spray marked a whale surfacing, and I grew adept at guessing where the next one would appear. The oarsmen paid little attention, though these giant water beasts were much larger than our *knaar*. Their great tail fins spanned a huge distance, and the explosion as they hit the water reverberated far and wide.

I saw it all because the sun never set. The round silvery disc swung around in the sky low to the horizon. The constant rocking of the ship linked me with the sea spirits, and without a daily rhythm to pull me from their clutches, their presence flooded my mind. I saw sea creatures going about their inscrutable ways far from these icy waters, in places filled with brightly colored plants and fish. I discovered more through the sea spirits than I had ever seen in my travels.

My dreams were also disturbed. I slept not knowing if it was day or night. After a while, I gave up going under the canvas with Silveta. Instead, I lay curled up on the bench under the open sky, impervious to mist or rain in the thick cloak Alga had given me.

Then somehow I found myself entwined in Lexander's arms. It seemed inevitable, yet the shock of it as his lips nuzzled my neck was almost more than I could bear. We were floating naked, skin against skin, with the milky green light filtering down from above. Bubbles rose from our mouths, tickling as we laughed. Lazily, we turned together underwater end over end. Perhaps I had jumped overboard with him in a fit of madness, giving in to his otherworldly power. An eternity of torment awaited me, but somehow that was a very distant concern.

He rubbed effortlessly against me, like we were part of the water, moving as the currents tugged and lifted us. My hair flared out, undulating in a nimbus around me. He tangled his fingers in it, snagging some strands close to his face. We rocked together so gently that it nearly maddened me. But everything was sinuous underwater, in gentle motion with no resistance, no struggle. I surrendered to it, relaxing into him, and felt ripples of release overtake me though we merely brushed against each other. He let out a long sigh as his seed spilled into the water. It seemed to go on forever, and satisfied me like no other lovemaking had.

We broke to the surface with a surprising burst of air and water. Breathing deeply, the waves lifted us up high, showing me cresting water in every direction. With a rush, we were carried back down into the vast trough. As we lifted again, we kissed, melting into each other as we had underwater.

When I opened my eyes, my body was humming on the hard bench. I had to touch my hair to be sure it wasn't wet. It had felt so real, a vision mayhap, rather than a dream. I was breathing fast, unable to catch my balance, wondering if it had really happened. The *olf* was perched on the mast, grinning as if it knew something I did not. Likely it had dabbled in my dream.

When Lexander emerged from under the canvas, our gazes met. The intensity in his animal eyes, too golden for a man, made me wonder if he had seen the vision, too. Whether it had been sent by the sea spirits or was something of his own making, I did not know. Yet he did not approach me, and I knew he would not press me. But he wanted me, of that I was certain.



By the time land was sighted ahead, Silveta roused herself. At first I could see only the field ice of polished, melting bergs. Then greenish brown hillsides rose beyond. The green was too radiant to be grass, and as we approached a great fjord, I realized it was a film of lichen covering the bare rock. The water rippled, reflecting the cloud-pocked sky and the bergs silently floating by.

There were scores of longhouses dotting the steep hillsides. Most were made of sod, and some were covered with yellow plants rather than grass. The more imposing buildings were made of stone or logs, though these were relatively few.

I could feel the olfs sending out joyous greetings as we approached. The olf on our ship responded as if it was familiar to them.

The oarsmen were in high spirits, and from their comments, they hoped to sell their cargo here in Erisstadir. A system of low docks floated directly on the water so they could be pulled out if need be, away from the invasive ice and bergs. When I jumped down from the *knaar*, the dock felt more unsteady than the great boat. Silveta needed Lexander's help to get down. I noticed she also had trouble standing on shore and relied on the support of his arm. She had become accustomed to the motion of the sea. Lexander was at ease, as always, and I tuned in to the land, listening to the *olfs* and sensing the flow of spirits to quickly adjust.

Lexander's tone of command carried Silveta along, securing us a place to stay at an inn. She asked Lexander to help her negotiate for warriors and boats to fight Birgir, and he quietly agreed. As Silveta readied herself to meet with the leaders in this town, I was far too restless to wait, as usual.

Without a backward look, I left the inn and started up a path deeper into the fjord. All of my senses were open, savoring the rocky land that was frozen yet vibrant with life. From the *olfs*, I knew there were hundreds of homesteads and small farms with sparse gardens and fields lying in velvety clefts between the outcroppings. But I didn't see a single tree anywhere. It seemed unreal, as if the ground had shed its fur coat and lay naked under the sky.

The olfs danced along beside me as I climbed and ran far up the fjord. They enjoyed my astonishment at everything I saw, delighting in my sense of discovery at the sight of a glacier curving over a pass. The blunt end was roughened with chunks of snow and ice littering the ground at its base. It looked like water had frozen in midflow, as if time had somehow stopped.

I sensed sprites living inside the glacier, staying always within the ice. It was not a hard mass as I had thought, but was riddled with crevices and caves that glowed blue and green. The ice sprites slid from place to place, floating over the black depths and dodging dripping water. They beckoned to me, whispering that they knew secrets they must share with me. But I was already shivering and knew that my flesh would soon freeze if I joined the ice sprites.

As I wandered through the scattered settlement, I wondered if we had somehow accidentally sailed into the land of Malina, where the sun god resides. It seemed enchanted, as only the home of a god could be.

Then I found a strange building. It was made of logs and was in good repair, but no one lived there. It was a single room with several benches and an empty hearth, but I couldn't step inside. The olfs also stayed at a distance. Yet it didn't feel like an evil spirit inhabited the place. It felt like nothing.

As I finally withdrew, latching the door, the olfs helpfully whispered, "Sanctuary of Kristna.â€

So this was a haven for Birgir's "one true god.†I had never seen a room dedicated to a god before. Perhaps only Kristna worshippers could enter his abode.

I walked for far longer than I intended without the promise of a sunset to send me back. The sun merely swung around low in the sky, and for once I lost my sense of direction. Only my utter weariness finally prompted me to return down the fjord to the shore.

The inn was a huge sod longhouse sectioned off into rooms for privacy. The walls were covered in cracked plaster, and the floor was paved with blue-gray stone.

I heard familiar voices in the common room. When I entered, Silveta was seated on a rough bench with Lexander standing to one side. The Markland off followed me right inside.

A large bear of a man stood facing them. His muddy blond hair covered his head and face, leaving only his small eyes peering out. Even his bulbous nose had hairs sprouting from the tip. He was shaking his head even as Silveta spoke.

" ... and I could provide what arms you require,†she was saying urgently. "Your men would be returned as quickly as we could secure Tillfallvik, and in reward I could give you as many spars and wood products as your community needs.â€

I knew even before the man replied what his answer would be. "We are farmers here, freya, not warriors. Our young men with hot blood return to the Auldworld to find their victories. We have none here to spare, especially not in midsummer when our fields need tending.â€

Silveta seemed to be desperately holding on to hope. "Surely you could put the word out and let your people decide for themselves. I offer a rich return for those who accompany me.â€

"We have no use for western squabbles here,†the bearish man said definitively. "But you and your folk are welcome to stay. There are homesteads open up the fjord.â€

The man didn't even wait to hear her answer, but turned and stomped heavily from the small room. Lexander motioned for Silveta to wait and quickly followed him. He gave me a curious look as he passed, making me wonder how long I had been gone. It was impossible to tell in these endless days.

Silveta slumped back, putting her hands to her face. "They won't give me the men I need. They say they have no warriors in Gronland.â€

I nodded. "l sense only peace here.â€

Irritably, she snapped, "Where have you been? Lexander was afraid you'd lost your wits and would never come back.â€

"l was seeing the land.â€

"Not much here,†Silveta said bitterly. "Barren, ugly place!â€

My brow rose. "l think it's stunning.â€

Silveta shook her head, a frown line between her eyes. "What would I do here, marry a farmer? Live like a peasant for the rest of my life, buried in snow and darkness half the year?â€

"Does it get dark?†I asked eagerly. I could hardly imagine it. One of the *olfs* obligingly gave me a glimpse of midwinter in Gronland. The world was blanketed in white, with nothing but moonlit snow and starry skies. I was dazzled for a moment.

Silveta stood up and began to pace, wringing her hands. Her hair hung down her back in a neat braid. "What am I going to do?â€

"What about the other Gronland settlements? Perhaps they will be more receptive.â€

"l've spoken to several men already, but they claim the season is wrong for them to leave, even if they wanted to. Lexander thinks it's hopeless, but he is loath to tell me that.â€

"You can't give up,†I replied. "The *olf*s . . . your people are depending on you.â€

"Nothing I do is ever enough.†Silveta dropped to the bench again, burying her face in her hands. After a moment, I realized she was crying. "Every time he . . . caught me was worse than before. His foul words, his brutality, his love of pain . . .â€

Idrew my breath. "Birgir? He raped you? I thought the first time was the day he killed Ejegod.â€

"No, to my everlasting shame, no . . . He took me several times since you saved me last midsummer. Once he broke through the ceiling of my

closet to do it. Perus knew he would be forced to fight Birgir one day. I prayed the good man would not be slain, but he paid even that price for me. Oh, it is too terrible! In that hell, my only hope was that Birgir would get me with child.†Her expression was bleak. "lt seemed unlikely that Ejegod could ever become a father.â€

"Are you with child?†I had to ask.

"l pray not! If I am, then there are enough witnesses that night who saw Birgir take me to the loft. I was able to hide what he had done before, and he could not reveal his conquest or I would cry rape. But now a child would simply confirm Birgir's claim on me.â€

I felt very sorry for her, but she did not seem to want my sympathy.

Tears streaked her face, yet there was still an uncanny determination in her eyes. "l could slay Birgir with my own hand for what he's done! His men I could pardon, if they have not done rape themselves. If they have, then death for them, as well.â€

I thought of Deidre, struck down by Birgir's warriors because she had refused them. Her fate would have been mine if Jens had not saved us in the bastion. My homeland's fate was the same. The evil in Birgir would infest the land, as surely as the sun spread light.

Silveta looked up at me. "l could slay my father, as well, if he stood before me now. Yes, my own father, who sold me to that butcher's son! He is no father to me now. I am alone. Completely alone.â€

I went to her, sitting down next to her on the bench. She let me take her hand. My own fingers were dirty, of course, from picking up rocks and climbing the steep hillsides. But for a wonder, Silveta didn't flinch away from me. She clung tighter to my hand.

"l won't abandon you,†I swore. "l'll help you destroy Birgir.â€

The olf began spinning around the room. Soon others appeared as well. They were happy with my pledge. I felt much better knowing I was serving them as I should. They had clearly been waiting for me to declare my intention to help Silveta oust Birgir from my homeland.

Then Lexander returned, ducking his head to get through the low doorway. "Silveta, it's no use trying to get men here in Gronland. But the *knaar* leaves for Issland tomorrow. There may be warriors there.â€

Her fingers tightened on mine. "l thought the ship would return to Viinland.â€

"They can't get their price for the spars, so it's onward for them.â€

"lssland!†Silveta's expression was suddenly rapt. "Birgir was turned away from there. They're a civilized people. And I have distant cousins in Issland. I can appeal to them.†She held out her other hand to Lexander, still holding on to mine. "Will you help me, Lexander of Vidaris? I will reward you handsomely—â€

He held up his hand to stop her. "That is not my concern. l've abandoned a fine estate and all that I could want. No, this is Marja's decision to make.â€

"Me?†lasked in surprise.

"Yes.†He glanced down briefly. "lf you want to return to Gudren and Alga, I will take you there myself. But I refuse to sell you to them. You'll go to them as a freewoman or not at all.â€

"You would send me away?†A bolt of pain shot through me.

"l saw how it saddened you to leave them,†Lexander replied, his mouth set firmly. "lf you want to return, I will take you there myself.â€

Silveta turned to me. "No, Marja, you promised you would help me. You'll come with me to Issland. You and Lexander both. You can always go to the Sigurdssons after our return.â€

The olfs wanted me to help Silveta, so I simply agreed. â€cel shall help you, Silveta, as I pledged.â€

Seventeen

When we reached the harbor, Lexander prepared to pay our passage. The shipmaster refused, saying, "l was ordered to take this womanâ€â€"he pointed at me—"anywhere she chooses, along with any friends of hers.â€

My eyes widened at the news. I was pleased and touched by Gudren's gesture.

"The Sigurdssons are generous, indeed,†Lexander replied quietly, his trust in them confirmed. I knew Lexander was trying to protect me from himself when he offered to take me back to them.

The sea spirits assured me as soon as I boarded the *knaar* that they would watch over us on the way to Issland. Silveta was apprehensive, I could tell. Indeed the voyage called for close reckoning to cross a vast stretch of ocean to reach the tiny island. The oarsmen were dejected at the news that their spars would not fetch what they needed in Gronland. The shipmaster was also in a nasty temper when we set out, and a glum spirit permeated the voyage.

Lexander continued to shun me. But I still had dreams of us joining together, floating in the air cushioned by the clouds or deep underwater mingling with the sea spirits. It seemed that whenever I closed my eyes, we were together. And he was always watching me as I came out of my trances, as much as I used to watch him.

One evening, the sun finally sank below the horizon for the first time in ages as we sailed ever southward. I was thankful for night's familiar cloak. Perhaps Lexander thought I could not see him, but the *olf* showed me everything. There was naked desire in his eyes. Despite my rebuff, he wanted me still. But he would not come to me. He would not seduce me. I would have to surrender willingly to him. But if I did that, I would lose everything. My whole life I had managed my relations with the otherworldly creatures carefully, ensuring my safety. There was much more I wanted to see. I faced a terrible choice with Lexander.

I wanted his love, but I could not make myself reach out to him. He stood tall despite the rocking of the ship, with the golden tone of his skin grown brighter from the constant sun. His shoulders were broader even than the oarsmen. I think if he had summoned me then, I would have rushed into his arms. But the few times he spoke, it was to Silveta, who gazed at him as if he were her last hope for salvation.

I grew jealous, I admit, to see their rapport. Silveta was so elegant, even subsisting on the deck of a ship in the middle of the ocean. The way she gestured, decisive yet graceful, and the carriage of her head, so proud despite her anguish, was beguiling. How could Lexander resist her? He had been so fascinated with Qamaniq, the noble Skraeling, and had enjoyed teasing out her submissive response, overcoming her intuitive sense of authority. I saw him do the same with Silveta. She, who had not bent her head to anyone, began to serve Lexander in small waysâ€"filling his cup with water, attentive and agreeable when he spoke, touching his arm in quiet emphasis to her words. Lexander seemed to call it from her naturally, as if he would always be a slave master despite his abandonment of Vidaris and his people.

So I existed side by side with them, jealousy flaming in my chest, while fear kept me from kneeling at his feet and begging for his touch. Only when I slept did I release my desire, giving it wings to fly to Lexander. There seemed no end to the ways we made love, sometimes only kissing as if we were drowning in each other, everlasting caressing of my lips and face until I trembled in joy. He had trained me to climax with a touch, and now it took only a dream to make me shudder over and over again. I woke with a heated body, flushed and gleaming from our phantom love. Even the oarsmen eyed me like a plump peach dangling before them, ripe and juicy. Only the threat of Lexander kept them at bay.

After too many days, we sighted the glacier-capped island by the towering plumes of ash and smoke that rose from a fiery volcano. I did not think we could have found the tiny island without the smoke, but the oarsmen took it as a matter of course, having made this journey many times before.

There was talk of how favorable the winds were for summer. I attributed it to the olf onboard, and to the cooperation of the sea spirits who slipped us into the southward currents. It seemed the Otherworld conspired to help Silveta, confirming I had done well to join her quest.

As we neared the shore, I was intrigued by the broad plains leading to woods at the base of distant mountains. But I felt an odd emptiness. Only in Vidaris had I sensed such a lack of welcome from the land. The *olf* onboard was also subdued, crouching on the mast.

The wind suddenly died. The shipmaster blamed it on the lowering sun. But I knew it was something more. The sea spirits were already pulling away from me, though we weren't yet close to the shore.

With the *knaar* stalled, the oarsmen began to row to take us into a narrow bay. There were some stands of treesâ€"unlike on Gronlandâ€"and the emerald-green mantle was grass and moss instead of lichen. Everywhere on the plains were hundreds of sheep, horses, and cattle grazing on the bounty. The mountains in the distance were dark and foreboding, a sharp contrast to the rich plains close to the ocean. Even in full summer, clouds gathered around the summits that were capped with ice and snow. I couldn't tell exactly where the ash and smoke emerged, but the plume stained a huge swath of the sky.

Our knaar set down anchor within the sheltered bay among dozens of other ships. Rowboats were busy plying the waters, and the shipmaster soon hailed one to take us to shore. I had been expecting a great city, much like the bastion, or even a seaport like Brianda. But instead there were only a few dozen houses and outbuildings dotting the flat coastline. More buildings were sprinkled in the distance among the meadows and hills. Most were sod houses, more square than long. Some were made of porous stone blocks with perfectly straight sides.

There was a well-trodden road that cut through the emerald meadows, leading inland. The shipmaster arranged with a wagon master for the four of us to travel to Pingvellr. Our bedrolls were loaded into the back of an open wagon. The oarsmen would wait near the ship to prevent the valuable spars from being taken.

My last sight of our ship out in the bay revealed the *olf* still crouching on the mast. In Gronland, it had rushed out to enjoy the new sights along with me. Its behavior now was exceedingly odd.

Silveta asked the wagon master about finding the lawspeaker, the man who ran the proceedings of the assembly. He promised to set us down within reach of the man. I had heard Silveta and Lexander discussing their plans on the journey but had not been able to contribute. I certainly did not know we would travel for half the day in a wagon that jolted through the ruts, heading toward the base of the mountains.

I chose to walk most of the way rather than endure the rough ride. As I lifted my face to the breeze, I kept reaching out, wanting to feel the dazzling, crystal awareness that I had enjoyed in Gronland. But there was no response from any olfs, only a faint glimmer in the distance of an otherworldly presence. Even the spirits of the place felt weak and diffused, as if they had not rested there long.

I was not tempted to stray as I had in Gronland. I stayed near the wagon as it traveled ever higher inland, up successive levels of plateaus, passing sparse strands of trees along the watercourses. We met few people on the road, which made the place seem even more deserted.

Then we topped the final plain stretching between three mountain ranges. A black, craggy outcropping formed the upper end of the plain. A waterfall fell

in churning white foam to a short river along the base of the cliffs. The river spilled onto the plain as if the ground had cracked open and water rushed to fill

There were no olfs within reach, so I was unable to consult with them. It reminded me of my first sight of Vidaris, and I shuddered to think that Issland could be as empty. "What is this place?†I asked.

"Pingvellr,†Silveta replied. "The chieftains assemble here every year.â€

The land near the lake was occupied by temporary camps, with sod lean-tos and shelters to protect the travelers. There were almost as many horses as people on this edge of the plains.

Beside the river, between the waterfall and the lake, there were several low buildings. The cliffs that towered over everything were rough and blacker than any rock I had ever seen.

When I went forward and thrust my hands into the river, the water spirits showed me a boiling heat within the earth and red-hot rocks moving in a molten flow, dazzling my mind's eye. I saw how the island had been built from this liquid rock, spreading to form the plain I stood on now.

When I withdrew my hand, I once again saw what my eyes showed me. Truly only the water and molten rock were alive in Issland.

I caught up to Lexander and Silveta near a low sod building. Despite the covering of green, there was a sterile echo inside. I recognized it as another sanctuary of Kristna. I lingered to try to sense the god's spirit, but even without the distracting call of the *olfs* in Gronland, I felt nothing.

Silveta stood with a rail-thin man who never met her eyes. "But we must be able to do something,†Silveta was pleading. "We've traveled all the way from Viinland to appeal to the assembly.â€

"The chieftains have closed the session,†the man explained. "Nothing can be done.â€

"Where are the chieftains now?†Silveta asked.

The thin man gestured to the camps along the lake. "Most will leave on the morrow.†He departed without a glance, as if strangers were a common occurrence in these parts.

Silveta put her hand on Lexander's arm as if in need of support. "l must speak to the chieftains now. Perhaps I can bargain for warriors and boats.â€

Lexander nodded, frowning slightly. Silveta turned and started back to the camps, the great cloak wrapped around her and her yellow skirts lifted high above the muddy road.

"You are disturbed,†I said quietly as I took my bedroll from him. He carried Silveta's as well as his own slung across his shoulder. The shipmaster of the knaar was nowhere in sight.

"lt's not likely any chieftain will risk crossing the ocean to fight on foreign soils,†Lexander explained. "There is a law here against making war on other countries, and only the assembly can vote to put that law aside. With the assembly over, there is no hope.â€

"But Silveta is asking for their help. They won't be making war on us.â€

"Why should they believe us? The fortunes of the western lands matter little here, I assure you. All they know is that a warband makes war wherever it goes.â€

"But Silveta must get help. Markland depends on her.â€

Lexander started after Silveta's retreating form. "Markland may well have to manage with Birgir instead.â€



Nearly a thousand Isslandirs were gathered on the plains under the lowering sun. I had never seen so many people in one place at a time. Many milled around the merchant stalls, taking heaping platters back to their camps. They feasted through the long evening on smoked and salted lamb, singed sheep heads, and pickled salmon and shark. One man fried bread in a vat of oil, producing wafer-thin rounds. Ale makers brewed potent drinks for the chieftains, while farmers and craftsmen displayed their wares for sale. I heard the loud voices of entertainers telling stories and saw jugglers performing miraculous feats. There were itinerant farmhands looking for work and vagrants begging everywhere. Pingvellr reminded me of a carcass lying under the sun, being picked clean by scavengers.

There was no central figure, no place of honor for their leader. I soon realized that the lawspeaker held only ceremonial functions. Everyone here was equal, and even servants sat down to eat with the families they waited on.

I would have enjoyed myself mightily, but for one thing. There was not an olf to be seen despite the free-flowing food.

Throughout the evening, Silveta searched the crowd to find the chieftains. They were usually surrounded by a retinue that included bondsmen, women, servants, and children who screamed and chased each other in circles. Everyone discussed the cases that had been brought this year to the assembly, including the petitioners who still argued their sides with their friends and foes.

After listening to Silveta make her plea to a handful of chieftains, I feared for my homeland. They listened courteously, as if they were accustomed to receiving petitioners. But their faces were closed. None was willing to risk a single man on her distant blood feud.

Even Ketil Grimsson, the chieftain who was related to Silveta through common ancestors, was barely interested. Ketil was a giant man, with masses of black hair and a long, bushy beard. "My advice to you, little coz, is to go to your family in Hop,†Ketil declared flatly.

Silveta didn't try to explain that her own father had abandoned her. " 'Tis impossible to bargain with Viinland when the overlord would annex my land.â€

"But you yourself are of Viinland,†the chieftain retorted.

"l pledged myself to Markland when I married. And I will not rest until Birgir Barfoot is dead. It is a great prize he has sought, for my land is prosperous enough to reward you as you deserve.â€

Ketil waved a meaty hand at that, returning to his meal. Silveta watched him carefully, gauging her next words. I could feel that she was desperate, but her distant expression, honed under Birgir's constant assaults, served to hide her distress.

While Silveta cajoled her cousin, Lexander surprised me by taking my hand and drawing me away. I went quiescent under his touch, unsure of what he intended. The moon was rising, lighting our way through the thick grass.

Finally, he turned to face me. "You realize that Silveta doesn't have a chance.â€

"But she must get help,†linsisted.

"The risk of returning to Markland is too great, Marja. Think of what Birgir would do to you! I would fain keep you far away from that benighted land forever.â€

I wrung my hands at this terrible impasse. I could not help feeling that it was my own fault. "lf only I had killed Birgir when he discovered me.â€

Lexander looked more sharply at me. "Did you have the chance?â€

"Yes, after he raped me. I hit him in the head, but it was enough only to pain him.â€

Lexander's hands clenched into fists. "To think I could have spared you that fate! Truly, I did wrong when I sent you away from Vidaris. I should have gone with you though I had not decided to leave until that moment. It was a poor decision, made hastily.â€

I could not bear the pain in his extraordinary eyes. "Do you regret abandoning Vidaris?â€

"Never! Heft because I had to. I regret only the things you've been forced to endure.â€

"None of that mattered once I found you again.â€

He reached out as if to take me in his arms, his fingers tensing as he stopped himself. I could not make myself move forward, to give the slightest sign of desire. I wanted him so deeply. I was heady just from being near him. I could lose myself in him, falling headlong into the Otherworld.

"Marja, why do you shun me?†he demanded.

"l love you! I do.†I dropped my eyes. "But l'm afraid ...â€

His head turned as if I had slapped him. Then he took a step away. "You are right to fear,†he murmured. "When my people come to find me, as they surely will, there is nothing I can do to protect you. I must find another way to keep you safe.â€

Before I could protest, he headed back into Ketil's camp. The set of his shoulders was determined. I raced after him, catching up as he pushed his way through.

Silveta had a tear trickling down her face, but Ketil looked bored and resolute in his refusal. The rest of his retinue were curious but unaffected by her pleas.

Lexander addressed Silveta. "Freya, has this man acknowledged kinship with you?â€

"Yes,†she answered, covertly swiping at the tear.

"Then as your bondsman, let me challenge Ketil to win his rightful protection for you.â€

I stifled my gasp. Lexander had never sworn himself to Silveta . . . or had he? They had talked endlessly on the ship, and often I was lost in the sea spirits rather than listening.

Ketil pointed his knife at Lexander, a chunk of salmon speared on the tip. But it was a long knife, making his meaning clear. "You can't force me to hire a warband.â€

"No,†Lexander agreed with a slight smile. "But Silveta can demand that you recall the assembly.â€

"Yes!†Silveta exclaimed. "Ketil, let me plead my case before the chieftains. They could authorize our venture, and it would matter little to the coffers of Issland to give me the warriors I need.â€

Ketil was affronted, as well he should be at Lexander's challenge. He drew himself up to his full height, as tall as Lexander and more massive in thigh and arm. "l will not recall the assembly by threat of a duel! If your bondsman wants to fight, then I shall give him that.â€

The people around us erupted into cheers.

I grabbed Lexander's arm. "You've forced him to fight!â€

"lt's the only way. If I can beat him, he will support Silveta. Now stay back and don't interfere.â€

Lexander pulled away from me, joining Ketil as they sought a wide-open space. The revelers flocked to watch, bringing torches that lit the ground like day. Some shouted encouragement to Ketil, while others made bets on the outcome. I was gasping at how fast it had happened.

"Let this westerner see what kind of flesh is born of fire and ice!†Ketil shouted as he pulled off his shirt, revealing a broad, hairy expanse. His knee-length kilt freed his legs, which were protected by well-wrapped boots. He unhooked his huge ax from his belt.

Lexander had only his knife, shorter than the one Ketil brandished in his left hand. Lexander's rough clothing and cap made him look more like an oarsman than the magnate of Vidaris. But there was something special about Lexander that even this crowd could see. He stood eye to eye with their largest man, a match for Ketil in every way. And he was eerily calm.

"Will no one lend him an ax?†Silveta cried out. "Would you go against an unarmed man, Ketil?â€

"He has his pig sticker,†Ketil laughed. "It will teach you to better arm your bondsmen, Silveta.â€

With that, Ketil lunged at Lexander, swiping his ax in a quick arc. Lexander didn' flinch though it came within a hand's breadth of his chest. Instead, he outwaited the swing of Ketil's arm and moved forward to jab him with his knife. Ketil parried with his knife, taking another futile swing with his ax.

When they parted and faced each other again, there was more respect in Ketil's eyes. He measured Lexander carefully before he resumed his attack. Without an ax, Lexander could hardly defend himself, much less pose a threat. Yet he kept whirling away at every strike.

It went on much longer than Birgir's brief fight with Ejegod. Ketil had murderous intent in the force of his swings, especially as he grew more frustrated at missing Lexander. I expected a spray of blood to burst from his flesh at any moment. I wanted nothing more than to rush between them, to stop this madness. But Silveta was clutching my arm, holding me back. The fear in her face was not only for Lexander.

Then Lexander dodged in as Ketil lifted his ax. His knife glanced off Ketil's belly, leaving a curving line of blood. From where I stood, it seemed Lexander could have sliced it much deeper, gutting his opponent.

Ketil roared in fury. His attack became more vigorous, driving Lexander back. The crowd scattered around them, shifting and moving as they did. I dragged Silveta along, though she would have stayed frozen where she was.

Then Ketil's ax sliced through Lexander's shirt, tearing the sleeve from shoulder to elbow. I cried out at the flow of blood, as red as mine. Somehow I had expected a god's *inua* to look different. I almost prayed to Lexander's people to help their own, but I feared they would descend on us in retribution. There wasn't a single spirit at hand to call on, not even an *olf* to trip Ketil's feet.

Lexander saw no one else, nor heard their taunts and rude cries. He focused on Ketil, as the heavy man grew winded from his exertion. Though Lexander was wounded badly, with blood dripping down his side, he was still light on his feet. He darted forward, then back, throwing Ketil off balance.

In a blur of motion, Lexander was suddenly inside Ketil's reach. But this time his goal was not the belly. His knife slashed sharply upward, cutting into Ketil's forearm.

The ax flew from his opponent's hand. Lexander could have followed with a swipe at Ketil's throat, but he stepped away instead. Ketil went down to his knees, still holding his knife. By rights, Lexander could have finished him off then. But he backed up another step, lowering his own knife.

Ketil's bondsmen leaped forward to protect their chieftain. Though Ketil had not capitulated, there seemed to be no thought of continuing the fight. I feared what the bondsmen would do to Lexander now.

But in the silence, Lexander declared, "l call on you, Ketil, to honor your cousin's request to recall the assembly.â€

Everyone gathered around heard and knew why the duel had been fought. Though Ketil did not reply, from the crowd of men surrounding him, several of the bondsmen nodded acknowledgment to Silveta.

"Yes,†Silveta breathed, sagging in relief. "Now they must hear me.â€



The revelers dispersed in a noisy throng as if the duel had been but a momentary diversion. Lexander was surrounded by well-wishers, hidden from my view. Meanwhile Silveta was taken in hand by Ketil's serving women. She held on to me as if afraid of what would happen to her now that her declared bondsman had injured their chieftain.

From the way the senior woman behaved, I suspected she was Ketil's concubine. His wife had remained on their estate, watching over their interests, and his daughters were not yet of marriageable age. The mistress was clearly furious with Silveta, but apparently it was expected that the defeated Ketil would take us into his entourage.

But when I looked around, Lexander had disappeared. I feared for his life, and my heart leaped into my throat.

One of Ketil's servants finally directed me to the lake. I was thankful for the moon, without which I would have been in complete darkness. I followed the flat shore toward the cliffs. To one side a veil of steam drifted up, forming low-hanging clouds over the water. The plains looked much flatter from up here, spreading to the ocean, but I knew we stood on the shoulder of the mountains.

Then I saw the flicker of torches. Men were standing next to a round pool near the lake. It was Ketil's bondsmen, tending the big man as he reclined in the blue-white water. It looked like ice, but heat radiated from the surface.

Lexander was also lying naked in the water. Nobody was tending him, and his eyes were closed. For a dreadful moment, I thought he was dead.

"Lexander!†I cried, rushing to him. I put my arms around his shoulders, bending to touch my face to his.

His good arm raised to hold me tight. But the other hung limply in the water. "Do not fear, Marja. I am healing. They claim these waters have restorative powers.â€

I plunged my hand into the milky water. It glowed like the sky at dawn. The smell was very strong, as were the spirits who responded from deep inside the earth, where the everlasting furnace burned. They were healing spirits indeed, active from the heat and minerals that filled the water.

"Yes, this is good for you,†I agreed.

I checked his shoulder, lifting his arm as he grimaced. There was a nasty, jagged cut down the curved outer muscle below his shoulder. It gaped open at every movement, making me wince in sympathy. Blood welled up, staining the water pink.

"That must be cleaned and tied up,†I told him. He couldn't move his arm at all. "It is very deep.â€

"No, the water alone will help.â€

The bondsmen were removing Ketil from the hot spring and were binding his wounds. From the drunken slurring of his speech, I could tell Ketil was not in mortal danger. He was drinking to relieve the pain of embarrassment. Surely he had done worse to Lexander.

The bondsmen carried Ketil away, taking all but one torch with them. One of them stared back at us as he left. I sensed more curiosity than animosity.

"This cut should be bound closed. You could bleed to death.†I wondered if I should ask the bondsmen to return to help me.

Lexander seemed wistful. "You forget that I am different from you. The wound will heal on its own. Already I feel it closing. There is nothing you need to do, Marja.â€

My hands were on his arm. His skin felt the same as mine.

I pulled away, and he sighed in regret. But I unlaced my bodice and slipped off my dress, dropping them next to his clothes. Naked, I slid in beside him.

He clasped me close with one arm, and we bumped into each other, floating just above the smooth black rock on the bottom of the spring. It reminded me of my dreams. Perhaps I had envisioned this moment, when we would truly join together.

I molded my body against his. "l can't live without you, Lexander.â€

"l can't put you at risk any longer,†Lexander swore, kissing my hair. "l was selfish to want to take you with me. You will be safe with Gudren and Alga, and that is all that matters.â€

"No, I belong to you.â€

He started to protest, but I wouldn't let him. I kissed his cheek, then his lips. I pulled myself on top of him, floating with him even as his arm dangled uselessly. He tried to restrain himself but couldn't.

"l want only you,†l murmured.

With the water spirits tickling my senses, I opened myself up to them, reaching out to Lexander at the same time. I knew I risked everything, the loss of my very self. But I couldn't deny my desire any longer.

And in a breathless rush, I felt his emotionsâ€"the pain of avoiding me, of trying not to touch me, of knowing that I was afraid to be intimate with him. But his own longing raged, barely contained throughout our journey, when he wanted nothing more than to throw me down before the oarsmen and take me for his own.

No longer was he closed off from me. It was as if he poured himself into me, and I emptied myself into him. I could feel the throbbing pain in his arm like it was my own. I could also feel his arousal overwhelming everything else. For once he lay supine and I mounted him, swaying against him. All the while, I was feeling him as he felt my response. We rolled in the water, joined as one, as if in a dream.

The darkening sky overhead suddenly ripped in two. A curtain of blue light shone above us. Beyond it was another ribbon, rippling green. Everything was splitting apart and I was falling into the Otherworld.

I fought it for one brief moment, then held Lexander tighter, refusing to let go. I lost myself in him, surrendering completely.

* * *

When I finally came back into myself, the sky was still rippling with colored fire. But I was whole again.

"Am I in the Otherworld?†I had to ask.

"You're with me,†Lexander whispered.

We were still floating in the warm waters of the spring. I could sense the pleased water spirits that had satiated themselves on our passion. In the distance was the sound of revelers in the camps, singing and shouting as their fete continued.

Eighteen

I woke at sunrise, curled in Lexander's generous cloak. The clarity of the rising sun was very different from misty mornings in my homeland. The shadows were sharply defined, making the looming cliffs seem even more rough and jagged.

Lexander was floating in the spring again, its milky blue waters brighter than the silver sheen of the lake beyond. I relaxed, watching him. He slept little, from what I had seen on our journey. But his eyes were closed as he let the water support him.

Lexander had kept me safe last night. Though I had surrendered willingly, he had refused to let me pass into the Otherworld.

I stretched in perfect luxury. I was free to touch him now, to kiss him, to serve him in every way. I could let my passion shine in my eyes for all to see.

Lexander rose slowly from the water. Then I noticed his arm. The deep gash was now merely a dark line that marked his skin.

I sat up from my warm cocoon as he walked out of the spring. It was hard to believe my eyes. I had seen the badly torn flesh just last night.

My fingers touched his arm as he sat down next to me. It was nearly smooth, with only an amber ridge to mar it. His muscle felt hard as he moved his arm, showing me he was perfectly healed.

"Miraculous,†I whispered. "You are a god, indeed.â€

Lexander laughed. "Closer to a man than a god, as surely you've seen by now. I must use my wits and my strong arms to get what I desire.†His fingers twined in mine, drawing me closer. He took my lips, savoring our kiss. I melted into him again, wanting more, always more.

But voices grew louder as people approached. Lexander slipped into his weathered oarsman clothes and wrapped the rags of his shirt around his arm to hide it. "lt's best if no one else sees this. Don't speak of it to Silveta.â€

I nodded solemnly. Fear would drive their response if they knew a godling was in their midst.

I quickly donned the green dress that Alga had given me. Now there was no thought of me returning to live with the Sigurdssons. Everything between us had changed last night. Lexander would not let me go, despite his fears, and I no longer feared his touch.

As we started back down to the camps to find Silveta, I had to ask Lexander the question that had bothered me for moons. "My slave-mates who were sent away in the winged ship—are they with your people?â€

"Yes.â€

"Are they being hurt?†I dreaded the answer, but I had to know the fate of Rosarin, Sverker, and Ansgar.

Lexander put an arm around my shoulders as we walked. "l wish it were not so . . . but you deserve to know the truth. They've been separated by now, and are being handed from one master to another, treated as objects, without even the value our training house gives you. They are likely unhappy, though if they take pleasure in serving, their burden will be lighter. If they are lucky, they will find a loving master who will keep them. But few are lucky,â€

"You saved me.†I tightened my grip on his arm. "You gave up everything for me.â€

"l could not harm your people any longer. Your mates were the last slaves I sent to that fate.â€

* * *

It took until midmorning for the assembly to be called to order. The chieftains had celebrated until the wee hours and did not take kindly to having to assemble rather than depart for home. Silveta complained of having to go from camp to camp to coax nearly every chieftain to come hear her plea.

It seemed Lexander and I were avoiding everyone when we crossed the river, jumping from rock to rock. We passed through the meadow and climbed the grassy slope to the base of the cliffs. The rock appeared to have been torn with one side pushed high into the sky.

Lexander and I waited, looking over the peaceful plains. From the base of the cliff, I could no longer see the mountains or the plume of smoke that pierced the white clouds. Yet in the night, I had felt the ground rumbling as if in discontent. All was not well here despite the stark beauty of the place.

From our vantage point, we could see hundreds of people slowly making their way from the camps beside the lake, crossing the river to mill about in the meadow below us, between the river and the cliffs. Now I understood why the plants there had been trampled. Beyond the camps, the plains spread in undulating waves down to the ocean.

Still, I was surprised when the lawspeaker climbed up to join us, stepping forward as far as he could on the slope to address the crowd. Apparently the Isslandirs did everything outside, including their lawmaking.

Then Ketil appeared with his retinue. They climbed up the slope to join us and provided a stool for him as far back against the cliff as he could get. Ketil sat down, his elbows jutting out and his hands on his knees. He seemed unboth ered by the scratch to his stomach, but the bandage on his arm was thick, though it showed no seeping blood. His eyes were clear and alert, and I doubted there was any putrefaction in the wound.

Lexander was treated with wary respect. Ketil ignored him, and he was not overwarm toward Silveta in his greeting. Apparently his entourage tolerated her presence rather than welcomed her.

When the lawspeaker finished his recitation of the law that allowed a chieftain to reconvene the assembly, he called on Ketil Grimsson. Ketil rose, his reluctance clear. But he stomped forward, as if to show everyone that he had not been weakened by his injury.

With a growl deep in his throat, Ketil declared in a ringing voice, "By debt of honor, I must recall the assembly to hear the plea of Silveta of Markland, my kinswoman.â€

He retreated back to his stool, refusing to stand by her side or give weight to her plea by speaking of it himself. Silveta blushed high on her cheeks as she stepped to the fore, aided by a hand from the lawspeaker. Lexander ground his teeth at the insult, but he didn't dare move closer to her. Because he had bested one of their strongest men, he would become the focus instead of Silveta.

She settled her stained yellow skirts, much bedraggled by our long journey. But I was proud of her splendid bearing. She appeared perfectly at ease, though it must have been odd to address hundreds of people milling about in the bright sunlight. I could not tell which men were the chieftains.

"My request is simple,†she declared, raising her voice high so everyone could hear her above the muted roar of the waterfall. "By right of marriage contract, my estate and my hand are mine to give now that the chieftain is dead. Yet Birgir Barfoot, a brigand who lately passed through Issland,

has seized my estate and taken me by force. I have come to you for help, for a warband to put down this butcher.â€

The faces turned up to us looked bored at best, skeptical at worst. Loud grumbles rose from the crowd. "What is this babble?†â€œWe've missed the tide.†â€œGive her the boot, Ketil!â€

Silveta held up the amber beads that had been twined in her hair that long-ago day for Ejegod's funeral. The facets sparkled in her fingers. "Markland will pledge tribute to Issland every year in amber such as this! Yes, and fine woods and ivory. Trade will flow freely between our nations.â€

" 'Tis against the law to trade with heathens,†a querulous voice countered.

Similar protests rose. Lexander was rightâ€"the western maritime lands held little interest for these people. I kept expecting someone to rise up to quell the riot of sound, but none did. There was no overlord here in this assembly of equals. Even the lawspeaker did not try to stifle the free flow of opinions.

Silveta glanced back at Lexander. He was in front of me so I couldn't see his face, but he gave a slight shake of his head. He had not believed she could convince the assembly to help her. But Silveta had hoped.

It seemed her plea would be rejected out of hand. A few moments' work after we had come such a long way, only to accomplish nothing. My worst fears were realized.

But the thin man we had encountered by the Kristna temple climbed up the slope toward us. A hush fell over the crowd at the sight of him. His black garments enshrouded his body, but nothing could mask his long, wattled neck and bony hands.

When he stood next to Silveta, his voice was reedy, caught by the wind over the plain. But everyone listened well. "My fellow Isslandirs, we should consider boons other than worldly gain when we hear this request.â€

"What say you, Bishop?†a burly man called out.

"lf this woman will take Kristna into her heart and carry his message to the western lands, then I believe it is worth granting her a warband.â€

A chieftain I recognized from last night shouted, "A high price to pay for matters of the spirit.â€

"Do you so lightly prize the salvation of your immortal souls?†the bishop called. In the silence, he turned to Silveta. "Would you agree to take clerics with you to Markland, to give them land for sanctuaries so they can address your people? If you offer protection, as lady of the land, surely they could spread the word of Kristna in peace.â€

I was unnerved by the idea. But Silveta smiled at the bishop. "lt is certainly something we could negotiate. As long as the assembly agrees in principle that I will get the warriors I need.â€

Ketil finally rose from his stool. "The bishop and I can work out the details with you. Your tithe will be split among the chieftains who send men.â€

The lawspeaker called out in a basso voice, "All in favor?â€

A chorus of ayes arose.

The lawspeaker chanted a ritual closure to the assembly, but everyone was already milling about discussing their immediate departure. Only a few seemed interested in our venture. Silveta climbed down the steep slope, helped by Lexander.

The bishop joined Silveta and Ketil. "You must come to worship with us, freya. Surely if you let Kristna into your heart, you will understand our purpose. You will be saved for all eternity.â€

Silveta was gracious, and as they talked, her pretty laughter lifted over the din. It was the first time I had heard her so happy. She was obviously heartened to have won their support.

But I was afraid. I did not understand the lure of this Kristna worship.



It was arranged for us to stay in Pingvellr to gather supplies and assemble the men. Ketil's retinue delayed their departure, and he took charge of the arrangements. I was glad to see that he warmed to Silveta immediately after the assembly supported her petition. He kept recounting his amazement at her audacity, seeming to take pleasure in it now. He had never formally ceded the fight, so he made a point of telling Lexander that they should "finish what we started.†It made me quail to hear his challenge, but Lexander refused to take offense at Ketil's taunting.

Lexander did tell me later, "We must leave soon. I cannot fight him again.â€

I, too, feared another battle between the two men. Ketil had underestimated Lexander the first time. He was not likely to do so again. Lexander took the precaution of purchasing a fine ax and broadsword, which he wore on his belt conspicuously. He found a sword sharpener among the merchants and sat patiently while the edges were honed to razor sharpness. I noticed some of Ketil's bondsmen among the crowd. They were always within sight.

Silveta made it clear she was willing to give whatever the Isslandirs required to obtain her warband. To seal their agreement, Silveta joined Ketil at the evening's service in the Kristna sanctuary. Lexander insisted we attend, but I needed no coaxing, anxious to find out more about this god.

The sanctuary was bare as we approached. It baffled me that there was no trace of the god in the place that was dedicated to him.

Inside, the narrow room had an uneven black rock floor. It quickly filled with people, who sat on benches and three-legged stools facing the bishop. He stood next to a tall table, holding an open book, with an altar behind him that was clean of any trace of blood. Pale clouds of incense seeped through perforated brass lanterns. The bishop spoke, but I could not understand his words. Since there was no kindly *olf* around to tell me what he meant, I sat uncomprehending.

Glancing around, I saw that the others held small books in their hands. It was a communal rite with chanting and strange words that they spoke together. I wanted to clasp Lexander's hand, but I saw no one else touching and feared it might offend their god.

And still I felt no otherworldly spirit. Instead, there was a subtle commingling of the worshipers' inua. The bishop's inua led, weaving among the others, but they contributed by focusing solely on him. The spirits of Silveta, Lexander, and I were not drawn in because we did not truly participate in the ritual.

When the words finally ceased and the people left the sanctuary, it was empty again. There was nothing left of the spirits they had woven together. Each person took away a part of it.

That's when I understood. The Kristna god lived inside of these people instead of maintaining its otherworldly presence. Kristna followers had a desire to share the god inside of them, to give it to another, thus making their worship stronger.

The bishop asked Silveta, "Can you accept Kristna as your savior?â€

She smiled uncertainly. "l did not understand much of your worship.â€

He included me in his nod. "lt will come to you in time. I will speak to you every day about the love of our lord and savior and the salvation that lies in accepting Kristna into your heart. Soon enough you will be saved.â€

"Never,†I breathed, stumbling away in revulsion.

Gods weren't supposed to dwell inside of people. The only spirits I knew that infested folks were evil ones that encouraged harmful deeds. Though I didn't feel evil in Kristna, it still seemed wrong to take a god inside myself. Surely the god changed his followers. What vital part of myself would I have to give up in order to accommodate this god? It was a risk too great to take.

Silveta seemed to have escaped unscathed, yet I could tell by the welcoming of the others that she would not long be able to withstand the lure of this communal worship.



After the ritual, I was overcome by my discovery and wandered aimlessly along the river. Everyone else returned to their camps by the lake, so I went the opposite direction, toward the waterfall. The thundering of the water grew louder, echoing off the cliff face. Lexander could see that I was distressed and he followed me silently.

I desperately tried to sense an otherworldly presence, but there was nothing. Not an *olf* or sprite responded. I had only felt water spirits since coming to this glorious yet benighted land. Now it felt as if the plume of ash and smoke coming from the mountains was an ominous sign.

I went as close as I could to the base of the waterfall. The air was charged and felt more alive here than anywhere else. I knelt on a tumbled square rock, blasted by the spray of mist, plunging my hand into the white stream that poured between the boulders.

The turbulence overpowered everything else as the water tumbled down. But the water spirits were there, connecting this foaming fall with the deep river above, flowing through a long gorge, over gravel flats between grassy banks and into the fiery mountains towering over us.

These water spirits saw few Isslandirs until they emerged on this assembly plain. But they responded to my need to see some olfs. There were several olfs not far away, in the gorge above, dodging around a giant rock that had fallen into the water.

It was such a relief to reach out to touch them. Though we were not close, the water spirits helped carry my call to them.

In a few moments, the *olfs* appeared at the top of the waterfall. I laughed out loud, beckoning to them. "Yes, come!â€

They darted down to circle our heads. Lexander stood very still. "What is it?â€

"Finally, some *olf*s are here.†I gave him a curious look. "I know you don't see them, but I don't understand why not with the powers you possess.â€

"l'm not of your world,†he reminded me. "Your spirits are tied to this earth in ways I cannot fathom.â€

"They are glad to see us,†l explained. "It must be lonely for them here, without others of their kind.â€

"ls it so very barren?â€

"Their god stifles the worship of other spirits. Kristna fills people, pushing the Otherworld away. This land is in pain.â€

He clasped my hand in both of his. "l can hardly believe it, Marja. The meadows are rich and fertile. l've heard it said the number of farms continues to grow.â€

I took a deep breath, closing my eyes. "Now I can feel it through these *olfs*. In truth, this land is being rent in two, split down to the very depths where we stand. The few trees that are left are being cut for houses and ships. The dirt crumbles under the roots as plants try to grow.â€

Lexander bent down and touched the soil. It sifted, sandy and poor, through his fingers. "Not like home, to be sure.â€

"The olfs are warning me. The same could happen in Markland if Silveta brings Kristna there.†I stared at Lexander in horror. "Surely the olfs did not save Silveta merely to replace Birgir with Kristna. Is Markland's spirit to be blighted forever?â€

Lexander looked into the air, as if wishing he could see the *olfs*. The shy creatures were overjoyed to be so openly acknowledged. They lived in the fringes somehow, despite the pervading presence of Kristna. Though their numbers were depleted, some of the hearty creatures had survived on the generous gifts of Isslandirs who remembered them. I could not imagine a similar fate for my homeland.

"l must tell Silveta.†I declared, "before it's too late.â€



Silveta gave us an appraising look when we returned to Ketil's camp. "So you two have mended your quarrel.†She looked at Lexander. "I suppose you'll go back to ordering her around all the time.â€

Her wild expression belied her bitterness. She had not looked so desperate since Ejegod died.

"What's wrong?†Lexander asked, going to her side. I felt a pang of jealousy, remembering how close they had grown on the voyage.

"The bishop expects me to take clerics as my advisers.†Her voice quavered slightly as she added, "Ketil says I must leave you both here on Issland to guarantee my tithe.â€

It was too awful to be true. "No, I can't bear this place!†I cried. "And Ketil will not let Lexander sleep many nights before fighting him again.†I turned to Lexander. "He wants to kill you for besting him. What will happen if you are forced to slay him?â€

"lt can't be borne!†Silveta wailed, her hands at her temples. "lt's too dangerous. Why should I abandon my only friends to satisfy Ketil? But the bishop says that you're heathens and can't be trusted.â€

I went to Silveta, taking her hands. "You can't let the Kristna god inside of you. His worship is sucking the life out of Issland. This land is suffering.â€

"Am I to let Birgir destroy Markland instead?†she countered.

"You can't lose the very thing you are fighting for,†I said. "There must be something else we can do.â€

Silveta pulled her hands away. "We've tried everything! This is my last hope. Would you have me sail all the way to the Auldland on a fool's quest?â€

I shook my head. "We've gone too far already.†I could feel it in my bones. The salvation of Markland had never seemed so near as when I was with the ice sprites. Those special imps had tried to tell me something, though I had kept the knowledge at bay.

"Helluland,†I declared. "We can ask the Skraelings for help.â€

"Skraelings!†Silveta repeated in disbelief. "A bunch of screaming savages?â€

Lexander put in quietly, "Those â€̃savages' wreaked havoc on Markland and Viinland for generations. They are serious warriors indeed.†â€œYou must jest,†Silveta protested. "I can't even speak to them.â€

"My mother is Skraeling, so I know their ways,†I declared. "I can convince them to help you, to retake Tillfallvik from Birgir and his men.†â€œHow can you be so sure?†Silveta retorted. "I already have the warband I need here. Why should I take the risk?â€

I knew she might not believe me, but I had to try. "The otherworldly creatures told me you should seek help from the Skraelings.â€

Lexander and Silveta exchanged a look. "You said yourself that she's been right so far,†Lexander pointed out.

"So l'm to take Skraelings into Tillfallvik, where they've not been seen in living memory?†Silveta asked.

"Skraelings honor the spirits around them,†I pointed out. "They will not blight your land. The *olfs* will ensure we conquer Birgir, who honors the Kristna god himself.â€

Silveta put her hands to her face. "l must think. It is too much to ask that I turn away the help I am offered.â€

"But at what price?†Lexander asked. "Marja and I cannot stay here.â€

She was terribly upset. "Maybe I can convince him to let you go . . . But no, Ketil is determined to keep you here. He would challenge you the moment I leftlâ€

"Think on it deeply,†I told her. "Your decision means life or death for Markland.â€

倜lf only there were some other way,†she cried. 倜But I can't betray you. Not as my father betrayed me. You've both been steadfast.†Silveta turned away, her voice hopeless. 倜How can I deny you?â€

Nineteen

In the end, after many tears and much doubt, Silveta agreed to reject the Isslandirs' offer. Ketil was enraged when she made one last attempt to reach a compromise and take us with her. He was too eager to fight Lexander again, and the bishop insisted that Kristna clerics alone must accompany her. He was confident that Silveta would accept Kristna under their influence during the long journey together.

Silveta never did tell Ketil that she had changed her mind. Lexander thought it best to avoid a confrontation. We left Ketil in Pingvellr still preparing for the venture, sneaking away at first light with the shipmaster of the Sigurdssons' knaar. He had sold the spars for a good price and intended to return to Viinland.

The shipmaster was incredulous when Lexander requested our passage back to the western lands. In truth, the man believed we were mad. He had heard of Silveta's agreement with the assembly, and he thought it was a fair offer. But he allowed us to board his *knaar* as Gudren had ordered.

Silveta was pensive, as if some part of her had given up hope. Agreeing to appeal to the Skraelings had taken a leap of faith, and she was simply worn out from her efforts. Her eyes were far away, and she often frowned as if mulling over her plight.

Where Silveta was uncertain, I was finally on my true path. I was glad when the plume of smoke from the mountains disappeared over the horizon. I was united with Lexander in every way, and the *olf* onboard was clearly delighted with our plan to go to Helluland.

Is it little wonder I cared not for the dangers of the sea? The ocean spirits sang through me, and I opened myself up to Lexander so he could feel them as well. Finally united in mind and body with him, I curled in his arms, sheltered by his cloak and snug in his warmth. We were never apart, and I grew to know his body as well as my own. I felt protected, even when we were whipped by gales that sent waves towering over our *knaar*.

Though I didn't have to dream of intimacy with Lexander, a true joining was difficult. Silveta and the oarsmen were always within arm's reach. I became adept at sitting on his lap, facing him, my arms around his chest. Our groins rubbed against each other, and when he grew firm, he slipped inside of me. Silveta could not help but notice, but she mostly tried to ignore us. He wrapped his cloak around me to hide my trembling as we moved to the motion of the ship, sometimes for hours, as pleasure flashed back and forth through us. I opened myself to him, as always, letting him feel as I did.

Once he lifted a strand of my hair and kissed it. "lt's as if you've become translucent, and all that exists is pleasure.â€

We could not conceal the passion that permeated the ship and drove the olf to a gibbering frenzy. Often it snuggled up to us at night, tangled together under the cloak. I had never seen an olf so satiated with delight.

The oarsmen, on the other hand, grew more surly and tense, unable to release their own desires. They gave me and Silveta sidelong looks, licking their lips and appraising our charms. If Lexander had not made a name for himself as a strong warrior in Pingvellr, they would have tried to take what they wanted. He regularly sent me under the canvas with Silveta to sit on the bags of linen cloth that were part of the payment for the spars. He wanted us out of sight so the men's lust could cool. He made sure to sharpen his ax and knife every day. His point was clear. They had seen how fast he moved and how great was his reach. Alone, they had no chance. But Lexander could have been overwhelmed by their sheer numbers. Only the shipmaster, fearing for his post with the Sigurdssons, kept the simmering crew under control.

We didn't pass near Gronland, far to the north, so the days grew long but never endless. Our *knaar* was lightly loaded, making us skip across the wave tops. Thankfully there were fewer icebergs to be avoided in the rough, open ocean. By the time Helluland was sighted due west, I was one with the water spirits.

Silveta stood by the prow, searching the forbidding rocky land. "How shall we ever find the Skraelings?â€

"When I traded with them,†Lexander told her, "I always went to their winter settlements farther south. In the summer, they move inland. They'II come back together in a few moons.â€

"Birgir will surely be chieftain by then,†she retorted. "If he's not already. We must have help now.â€

The olfs of Helluland were putting out a fine welcome for us. I was relieved to feel it after the dearth of otherworldly creatures in Issland. Though the coast looked desolate, there was life here that went far deeper than in more populated lands.

They were both looking at me expectantly. I didn't need to consult with the sea spirits. The olfs were already showing me walrus-hide boats bobbing in the mouth of a river. A gush of blood stained the rocks on the shore where fat salmon were being gutted.

"There,†I said, pointing to an inlet south of the *knaar*.



The gray rocky hills of the inlet were no different than the others we had sailed past, but I knew this was the right spot. We were north of the tree line in the tundra. Ferns, mosses, liverworts, and crucifers spread across the ground wherever the bedrock didn't poke through. A heavy coastal fog was hugging the thawing land. It felt like a colder version of my beloved fens.

The shipmaster claimed the tide was wrong and refused to beach the knaar. Lexander argued with him as the oarsmen grumbled at the delay. I asked our faithful olf to let the Skraelings know we had need of them.

Two round boats emerged from the low-lying mist that clung to the shoreline. There were six people in each of the *umiaks*, which bristled with harpoons and long sinew-backed bows that the Thule were renowned for. This was the fiercest of all the Skraeling tribes.

Silveta was frightened of them, drawing back as the *umiaks* glided silently up to our *knaar*. I saw my mam's face in theirsâ€"the narrow black eyes and dark complexion, creased by the everlasting sun. The blood of salmon washing their sealskin boots attested to their work that day. The hoods of their formfitting parkas were thrown back, showing their top-knotted hair. The boats were rowed by strong young men, but my eyes went unerringly to the two elders amongst them.

"Greetings!†I called out in my mam's language. "I see the blessings of Arnaaluk are upon you.â€

Their surprise was evident. One of the elders, with white-frosted hair, asked, "Are you a daughter of the true people?â€

"My mam is Beothuk.†The language came easily, the first I had heard whispered to me as a babe. The guttural sounds came from the back of my throat, an emphatic way of speaking.

The elder nodded slowly, glancing up at the *olf* that now hovered over his *umiak*. I gestured, and it flashed back to us. It began to bob and weave about Silveta, though she could not see it. That truly interested the elder.

Silveta could restrain herself no longer. "What are you saying? Are they going to attack us?â€

I wasn't sure about that myself. Lexander spoke in Skraeling to the elder I had addressed. "We need safe escort to speak to your leaders.â€

I had heard him speak to the Skraeling slaves in their own tongue, so I was not surprised. But Silveta was. Not many Noromenn knew Skraelingâ€"my siblings and I were the only ones in Jarnby who could talk with their traders. But Lexander had bargained for decades with them to acquire slaves.

The elders spoke low amongst themselves. Silveta was shaking in fear. "Are you sure about this?†she asked.

I closed my eyes, reaching out. We were in harmony with the flow of the spirits of the land and the sea. These fierce men with their weapons were a sign of more help to come.

"Yes.†I smiled at the elders, knowing they must feel this, too. They did not understand how our fates were intertwined, but in the Skraeling way, they were content to let the path guide them.

"Come with us then,†the elder declared.

I hiked up my skirt and swung one leg over the side. Lexander caught me with one hand before I could slide over. I gave him a reassuring nod, and he let me go. I dropped from the *knaar*. The Skraelings made sure I came down safely.

I held on to the flexible side of the boat, feeling it shift beneath me. I motioned to Lexander and Silveta. "They'll take us to shore.â€

The olf who had accompanied us jumped into the midst of the Helluland olfs. But Silveta hesitated. "What if we're stranded here?â€

"lt's a little late to question our course.†Lexander also swung over the side of the *knaar*, landing in the other boat very lightly for such a big man. He reached up for Silveta. "Don't worry. I won't let you fall.â€

With evident reluctance, Silveta leaned over the side of the ship. But she was afraid to swing her legs over. Lexander was much taller than the Skraelings, and he plucked her off the ship, setting her down next to him. I saw the way she clenched him so hard and how protective his arm was around her. But his expression when he looked at me was full of pride, and that was enough.



The Lootega clan consisted of an extended family. The eldest were two withered sisters, with interlocking cousins and siblings descending to a tiny babe strapped to a board on a young mother's back. The middle-aged matrons ordered everyone around as they smoked the fresh fish to preserve it, feasting well that night.

For the first time, I saw how my mam had lived before coming to Jarnby. They slept in two long tents, narrower than a longhouse, supported by arced staves of antlers. I had to duck my head to walk inside. We slept in the midst of the family, with less privacy than we had on the *knaar*. But here, there were couplings throughout the short night, the moans and groans casually ignored by everyone.

Silveta was lost, unable to speak to anyone or understand their customs. The Thule, from the children on up, stared in fascination at her yellow hair, more golden than the sun in their sky. I insisted we trade our dresses for warm parkas and caribou leggings. Hers was much desired for its brilliant color even though it was stained. Silveta hated wearing pants, but she finally stopped complaining of the cold. I adored the waterproof boots and leggings, cozy with fur lining.

Whenever I could, I tramped far from camp, communing with the olfs, who skipped over the rocks and dived in the ponds of water that laced the undulating ground. There were tiny ice sprites living underground, where the frost reached nearly to the surface. In winter, they were freed to dance over the drifts of snow and crystalline air. They sent joyous sparks through the ground in their excitement that I had heeded their summons to Helluland. I could feel the much slower, deeper agreement of the very old spirits that inhabited the rocks, older than any I had sensed before. In truth, I was surrounded by an abundance of otherworldly creatures.

The clan appreciated the *olfs* and spoke with them as a matter of course, placating and bribing them to ensure good luck. Many times I couldnâ∈™t distinguish the Markland *olf* from its northern cousins. When I wasnâ∈™t roaming the tundra, I stayed among the women, asking them about everything from the fish they were drying to the intricate signs they painted on their caribou clothing. They were preparing for the big hunt, when they would acquire the hides they would need for the coming year. It was important to respect the great spirit of the caribou so that many animals would be given to them.

"We have to hurry,†Silveta insisted every day. "The longer we delay the more entrenched Birgir will become.â€

"The elders say they will leave soon for the caribou hunt. 'Tis where we'Il find enough people to get your warband.â€

"Can't you urge them to hasten?†she pleaded.

"They will go when the signs tell them to. Why should they risk delay or sickness when following the portents will ensure their safe arrival?â€

Silveta rolled her eyes. "Why aren't you talking to them about Markland, to get them on our side?â€

" 'Tis not the time.â€

Silveta tried to appeal to Lexander again. "You speak Skraeling. Why don't you do something?â€

He still wore his cloak and oarsman garb because he was much too large for Thule clothing. But he never noticed the cold. "My trades were all simple—so many ax blades for a boy, sacks of grain for a girl. You have no goods in hand to give them. The only way they will help you is if you gain their trust.â€

"The *olfs* will make sure they give us aid,†I assured her.

Silveta covered her face, shaking her head as if she couldn't take it anymore. But at least she left me alone after that so I could enjoy my mam's people. The Beothuk roamed the southern coastline of Helluland, where the trees grew thick, but they were Skraeling just like the Thule.

When the shaman finally decreed the spirits were with us, the family transformed their tents into boats and packed their furs into surprisingly small bundles. Their entire camp was mobile, with bags to hold their whetstones, tools, fishing gear, and carved soapstone pots and lamps. The shaman had his own special waterproof sack that contained the wooden masks he wore during trances to speak to the guardian spirits and gods. I was allowed to watch the ritual he had performed to ensure favorable travel, dancing and singing in the mask of a walrus, the totem of the Lootega clan. I could hear faint echoes of the animal spirit speaking to the shaman, and it made me long to see more.

We paddled up the vast inlet for three days. I was surprised when the water remained salty as the inlet undulated deep into the interior. The farther we got from the coast, stands of conifers appeared in the creases between the barren hills. The low, rocky shoreline passed by, covered in purple and umber plants that hugged the ground. From what the clan told me, it was difficult to wrest life from this cold world. They usually moved south during the winter season despite having to compete with the Beothuk and Micmaq tribes who lived there.

When we finally reached the hooked end of the inlet, the Lootega clan packed up their boats and dragged them on sleds over the surrounding hills.

Topping the rise, I suddenly felt as if I could see forever. Hundreds of Thule tents hardly made a notch on the edge of a great bowl of tundra. It stretched into the distance farther than I could see. Here and there were lines of brown specks as caribou passed through on their annual migration. The feeble sunlight glinted off thousands of tiny puddles and pockets of water smearing the landscape.

Silveta cheered up at the sight of so many people. "Surely there are a hundred stout men here who can fight,†she declared. "What would they take in trade?â€

Lexander shook his head. "lt must be something they need enough to make them risk their lives. Marja, do you know what they desire most?â€

I looked around at the Skraelings, busy setting up their snug tents. The enormous encampment smelled cleaner than any Norotown I had seen. Their smiles told their own story as they greeted friends and kin. We were included in the welcome simply because we were with Lootega clan.

"lt seems they lack for nothing,†I had to admit.

Silveta pushed her hood back, causing a sensation with her blond hair. "Tell them what I need, Marja. Let them set their own price.â€

But I was distracted by the sight of someone who looked familiar. A young man stood next to one of the tents. He was alone and had one elbow slightly raised as if to ward off a blow.

I went closer to be sure. It was Kinirniq, my former slave-mate from Vidaris, just as scrawny as before. He was trembling all over.

"Kinirniq!†I exclaimed. "Can it be true? What are you doing here?â€

He looked at me blankly, too exhausted to acknowledge my presence.

As Silveta joined me, I turned to Lexander. "Don't you see? It's Kinirnig.â€

Lexander was looking at him intently as if he, too, couldn't believe it was he. "What happened to you?†he asked, concerned by the young man's lack of response. Kinirniq's eyes were reddened and watery, and he was mumbling something to himself.

"Kinirniq, are you unwell?†Lexander asked, reaching out to touch his bared shoulder.

The Skraeling youth reacted as if he had been struck. His hands went to his face and he began to scream. He collapsed to the ground, shrieking in pure terror as he warded Lexander off.

Twenty

"Kinirniq!†I cried. But he flinched away violently from me and bellowed like an animal in pain. His arms shielded his head.

Thule began to gather. An elder I had not seen before gestured to some youngsters to go to Kinirniq. The poor young man could not bear to have us near him. I was touched by the way the little children surrounded him, cooing in sympathy, calming his cries.

"My cousin's son was returned to us this way,†the elder told us. "Two summers ago, he strayed from our winter camp and was not seen again. How do you know him?â€

Lexander was impassive, as usual, and Silveta looked at me in bewilderment.

"l knew Kinirniq in Viinland,†I replied cautiously.

The elder was a powerful man in his prime, with silver-dusted black hair and brows that met in a deep crease between his dark eyes. His complexion was burnt near black. "Kinirniq was sent to us from Kebec. The traders claimed him as a slave, but his past is locked in the depths of his mind. He does not speak. He rarely sleeps, and is frightened even then. Do you know what caused this malady in him?â€

The olfs were watching us curiously, coming from all around. They also wanted to know what evil spirit had blighted this poor young man. Kinirniq was a cipher to them. Now he sat on the muddy ground, breathing heavily as if he had run very far. The little girls and boys were patting him and sitting by his legs. Their energy soothed him.

"lt was Helanas,†I blurted out. "Our mistress tortured him. She summoned a deadening miasma of despair that enveloped Vidaris and drove away all the good spirits.â€

The elder's gaze was unnaturally compelling, as if he was reading the truth from my essence was well as my words. "We have not been able to expel that evil spirit. Kinirniq breaks into rages when he is touched. He is cared for only by the young ones.â€

I thought of the abuse Helanas had inflicted on Kinirniq, the endless restraints, the unwanted penetration and forced ecstasy. She had abused me as well, but I had enjoyed everything far too much for her taste. Even her worst torture was merely a prelude to Lexander's touch. But evil had seeped into the cracks made in Kinirniq before I ever came to Vidaris.

I turned to Lexander with pain in my eyes. How could he have taken a boy so unsuited to be a pleasure slave? But I could not ask it out loud. My stomach twisted in fear at the thought of how these righteous Thule would react if they knew what Lexander had done to Kinirniq.

He saw my revulsion, and it hurt him deeply. There was self-loathing in his own eyes. "lt was wrong,†he told me quietly. "This is exactly the reason why I had to leave Vidaris.â€

"l know that name well!†another man called out, pushing his way to the fore. "This man is Vidaris, Amaruq. He lured my granddaughter away with tales of fame and riches in Viinland.â€

Amaruq, the elder, was watching me, clearly concerned by my reaction. "Nerrivig is the elder of the Tomalik clan.â€

I was silent, afraid of implicating Lexander.

But the enraged grandfather was already focused on Lexander. "Where is she now, our Qamaniq, our precious girl?â€

So Qamaniq was Thule, as well. I had not guessed it before, though I knew the stately Skraeling was exceptional. Indeed, Kinirniq and Qamaniq had the same high cheekbones and prominent nose ridge, instead of the flatter, rounder faces of the Beothuk like my mam and the Skraeling sisters. But Kinirniq had been sent to Kebec before Qamaniq arrived, so I had never considered their similarities.

"Qamanig is in Vidaris,†Lexander said quietly.

"The very place that stole this boy's inua?†Nerriviq demanded angrily, pointing at Kinirniq. "Is that the fate of our girl?â€

I knew Qamaniq was strong-willed, but Helanas would probably enjoy tormenting her stubborn streak. Helanas was capable of anything, especially if her anger at Lexander's abandonment was turned against the defenseless slaves. The best Qamaniq could hope for was to be taken by the winged ship, to suffer as Rosarin and Ansgar did now. Perhaps Kinirniq was the lucky one, to be returned home, even in such a terrible state.

Again, Amaruq seemed to know my feelings, as if he had gained a great understanding in his life. The thoughtful elder did not interfere as Qamaniq's grandfather summoned his kin to confront Lexander. My master had little to say.

Silveta couldn't understand, so she tugged on my parka. "What is it? Why are they mad at Lexander?â€

"Kinirniq used to be a pleasure slave,†I explained hastily, trying to follow the argument that was going on among Nerriviq's kin. The elders of the Lootega clan lingered, but they didn't seem eager to get involved.

"You did that to him, Lexander?†Silveta appraised the pathetic Kinirniq sitting on the ground, his head bowed. "lt looks more like Birgir's men got to him.â€

I shuddered, and looked away. I couldn't bear to meet Lexander's eyes.

"Tell them why l'm here, Marja,†Silveta insisted. "This looks like it's not going well.â€

I gestured to the *freya*, hoping to distract the Thule from Lexander. "This great woman has come from Markland, all this way to trade with you. We wish to work with the Thule.â€

"Compensation must be given,†Amaruq abruptly declared. The elder was clearly a big man among the Thule.

Others began nodding, including Nerriviq, the aggrieved grandfather. He sneered at Lexander. "Have you anything of value to give us?â€

Lexander hesitated, accustomed to having wealth to rely on. "No, I have nothing.â€

"You have strong arms and back,†Nerriviq countered. "You will work for me, and after the hunt we will take back my granddaughter.â€

"And what compensation will there be for Kinirniq?†Amaruq asked mildly.

"You can have the women.†Nerriviq shrugged.

"You can't trade us like livestock!†I protested. "Silveta is the widow of the chieftain of Markland. She possesses a great estate.â€

Amaruq noted Silveta's commanding bearing. She nodded at him to show respect, since she couldn't speak to him directly.

"The women will stay as guests with the Tulugaq clan,†Amaruq announced.

The others accepted that as final. The Lootega clan moved on, dragging their sleds to set up their tent on the outskirts of the sprawling encampment. Nerriviq and his kin approached Lexander.

I clutched his arm as he murmured, "l'm sorry, Marja. I can't involve you in this.â€

He gave my hand a reassuring squeeze. I was forced to watch him walk away without revealing how it frightened me.

When Lexander disappeared among the tents, Silveta reached out and took my hand silently. We'd had my master's protection ever since leaving Tillfallvik, even through the darkest times of our imprisonment in the bastion. He was our guardian, keeping anything bad from happening to us. And now he was gone.



Amaruq urged Silveta and me to sit with him before his tent. The Tulugaq clan had two long tents, set up at right angles to each other. We scraped the mud from our boots and sat cross-legged in a row on a pile of furs. Amaruq threw back his sealskin cloak, revealing he was a fine, strong man. He was likely the same age as my da's father when he had passed away, but whereas my grandda had been broken and gray, Amaruq was straight-backed with a hunter's shoulders.

A shaman appeared wearing a wooden mask with slits for eyes and a mouth that was sewn shut. Dried grass was tied in bunches around his elbows and knees, and his face and chest were streaked with red ocher.

Silveta drew back, frightened by his odd appearance, but I whispered, "He's making sure we carry no evil with us that will drive the caribou away.â€

The shaman muttered over us, shaking his carved staff in front and over our heads. I knew we carried no evil, but the shaman made a great show of cleansing us. As Thule from the rest of the encampment passed through the open square in a steady stream, examining us, I realized it was done more for their assurance than to ward off true evil. Confidence was important during the hunt.

"Where have they taken Lexander?†Silveta whispered back to me.

"l don't know,†l confessed.

The shaman continued his ritual with us, then turned to Kinirniq. The young man was listless, sitting in the mud at the end of the tent. I was anguished at the sight, yet I also wanted to believe in Lexander's innate goodness. The shaman was energetic in trying to drive out the evil that clung to the poor boy's inua, but it did no good that I could see.

Silveta had her own pressing needs. "Did you tell them why l'm here? Why aren't they talking to us? We have to get back to Markland as soon as we can.â€

I did as she ordered, explaining to Amaruq, "Silveta is the *freya* of Markland. The *olf*s have championed her cause to remove an evil warlord from her land. She needs warriors to aid her own men who are fighting him in Tillfallvik.â€

Amaruq considered me for a long time. Silveta grew impatient. "ls that all you've got to say, Marja? Convince him! You said you could.â€

Now I was not so sure. With Lexander gone, everything seemed to have gone terribly awry. But I tried again. "Respected elder, this woman has great wealth and can give your people all the riches they desire. She is prepared to generously reward those who help her right this great wrong that has been done to her.â€

"And who are you, little one?†Amaruq asked. "You who plead for others but not yourself.â€

"Me?†I asked in surprise. "l'm Marja.â€

"What is your relation to this woman?â€

Iglanced at Silveta. "We are not kin. She asked for my help to free our homeland from a tyrant.â€

"What about the Vidaris man?†he pressed.

I did not even consider lying to this elder. "l belong to Lexander. I am his pleasure slave.â€

"l saw there was a deep attachment between you.†He sat back, considering all that I had said.

The parade of Thule began to slow as they returned to their duties. There were large racks with skins spread between the poles filling one end of the Tulugaq camp. Women and youths were busy scraping the flesh from the skin to cure the caribou fur. The men were tending to their weapons, sharpening the points of their arrows and spears.

"What does he say?†Silveta asked impatiently. "Will he help us?â€

Amaruq was amused by Silveta's questions. Though he couldn't understand her words, he heard her impatience. "Tell your sun-haired friend that the Thule now hunt. When the hunt is over, her request will be considered.â€

I knew Silveta wouldn't like that. "When shall the hunt end?â€

"When it ends,†Amaruq replied evenly.

I took a deep breath, then turned to Silveta. "They have to hunt now while the caribou are migrating. The fur is very important to them.†I touched her parka. " 'Tis what they make their clothes from. So they have to stay here for a while, but when their hunt is over, they'Il consider your request.â€

"How long will that take?†she demanded.

"Less than a moon, l'm sure.â€

"A moon?†Silveta glared at me, struggling to regain her composure. "l can't wait that long. Every supporter I have will be killed or suborned by then. They'II think l've abandoned them.â€

"This hunt is very important to the Thule. There's nothing you could give them that could replace the furs they'll take here.â€

â€celf only I could speak to him,†Silveta muttered, glancing at Amaruq.

I felt as if I had failed Silveta and Lexander by insisting we come to Helluland. But the olfs had shown me this path. The ice sprites had confirmed it

when I arrived. I couldn't understand why it was not going well. Then I remembered how happy the *olfs* had been in the bastion, yet we had been betrayed by the overlord there. I subsided into watchfulness, hoping Lexander would return soon.

Â

We were not the only ones who were distressed. Amaruq's wife, Keelat, had a sour, set expression on her face as she strolled about the camp. Keelat was a round woman with fleshy jowls from age. She muttered to herself as she tended the evening roast of caribou haunch, watching everything that happened in her camp.

It was clear that Amaruq was well respected by the other clans. Even while we ate, sitting in our place of honor before the main tent, men came by and consulted with Amaruq about the morrow's hunt. The shaman emerged, wearing a different mask this time, one with great antiers on the brow, and he spoke over the array of clan weapons that had been laid out. The shaman called on Tekkeitser tok, the god of hunting, to bless them with success.

Silveta yawned and fidgeted. When it came time to crawl inside the tent, despite the languid sunshine that continued well into the night, she was so exhausted that she didn't protest the smelly furs or the night sounds around us. I knew that sleeping among the Skraeling was trying for her. Likely she longed for the privacy of her closet at home.

I had slept my whole life huddled against my siblings and had quickly gotten accustomed to curling up in Lexander's arms on the *knaar*. I sorely missed that. But even separated from him, our uneasy dreams mingled. Nightmarish images of Birgir raping me and Lexander's helpless fury as he could only watch, restrained against his will. I had not seen it at the time, he had hidden it well, but Lexander had truly wanted to kill Birgir last midsummer. I could feel his rage knowing that Birgir had raped me again while he was not far away . . . I kept swimming awake in a wash of unfettered fury. Every time I slipped back down, there was more waiting for me, heightened by Lexander's fear that someone was hurting me now and that he could do nothing to stop it.

I finally gave up trying to sleep when the Thule rose early to prepare for the hunt. Silveta was still curled in her furs and refused to budge. Kinirniq wandered aimlessly through the camp, lost to himself. His shouts when he woke from a nightmare were shattering. But his kin had the utmost patience with him.

Once the bustle of the hunters' departure was over and Keelat led the women to fetch water, I slipped away. I searched through the tents, trying to find Lexander. There were mostly women and children about, as well as some older and injured men. The *olfs* wanted to be helpful, but there were so many here who acknowledged them, while Lexander could not. That distracted them.

Eventually it was the Markland *olf* that showed me where to find him. Lexander was near some tents on the outer edge of the encampment. He was carrying stones in a leather sack, with his cape thrown back over his shoulders. Overjoyed, I ran up to him, but then stopped short.

There was a metal collar around his neck, and a copper chain swung from the front down to his wrist. He dumped the sack of stones at an order from an older woman who was directing her kin in building a smoker.

When Lexander saw me, his expression was unreadable. I think he wanted to reach for me, to hold me close, but his hand was stopped short by the chain. He could not stretch his arm out all the way.

I went to hug him, leaning my face on his chest. "What is this?†I breathed, frightened.

"Nerriviq won't risk me leaving,†he explained, "or fighting with his men.â€

I grasped his arm, looking at the copper band around his wrist. The end of the chain was welded to the band. "They treat you like a slave! How can you let them do this to you?â€

"Nerriviq doubts they will be able to get Qamaniq back. They believe she is like Kinirniq now. If she is, then I am to blame for that.â€

I glanced at the women and elders who were working on the smoker, warily watching us. "Lexander, why did you take Kinirniq? He was not fit for training. Surely you must have seen that.â€

He winced. "lt is a terrible thing. I had a quota to fill. My superiors in Stanbulin were always complaining that we didn't send them enough slaves. I came to despise it, that pressure to always bring more and more youths into service, then send them away with only the most rudimentary preparation. The demand among my people exceeds the supply.â€

I was confused and must have shown it, for he added, "I always needed more slaves, Marja. When the traders offered Kinirniq to me, I saw how miserable he was with them. I thought . . . it would be no worse for him as a pleasure slave.â€

"You didn't give him a waiting period?â€

"No.†His chain clinked softly as he shifted. "Most houses don't. It is something that only a few masters do to ensure we train slaves who are willing.â€

"Kinirniq was not willing.†Helanas may have broken Kinirniq, but Lexander had slain his *inua*. It was even worse than I had thought.

"lt was a waste from beginning to end,†Lexander said through clenched teeth. "Kinirniq was so far gone by the time Helanas was done with him that we couldn't even send him to Stanbulin. I can never forgive myself for what I did to him.â€

I wondered if Helanas' evil had somehow affected Lexander. Surely he had done right to escape. For me, it was enough that he now walked a better path than the one that destroyed Kinirniq. "l'II help you get away. 'Tis a long journey on foot to the coast, but we can—â€

"No, Marja. This is no more than I deserve. l've no qualms about helping Nerriviq get his granddaughter back. These Thule can help me do it.â€

"l should have released all of the slaves before I left. I put them in Helanas' hand, and l'll do whatever it takes to free them.â€

The pain in his eyes when he had faced Kinirniq's forlorn body was still there. In truth he was atoning for the evil he had aided.

I had to relent. It was not my place to intervene in matters such as these

"But what about Helanas?†In truth, I wondered how much he cared about Qamaniq.



Silveta was sorely disheartened when I informed her that Lexander was in chains. She returned to her sleeping furs and stayed there for the rest of the day. The hunters eventually came back to camp bloody and exhausted. Amaruq was surrounded by his admiring kin, and they talked excitedly about the two caribou that had been killed by their clan.

As the men rested the next day, I tried to help the clan, scraping skins and carrying water. It was mainly to appease Keelat, whose mutterings had grown loud enough for me to overhear. She disliked treating us as guests when we had no ties to familiar clans. Keelat had a very narrow view of what was good for her family, and she kept her daughters and the wives of her sons under her thumb.

That night, I noticed that Keelat didn't retire to their sleeping furs with Amaruq. From the whispers I overheard the next day, Keelat shared nights with an elder from another clan during the hunting season. This elder was now a widower, so his wife no longer came to sleep with Amaruq. I thought Amaruq's gaze when his wife returned the next morning was sweet and sad, as if he was thinking of pleasures in the past. She briefly touched his hand, a rare sign of Thule affection, her own expression momentarily contented.

Then it was back to the concerns of the day as the hunters departed. I took that as my chance to go see Lexander again. I knew the way now, so I darted quickly through the tents. But when I arrived, I couldn't believe my eyes.

The tent was gone. A trampled space on the ground and the half-built smoker showed where it had once stood. Several other camps around it were also gone.

I ran to the nearest tent and asked a young man, "Where did Nerriviq's clan go?â€

"They are gone to the southern bay.â€

"Why?†Lasked.

The youth shrugged. "The hunting is good there, they say.â€

Ilet him go, sensing he knew nothing more. I was afraid Nerriviq's departure had something to do with Lexander. For the rest of the day, I asked the Thule about the southern bay. The *olfs* showed me what they knew as well. It was much larger than the narrow waterway we had traveled to reach the northern encampment, and the southern bay was surrounded by trees rather than tundra. Most of the Thule avoided it because swarms of flies were biting, but there were clans who preferred the hunting there.

Lexander was gone. I was on my own again.



Perhaps I was mistaken, but I did not rush to tell Silveta that Lexander had been taken away. She was already so depressed in spirits that I feared for her sanity. She could speak to no one but me, and her helplessness seemed to wear on her like nothing else had during our journey. Always before she had been our driving force, carrying us ever onward. But now she was idle and she suffered because of it.

As I waited for Silveta to emerge from the tent, Amaruq returned to camp. He paused to wave away some flies from a prime haunch of caribou that had been carefully hung between two carved posts. Ravens ate from the fresh offerings after every hunt. The crafty bird was the clan totem. The children picked up the shiny feathers that the birds dropped, decorating the camp and their clothes with them. Amaruq usually wore an iridescent black feather tied to a small braid in his hair.

Amaruq went to sit before the tent. His older sister was not far away, chewing on a square of leather to soften it. Others were moving about the camp, but I didn't return to my usual duties. Instead, I went to sit near Amaruq. I knew better than to address an elder first, and left it to Amaruq to decide if we would converse. I hoped he would.

It wasn't long before Amaruq gestured over his shoulder at the tent. "Has the sun-haired woman sickened?â€

"Silveta is heartsick,†I replied truthfully, adding, "Her husband was cut down before her eyes and her home was stolen from her. Many people were killed, her loval bondsmen included.â€

"You were there?â€

I squirmed a bit, remembering I was the ostensible cause of the duel. "Yes. But it is Silveta's story.â€

"l want your story,†he countered. "l have never before seen a pleasure slave.â€

I felt no wanton attraction from Amaruq like I had with Gudren. The Thule concealed their passions well by day, while at night there was no hiding the sounds of pleasure. It was considered taboo to cross generational lines, but among peers it mattered not who coupled with whom. Since I was younger than his own children, Amaruq might consider me taboo.

"lt is simple, really,†I explained. "l have been trained to give pleasure to people.â€

"Does that give you pleasure?â€

"Yes, it satisfies me. I am suited to this life by my nature.â€

Amaruq watched the olfs that were rolling across the ground near me. "They sense no evil in you, as there is in Kinirniq. Our shaman agrees, though he is puzzled. How did you escape Vidaris unscathed?â€

I knew it was not merely my love for Lexander that had carried me through. "Perhaps it is because I chose my fate as a pleasure slave. I was satisfied by my training.â€

"Kinirniq was taken against his will,†Amaruq agreed. "He would have fought against his fate.â€

I glanced over at Kinirniq, who was accompanied as always by the children. "lnnocence may heal him. Helanas hurt him and made him live in fear. She broke his spirit, allowing the evil to get inside of him.â€

Amaruq smiled. "Even when you tell your story, you turn it to others. Have you nothing of your own?â€

He was sincere, so I answered honestly, "Everything in my life is tied to othersâ€"my kin, my master, and my friends in this world and the other.â€

"Perhaps that is why you are so often merely a reflection of other people's desires.â€

I thought it a likely conjecture. Here I was alone again, and my first impulse was to gain the help of the most powerful person in the camp. It was comforting to know that Amaruq was interested in me. But Keelat kept narrowing her eyes in our direction the longer we spoke. The others didn't seem to notice anything, while Amaruq's wife had already sniffed out my intentions.

I had brought Silveta and Lexander to Helluland, so I had to fulfill my promise. The way through this turmoil was the path I had first chosen, and I only hoped it would lead me back to Lexander as well. But I could not think of my master now, or my longing for him would disrupt the spell I was weaving with Amaruq.

I lowered my voice. "l would be honored to reflect your desires, respected elder.â€

He understood instantly. His interest began heating in a more familiar way. But Thule were subtle people. I did not dare overdo my advances.

I sat beside him in a charged silence, waiting for him to make the next move. I kept my eyes down, thinking only of him, feeling his presence beside me.

It went on for a long time as the shadows slowly moved across the ground. As I radiated my desire for him, he simply accepted it. How could I not be attracted to Amaruq? He was strong, commanding, and wise. He held my fate in his hands.

Finally Amaruq glanced over at me. "You are relentless.â€

A smile played on my lips, as I met his eyes. "You would like to know me. Let me show you more . . .â€

His breath caught as he watched my mouth. Among the reserved Thule, his reaction was as blatant as a kiss.

Suddenly Keelat was standing before us. I drew back at her trembling rage, wondering if I had overstepped myself.

"Will you mate so openly?†she demanded. "Where all the children can see?â€

Amaruq actually smiled, unconcerned with her outburst. "Will you be with our friend tonight, wife?â€

Her face twisted. "Yes, you need not ask.â€

"Then our guest will share my furs.†With that Amaruq stood up. He clasped Keelat's arm lightly, and that instantly appeased her. They exchanged a nod; then he left, heading deeper into the encampment.

He had not touched me, nor had he asked for my agreement. It left me heady with anticipation.



Nothing more was said between us. Amaruq paid no attention to me during our night-meal. Keelat was not as self-controlled, and her expression slipped to bitter irritation at times. But once the last morsel was swallowed, she set off for the widower's tent. I had to assume she accepted Amaruq's declaration or she would have stayed.

Only after Keelat left did Amaruq let his eyes linger on me. I flushed with excitement. Finally, here was a man worthy of Lexander's gifts to me.

Amaruq waited as his kin began to sleepily enter the tent, reverently touching a thick bunch of black feathers hanging over the door. I realized he did not wish to make a show of our rutting, so I quietly slipped in after he did. It was darker inside the tent.

By courtesy, Amaruq and Keelat shared furs at one end, where it was warmer and they didn't have people brushing past their feet to go outside. Silveta was near the other end, where we had been placed. I wasn't sure if she slept or not, but she had barely touched her meal before crawling back inside. I had never seen anyone dream away so many days without ceasing, and feared it boded ill for her. I was glad to see our Markland *olf* stayed nearby, protecting her.

The olfs knew what I was doing, naturally. Their chubby curves gleamed as they swung across the curved roof of the tent. I was thankful the shaman, the most observant of the clan, did not sleep in this tent. The others were tired from the ceaseless work of the hunt, and hurried into their furs with babes snuggled in and children lying between couples. We were a full two dozen in all.

Despite the darkness, I knew it would be a very public coupling. There was no privacy in the tent, and every rasping breath could be heard. Indeed, as I slipped off my parka and leggings, I heard similar movements that heralded the night games.

I slipped naked between the furs, more silky than the ones I usually slept in. Amaruq and Keelat were given the best the clan possessed. The daughter-in-law who lay down not an arm's length away noticed I was there, and she whispered to her husband, Amaruq's eldest son.

I felt an old tinge of modesty and had to smile, remembering how innocent I had been when I had first arrived in Vidaris. I had been embarrassed to take off my clothes in front of Lexander. Now it merely heightened my arousal to know others were avidly listening to us.

Amaruq's hands touched my face. Then his fingers began lightly tracing down my neck to the swell of my breasts and the curve of my waist. I sighed as his palm slid to my hip. He grasped my thighs, feeling their strength. Then his fingers tangled in the short, soft hair of my groin.

I bit my lip to keep from moaning. His touch was tantalizing as he traced the contours of my body.

But when Amaruq had taken the measure of me, it was clear he wanted more than that. "Tell me how you learned to be a pleasure slave,†he urged, as his fingers stroked me.

"l was taught poses and discipline,†I said with difficulty. "We slaves practiced sensual techniques on each other, and sometimes with our master and mistress.â€

"No, don't tell me in that way. Describe it to me.†His voice was urgent. "Tell me something that happened to you in Vidaris, a time when you were surprised at yourself.â€

It was not easy to think while he stimulated me so, but I understood what he wanted. Instantly I thought of my penance and how Lexander had ordered me to pose naked on a pedestal. It was embarrassing to reveal it, but I knew that honesty was what he needed in order to trust me. So I told Amaruq, sparing no detail of my initial pleasure at being displayed, then my shock when the magnates arrived.

"The younger was so greasy and nasty,†I murmured, "I was repulsed at the very sight of him. Yet when he touched me, I was aroused.†My body moved as I recalled the magnate's rough touch and my conflicting emotions. "I was ashamed for wanting him. Yet I discovered it is my nature to respond when someone wants to make use of me. He merely touched me, and I was ready to bed him right then and there. But the magnate chose Rosarin that night, and I must admit, I was envious of her.â€

As I spoke, Amaruq's hands still moved over me. It was almost mesmerizing, his constant touch as I flushed at the memory of my penance.

I braced myself against his chest, feeling his smoothness. With his hard muscles and creamy skin, I was reminded of Lexander as I ran my hands along his body. His tarse was full and heated, yet Amaruq made no attempt to take me.

"So it was not merely the man's hand on you,†Amaruq said thoughtfully. "You responded to his desire for you. But this man did not take you to fruition. Was there any time that you felt strongly satisfied, both in body and emotion, by being used in this way?â€

I did not want to speak of how Lexander took me after the greasy magnate had left. That was too intimate a confidence.

So instead, I told Amaruq of one time when Sverker had taken me on the sly. He had been denied by Helanas for many days, and when he caught me in the storeroom, I thought he wanted only a quick suck. But that time, he was angry about something, most likely because Helanas had hurt him. He took me from the rear, slipping into my tightest hole. Just describing how he had done it made me wildly aroused. Amaruq whispered encouragement, making me tell every part of my shame and delight.

"lt hurt terribly at first,†I confessed, "but I felt an incredible rush at being used solely for his pleasure. It mattered not what I felt . . . yet I was able to make him lose control so that he had to take me.â€

"And were you satisfied?â€

"Yes, very much so. I was limp and so relaxed afterwards. I kept smiling, and Sverker thought that was strange, I could see. I never told anyone about it, not even my master.â€

I could feel the heat in Amaruq's groin. Unable to restrain myself any longer, I bent forward to lick his chest. He tasted of smoke and sweat, a fine manly scent.

Gradually I moved lower, breathing on his skin, stroking him with my fingertips and kissing every part. He hissed as I gently blew on his *tarse*, then took him inside my mouth. Lexander had taught us every technique to pleasure a man's organ, from stroking to licking. I swear I tried them all on Amaruq, hoping to make him lose himself.

But the man was more resilient than I expected. Ultimately, his hands held my head as his hips pumped into me. He strained, and I knew he wanted to release his seed into my mouth.

Instead, he abruptly pulled me up. As my head emerged from the furs, I could hear the silence in the tent. They all listened to us.

As Amaruq took me, I cried out softly, knowing it inflamed the others. Men were reaching for their wives to satisfy the lust that whipped through the tent. The *olfs* were wheeling as if they were drunk.

I lost myself in the rhythm, my body tightening around Amaruq again and again. He was a potent man and gave me much pleasure. Yet I felt no urge to reach out with my senses and open my emotions to Amaruq. Our joining was purely physical, nothing otherworldly.

Finally he spent himself because he could not withstand it any longer. I joined with him, reveling in the endless moment. Afterwards, Amaruq did not hold me close like Lexander did. But I was comforted by his warm body lying next to me.

Twenty-one

"how could you rut around with that old man?†Silveta exclaimed the next morning. She had gotten out of her furs to drag me into the boggy tundra where we could speak freely. "l thought you were in love with Lexander! He's been magnificent to you. How could you give yourself to another man?â€

The olfs were listening, of course. There was nothing I could do about them carrying tales. But likely Amaruq knew my ultimate goal as well as I. "Amaruq won't help us fight Birgir unless he trusts us.â€

Silveta looked frankly skeptical. "That's not how you negotiate to get a warband, Marja.â€

I met her eye squarely. "l sell myself to survive, Silveta. It's what I am. Gudren helped me escape Brianda. And Niall enabled me to escape from Birgirâ€"that's how I was able to rescue *you*.â€

She frowned. "So Lexander told you to do this? I wasn't surprised when you threw yourself at the Sigurdssons—they have some kind of hold over you. But this is going too far.â€

"Lexander doesn't know.†I realized I would have to tell her. "He's gone. Nerriviq's clan went to the southern bay to hunt.â€

There was silence for a few moments. "Oh,†she said softly. She looked as alone as I felt.

"Don't worry,†I assured her. "l'll make sure Amaruq helps us.â€

But Silveta was despondent as we walked through the encampment back to the Tulugaq. I expected her to retreat in despair to her furs again, but instead she seated herself outside the tent and watched everything. The last hunt had been very successful, so the men were helping to cure the hides. I did whatever was requested of me and usually took on the messy job of hauling bones over the ridge to a gully for disposal.

After my night with Amaruq, there was a marked difference in how the others treated me. Now they weren't sure what to think of my status. Since I was a guest, that implied my stay was temporary. Yet shared intimacy among the Thule usually meant there would be a longer association. Keelat and Amaruq had bedded the widower and his wife for decades.

The olfs were elated by the clan's curiosity. They always liked to feed off a mystery. The children picked up on the olfs' excitement and ran around the camp laughing and screaming in unusually exuberant games.

Amaruq paid no attention to me or Silveta. Yet I could see that he was quicker to smile. I carefully hid my interest in Amaruq, knowing that it would disturb his kin, especially Keelat. From time to time his wife assured me, "You are a guest. There's no need for you to assist us.†To which I always proclaimed my desire to work. She kept assigning me tasks to keep me under her control and away from her mate.

I was busy dumping baskets of bloody bones onto a hide to be dragged to the gully when Silveta approached. "How can you do this?†she exclaimed, waving at the flies that swarmed up. "Have you no dignity?â€

"l don't judge what the spirits bring me,†I demurred. "l simply perform my duties to the best of my ability. As you do.â€

Silveta hesitated, but the blood that coated my hands made her shudder in revulsion. I realized she was remembering Ejegod's gory death. Before I could say anything to reassure her, she turned away.

As Silveta passed the hanging haunch of meat, she absently flapped her hand at a raven that had just settled and begun to pull at the flesh. The bird startled and flew up.

Keelat was instantly there, grabbing Silveta roughly by the arm and throwing her up against one of the posts. It happened too quickly for me to intervene. The next moment, Keelat's curved knife was at Silveta's throat.

Silveta froze, her eyes glazing with terror. I had no doubt that Birgir had raped her at knifepoint.

I didn't dare touch Keelat's arm. "Silveta meant no harm! She didn't know the raven was an honored guest.â€

"She has disrespected our totem!†Keelat raged.

I knew that Silveta had broken a taboo that could lead to sickness or injury for members of the clan. It was especially dangerous because of the hunt. If the raven was offended, it could influence the caribou spirit to resist the hunters.

But Keelat's anger was over much more than Silveta's thoughtless action. She resented the whispered comments about my lengthy coupling with Amaruq. I knew it would take only a slight pressure from the knife and Silveta would be dead to spite me.

"lf you kill her,†I warned Keelat, "l will stay here forever . Nothing will take me away.â€

Amaruq's wife heard my threat. She glared at me. "Take care that you don't suffer the same fate she does, half-breed.â€

I knew Keelat would not risk breaking the taboo of harming a guest unless she had a very good reason. So I kept my voice light. "l could be very happy here. Right now I am under obligation to this woman, but if that ends I have nowhere else to go . . . and I have been shown how welcome I am here.â€

Keelat growled, baring her worn teeth, ground down from chewing hide. Her cheeks hung laxly and wrinkles radiated from her eyes and around her mouth. But she began to finally ease back.

Silveta sniffled like she was about to go into hysterics. I grabbed her arm hard. "Be silent,†I said to her. To Keelat, I explained, "I want nothing more than to leave here with Silveta; tomorrow would not be too soon. You can make that happen for us.â€

Suspicious, Keelat still held her knife between us. "How?â€

"Silveta needs a hundred warriors to retake her estate in Markland. We'll go with them, never to return here.â€

Keelat actually bit off a laugh. "Why would we risk our sons to fight your battle?â€

I knew I had her. "Silveta can give you winter settlements on Markland. The land is fine with tall trees and whales swimming close to shore. You would no longer have to take the worst of the lands in the south, and risk having your children stolen as Kinirniq was.â€

Keelat's eyes widened. "The sun-haired woman can give us settlements? If she has such power, why does she beg here?â€

"Her estate has been seized by a fiendish man. She can reclaim it with the help of one hundred warriors.â€

Silveta murmured faintly, "What is happening?â€

"l told her that you would give them winter settlement lands in Markland.†I glanced at her. "Don't make that face! You have to convince Keelat now, or you'll never get the help you need. Birgir is willing to grant the overlord far more. Do you want to best him or not?â€

Slowly Silveta nodded, warily regarding Keelat. "l can guarantee the next chieftain will honor a grant of tracts of land on the northern coast. It's empty because it's too exposed for good farming. The Micmag used to live there, but many left or died of disease.â€

I relayed this to Keelat, leaving out the last part. Thule were much less likely to interact with the Noromenn, and that would preserve them. "You see, Silveta agrees,†I added. "Your men can win her rights, then take possession of the lands for yourselves.â€

"And you?†Keelat asked. "What do you gain from this?â€

"l will fulfill my pledge to Silveta and my homeland, and the *olfs* will be pleased with me. Then I will be free to go to my master. He is the man I love and long to be reunited with.â€

Keelat sheathed her knife. Her kin were watching our heated argument from around camp, but did not dare to come closer out of respect for the elder. "This woman will live for now. I must consult with Amaruq.â€



Silveta was impatient to hear their decision, but I tried to explain that Skraelings had their own way of deliberating. That evening, after Keelat conferred with Amaruq, the shaman emerged wearing an elaborate winged mask with a raven's beak. The black feathers had an iridescent shimmer. He began to dance and chant to the beating of the drum. I was glad to see them consult the animal spirits, but Silveta was frightened and unconvinced.

I could not rest if there was something more I could do to help sway the Thule. So I turned to the olfs, as always. I walked far beyond the encampment, into the rolling ground pocked by puddles and blossomed into full flower. I felt the olfs more strongly here, much like the fens. I could also sense ice sprites dancing among the crystals underground.

I lost track of time in this light-filled world, listening to the ice sprites' tales of the long dark winter of snow. No wonder the Thule sought to escape by going south for half the year. I knelt on the tender moss and closed my eyes, letting the surroundings sink into me. My anxiety kept interfering, snapping me back into myself. But I persisted and finally was accepted by the spirits of the place. It was soothing. My concerns melted away amidst the greater rhythms of life.

Then for some reason, my cousin Deidre came to mind. Her bright green eyes were much like the tiny-leafed plant that spread across the ground. But now she was dead, after being raped by Birgir's men.

My eyes opened wide. I understood what the spirits were telling me. I had given the Skraelings a reason to help Silveta, but they must be inspired by passion to fight.

As I returned through the encampment, I pulled aside one of the younger men of Tulugaq. He had taken an interest in me before, but now that I had bedded Amaruq, he was truly fascinated. I flattered him about how comfortable I felt among them, my true people. Then I confessed how frightened I had been in Markland because Birgir encouraged his men to rape and kill, like they had done to my cousin Deidre.

The young man was appalled, yet he could not hear enough about the warlord's terrible ways. There were one or two other youths I could confide in, so I kept back some details for their ears. That would get the talk flowing. Then I trusted the spirits would move them.



When I returned to the Tulugaq camp, Silveta had a circle of six elders, including Amaruq, seated on mats before her. A piece of old leather lay in the center, marked with black lines. Lexander had consulted maps regularly in Vidaris, planning his next voyage and keeping track of his finds. I had not understood them at first, but Lexander had shown me where Jarnby and Vidaris were, with the Nauga Sea between them. I had seen enough to know at a glance that this map was a rough outline of Helluland with the huge triangular island of Markland off the southern coast.

There were X marks along the northern shore of Markland, freshly made with a charcoal stick.

Silveta was frowning in concentration as an elder asked a question, pointing to the map, trying to pantomime the number of moons they could stay in their winter settlements. "Oh, Marja, thank the gods you've finally returned. You have to tell me what l've just agreed to.â€

I knew from Amaruq's satisfied expression that he had purposely negotiated with Silveta while I was not present. He wanted to observe Silveta without me around to instruct her.

"lt looks from the map like you've agreed to give them ten winter settlements,†I said.

"Yes, for as long as needed for two generations,†she said.

I translated that to the Thule. A couple of elders sat back, clearly wishing the grant had been perpetual. But they had enough familiarity with Noromenn customs to understand that their contracts usually had limits.

Amaruq waited for any other questions. Most looked satisfied, but one elder complained, "lt may be tempting, but can it be worth the lives of our men?â€

"You can but ask them,†I said simply.



Another day passed as I continued to spread the tales of women who had been stolen from their families by Birgir's men. When Silveta learned of my plan, she recounted all of the harrowing stories she had heard in Tillfallvik. Deidre's fate had been shared by many others. I did not tell anyone that both Silveta and I had been raped by Birgir lest they think we simply sought revenge. We wanted more than that. We wanted to bring peace back to Markland.

Keelat set her jaw and left that evening to bed the widower. I thought there was something of pride in her behavior, to keep others from supposing that she stayed in Amaruq's furs simply to prevent me from taking them. I followed Amaruq inside the tent at a glance from him. As soon as we were lying together, he pulled the supple snow-cat fur over our heads so we could whisper without being heard.

"You inflame the men with your talk of rape and slaughter,†he murmured. "ls not the freya's promise of winter land enough to tempt us?â€

"The Thule people care about justice and harmony,†l insisted. "Your men must know what they fight—an evil spirit as venomous as the one that stole Kinirniq's soul.â€

Amaruq considered my words. "You are passionate in all ways, pleasure slave. The spirits say you can be trusted.â€

"Does that mean you'll help us?â€

"Perhaps.†He paused, and I knew he was not yet convinced. "Perhaps you desire more than to fulfill your pledge to the sun-haired woman.â€

My hands clasped together tightly. Of course Amaruq knew me. I had opened myself to him, speaking with complete honesty to gain his trust. " 'Tis true, I would like to have Lexander help us in this fight. He will understand how best to beat Birgir. And he can speak to you as Silveta cannot.â€

"Ah, you seek your master.â€

It was a delicate moment. "As you would seek Keelat if you were separated, would you not?â€

"l would not make her presence a condition of our agreement.â€

"Neither do I. Regardless of whether Lexander comes with us, Silveta will give you settlements for fighting for her. You asked what I desire, and I think it wise if Lexander assists us.â€

In the charged silence, I ventured to stroke Amaruq's chest lightly. Words were not enough. If he trusted me body to body, it could be sufficient to sway his decision.

But Amaruq would not relent. "Does your master love you?â€

"Yes,†I said firmly. "We seem made for each other.â€

Amaruq pulled me closer. "Tell me why you are so sure of that. What is special between you?â€

I knew what Amaruq wantedâ€"the details of our intimacy. That was the treasure I had to offer him. If he didn't get it, he might not join with me. Without that, he would be much less likely to trust me.

"Lexander holds an infinite appeal for me,†I admitted. "Even this summer, when I met a couple who were truly kind and generous, I could not forget him. If I hadn't longed for Lexander, I would have stayed with Gudren and Alga, for a while at least.â€

"You bedded the man?†he guessed.

"Both of them, together and apart.†He was surprised at that, and I was glad to see that I had distracted him from Lexander. "I adored Alga. She was very dominant with me, but never was she mean or angry. Once I broke her favorite comb while I was dressing her hair. I felt awful about it, inconsolable, but she was as sweet as honey to me. Though it seems odd to think of it that way.â€

"Tell me,†Amaruq urged.

I smiled at the memory. "Alga was laughing at my torment of guilt. I felt so clumsy and stupid. Then finally she said she had to punish me in order to make me feel better. She bent me over the table and pulled my skirts up to my waist. I was completely exposed. Then she struck my buttocks with her palm over and over again.†I wiggled remembering it. "She held me down at my waist, leaning on me. The smacks were hard enough to sting, but not truly hurt. The longer she went, the harder I could take it. The rhythm, the impact, felt so much like rutting, I was shocked!â€

"Did she satisfy you?†he asked.

images. But in none of them could I see Lexander.

"Oh, yes, when I thought I could take it no more, she began kissing my tender, reddened skin. At first it stung even more, but soon it made the throbbing feel better. She spread my legs wide so she could lick me, holding my wrists against my thighs so I could not squirm away.â€

Even now, I blushed to tell Amaruq. But my words inflamed him. He slid down under the furs, kissing my stomach down to my groin. He pleasured me as I had done him the first time. He already found me wet with desire, but he toyed with me for a long time, making me hiss with suppressed cries.

Amaruq kissed and stroked me until I was in a frenzy. He was a virile man, as he proved again that night. He seemed intent on pleasing me. I had heard Keelat's muffled exclamations at night, and knew she appreciated his newfound enthusiasm.

When we were through and Amaruq dozed off, I lay there wondering if he would agree to help us. I dreaded returning to Markland without Lexander's protection. But I had to fulfill my promise to Silveta to help cast Birgir from my homeland.

The next day, word spread that the warriors would depart for the southern bay in two days and from there leave for Markland to fight for new winter lands.



Silveta could not believe it was true until the Thule lashed ten *umiaks* into shape and launched them in the narrow inlet. The boats bristled with weapons, more than I had seen even during the hunt. There were eighty men and a handful of youths. The clans remained in the encampment so the women and elders could finish curing the caribou hides.

Keelat was unhappy when Amaruq left with me. The elder had been chosen to lead the warriors. But she knew it was the first step to ridding herself of me completely. The nod of farewell we gave each other was respectful, befitting our understanding.

The narrow fork of the inlet flowed south in a steady silver line, wider than a river but much longer and narrower than a typical bay. The Thule expertly paddled their boats and we were swiftly sped away. Our faithful Markland *olf* who had followed us so far on our journey clung to the shafts of the spears, riding along merrily.

riding along merrily.

Silveta was uncomfortable as always in the Skraeling boats with their curved, wet bottoms. But I liked the small craft with the low sides that allowed me to trail my hand in the water. It gave me a stronger link with the sea spirits. The water was a mixture of fresh and salt, which gave a unique taste to their

At first, we were surrounded by tundra, but as the inlet gradually opened up, the land around us began to change. Shrubs crowded the banks, then scraggly evergreens appeared. When we reached the southern bay, I could hardly see across the vast inland sea.

I was heartened despite the never-ending flies that swarmed into our faces, biting us mercilessly. My only fear was that Nerriviq had already departed with Lexander for Vidaris. It was late though still light when we finally arrived at the mouth of a great river that flowed into the southern bay.

As soon as my feet hit the ground, I wanted to set out in search of my master. We had to scramble up a steep incline to reach the encampment. It was much smaller, set on the top of a bluff to catch the wind and away from the dense undergrowth along the water where the flies swarmed. Silveta was also looking around, clearly doubting our purpose here.

Amaruq prevented me from leaving. "The man you seek will be brought here.â€

The boats were soon converted into tents. Amaruq told Silveta and me to sit beside him, to wait for Nerriviq to appear. It was beginning to seem as if the elder would not come, and I worried myself into fidgeting. Amaruq noticed.

When Nerriviq finally appeared, his expression was set in annoyance. He must have been roused from his furs.

Lexander followed behind. I sat forward, drinking in the sight. He was worn and haggard, as I had never seen him before. The chain still ran from his collar to his wrist, forcing him to keep his arm bent. As he drew closer, I could see inflamed skin where the metal had rubbed against his flesh. Considering how quickly he healed, it was bad indeed.

I almost protested out loud, but Amaruq quelled me with a motion of his hand. I realized more than ever how necessary it was to please Amaruq.

Lexander was glad to see me, I could tell. But he didn't try to speak to us. He sat to one side and slightly behind Nerriviq, just as we did with Amaruq. The elder explained Silveta's offer to exchange winter settlements for a warband to quash Birgir. Lexander nodded thoughtfully at that, his eyes meeting mine in a flash of approval.

"The Vidaris man is necessary for our success,†Amarug added. "He knows the weaknesses of our enemy.â€

"He is our only hope of retrieving my granddaughter,†Nerriviq countered. "l care not for your quest for settlements.â€

"The goal you seek is not far from ours. We will prosper in numbers.â€

"What if he is killed in this battle of yours?†Nerrivig demanded.

Amaruq gestured to me. "Then this woman will take us to Vidaris. She was lately in the same evil place.â€

Nerrivig examined me doubtfully. "She is not tainted?†he had to ask.

"Marja is sound, as you can see.â€

Nerriviq kept looking at me, and I tried to act like I was in full possession of my wits. "We intended to leave soon for Viinland,†Nerriviq protested.

"Come with us to Markland first. You can win a winter settlement for your clan. Then we shall find your granddaughter and bring her back.â€

Nerrivig nodded shortly. "We will consider your offer. But this man will stay with me. He owes my clan a debt of honor.â€

I must have looked unhappy because Lexander gave me a slight shake of his head. I wanted nothing more than to rush into his arms and tend to him. But that was not to be.

Nerriviq stood up, tugging at Lexander's chain. "You hear that? Do you agree to help us win this battle? Then we'll fetch my granddaughter.â€

"As you say,†Lexander responded, much as he had taught his slaves to reply. It saddened me to hear him so subdued.

Amaruq again put out his hand as if to stop me, this time touching me on the knee. It was a possessive gesture, and an intimate one for the Thule. No man would touch a woman's leg unless he was bedding her.

Lexander saw it, and a flash of anger lit his eyes. Suddenly he looked much bigger, as if he were ready to explode. He clearly thought that I had been coerced. I sat there helplessly, unable to explain what had happened between me and Amaruq.

But I had to assure him somehow. I mouthed, â€æ ' Tis fine.â€

Lexander hesitated, but at my nod, he managed to restrain himself and turned away. He must have been thinking of Niall and how I had urged him to leave, willing to take the abuse that would have surely followed.

As Lexander walked away with Nerriviq, my tears threatened to spill. We were so close to our goal, yet it felt as far away as ever.

Twenty-two

Silveta and I hardly fit inside the small tent that night with Amaruq and his men. The flies were so bad that we would have been eaten alive if we slept outside. Because of our close quarters, I didn't share furs with the elder. I was glad of that, preoccupied as I was by the heartrending sight of Lexander.

In the wan light when we awoke, the other Thule clans shared their meal with us. When Nerriviq finally joined us, he brought nine men, the most warriors sent by any clan. Amaruq had brought only four of his kin, including his middle son, who was full grown.

Lexander, Silveta, and I were placed in different boats for our journey through the long inlet to the ocean. We traveled much faster than our journey inland, sailing past low stony hills that were draped with patches of evergreen cover. With eight men in each boat, they took turns sleeping, leaning against each other's backs as they paddled late into the night.

I could only exchange glances with my master. I smiled in reassurance whenever I could. It was nearly impossible because the very sight of him pained me. It was not simply his strength that had been taxed, but his spirit as well. The demands of being a slave were wearing on him in countless ways, though he tried to conceal it.

On one of the few stops along the way, I managed to get close to Lexander. He put his unchained arm around me briefly. "l don't want them to know how close we are,†he murmured. "They might take revenge on you.â€

I grimaced. "l've told Amaruq that you're my master.â€

He shook his head. "No more. I would not own a slave after this to save my life. You are a freewoman, Marja.â€

"But I belong to you,†I protested.

"l thought I could protect you by being your master. I was afraid people would take advantage of you otherwise. But I see that is wrong. You are free to make your own choices, however you will.â€

He hugged me openly, the chain wrapping around my shoulder. I lifted my face to kiss him. His lips were so warm and tender. I could hardly believe I now kissed him as a freewoman. It was a little frightening. Part of me wanted to beg him to remain my master. What were we now if not master and slave?

"Did they hurt you?†he whispered.

"No,†I assured him, hugging him tightly. "These people have treated me righteously, Lexander. They remind me of my mam.â€

"Even a merciful slavery is heinous,†he retorted darkly.

Nerriviq appeared and ordered Lexander to return to their boat. He distrusted Lexander completely. Perhaps the Thule sensed his difference and felt the danger of having a godling in their midst. If Lexander did not have sympathy with their cause, he would not have remained bound. I had to be content knowing this was his choice of atonement, however difficult it was for both of us.



I smelled the open ocean long before we reached it; the salty breeze and smell of seabird colonies was unmistakable. The Thule stayed close to the coastline, paddling south just outside the breaking waves. The sun sank earlier every day. When it grew dark, the Thule returned to familiar coves where they could haul the *umiaks* out of the water. Without the terrible flies to bother us, we slept under the stars rolled in our furs, on ground that was finally firm. I was glad we didn't have to squeeze into the small tent anymore.

The next evening, when we reached our final stop in Helluland, the fog shrouded the northern peninsula of Markland across the strait. But with one sight of the smudge of land, I heard the *olfs* beckoning. They had been waiting for us. Our faithful witness sped away to join them, ecstatic at having returned home at last.

The Thule made camp among the thick patches of ground cover, while I once again tried to wander near Lexander. But Amaruq kept a wary eye on me. I was afraid that if I angered Amaruq, he might abandon our quest. He still doubted my motives, fearing he was leading his kin into some fearsome trap.

I was not surprised when Amaruq motioned for me to follow him over a slight rise into a protected cleft of the hills. He had his furs under one arm, ready to settle in for the night. At the top, I turned to see Lexander among the other men. He seemed alarmed, but I nodded and motioned to him that I was safe.

Sheltered by the rocky hillsides, Amaruq spread his furs on a mat of thick moss. It looked like it would be comfortable.

"Does your master allow you to share my furs?†Amaruq asked quietly.

I was instantly on guard. He believed I had been ordered to seduce him in order to gain the assistance of the Thule. Silveta had suspected the same.

"l do as I will,†I declared. "Lexander has freed me.â€

Amaruq considered me, the crease deepening between his eyes. "Was your freedom a reward for accomplishing your task?â€

I smiled. "No. Lexander has not given me an order since he sent me away from Vidaris. He cannot bear to enslave another while he endures it himself. I can see how it makes him heartsick. He wants only to free Qamaniq and the other slaves.â€

"Does Lexander have a stake in Markland?†Amaruq demanded. "Will he marry Silveta? Or gain lands himself?â€

That startled me. "No! The house of Vidaris was exiled from Markland by Silveta's husband. Lexander cannot show his face there. He assists Silveta only because I wish it. He would fain keep me from returning to that dangerous place, but I gave Silveta my pledge.â€

Amaruq slowly nodded. Several of the floating *olf*s were curious about our conversation, hovering intently. They reflected the absolute truth of my words to him.

"Do you wish to share his furs tonight?†Amaruq asked.

"Yes,†I readily admitted, "but Nerriviq will not allow it.â€

"l would sleep with Keelat this night if she were here.â€

Since Amarug was Thule, I had to consider that a proposition. "You know I would be delighted to please you, Amarug.â€

He smiled slightly, sitting down on the furs. He gestured, and I sat down next to him. "l've noticed that you avoid speaking of your master. Do

you not share intimacy with him as well?â€

"Yes, whenever we can.†I thought of the *knaar* and how we rutted in plain sight of the oarsmen and Silveta.

"l want to hear about that,†Amaruq said. "When did you first know you loved him?â€

"l'm not sure. It happened so gradually,†I hedged.

Amaruq looked hard at me, waiting. I realized he would never be satisfied until he understood my connection to Lexander. He would accept no less. If I didn't meet this crucial test, he could abandon us here, while Nerrivig would take Lexander to Vidaris to fight for Qamanig.

I drew a deep breath. How could I explain how tenderly Lexander had cared for me after Birgir beat me? Or how he had saved me from the fate of my slave-mates? "l can't say exactly when I began to love him. But something special happened between us last winter, before the new slaves arrived. He was taking me to his bed regularly, spending time with me alone during the day, and talking to me about things he read in his scrolls.â€

"Was he treating you differently than the other slaves?†Amaruq asked.

I had to admit, "Not really. It was actually the first season he began treating me the same as the others. Before then, he had mostly ignored me. setting for me impossible tasks that I tried to fulfill.â€

Amarug furrowed his brow in confusion. "And this made you love him?â€

"lt called out my submissive tendencies. I didn't truly love him until we began sharing tenderness.†I glanced down at my hands, thinking about those nights of passion during the cold season. "We used to stay in his room long into the morning sometimes, hiding away from everyone else. I know now that he was unhappy with his life as a slave master. But I didn't understand it then. He had everything any man could desire. But his consort was evil, and it must have sorely tried him in ways I never saw.â€

"When he hid away with you, was he satisfied?â€

"l pleased him again and again,†I said slowly. "l thought he was satisfied, but now, I think not. I remember one time we had slept very late, but it was unearthly quiet on the estate. I could see a fresh layer of snow coating the hills. He was sitting there, gazing outside. I went to him to put my arms around him from behind. I had learned he liked me taking liberties like that when we were alone.â€

I looked down at my hands again, remembering how I had caressed his neck and shoulders. "Unbeknownst to Lexander, I could see his face in the mirror propped by the washbasin. It had been angled slightly, just catching his reflection. You have to understand that my master's expression is always so controlled, as if he observes from a great distance. But as I touched him, kissing him lightly, thinking that he was everything in the world to me . . . his face seemed to crumple. He didn't move under my hands, but it was as if his *inua* peered out, revealing his misery and confusion in the tear that fell. Then I could tell he felt an immense relief at my touch. He grasped my hand, and without turning, kissed it.†My throat caught. "He needed me, and I comforted him by being near. But he never knew that I saw it. When he finally did turn to me, he was back to his usual self.â€

"Did you bed him then?â€

I nodded, feeling thoroughly exposed, feeling as if I had violated Lexander's trust by telling Amaruq. "We made love without words. It was the first time we truly came together as equals rather than master and slave.â€

Amaruq's hand stroked my cheek, his eyes seeing it all. Even my fear that I had betrayed Lexander by telling him.

I thought of nothing but Lexander, yet when Amaruq touched me, my body responded. Amaruq was my savior, bringing his family and friends to fight our battle and free my homeland. He had brought Lexander back to me. How could I not feel strongly for him?

Amarug's fingers gently questioned my desire for him. I briefly closed my eyes, savoring the sensation. His touch transported me into that heady submissive state that was so enthralling. There was nothing I could do to fight it. Indeed, it was one of the most pure physical sensations l'd ever felt.

Amaruq was very dominant that night, as if responding instinctively to my need. I had only been a freewoman for a day, but I wanted to be taken by a virile man and claimed as his own. He clutched my hair in one hand, holding me still as he stared into my eyes.

At first I tried to stifle my sounds of excitement, hoping the others couldn't hear. Then I lost myself in the sensation. Undoubtedly the olfs relayed everything that we did to the rest of the Thule. I wished Lexander could know how good it felt so he would not worry about me. Then that thought was gone with all the others, and only pleasure remained.

Our rutting was fast and hard, most unlike Amarug. He entered me in one long thrust, then could hardly contain himself to the finish. He seemed surprised himself at his powerful response, but was pleased nonetheless.

Afterwards I relaxed back into the fur nest he had made, breathless and heated. Contented. I sent out my farewell to the ice sprites, giving them praise for their assistance and promising to return to them someday.

reached out to touch my arm. Oddly enough, I think she was grateful. But my passion with Amarug had less to do with obtaining his help for our guest and more to do with my own desires.

I hardly spoke to Silveta before we climbed back into the boats. I expected her to disapprove of my rutting with Amarug, but she merely smiled at me and

On the other hand, in order to gain Amaruq's trust I had revealed something about Lexander that even he wasn't aware I knew. I felt uneasy, certain that I had betrayed Lexander.

Lexander was truly upset. He must have sensed my guilt and my desire to confess. I had never seen him show his feelings so openly. It was as if he couldn't control himself. In every glance, every frown, I saw his anger.

We didn't have a chance to speak all day as the boats entered the Klaro Strait. The clamoring of the Markland olfs grew more triumphant as we sailed southward. I concentrated on the sea spirits, asking for their help to make our small boats pass swiftly without being seen. The spirits responded to my pleas by sending a strong current to carry us rapidly down the Markland coast. I wasn't certain when we passed by Jarnby, but I could feel the presence of my mam somewhere nearby. I refrained from trying to reach her through the sea spirits, knowing that she would only feel my turmoil if I did.

The spirits did tell me of other boats on the waters, filled with men who carried shields and long spears. Some were Birgir's warriors coming back to stand by his side to hold Tillfallvik and proclaim him chieftain. Others held local magnates and their bondi. And there were others I sensed farther to the south. I wondered if Birgir had indeed brought his war to Viinland after we had disappeared.

With the generous aid of the sea spirits, we reached southern Markland that night. The Thule used the light of the olfs to find a series of rocky islands off the coast not far from the mouth of Tillfallvik Bay. The shores were covered with tall black-and-white seabirds. My mam said they were part seal and part bird so they could swim through the water like it was air. The sea god of the tides, Alanerk, was said to have created them as the epitome of his realm.

Since the birds were a symbol of joy, I took the sound of their harsh barking calls as good luck.

The Thule beached in a deserted cove protected between several islands from sight of both the ocean and the shoreline of Markland. The Thule did not try to build fires with the sparse foliage. These barren knobs were deserted except for us and Alanerk's creatures. I enjoyed seeing the craggy hills rising around us after the endless flat vistas of Helluland and the ocean.

Silveta stayed near my side, as usual. "l know these islands. Tillfallvik is just west of here. Why are we stopping now?â€

The Thule were subdued, preparing mentally for the coming battle. "They're planning to attack tomorrow.â€

Silveta's expression was wry. "They've already made their plans? Without consulting me?â€

Disregarding Nerriviq's attempt to stop her, Silveta marched past him and his men to confront Lexander. "Tell me, what are they planning to do?â€

Nerriviq glowered at Silveta, shouting at her though she couldn't understand. "You'll not conspire to free this man! My granddaughter must be returned to our clan.â€

I assured him, "Silveta wants only to know how you intend to attack Tillfallvik. She may have insight that can help you.â€

Amaruq joined us, clearly seeing a need to mediate. "We will rest here for a short while, then sail to Tillfallvik before dawn. We'll attack the estate at first light.â€

I translated for Silveta, as Lexander added, "They'll need you and Marja to make contact with the townsfolk while l'm taking them to the estate. You must tell everyone that the Thule are fighting on your side.â€

Silveta nodded eagerly. "Let me and Marja go tonight. I can rally the loyal *bondi* and get information about Birgir's strength and position within the estate.â€

When I passed along her request, Amaruq did not like it. He shook his head curtly. "No one must be forewarned.â€

I explained to Silveta, "He thinks you might set a trap for his men. He doesn't completely trust us.â€

"Then how are we to get help for them in time?†she asked despairingly. "They don't know what they'll face.â€

Lexander spoke again, this time in Skraeling to appease Nerriviq. "That is the way of battle. We will adjust our strategy to what we find. You should concentrate on how to keep the townsfolk from attacking the Skraeling. If that happens, these men are ready to withdraw with all haste. We will be abandoned â€

I nodded slowly, considering that terrible possibility. When I explained it to Silveta, she suggested, "We could make several banners with Ejegod's signet, the great horned bull, and mount them on long poles. The Skraelings could carry them.â€

"That might slow down the Noromenn, at least,†Lexander agreed.

I explained to Amaruq. "Silveta's totem will protect you if you carry its image.â€

None of the Skraeling had any affiliation with the spirit of the bull, but they understood the need to appease the spirits in the place where they sought victory. Leather was quickly gathered and cut to Silveta's specifications under the flickering light of a few torches.

Nerriviq was appeased by Silveta's offer of protection. He stayed nearby watching, but he didn't interfere anymore. Lexander spoke to us only about constructing the banners. But his resentment was clear.

That worried Silveta. "Do you think we'll fail?†she finally asked him. "Tell me if I have brought all these good men into certain death.â€

I knew she was remembering Perus and her other bondsmen. Silveta was headstrong and stubborn, but blessed with an admirably acute conscience.

"No, your plan is sound,†Lexander assured her. "This is a stronger warband than I had hoped for. As long as the townsfolk help us, we have a chance of success.â€

"Then why do you look so . . . so bleak?â€

He refused to look at me. "l question your tactics.†At Silveta's confusion, he added, "Did you have to thrust Marja into that man's bed to seal your agreement with him?â€

My eyes opened wide. Silveta protested. "lf you think that was my doing, you're daft, man! Marja arranged everything herself.â€

Now he looked at me. "You've been so conflicted, I can tell, Marja. Do not deny it. This morning when you returned, I could see how tormented you were.â€

"l've been worried about *you*,†I protested. "I know that slavery is wearing on you sorely.â€

He shook his head. "There is more to it than that, Marja.â€

I couldn't confess my betrayal in front of Silveta, for that would unfairly expose him to her. "The Thule would never abuse me,†I insisted. "I truly desired Amaruq, or he could not have responded. I had to be completely honest with him to win his trust.â€

Lexander was not convinced, sensing that I was withholding the truth. For once our wordless understanding was not enough.

Silveta turned her head aside irritably at being unjustly accused. "l left Marja in my bed last midsummer, full knowing what Birgir would do if he found her. For that, you can be angry at me, Lexander. But l've spoken my mind ever since for her to stand up for herself and stop using her body as common coin.â€

"l would have died in Brianda if I hadn't relied on my talents,†I pointed out.

Silveta ignored me, shaking her finger at Lexander. "lt's your fault in the first place for tossing her out of Vidaris to make her own way to me. What did you think she was going to do after all your training?â€

"You cannot conceive how difficult that was,†Lexander retorted through gritted teeth. "The alternative was worse. If I had not prepared a plausible excuse, Helanas would have immediately pursued us with all vengeance.â€

"l'm glad you sent me away,†I put in. "l would never have seen so much if you hadn't.â€

Silveta still glared at him. "You left us stuck with these Skraelings, Lexander, in that terrible, desolate place. We had to fend for ourselves. Marja did everything! She made an even better agreement than the one I had with Issland. If she had to bed their leader to do it, then that's fine by me.â€

"But you were upset about it,†I pointed out.

"l'm not anymore.†Finally Silveta looked at me. "lf I regain my estate, it's because of you. Who am I to question your methods? Talking to *olf*s—after all of this, I can respect that.†She smiled. "l actually like the idea that there are some little creatures who watch out for me. Apparently I need all the help I can get.â€

The olfs were so happy to be acknowledged that they began spinning. I knew it would give them strength for the morrow.

But Silveta wasn't finished. "Marja, you've been more loyal to me than my own family. Whatever you need, l'll not forget what you've done for me. You'll never be a slave as long as you're in Markland.â€

I took Silveta's hands, choked with emotion.

But Lexander declared, "Marja is already free. She can choose for herself. I would not presume to command her.â€

He walked away, carrying the banners over to the Thule to be tied on the long poles. Silveta glanced after him, her tone sad. "He is upset about your intimacy with Amaruq. I would not have thought it of him. He of all people should not be possessive of you. But he truly loves you.â€



Soon after, we laid out our furs directly on the granite for our short rest. I curled up next to Silveta but didn't sleep. All I could think about was the impending battle. Any of these men could die. Lexander would be in danger. And I shuddered to think of our fate in Birgir's hands if Silveta and I were captured. I did not want to return!

While I dreaded Tillfallvik, the *olfs* were quite cheerful simply because we had returned. They continued gathering from far and wide. Only their luminous light gave me the strength to wait for the signal to arise.

When it came, the men prepared for battle in full dark. I could see well enough by the light of the olfs, as could the Skraelings. Only Silveta stumbled and struggled, as always, unaware that she was the only blind one among us. I was sorry that Lexander made no effort to speak to me alone before we set off. I felt it boded ill for us.

As our boats silently slipped into the mouth of the bay, heading for Tillfallvik, I sensed something new through the water. The sea spirits were notoriously lax about events that happened on land, so I had received no clearer picture of the town except that there had been fighting.

But now I realized the warriors who guarded the docks were wearing the heavy leather armor and the metal helms marking them as Birgir's men. It seemed that the magnates had responded too slowly, though they had been alerted by Ejegod's quick messengers. Birgir must have planned well with his warriors, for they held the Tillfallvik waterfront in strength as the magnates had arrived one by one. Most of the magnates loyal to Ejegod had turned back at the sight of the warriors rather than face a massacre. Those who were loyal to Birgir had landed and paid homage to their new chieftain.

I saw it in a flash, in all its horrid misery for the townsfolk. "Birgir's men are guarding the docks,†I said aloud. "They have control of Tillfallvik.â€

Amaruq shifted next to me. "You can see this?â€

"Yes, through the water. They have shields on their chests that will deflect your arrows.â€

Amaruq gestured to his son, who gave a low owl cry through his cupped hands. The boats gathered close together as he explained the situation to his men. Olfs hovered over nearly every man, prepared to light their way. The Thule decided to split into two groups, intending to land on either side of the town, where they would be concealed from the docks. They would approach the docks by land.

Silveta and I were taken to the leeward side of Tillfallvik, close to the river, where we had emerged from the hills the night we escaped. I wished the Thule could simply retrace our steps and attack the estate from its vulnerable rear, but Amaruq said it was better to deal with Birgir's men in two smaller groups rather than all at once. Attacking the estate first would leave the Thule exposed from behind.

When we landed, Silveta took my hand tightly in a nervous grip. Lexander was with the other group of Thule. I wished l'd had the chance to tell him loved him before he went into danger. What if he paid the ultimate price for Markland's freedom? I would never forgive myself for insisting that Amaruq bring him with us.

Several of the youngest Thule, mere boys, were sent with us to alert the townsfolk. Silveta led us in a scrambling run in the dark, up a familiar lane toward Torgils' house. But now the town was empty without all the animals and carts that used to crowd the muddy roads. There was a barren look to the place with many of the buildings boarded up.

A loud groaning sound echoed through the town, and I knew it was the Skraeling gods. "Do you hear that?†I demanded, stopping Silveta."Foretelling many deaths . . .â€

" 'Tis but the wind in the eaves,†she protested. But the Skraeling boys held their knives more firmly, as if prepared to face the worst. They and the *olfs* knew I spoke the truth.

Silveta's hasty knock was answered by a man I didn't recognize. Apparently, neither did Silveta. She backed away.

In the small circle of light cast by the candle, the man's eyes widened. I thought for a moment that we had stumbled onto a nest of Birgir's bondsmen as he mouthed Silveta's name in disbelief. "We thought you dead, *freya*! It is said you leaped to your death from the bastion. . . .â€

"l escaped from the overlord,†Silveta told him. "l've brought warriors.â€

He ushered us inside, where Silveta was greeted with even more amazement by Torgils. The Skraeling boys were eyed suspiciously, but when Silveta hastily explained the battle plan, Torgils called for his weapons. There were only a few men with him, and I remembered with a pang how many had filled the longhouse the last time we were here.

"Gather the loyalists,†Torgils ordered them. "We'll meet at the marketplace to keep the warriors from retreating to the estate. By the gods, *this* is what I longed to do all these days! Well done, *freya*.â€



As we impatiently waited in Torgils' home for the other men to gather, I realized the Skraelings were already at work. The *olfs* showed me their shadowed forms creeping along the waterfront, approaching the docks. Birgir's warriors seemed unaware of the danger, with most sleeping. A handful were on guard, but several were playing at dice, huddled together and ignoring the darkness over the water.

My eyes glazed as everything else disappeared except for the impending fight. Skraelings notched their arrows, sending olfs dashing ahead to light their targets. Nearly three-score warriors were lying on mats on the ground, prepared to leap into action at the first alert. Their weapons lay beside them,

reflecting the dim light of the olfs.

Amaruq gestured to his men to take their positions. They crouched tensely in the night with only the lapping of the waves to tell them they were close to the water. A soft hoot from Amaruq was echoed by other Skraelings, carrying the sound to the men who had approached from the other side of the docks.

The Skraelings notched their arrows, pointing them high so they would arch down into the mass of warriors. I held my breath as the signal went out. Arrows were loosed and a rain of death fell on Birgir's men.

Screams pierced the night. Many of the arrows fell harmlessly, but others found their mark. Men writhed on the ground, clutching their bellies and legs. Some lay still with shafts protruding from their prone bodies. Though death was a fearsome sight, I felt my heart racing with excitement.

The rest of the warriors leaped into action, snatching up their weapons and frantically trying to find their attackers in the darkness. The savvy ones shouted, "Cover your heads with your shields, men!â€

They were just in time to stop another rain of arrows that fell among them. More shrill cries shattered the night. But the warriors were now forewarned and they gathered in a defensive line to fend off the Skraelings.

Then the *olf*s showed me something that almost made me swoon—Lexander knelt at the back of the line of Skraelings, far away from Amaruq. Nerrivig stood over him, a heavy knife raised high. He brought the knife slashing down toward Lexander's throat.

I screamed out loud, thinking Nerriviq had betrayed Lexander and was taking his life. But Lexander didn't flinch as the knife arched down in front of him and hit the chain that lay against a rock. Sparks flew as the links broke and the chain was severed from the metal band around his arm. Lexander stood up, meeting Nerriviq's eyes squarely as he took the knife as his weapon. He intended to join the fight!

Silveta shook my shoulder hard. "Marja! What ails you?â€

I lost my link with the *olfs* and was back inside Torgils' home. The men were staring at me. "The Skraelings have attacked the docks!†I exclaimed. "We must hurry to help them.â€

Torgils frowned at my proclamation, but he shouted for the men who had arrived to follow him. Silveta was urged to stay where it was safe, but she shook them off unheeding. With Lexander in danger on the docks, nothing could stop me from accompanying them there.

We rushed down the steep street as the sky was beginning to lighten. Sounds of the high-pitched Thule war cry rose as we neared the marketplace. Offs skimmed along above us, but they were increasingly subdued by the death that was being dealt.

"Stand back!†Torgils roared to Silveta.

The townsfolk rushed past us into battle, brandishing their axes and swords. More were arriving every minute, and I grabbed Silveta's arm. "This way,†I urged, knowing where there was a vantage point from the images I received from the *olf*s. Birgir's warriors were being slowly driven away from the water by the Skraelings.

We ran around a row of buildings, and suddenly the sounds of fighting grew louder. At the end of the lane, where it opened into the marketplace, a clump of townsfolk closed in on the warriors wearing breastplates and helms. Then another flurry of arrows appeared, arching down into the mass of Birgir's warriors. At least five went down screaming and clutching their necks or arms.

The remaining warriors turned and ran straight into the townsfolk, who were armed and ready. Their weapons clashed with the high-pitched ringing of metal. I saw Torgils raise his sword and bring it down on someone; then he was gone in the shifting bodies.

I clasped my hands together, pleading with the *olfs*, "Don't let them shoot!†I was afraid the Skraelings would massacre the townsfolk who were trying to help them. Somehow my plea must have gotten through because no more arrows fell from the sky.

Silveta started forward as the townsfolk drove the warriors back toward the docks. I cringed at the sight of *adlets* hovering over the wounded. The shadowy creatures were sinking down to drink in the blood and agony. The wounded were all Noromenn, no Skraeling that I could see. The *olfs* were fleeing from the marketplace, driven by the pain that drenched the area.

By the time we crossed the open marketplace, the battle on the waterfront was over. All of Birgir's men were down, dead or wounded. Skraelings were kneeling beside each body, jerking their arrows from their wounds. Blood and worse spilled onto the dirt.

I looked anxiously for Lexander, and found him near Amaruq. He had acquired an ax and a long sword, and both were bloody. The chain dangled from the metal collar and swung at his waist, freeing him to fight. His cloak was gone, but the leather cap still concealed his smooth head.

The townsfolk gathered uneasily in front of the Skraelings, eyeing the threatening bristle of spears and long bows. But the crude banners that the Thule carried, displaying the shape of a bull, were unmistakable signs of their support for Silveta.

Lexander began translating between Amaruq and Torgils, so Silveta and I quickly joined them.

"Birgir has nearly seventy men inside the estate,†Torgils explained.

"The sentries must have alerted Birgir by now,†Lexander said. "A frontal assault on the estate could be disastrous.â€

I nervously eyed the hilltop that hid the estate from view. Surely Birgir had placed sentries up there to watch what happened on the docks. A warlord such as he would not dare be caught by surprise.

"Take the Skraelings to the rear,†Torgils decided. "We'll attack the estate from two places. You go first, and we'll wait until men are drawn from the front gate; then we'll move in. Make some noise so we can hear.â€

Lexander looked doubtful, but every second they delayed gave Birgir more time to prepare. He quickly explained to Amaruq, who gestured to the Skraelings. They melted away, heading inland.

Lexander glanced at me as he left, and I put my fingertips to my mouth, wanting to kiss him. But he turned away. Dozens of *olfs* appeared and darted after them, leaving only a few behind to protect the Thule wounded. As for the Noromenn, those who were not dead yet would soon be struggling under the *adletsâ*€™ otherworldly assault.

I wanted to go with the Skraelings, but Silveta could not manage the rough terrain in the darkness. And I couldn't leave her alone. The sounds of the crying, cursing wounded echoed after us as we followed the growing crowd of townsfolk, men and women alike. Many carried ordinary toolsâ€"pitchforks or long wood axes. They looked grimly ready to strike a blow against the tyrant who had killed so many of their kin. From their lean, haggard faces, it appeared that Birgir's war had cost them more than anyone else in Markland.

We ran up the sloping streets to the chieftain's estate. It was on the top of a tall hill, giving Birgir the advantage. A blackened ring of exposed ground surrounded the palisade. Under Ejegod's rule, it had been overgrown with evergreens and shrubs, but Birgir's men had burned everything back in a wide swath to better defend the estate. It looked formidable.

The men conferred, then crept closer, taking cover behind the fences and buildings of Tillfallvik. Silveta and I were too far back to see anything but the

townsfolk ahead of us. They were carrying ladders, which they expected to use to breach the walls. There was no sound from behind the palisade. The olfs drifted up and over the top.

"Warriors are there, waiting for us to attack,†I whispered to Silveta.

Her eyes shifted. "lt was too much to hope we could catch him unawares.â€

I had no doubt who she meant. Birgir was inside those walls. I shivered at the thought of facing him. I had done everything I could to bring this about, but now it was beyond my control. The only thing I could do was pray to lg nirtog, the god of light and truth, to right this terrible wrong that Birgir had done.

In the distance rose the sound of unearthly wailing. It roared louder and higher than I thought possible, going on and on. Fear clutched my heart as I imagined the vengeance of a god descending on the Skraelings. Perhaps this was the sound the Kristna god made as he smote Birgir's enemies . .

But the *olfs* showed me the truth. A few Skraelings were swinging long cords in circles over their heads, making the horrid wailing sound. Birgir's men inside the palisade trembled in fear, shrinking back from their posts. The Skraelings sent scores of arrows over the palisade, guided by the *olfs* to hit their targets. Many of the arrows bounced harmlessly off the warriors' metal helms. They crouched beneath their round shields to outwait the deadly rain.

The Skraelings took advantage of this and raced toward the palisade. They began nimbly climbing the logs, cresting the top with their spears held ready. Birgir's warriors met them with cries of encouragement to their fellows as they tried to stem the tide of Skraelings spilling over the top.

"What's happening?†Silveta demanded, shaking me from my trance.

"They're going over the palisade,†I told her.

The townsfolk froze around us, waiting for the signal to attack.

The familiar screams of battle rose in the distance. "Lexander,†I breathed. How could he escape this maelstrom unharmed? I pleaded with the olfs to show me Lexander, but they were so disturbed by the violence that they sent me no vision in return. I shook in fear, silently pleading with the Skraeling gods to protect him.

The warriors behind the front gate began moving toward the rear of the estate to fight off the incursion. Olfs floated deeper inside, spinning to urge us forward. Silveta and I clutched each other tighter.

At a signal from Torgils, the townsfolk erupted from their hiding places, running to the gate with their weapons. Silveta and I hurried to the last protecting wall where we could see. The townsfolk propped their ladders against the palisade and began climbing up. It was so smoothly done that I felt a spurt of hope.

Then a few of Birgir's men appeared at the top. They threw down large rocks, hitting several of the men who were halfway up. Others shoved the ladders to one side or toppled them over on their back. Cries burst out and men fell limply to the ground.

"They're killing them!†Silveta said.

I kept her from rising. "Don't let them see you!†Doubtless Birgir would order his men out in force if he knew Silveta was here. She was the ultimate prize that all now fought over.

Frightened by a rain of hefty rocks, the townsfolk had no choice but to flee back to the safety of the buildings. Some dragged their wounded neighbors out of danger. Even the *olfs* retreated, no longer joyous. There was too much blood on the ground for that. I felt much the same way.

"Maybe the Skraelings are beating them . . .†Silveta started, then cocked her head.

"l don't hear anything,†l agreed.

"Are they inside?†Silveta asked.

It wasn't long before we learned the truth. Lexander returned with several dozen Skraelings. Silveta and I ran to join Torgils to listen to their deliberations.

"They've raised the palisade in the rear,†Lexander was saying quietly. "We can't get in that way. The Skraelings are gathering logs to make ramps to get over, but the estate is well defended.â€

Torgils frowned as he nodded. "Have them bring around a couple of stout logs. We need battering rams to get through the gate.â€

Lexander passed on the request. "The Skraelings aren't going to be much help in such close guarters.â€

"Tell them to hang back and pick off any warriors who poke their heads above the palisade. We could also use a phalanx of Skraeling with spears to clear a path through them once the gate is open â€

to clear a path through them once the gate is open.â€

Silveta had her hands clasped together tightly, flinching at the cries of the wounded around us. "We've lost so many people! How can we

"We need help,†Lexander agreed. "Can't you rally more townsfolk?â€

Torgils glanced from side to side. "Shall we sacrifice our children, too? Any who are able-bodied are already here.â€

"This is dreadful,†Silveta cried.

possibly win?â€

"You wanted war,†Lexander pointed out.

"No,†I countered, "she wanted to save our land.â€

Torgils grunted. "Then it looks as if we are the ones to try.†His fond gaze rested on Silveta. "lt gives me heart that you returned, freya. With a warband of Skraelings, no less! You are truly fit to rule Markland. I only wish we could give you what you deserve.â€

Shouts went up, and for a moment I thought Birgir was attacking. But everyone pointed in the opposite direction. The misty morning light glinted off the waves of the bay down below.

"Ships!†Silveta exclaimed.

We retreated to a street where we could see the waterfront. Two knaars moved swiftly for such deep hulls because there were many men rowing them.

"That's the overlord's crest,†said sharp-eyed Lexander.

"Oh, no . . .†I moaned. I doubted the overlord would be content to shut us in a tower this time. But I would rather risk my life in his hands than in Birgir's.

"Why has the overlord come here?†Torgils demanded.

"To seal his bargain with Birgir, no doubt,†Lexander replied grimly. "But Jedvard rarely leaves the bastion . . .â€

"What are we to do?†Silveta asked.

Lexander considered it. "To be sure, Birgir has already seen them sailing into the bay. Torgils, keep the warriors bottled up inside while I go down to the docks.â€

I wasn't about to be left behind. Silveta and I held on to each other for balance as we dashed down the muddy roads after him.

A dozen Skraelings were concealed near the waterfront, their arrows notched and ready to fly. As we ran up to the docks, Silveta gasped and cried out. Tears flowed down her cheeks and her knees gave way.

I thought she was overcome. I helped her sit down on the wooden planks. "Are you ill, Silveta?â€

"Don't you see! It's *Jens*,†she exclaimed, pointing out to the *knaars*.

"lt is Jens!†I agreed. Not the overlord, but the overlord's generous young son.

I pulled Silveta to her feet, and she waved and called out to Jens. He stood on the side of the ship, holding on to the prow. In spite of her Skraeling parka and pants, he recognized Silveta. Perhaps it was the spill of her golden hair, or it could have been something more.

"Thank the gods, it is him,†Silveta exclaimed. In her voice I heard the wonder she felt.

Twenty-three

When the boat landed, Silveta's first words were, "You've come to save me yet again, Jens?â€

I understood why she was overwhelmed by the sight of him. None of her own family had helped her, but this young man had come to her rescue, looking so proud. From his gauntlets to his plumed helm, he was magnificent. He wore a silver chest plate with links of chain mail sheathing his arms and thighs. His sword and shield looked as if they had seen some wear, even if it had been only in training sessions.

"Freya Silveta, you were promised a warband by my father, the overlord,†Jens said formally, yet with a glint in his eye. "l am here to deliver it to your service.â€

"But your father denied me.â€

"l am fulfilling the promise he made you,†Jens assured her. "These men are in my employ.â€

Silveta's eyes shone. "You've proven yourself truer than any man in Viinland.â€

"l've been waiting for your return,†Jens assured her. "l've kept my men encamped in the islands. When my sentries reported there was fighting on the waterfront, I knew it must be your doing.â€

Lexander nodded to Jens, vastly relieved. "Birgir and his men are holed up in the estate. We've attacked with the townsfolk and a warband of Skraeling, but we can't get inside.â€

Jens' hired men had disembarked and were lining up for the march through the town to the estate. I counted eighty men, all in good condition and wearing strong breastplates and helms. Their axes looked very sharp, and they grunted to each other, posturing in preparation for battle. These mercenaries seemed rather cheerful over the prospect. The docks couldn't be spied from the estate because of the hills that lay between, but Birgir must have seen the ships sailing in and knew a mighty warband had landed.

"We were just about to ram down the front gate to get inside,†Lexander added.

"But Birgir's men are dropping stones to drive everyone away,†Silveta protested.

Lexander was not concerned. "The Skraelings can shoot anyone who shows his head.â€

Silveta was clearly worried about Jens, just as I feared that Lexander wouldn't survive the fighting. "Can't Jens claim he's an emissary from the overlord?†Silveta asked. "Perhaps Birgir would let them inside.â€

Lexander considered it, but the *olf*s showed me that was a massacre in the waiting. "No,†I protested. "Birgir is under siege. He won't let down his guard for anyone.â€

Jens agreed. "No fighting man would. We will make a frontal assault, and l've brought the men to do it.â€

Silveta wrung her hands but didn't gainsay her savior. I added, "We must warn the townsfolk or they may try to fight you off.â€

"And the Skraelings,†Silveta added. But I knew the *olf*s had already told them help was on the way.

Jens grinned. "You go first to tell them reinforcements have arrived. They can follow my warband inside the estate.â€

Silveta was standing so close to him that they could have kissed. But she was too shy in front of all the mercenaries. Lexander and I exchanged a glance, knowing that that wouldn't have stopped us. Suddenly, we were in accord again. I slipped my hand into his and felt him squeeze mine tightly.

"Take care of her,†Jens told Lexander, his eyes only for Silveta.

"l will,†Lexander swore.



We alerted Torgils and the townsfolk, who let out glad cries at the news. Amaruq nodded shortly when his part in the attack was described. The olfs had shown me that some Skraelings had died when they tried to breach the palisade in the rear. They would be in danger again, but they were sorely needed. The townsfolk separated to take their places, awaiting the arrival of Jens and his warband.

Lexander remained with me and Silveta, which was a relief to both of us. We watched from a low roof where he had lifted us for safety. We could see the main street leading to the estate, and from one corner was a view of the gate.

Jens came striding up the road, looking like a true conqueror. A boy ran along next to him, carrying the banner with the overlord's crest quartered with Jen's seabird signet.

Torgils had left the two stout logs in the lane for the Viinland mercenaries. They were tied around with rope, with long lines for the men to hold. A full dozen men picked up each log, standing side by side. The Skraelings stayed hidden out of sight.

Jens formed his men behind those with the battering rams, then called out, "Forward!â€

As his warband crossed the open space around the palisade, Birgir's warriors peered over the top. There were more of them now than before. One large rock was thrown down, striking against the helm of a Viinland mercenary.

The Skraelings took that as a signal and began to fire their arrows. Cries came from behind the palisade, and soon no heads lifted above the protecting wood. But Birgir's men continued to throw rocks over, aiming them to land in front of the gate.

Jens shouted a command and other mercenaries rushed forward, protecting the men with the battering rams by holding their shields overhead. The rain of rocks sounded like an avalanche.

But Jens' men moved forward steadily despite the assault. Every time one fell, another quickly took his place.

Silveta's eyes were wide. "Oh, Jens! Stay back,†she murmured.

But the valiant young man was in the thick of things, directing his men. The early-morning sun shone off his helm, polished to a mirror.

The battering rams were quickly positioned and soon the rhythmic pounding drowned out the sound of rocks hitting their metal armor. Each log was aimed against one half of the gate. The mercenaries let the logs swing far back, then drove them forward into the stout fortress.

"lt's bowing,†l exclaimed. Indeed, light could be seen between the two halves of the gate.

Jens urged his men on, and their shouts rose. A splintering sound shattered the morning as the great timbers of the gate strained under the beating.

As if in response, more rocks showered down from above. The Skraelings let loose their arrows in a constant stream, sending them arching over the palisade and down behind. The screams within told their own story. Some of the arrows stuck into the top where they didn't quite surmount the palisade. The *olfs* told me the Thule would soon be out of arrows and then Birgir's men would be free to give their missiles deadly aim.

"lt's not working,†Silveta cried, trying to see Jens in the midst of the milling mercenaries.

"No, they're breaking through,†Lexander insisted.

With a mighty heave of the ram, one half of the gate broke at its hinges, sagging drunkenly. Another few strokes and it broke completely, swiveling on its remaining hinge and the heavy crossbar that locked it from within.

Jens shouted, "That's it, men! Break it down!â€

They rammed against the gate harder now that success was assured. Suddenly the fall of rocks ceased. The *olfs* told me there was confusion within, but Birgir was likely rallying his men into defensive positions. The warlord would not give up so easily.

With a terrible ripping sound, as if a huge tree were toppling over, the mercenaries smashed the gate down.

"They're through!†Silveta exclaimed. "No, Jens, don't—†Jens was one of the first over the splintered remnants as his men poured inside the estate in a rush. A fresh rain of rocks fell down, and the mercenaries held their shields over their heads to protect themselves. But the Skraelings also rushed forward, and aimed their last arrows through the open gate directly into the mass of men on the scaffolding at the top of the palisade.

Shouts filled the air as Birgir's men fell back under the onslaught. It was a complete melee, with axes clashing against shields and men falling from the scaffolding.

We watched breathlessly as Jens' mercenaries pushed Birgir's warriors ever deeper into the estate. Torgils and the townsfolk rushed through the gate when it was clear. Their shouts and brandished pitchforks seemed all the more fearsome.

"Are they winning?†Silveta gasped.

"The first battle, yes,†Lexander agreed. "But there are many warriors inside that estate.â€

Sometime during the struggle, Lexanderâ \in [™]s arm had gone around my shoulders, and he didnâ \in [™]t let go. I snuggled in close, knowing how much he had feared for me while we were separated. Though he had been the one in battle, he had worried about me.

He silently kissed the top of my head, pressing his face into my hair. I felt the copper collar around his wrist digging into my arm.

Silveta was engrossed in trying to see through the gate, but the fighting had moved deeper behind the wall. The only sight left was the forlorn forms of men lying in their own blood. "What is happening?†Silveta cried impatiently. "l can't bear this.â€

She moved as if to jump down and run into the estate, but Lexander held her back. " 'Tis too dangerous for you. With you as hostage, Birgir could still win this battle.â€

Silveta was in agony, holding her hands to her mouth in shock. I took a deep breath and humbly asked the olfs for a glimpse of the fighting inside. They responded, though many had been driven away from the estate by the ferocious killing.

Birgir had retreated with his closest bondsmen to the fire hall to make his last stand. Through my communion with the *olfs*, I watched as the great doors were soon battered open. They were fighting in such close quarters I couldn't tell the mercenaries from Birgir's warriors.

Then I saw Niall being backed into the fire hall. He fought beside Birgir, a wild grin on his face. The evil had taken him completely, and he laughed as he dealt death to the mercenaries with his ax.

I gasped as Torgils rose before Niall, afraid the good bondsman would be struck down. But Torgils parried Niall's strikes, ignoring his berserker rage. I silently begged the *olfs* not to flee the fray but to help Silveta's bondsman. She would loathe losing another loyal man to Birgir's madness.

One olf, smaller than the rest, heeded my pleas. It darted in and tangled itself in Niall's feet. As the dark-haired man went down, disbelief in his face, Torgils moved in. With a swipe of his ax, he split Niall nearly in two. Torgils' expression was grim, as if he disliked his duty but knew it must be

"They're in the fire hall!†I could see Niall's death spasms, his teeth bared in agony. "Niall has been killed by Torgils.â€

Silveta grabbed my arm hard. "Jens! Where is Jens?â€

I stared into the sky, seeing only what lay within the fire hall. Torgils joined Jens, who was facing down Birgir himself. One of their mercenaries protected Jens' other side. Together the three of them pressed their advantage.

Birgir seemed to grow larger by the moment, swelling from the power of the evil within him. His weapons sparked fire as they landed against his attackers' swords. The man seemed to have no thought of defeat. Nay, he shouted his defiance in their face. "l am Chieftain of Markland! I will take your wives and daughters for my own pleasure!â€

For a moment, I thought the evil that possessed him was too strong. Birgir leaped to the dais, swinging his ax in broad swaths, striking the mercenary and taking him down.

I almost could not recognize Jensâ€"he was no longer a boy. Birgir's ax glanced off the strong chain mail on his arm, bruising but not cutting through. Jens didn't let that stop him. He risked certain death by leaping within Birgir's reach, slashing the big man's legs with his sword. Torgils shoved Jens aside at the last moment, preventing Birgir's ax from splitting his head in two.

Birgir roared in pain as his legs buckled underneath him. Torgils caught his ax on his own, hooking the blade to keep the warlord from swinging it against Jens. Jens righted himself and brought his own ax down on Birgir's bowed shoulders. The blade bit deeply into Birgir's neck.

The blood seemed to fill my own eyes, as Birgir slowly toppled. He rolled as he landed, looking up at the youth who had beaten him. His tongue protruded, and I could see the evil light in his eyes long after his *inua* began to fade. The spark of Kristna embraced his *inua* and carried it away. So the god had truly dwelled in Birgir, yet it had not been powerful enough to resist the evil that had infested him. As terrible as the sight was, at least it would replace that indelible image of Birgir's gloating face as he raped me.

"Birgir's dead!†I gasped.

The olfs couldn't stand such noxious matters and my vision of the fire hall vanished. I could still see Birgir's eyes, though, and knew I always would. The evil that had infested him had been strong enough to bring a nation to its knees. But we had prevailed.

"ls it true?†Silveta cried. "Oh, by the mercy of all the gods, say it is true!â€

I sagged against Lexander, ravaged from my contact with the olfs under such a terrible onslaught. He held me tenderly, murmuring words of love that soothed my sore spirit.

* * *

When Jens finally returned, his grim expression made him look more like his father. Silveta cried out, clutching my arm in fear. I also trembled, wondering if somehow worse was yet to come.

But Jens brightened when he saw Silveta. "lt is done,†he quietly declared.

Apparently the violence had changed Jens. The *olfs* stayed at a distance. They could feel the difference in him. Jens had been their favored child, but he had dealt death today and that left a taint in his spirit. I knew it would take time for him to be truly cleansed from his deeds this day.

Silveta jumped from the roof into Jens' arms. She clung to him as Lexander lightly dropped down, lifting me off himself. His hands around my waist made me feel safe.

"Birgir is truly dead?†Silveta asked.

"Yes, though it's not a fair sight for your eyes. l've ordered a mass grave dug for the warlord and his men in the hillside beyond. They don't deserve an honorable burning.â€

"l need to see him,†Silveta declared.

I nodded agreement, too choked to speak.

Jens protested, but Lexander took one look at us and declared, "They must see him, Jens. Take us there.â€

Puffed up in his newfound manliness, Jens would have tried to protect us. But he couldn't withstand Lexander. " 'Tis on your head,†he warned Lexander.

Jens led us into the estate. I gasped on seeing the dead and writhing wounded littering the ground. Birgir's warriors were left slaughtered where they lay, while Skraelings and the mercenaries tended their own.

I didn't see Amaruq, but I ran up to his son. "How many did we lose?â€

"Eight of our own have departed for the Otherworld.â€

"Amarug?†I cried, wishing I had thought to ask the *olfs* to help the generous elder. How could I have forgotten him?

"He lives.†My relief was so profound I couldn't speak. Amaruq's son shuffled away with a Thule I barely recognized. His leg was bloody.

"I lost nearly two score men,†Jens added. "And more are wounded. They fought superbly.â€

"l shall reward them,†Silveta offered breathlessly. The carnage was difficult to bear. "l'll need good bondsmen by my side.â€

Indeed, she seemed dazed to have her dream finally come true. She was back in her own estate. Though it now looked very different from the peaceful prosperity we both remembered. Women and children who had belonged to Birgir's men were being herded into a longhouse, crying out their pleas to be forgiven for matters they had no part in. I saw Silveta grimace and knew she would not harm the truly innocent.

"Here.†Jens pointed.

We entered the great fire hall that bristled with the horns of the bulls Ejegod's family had sacrificed to the gods. The site of my first appearance in Tillfallvikâ€"tied upside down and hung naked from a poleâ€"was very different now. The straw that Birgir had pushed me into when he denounced me to Ejegod was filthy and sodden with blood. Tables were overturned and the colorful banners that had hung from the rafters had been torn down.

On the ground in front of the dais lay Birgir, just as I had seen him fall in my vision. He still wore his hammered silver helm with the nose and cheek guards surrounding his wide-open eyes. His chest armor had been unbuckled and thrown back to reveal his unmoving torso covered by mail. A great gash opened his neck and one cheek. I could see the pink bone underneath and the flesh torn in half. He seemed to leer at me even when dead. I shuddered as I looked at his hands, still massive but now curled like a baby's. They were as bare as his great hairy feet.

"My blood oath has come to fruition,†Silveta proclaimed, a fierce light in her eyes. She kicked his body, but he was so heavy and stiff that he hardly moved.

There was no life in Birgir, evidenced by the *olfs* who came close, curiously floating over the man whose malevolence had driven them out of Tillfallvik and threatened all of Markland. There was nothing inside of him now. The darkness that he had wrapped around him like a cloak was finally dissipating, as were the *inua* of his slain men.

"Who did it?†Silveta declared. "I want to kiss the hand that slew this beast.â€

Jens blushed and looked gratified. "ln the end there were three of us against him, your man Torgils included. But it was my ax that caught him in the neck.â€

Silveta dropped to her knees and took his hand in both of hers. Her eyes were shining. "l owe you everything.†She pressed her lips to his hand.

Jens insisted on pulling her to her feet. "No, 'tis only what the overlord promised you. Now l've redeemed his pledge.â€

"Not him,†Silveta denied. "Never him. It was you.â€

Torgils agreed, standing respectfully to one side. "Jens Jedvardsson has a claim of conquest on Markland. We could not have stormed the estate without his men.â€

"That was Birgir's claim!†Jens protested.

Silveta tilted her head. "Would the magnates agree to a chieftain and wife who are both of Viinland?â€

"You've risked your lives for Markland,†Lexander countered. "How could they protest?â€

"You've saved us all from Birgir Barfoot, Silveta,†Torgils agreed. "None would gainsay you now. The man you marry will become chieftain.â€

Twenty-four

We left Silveta with Jens and Torgils, newly sworn as her bondsman. Lexander and I returned to the waterfront, where the Skraeling were regrouping. On the way through Tillfallvik, I realized I must confess all to Lexander.

"l am sorry I betrayed you,†I admitted. At his confused expression, I explained, "l told Amaruq of some ... intimate moments between us, so that he would understand and trust me. I spoke of things l've not even confessed to you.â€

He looked at me sharply. "ls that what made you suffer, Marja?â€

"By rights, I shouldn't have done it.â€

"Never fear.†He stopped me and put both hands on my shoulders so he could look into my eyes. "l want you so much that I long to own you, but I must let you go. You have no responsibility to me, Marja.â€

"But I shared our intimacy with another.â€

"l understand the need that drove you to it. I also see that there is something that binds you to Amaruq and these Thule. You've finally found your own people. I know you could live out the rest of your life among them.â€

I thought of how the *olf*s were happily acknowledged every day by the Thule. It was true that I felt comfortable in the icy north, more so than on the fens. â€cel will always love Helluland and its folk,†I agreed. â€ceBut there is more to see in this world, and I shan't ever tire of crossing the next wave or climbing the next ridge. That is who I am.â€

The relief that eased through him was palpable. "l thought you had found what you were searching for.â€

"Yes, I found a way to help my homeland. Just as you now seek to help those you enslaved and left under Helanas' care.â€

Lexander's eyes narrowed. "l should have released them before I left, but I could not see it as I do now.†He glanced down at the manacle on his wrist, then lifted the end of the hanging chain.

There was a rawness in his voice, an emotion that was no longer hidden. Lexander was proud, a godling in his own right. I couldn't imagine what he had endured as a slave. But I thought he was wise to choose to help others when he was so vulnerable himself. Surely that way led to healing.

With his arm around me, we went to find the Skraelings. They refused to stay inside the estate and were wary of the Noromenn who were still in the throes of bloodlust. All I had to do was look for the *olfs*, many of whom had followed the Thule down to the shore near the river. Their *umiaks* were beached upright, ready to be pushed into the water at a moment's notice, revealing their distrust of the Noromenn. Two of the boats were out in the bay, netting fresh fish. The Thule seemed as subdued as the *olfs* by the bloody battle.

We didn't spend long in their camp. Amaruq and a few of the Thule leaders returned to the estate with us. Amaruq had suffered a wound on his arm, but he was striding along as if he were unhurt. Lexander stayed back to keep from interfering in Amaruq's consultation with me. It was a gesture of respect that I appreciated.

One of Silveta's first orders was to sacrifice the finest bull in Tillfallvik, spilling its blood into the fire to honor all of the gods who had supported her quest. It also provided much-needed food for those who had fought for her. We saw the bonfire from the Skraeling camp, as the smoke and sparks flew into the heavens. Provisions were lacking, but somehow the overjoyed servants on the estate were pulling together a feast fit for midsummer as the bull roasted on an outdoor spit.

The guards at the broken gate addressed me by name, though I didn't recall meeting them. It seemed as if all of the townsfolk and mercenaries knew who I was. We were ushered into the fire hall without a single challenge.

Silveta was seated in the lynx-fur chair on the dais. The place looked very different with the fouled straw swept out and fresh grass hastily spread over the bloodstains. The doors were open, letting in the last of the sun's rays. Silveta had changed from her Skraeling furs into a lovely silk dress. The pale blue overdress echoed her eyes, while the yellow skirt couldn't rival her rich golden hair. She was even more regal and dignified than when she had been Ejegod's wife.

"Good, you're finally returned,†Silveta said when she saw us enter with the Skraelings. "These are the letters for your Thule, granting them land on the northern coast. l've included a map with each one showing where they can place their settlements. Please make sure they don'try to settle on my people's estates. If there are any problems, they're to bring them directly to me and I will send my bondsmen to assist them.â€

Lexander distributed the packets among the Thule while I explained everything to them.

Amaruq stepped up on the dais, even though that made some of the Noromenn nervous. "You've honored your word, sun-haired lady,†he acknowledged. "We will be pleased to make your home our own.â€

I translated for Silveta. To her credit, she didn't flinch as some of the other Noromenn did at the thought of Skraelings living cheek to cheek with them again. "l welcome you,†she declared. "And l'm sure the *olfs* do as well.â€

I knew the Thule would help cleanse the land through their rapport with the spirits. Silveta's acknowledgment of both them and the *olf*s made the otherworldly creatures leap about in ecstasy. The Thule would get the winter settlements they deserved, while the *olfs* finally had a ruler who respected them.

The Thule did not choose to stay for the feast. Word had rapidly spread through Tillfallvik that these Skraeling were being honored for their part in ousting Birgir. But I noticed that no one ventured near them. They would return to their camp, intending to leave at first light.

I didn't know if I would ever see Amaruq again, but much like the *olfs* it was not the Skraeling way to think about the future. Now was the only important thing, "You have my everlasting gratitude, Amaruq,†I declared.

Lexander was silent in the face of the connection I felt with the elder Thule. Surely he understood that he would feel the same resonance with a fellow godling. These people knew me like no other except my mam. I did feel at home with them, though I could not stay in Helluland.

Amarug saw my sadness at saying good-bye, yet he was serene in the knowledge that it was my path. "Go with the spirits, Marja.â€

"l am blessed to have your friendship,†I murmured to him.

In a rare gesture of open affection, Amaruq leaned in to kiss my forehead. If neither of us loved another, we could have been happy together roaming Helluland. Amaruq was wise enough to appreciate my differences.

With my eyes still wet from unshed tears, I watched them leave. Silveta was not so moved, though surely she appreciated all the Thule had done for her. "Perhaps I can let them stay in their settlements for longer than two generations,†she mused. "Without them, I could not have returned home, and Jens would not have come to help me.â€

"The Thule are ever honorable allies,†I said quietly.

Silveta shrugged as if that was something to consider another time. "Go get ready for the feast, Marja! You're both to have the place of honor beside me. l've ordered you a bath in my old closet. l've taken the solar for my own.â€

I must admit the thought of a good wash was appealing. I had little prejudice about dirt, but living in Vidaris had taught me the luxury of bathing. I stepped up onto the dais so no one else could hear. "What about the rest of Lexander's chains? We must strike them off.â€

Lexander joined us. "That can wait until morning. And it's best if you don't honor me this night, Silveta. Word may reach Helanas before we do.â€

"So you'll pose as Marja's slave?†Silveta asked with a smile. "l like that idea.â€

I didn't want to leave the metal bands locked on him, but that was Lexander's choice.

Silveta met my eyes, reaching out her hands to me. "l plan on saying this more fully tonight, to proclaim to everyone that you were beyond faithful, always giving more than the gods could ask. I... and Markland, are more grateful than you will ever know. You'll always have a place here with me and in my heart, Marja.â€

"l am glad I am welcome in my homeland again. And that you are safe,†I assured Silveta.

Lexander agreed. "You've found a worthy man in Jens to help you rule. That is more than I had hoped for.â€

Silveta lifted her chin slightly. "Oh, I think I could have done well enough alone. But I am fortunate to have Jens at my side.â€

I felt such a relief that I could not express. I treasured Silveta, but she required much from those around her. Now my pledge was finally fulfilled and redeemed. It was the most significant service I had ever done. Jens could take care of her from now on.



Lexander followed me out to the longhouse. I hesitated at the door to the closet, and he knew immediately what was wrong. I had been raped twice by Birgir in this room, but as I stepped inside holding my breath, the cozy space no longer held his shade. Olfs were playing in a great tub of water that steamed slightly, but they disappeared at the sight of Lexander. Candles had been distributed liberally on every surface, illuminating the mirror and one of Silveta's dresses that had been carefully laid out on a chest. A gold cord was looped in several rich strands, dangling gold teardrops along its length.

I fingered the crimson silk. "ls this for me to wear? It is far too fine!â€

"You will outshine everyone,†Lexander assured me. "While I hide my head under a cap.â€

I turned to him. "There's little chance Helanas would hear of your presence in Tillfallvik. Why did you tell Silveta that?â€

"Word could spread and my superiors might hear of it. I would not bring danger on Silveta for the world. It's bad enough that you are at risk.â€

" 'Tis nothing to me,†I swore. "l would endure far more to be with you, Lexander.â€

"Can it be true, even knowing what I have done? Kinirniq is not the only one l've harmed.â€

"Surely you cannot doubt me now? Must I go to the very ends of the earth to prove my love?â€

Lexander was serious. "lt's not your love I doubt, but my own lack.â€

"Lack? I know you've given up everything you were. Perhaps you don't know what you will become. But I am content with my love.â€

Lexander looked at me a long moment. One hand touched the metal collar around his neck; then he began to pull off his homespun clothes, baring his strong chest. When I sat down to untie my boots, he said, "Wait.â€

There was something in his voice I had not heard in some timeâ€"a command. It sent a tingle of expectation through me.

He removed his boots and pants, leaving him naked. I had not seen his body thus since leaving the milky hot spring in Issland. Every proportion was perfect, his muscles well defined like a statue made of gold. It made me draw my breath in wonder.

"Don't move,†he told me, coming to kneel down at my feet. His collar and the hanging chain gleamed in the light. He had never knelt to me before.

Lexander unlaced my boot and gently pulled it off. With sure hands, he undressed me from toe to head. I lifted my arms and moved as he requested, compliant under his touch.

When he stood again, I wanted to hug him close. I wanted him to take me as I was. But he warded me off with his eyes, amused at my eagerness. "When are you ever unready, Marja?â€

"l'm always ready for you, my love.â€

His face came very close to mine. It was almost unbearable, my need to touch him. But he backed away, and I managed to restrain myself.

He held out one hand to help me into the bath. I lowered myself gratefully into the warm water. It had been scented with rose oil.

Taking up the brush, Lexander stood behind me, combing out my hair. It reminded me of my first evening in Vidaris, when he had cleansed me so roughly. This time his hands were tender, teasing out every long strand, stroking my head and neck. "l'II dress your hair myself,†he murmured. "You'II rival Silveta this night, if l'm not mistaken.â€

My eyes closed as he washed my hair. He had never taken such time, had never leaned over me so temptingly. In Vidaris he'd had to split his attention among the slaves, and we jealously watched if he lingered with his favorites. But this night was different. He was making love to me through every touch.

By the time he began to lather my neck and shoulders and down each arm, I could hardly contain myself. I wanted to feel his body against me. I grew more aroused from his hands on my breasts, pinching and pulling at my nipples. Then he made foamy circles down my waist to the cleft between my legs. His fingers sought to inflame me. I gasped and held on to the sides of the tub to keep from touching him. He had ordered me not to . . .

There was nothing I could do but writhe underwater at his mercy, as he deftly rubbed me to ecstasy.

"Please, please, please . . .†I begged.

His lips curled in a grin. "You want more?â€

"You!†I exclaimed. "I want you nowâ€"â€

He lifted me from the tub and put me right on the stone floor with a rush of water. I had a flash of Birgir leaning over me, taking me, but this was Lexander. Everything I loved and trusted was in his face. I opened myself to him, diving into him as he did to me. We entwined our arms and legs. He let out a growl as if he couldn't restrain himself, taking me for his own. It had been too long in coming. My release was complete.

Afterwards we lay together, satiated and unable to rise. My arms and legs intertwined with his. The stone floor felt like heaven and I didn't ever want to let him go. I couldn't imagine being without him for one moment.

As if reading my mind, he murmured, "l will be gone for only two days. Then my duty will be done and the slaves will be freed.â€

I raised my head to look at him. "l will not let you return alone to Vidaris. You helped me in my quest, and now I must help you.â€

"Marja . . .â€

I would not let him protest. I sat up to make sure he understood my seriousness. "You enslaved me, Lexander. You gave me to Helanas to torture as she would.â€

His face was pained. "Are you trying to hurt me, Marja? I atoned all I could for that, freeing you as you deserved.â€

"lf I am truly free, then you'll not stop me from helping my slave-mates. Don't they deserve the same freedom I have? Am I not the one who truly understands their need? You cannot deny me this, Lexander, not if I am free.â€

Lexander struggled with this. "Marja, you may see things that you . . . would not like. I must put an end to Helanas' inequity once and for all.†I swallowed hard. "You intend to kill her.â€

It wasn't a question, but he replied, "Yes, I must. Or she will take her revenge on other innocents for my deeds. I cannot allow that to happen.â€

"Then I will help you.†I knew I might lose my rapport with the *olfs* for good if I assisted him. But even if that terrible price must be paid, it was worth it to ensure Helanas would not hurt another slave. "Righting this wrong means everything to me, Lexander. Everything. I can't face knowing that others could be tortured until they become like Kinirniq.â€

The mention of that poor boy was enough to break Lexander's resistance. "l cannot withstand you,†he confessed. "l would give you anything, Marja. Even if it cost me your love.â€

I hugged him tightly, feeling his cool skin beneath my cheek. "Never! You could never lose my love.â€

He wrapped his arms around me, and I felt his doubt and fear. I knew his face would never appear to be a mask to me again. I would always be able to see his inua and know his heart.

And in that moment, I knew that it mattered little that he had freed me. I would always belong to Lexander. We would overcome the evil in Vidaris; then we would roam the world together. No oneâ€"neither man nor godâ€"would stop us.

Read on for a sneak peek at Marja's continuing adventures in A Pound of Flesh Available from Roc

With my first step onto the ruddy sand of the beach, the evil spirits infesting Vidaris pressed in on me. Clinging wisps of foul air snaked along the ground. My instincts cried out for me to flee before they found a way to seep inside.

The native Thule who had brought me and Lexander back to Vidaris also sensed the demons. The dark-skinned warriors gathered close, silently supporting one another's inua. They left everything in the round-bottomed umiaks except for their spears and bows. Even the two wounded men readied their weapons, making the warband a full score strong. They had come to free Qamaniq, the granddaughter of Nerriviq, who had been lured away by Lexander to become a pleasure slave.

There would be no restâ€"Lexander planned to attack Vidaris at once.

The sliver of moon cast barely enough light through the clouds to reveal the sheer red cliffs of Fjardemano island. On top of the cliff, there was something new; a rough wooden tower rose next to the gate in the palisade, overlooking the ocean. I urged the *olfs* to rise up the cliff face to illuminate the tower. There was no sentry in sight.

Lexander could see through the darkness even without the *olfsâ*€™ light. "l hear one freeman on watch.†He tilted his head. "He's snoring.â€

I didn't doubt Lexander's uncanny ability, though the crashing of the waves nearly drowned out the howling of the wind through the forest trees above. "Helanas built it?†I asked.

His golden eyes shone much brighter than those of the Thule. "She intended to be forewarned of my return.â€

I shivered at his tone. "What do you intend to do?â€

of a pair of olfs. Even the animals sighed and drowsed.

"That is my concern.†Lexander turned away so I couldn't see his face.

Nerriviq approached, his distrust for Lexander evident in his watchful eyes. "My granddaughter waits.â€

Lexander gave Nerriviq a curt nod. "Stay with me, Marja,†he told me.

He led the Thule to the mouth of the river that followed a crevice in the line of cliffs. Vidaris had been Lexander's estate for nearly two decades, and he knew every step up the winding path along the river.

As we climbed inland, twisty little demons, mere puffs of smoke, whipped branches into my face, seeking to tear out my eyes. The Thule chanted in low voices, begging the *olfs* to aid us. Those faithful creatures gathered around us, surrounding us in a warm glow and warding off the malevolent spirits.

Some offs flew ahead to light our way, while others dabbled in the dreams of those sleeping in Vidaris. A fussing baby was lulled by the gentle singing

We ducked under the bridge for the wagons and not far beyond was a ravine. One by one we pushed through the brush that filled the bottom of the gully, then climbed the crumbling sides into the fields. The oats were near ready for harvest, with the heads of the stalks glowing golden in the moonlight. The rich sound of insects buzzed around us.

The olfs spun multicolored balls of light, floating everywhere. It showed me what Vidaris could have been if Helanas had not blighted the estate with her cruelty.

When we finally reached the haushold, I was panting from withstanding the malicious pressure that was building around me. I feared one of the demons would wake Helanas and warn her about us.

The servants had gone home to their own cots, so the kitchen was empty. Lexander lit a handful of candles from the rack, and conferred briefly with Nerriviq. The Thule split up, going in opposite directions to block any possibility of Helanas' escape.

I followed Lexander into the fire hall. Everything was achingly familiar, from the red brick walls to the padded benches set before the hearth. Nerriviq and his son followed us, stepping cautiously over the cool bricks and warily watched the towering ceiling far above them.

Lexander motioned for the Thule to wait while he entered the smaller slave hall. Sleeping ledges lined both walls, but there were only six slaves now where once there had been a dozen.

"Wake up.†Lexander called out softly. "but don't be frightened. l've come to take vou away.â€

I lifted my candle higher to see Niels sitting up, rubbing his eyes. It reminded me of my first morning in Vidaris when his face had been streaked with tears. The two Skraeling sisters huddled together, their long, dark hair tousled and their narrow eyes fearful at the reappearance of Lexander. Torngasoak was brave enough to put an arm around each of them. The two blond brothers from Fylkeran were confused, but in the scant few moons they had been in Vidaris, they had learned not to ask questions.

Lexander went to check the other door. Niels stood hunched over as if expecting to be hit, whispering, "Marja, is that really you? Where are Sverker and Rosarin?â€

I was pained by the thought of what my slavemates suffered now in the hands of Lexander's people. He had saved me from that fate, but my slavemates had not been so fortunate.

Lexander returned. "Quiet, or you'll wake Helanas.â€

The slaves went very still at her name. At our gentle urging, they followed us into the fire hall, scurrying in fear when they saw the Skraelings waiting for us. They clung to one another, including the Skraeling slaves who surely recognized the Thule as a northern clan.

"Where's Qamaniq?†Lexander asked.

"She was summoned to Helanas' chamber,†Niels offered.

Lexander gestured to me. "Take them to the bath house, Maria. Stay there until I come for you.â€

He sounded much like the master of Vidaris that I remembered, though he had freed me himself a few days ago, before the battle of Tillfallvik. Lexander took Nerrivig through the courtyard. He meant to face down Helanas.

I paused in the doorway to the kitchen, the slaves close behind me. "Niels,†I ordered, "take the others and go to the bathhouse.†â€œWhat about you?â€

"l'll be there soon. Now go.â€

He gasped, shocked that I would defy our master. But he was accustomed to obedience and left without another word of protest. The baths were familiar. The slaves would be safe there.

I went through the courtyard, and was surprised to see Lexander's chamber was open. He appeared holding a long sword. It had an ornate guard on the handle, yet he held it lightly as if its weight were no burden.

He glared when he saw me. "Go away!†he insisted under his breath.

I set my lips and shook my head.

He hesitated but could not take time to argue. The Thule blocked the hallway on either side of us, their spears pointing inward.

Lexander handed the heavy casket to me, opening the top to pull out a key. With a motion of his hand to stay back, he threw open the door to Helanas' chamber, rushing inside with the Thule warriors behind him. As I followed, my candle shook, casting wild shadows on the flowered tapestries that hung on the walls.

Someone screeched in protest. I wasn't sure if it was Helanas or Qamaniq. Then I saw the Skraeling woman on the floor, her dark hair a tangled

mess and her body limp. I knew that Qamaniq was beyond suffering right now.

Nerriviq's kin picked up Qamaniq, exclaiming over her naked form. But I only had eyes for Helanas. My mistress was on her feet, a knife in her hand.

Lexander caught her with the point of his sword against her throat. Her shapely body was bare. Many times had I caressed those generous curves and stroked my mistress until she writhed in pleasure. Yet Helanas had never smiled when she took her satisfaction, preferring to glower and furiously taunt the slave who served her even as she climaxed.

With two steps, Lexander drove Helanas back against the tapestry until she could go no farther. "Drop your knife!â€

Helanas hesitated, her eyes taking in the Skraelings in the room. She sneered when she saw me. "That sly bitch! She's seduced you from your duty, Lexander. You will live to rue the day you found her—â€

"Silence!†Lexander demanded.

There was an edge to his voice that I had never heard. Perhaps Helanas was right that he would someday regret the choice he had made to leave Vidaris and abandon the ways of his own people. Perhaps he feared that fate more than anything else.

"You drove him to it,†I told Helanas. "lf only you had not been so cruel—â€

"You will *not* look at me, slave.†Her hand tightened on the knife. â€æGesig!â€

My knees buckled in an unreasoning compulsion to obey. But I fought my trained reflexes and stayed on my feet, clutching the heavy casket tighter. The brass studs dug into my flesh, piercing the demon-roiled cloud that threatened to overcome me.

Disgust twisted Helanas' face, marring her satiny skin and perfect features. "Think of what you've done, Lexander! You can still rectify this terrible mistake. Stay here in Vidaris. I won't tell Saaladet—â€

Helanas hardly shifted, but suddenly her knife slashed up.